
CAPITAL CITY DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION 
Board of Commissioners Meeting    

 Conference Room, Fifth Floor, 121 N. 9th Street  
November 9, 2015 12:00 p.m. 

 
A G E N D A 

 
I.    CALL TO ORDER…………………………………………………………………………………….Chairman Hale 
 
II.   AGENDA CHANGES/ADDITIONS……………………………………………………...................Chairman Hale 
 
III.  CONSENT AGENDA 

A. Expenses 
1. Approval of Paid Invoice Report - October 2015 

  
B. Minutes and Reports 

1.  Approval of Meeting Minutes from October 13, 2015 
 
C.  Other 

1. Adopt Resolution 1417 Records Disposition 
2. Adopt Resolution 1413 Approve Contract Award for Brick Engraving Services 

   
IV. ACTION ITEM 

A. CONSIDER: The District Expansion Centre Building Conduit Financing Process and Schedule  
(10 minutes)……………………………………………………………………………………...Ross Borden    
 

B. CONSIDER: Resolution 1418 Approve The First Amendment to the Amended and Restated  
Development Agreement with The District (10 minutes) …………………………………...Ross Borden 
 

C. CONSIDER: Approve The Grove Plaza Renovation Design (10 minutes)…................Doug Woodruff  
 

D. CONSIDER: Resolution 1416 CSHQA Task Order for Renovation Engineering and Construction 
Administration Services (10 minutes)……………………………………..…………….….Doug Woodruff 
 

E. CONSIDER: Resolution 1409 CCDC Personnel Manual Update (10 minutes) …………Ross Borden 

F. CONSIDER: Request Authorization to Distribute Proposed Modifications to Parking Rates to Permit 
Holders and Stakeholders (5 minutes)…………………………………………………………...Max Clark 
 

G. CONSIDER: Transmit Downtown Boise Streetscape Standards and Specifications Manual to City of 
Boise for Adoption (15 minutes)………………………………………………………………Matt Edmond 
 

V. INFORMATION/DISCUSSION ITEMS 
 

A. Request for T4 Assistance for Idaho Historical Museum Streetscape (10 minutes)…….Matt Edmond  
 

B. Operations Report (5 minutes) ………………………………………………………..…….John Brunelle 
  
VI. ADJOURN 
 
This meeting is being conducted in a location accessible to those with physical disabilities. Participants may request 
reasonable accommodations, including but not limited to a language interpreter, from CCDC to facilitate their participation 
in the meeting. For assistance with accommodation, contact CCDC at 121 N 9th St, Suite 501 or (208) 384-4264 (TTY 
Relay 1-800-377-3529). 

12:05 
 
 
 

12:35  
 
 
 12:45 
 
 
 

12:55 
 
 
 1:00 
 
 
 

12:25 
 
 
 

12:15 
 
 
 

1:15 
 
 
 

1:25 
 
 



















MINUTES OF REGULAR MEETING 
BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

CAPITAL CITY DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION 
121 N. 9th St., Conference Room 

Boise, ID 83702 
October 13, 2015 12:00 p.m. 

 
 

I. CALL TO ORDER: Chairman Hale convened the meeting with a quorum at 12:02 p.m. 
 
Present were: Commissioner Dana Zuckerman, Commissioner Lauren McLean, Commissioner 
David Eberle, Commissioner Pat Shalz, Commissioner David Bieter, and Commissioner John 
Hale. Commissioner Woodings and Commissioner Stacy Pearson were absent. 
 
Agency staff members present were: John Brunelle, Executive Director; Todd Bunderson, 
Development Director; Max Clark, Parking and Facilities Director; Ross Borden, Finance 
Director; Mary Watson, Contracts Manager; Peggy Breski, Contracts Specialist; Doug Woodruff, 
Project Manager; Shellan Rodriguez, Project Manager; Karl Woods, Project Manager; Laura 
Williams, Project Specialist; Deah LaFollette, Executive Assistant; and Céline Acord, 
Administrative Project Assistant. Also present was Agency legal counsel, Ryan Armbruster. 
 
 
II. AGENDA CHANGES/ADDITIONS: 
 
There were no changes to the agenda. 
 
 
III. CONSENT AGENDA: 
 
Commissioner Zuckerman moved to approve the Consent Agenda. Commissioner Eberle seconded 
the motion.  
 
Commissioners McLean abstained from this item.  
 
All said Aye. The motion carried 5-0. 
 
The Consent Agenda consisted of the following actions: 
 

A. Expenses 
1. Approval of Paid Invoice Report – September 2015 

 
B. Minutes and Reports 

1. Approval of Meeting Minutes from September 14, 2015 
2. Approval of Meeting Minutes from September 23, 2015 

 
 
IV. ACTION ITEMS: 
 
A. CONSIDER: Resolution 1410 Amend Gardner Plaza, LLC T3 Agreement for Additional 
Environmental Remediation 
 



Doug Woodruff, CCDC Project Manager, gave a report.  
 
Geoff Wardle, representing Gardner Company, and Jacob Hassard, representing Valley 
Regional Transit, also provided a report regarding the project.  
 
Commissioner Zuckerman moved to adopt Resolution No. 1410 authorizing the amendment of 
the T3 Reimbursement Agreement with the Gardner Plaza, LLC. Commissioner Eberle 
seconded the motion.  
 
All said Aye. The motion carried 6-0. 
 
B. CONSIDER: Resolution 1408 Approval of T1 Participation Agreement for Idaho Street 
Townhomes      
 
Shellan Rodriguez, CCDC Project Manager, gave a report. 
 
David Hale, representing Hale Development, provided comments regarding the project. 
 
Commissioner Zuckerman moved to adopt Resolution No. 1408 authorizing the execution of the 
Type1 Streetscape Grant Participation Agreement for the Idaho Street Townhomes. 
Commissioner Eberle seconded the motion. 
 
All said Aye. The motion carried 6-0. 
 
C. CONSIDER: Resolution 1407 Approval of T2 Participation Agreement for Marriott 
 
Shellan Rodriguez, CCDC Project Manager, gave a report. 
 
Commissioner Zuckerman moved to adopt Resolution No. 1407 authorizing the execution of the 
Type 2 General Assistance Participation Agreement; clarifying that the metal art screening was 
not an eligible cost for a Type 2 agreement, and confirming that the drive aisle improvements 
remain an eligible cost. Commissioner Eberle seconded the motion. 
 
All said Aye. The motion carried 6-0. 
 
D. CONSIDER: Resolution 1411 Authorizing a Temporary Waiver of Monthly Parking 
Oversell in the City Centre Garage 
 
Max Clark, CCDC Parking & Facilities Director, gave a report.  
 
Commissioner Eberle moved to adopt of Resolution No. 1411 authorizing a temporary waiver of 
the monthly parking oversell in the City Centre Garage and reallocation of parking use between 
monthly and hourly parkers. Commissioner Zuckerman seconded the motion.  
 
All said Aye. The motion carried 6-0. 
 
 
Commissioner Bieter moved for a five minute recess. Commissioner Eberle seconded the 
motion. Chairman Hale convened the meeting at 1:30 p.m. 
 
 



V. INFORMATION/DISCUSSION ITEMS: 
 
A. Parking Initiatives Update 
 
Max Clark, CCDC Parking & Facilities Director, gave a report.  
 
Commissioner McLean left at 1:52 p.m. 
 
B. The Grove Plaza Renovation Design Update 
 
Doug Woodruff, CCDC Project Manager, gave a report.  
 
Brian McCarter, representing ZGF Architects, gave a report. 
 
Geoff Wardle, representing Gardner Company, provided comments concerning the adjacent 
property to the project.  
 
C. Operations Report 
 
John Brunelle, CCDC Executive Director, gave a report. 
 
 
VI. ADJOURNMENT:   
 
There being no further business to come before the Board, a motion was made by 
Commissioner Eberle to adjourn the meeting. Commissioner Zuckerman seconded the motion.   
 
All said Aye. 
 
The meeting was adjourned at 2:24 p.m. 
 

- - - - 
 

ADOPTED BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE CAPITAL CITY DEVELOPMENT 
CORPORATION ON THE ____ day of _________________, 2015. 
 
 
 

_________________________________ 
John Hale, Chair 
 
 
 
_________________________________ 
Pat Shalz, Secretary 

 



RESOLUTION NO. 1417 

 RESOLUTION NO. 1417 
 
 
BY THE BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS OF THE URBAN RENEWAL AGENCY OF 
BOISE CITY, IDAHO: 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS OF 
THE URBAN RENEWAL AGENCY OF BOISE CITY, IDAHO, 
APPROVING THE DESTRUCTION OF CERTAIN RECORDS 
ELIGIBLE FOR DESTRUCTION PURSUANT TO THE PUBLIC 
RECORDS RETENTION POLICY APPROVED ON APRIL 14, 
2014, THROUGH THE ADOPTION OF RESOLUTION 
NUMBER 1340; AND AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTIVE 
DIRECTOR TO DESTROY THOSE RECORDS CURRENTLY 
ELIGIBLE FOR DESTRUCTION; AND PROVIDING AN 
EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
THIS RESOLUTION, made on the date hereinafter set forth by the Urban Renewal 

Agency of Boise City, an independent public body corporate and politic, authorized under the 
authority of the Idaho Urban Renewal Law of 1965, as amended, Chapter 20, Title 50, Idaho 
Code, a duly created and functioning urban renewal agency for Boise City, Idaho, hereinafter 
referred to as the “Agency.”   
 
 WHEREAS, the Agency, a public body, corporate and politic, is an urban renewal 
agency created by and existing under the authority of and pursuant to the Idaho Urban Renewal 
Law of 1965, being Idaho Code, Title 50, Chapter 20, and the Local Economic Development 
Act, being Idaho Code, Title 50, Chapter 29, as amended and supplemented, for the purpose of 
financing the undertaking of any urban renewal project (collectively the "Act");   
 

WHEREAS, the City Council of Boise City, Idaho (the “City”), after notice duly 
published, conducted a public hearing on the amended and restated Urban Renewal Plan for the 
Boise Central District Project I, Idaho R-4, and Project II, Idaho R-5 (the “Amended Urban 
Renewal Plan”);   
 

WHEREAS, following said public hearing, the City adopted its Ordinance No. 5597 on 
December 6, 1994, approving the Amended Urban Renewal Plan and making certain findings;   
 
 WHEREAS, following said public hearing, the City adopted its Ordinance No. 5597 on 
December 6, 1994, approving the Amended Urban Renewal Plan and making certain findings;   
 
 WHEREAS, the City, after notice duly published, conducted a public hearing on the 2007 
Amended and Restated Urban Renewal Plan for the Boise Central District Project I, Idaho R-4, 
and Project II, Idaho R-5 (the “2007 Plan”); 
 
 WHEREAS, following said public hearing, the City adopted its Ordinance No. 6576 on 
June 26, 2007, effective upon publication on July 23, 2007, approving and making certain 
findings on the 2007 Plan; 
 



RESOLUTION NO. 1417 

 WHEREAS, the City, after notice duly published, conducted a public hearing on the 
River Street-Myrtle Street Urban Renewal Plan (the “River Street Plan”);   
 
 WHEREAS, following said public hearing, the City adopted its Ordinance No. 5596 on 
December 6, 1994, approving the River Street Plan and making certain findings;   
 
 WHEREAS, the City, after notice duly published, conducted a public hearing on the First 
Amended and Restated Urban Renewal Plan, River Street-Myrtle Street Urban Renewal Project 
(annexation of the Old Boise Eastside Study Area and Several Minor Parcels) and Renamed 
River Myrtle-Old Boise Urban Renewal Project (the “River Myrtle-Old Boise Plan”); 
 

WHEREAS, following said public hearing, the City adopted its Ordinance No. 6362 on 
November 30, 2004, approving the River Myrtle-Old Boise Plan and making certain findings; 
 
 WHEREAS, the City, after notice duly published, conducted a public hearing on the 
Westside Downtown Urban Renewal Plan (the “Westside Plan”); 
 

WHEREAS, following said hearing, the City adopted its Ordinance No. 6108 on 
December 4, 2001, approving the Westside Plan and making certain findings; 
 

WHEREAS, the City after notice duly published, conducted a public hearing on the 30th 
Street Area Urban Renewal Plan (“30th Street Plan”); 
 

WHEREAS, following said hearing, the City adopted its Ordinance No. 6868 on 
December 4, 2012, approving the 30th Street Plan;  
 
 WHEREAS, the 2007 Plan, the River Myrtle Old Boise Plan, the Westside Plan, and the 
30th Street Plan are collectively referred to as the “Boise Urban Renewal Plans”; 
 
 WHEREAS, the Agency Board has, acting in the best public interest, adopted policies 
and procedures in compliance with Idaho Code Section 50-907;  
 
 WHEREAS, the Agency Board on August 9, 2007, approved Agency Resolution No. 
1110, which adopted a specific policy for destruction of records, consistent with Idaho Code 
Section 50-907; 
 
 WHEREAS, the Agency Board on April 14, 2008, approved Agency Resolution No. 
1135, which amended the specific policy for destruction of records, consistent with Idaho Code 
Section 50-907; 
 

WHEREAS, the Agency Board on April 14, 2014, approved Agency Resolution No. 
1340, which adopted the Agency’s Public Records Retention Policy and Email Policy ( the 
“Public Record Retention Policy”), consistent with Idaho Code Section 50-907; 

 
WHEREAS, Agency staff believes it to be beneficial to have the Agency Board approve 

the destruction of records identified on Exhibit A, attached to this Resolution and incorporated 
by reference as if set forth in total herein, which are currently eligible for destruction pursuant to 
the Public Record Retention Policy;   



RESOLUTION NO. 1417 

 
WHEREAS, Agency staff has notified the Boise City Clerk in writing that certain records 

are scheduled for destruction and has invited the City to notify the Agency within 30 days 
whether they wish to retain all or a portion of said records at their own expense; 
   
 WHEREAS, Agency staff recommends approval of the destruction of those records 
currently eligible for destruction according the Public Record Retention Policy, unless the Boise 
City Clerk should respond affirmatively within the given time frame that they wish the records to 
be retained;   
 
 WHEREAS, the Board finds it in the best interests of the Agency and the public to 
approve the destruction of those records currently eligible for destruction, provided that the 
Boise City Clerk does not indicate that the records should be retained. 
   
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 
OF THE URBAN RENEWAL AGENCY OF BOISE CITY, IDAHO:   
 
 Section 1. That the above statements are true and correct.   
 
 Section 2. That the Executive Director is authorized and directed to take all action to 
destroy the records listed on Exhibit A, attached hereto, including providing advance notice to 
the Boise City Clerk. 
 
 Section 3. That this Resolution shall be in full force and effect immediately upon its 
adoption and approval.   
 
 PASSED by the Urban Renewal Agency of the City of Boise, Idaho, on November 9, 
2015.  Signed by the Chairman of the Board of Commissioners, and attested by the Secretary to 
the Board of Commissioners, on this 9th day of November, 2015.   
 
 
      APPROVED:   
 
      By_________________________________ 
         Chairman of the Board 
 
ATTEST: 
 
By____________________________ 
   Secretary   
 
 
 
 
4813-6917-1995, v.  1 



 
 

RECORDS DESTRUCTION EXHIBIT SUMMARY SHEET 
 
 

 
By my signature below, I certify the following statements. 
 
I have reviewed the list of documents on the attached Exhibit. The listed documents are 
semi-permanent or temporary records as described in the Public Records Retention 
Policy adopted by the CCDC Board on August 9, 2007 and amended on April 14, 2014. 
All of the documents listed on the attached Exhibit are beyond the retention requirement 
and are therefore eligible for destruction. 
 
The Boise City Clerk has been notified in writing of CCDC’s intent to destroy these 
documents (see attached letter). CCDC will hold destruction of the documents until the 
date noted in the letter to provide the City Clerk an opportunity to request retention of the 
documents if they wish. 
 
 
 
 
 
                 11/9/15 
__________________________________    ______________ 
Céline Acord                  Date 
 



 

 

November 9, 2015 
 
 
Jamie Heinzerling  
Deputy City Clerk 
PO Box 500 
Boise, ID 83701 
 
 
Re: Public Records Destruction 
 
 
Dear Ms. Heinzerling, 
 
Attached is Capital City Development Corporation’s Resolution No. 1417 which will be 
presented to our Board for adoption on November 9, 2015. If adopted, this resolution authorizes 
the destruction of the attached temporary and semi-permanent records.  
 
In compliance with Idaho Code Section 50-907 and the CCDC Public Records Retention Policy 
(approved on April 14, 2014, through the adoption of CCDC Resolution No. 1340), we are 
notifying you of our intent to destroy these records. 
 
If you would like any of these documents to be retained, please notify me by December 9, 2015. 
If CCDC does not hear from you by that date and the Board approves Resolution No. 1417, we 
will proceed with the destruction of these records on December 9, 2015. 
 
Please contact me by phone at 208-384-4264 or email at cacord@ccdcboise.com if you have 
any questions or require further information. 
 
Sincerely, 
 
 

 
Céline Acord 
Administrative Project Assistant 

mailto:cacord@ccdcboise.com


Page 1 of 1

Date Contents
Retention 

Classification
Eligible Destruction

Date & Review 

10/1/2009
Accounts receivable, accounts payable, cash disbursements, bank statements, deposit slips  and 
general ledger reports

Semi-Permanent 10/1/2015

10/1/2009 Parking reports, staff travel/training, voided checks Semi-Permanent 10/1/2015
10/1/2009 Accounts payable, A-E Semi-Permanent 10/1/2015
10/1/2009 Accounts payable, F-P Semi-Permanent 10/1/2015
10/1/2009 Accounts payable, S-Z Semi-Permanent 10/1/2015
10/1/2009 Payroll registers/records Semi-Permanent 10/1/2015
10/1/2009 Accounts receivable, general ledger, deposit slips Semi-Permanent 10/1/2015

CCDC RECORDS ELIGIBLE FOR DESTRUCTION
Board Review Date: 11/9/15  -  Resolution No. 1417



 

 

AGENDA BILL 

 

Agenda Subject: 
Contract Award for FY2016 Brick Engraving Services 
 

Date: 
November 9, 2015 

Staff Contact: 
Mary Watson 
 

Attachments: 
A.  Bid Results 
B.  Resolution No. 1413 
C.  Invitation to Bid and Addenda 
D.  Bid Received from Fund Raisers, LTD. 
 

Action Requested: 
Adopt Resolution No. 1413 awarding the contract for FY2016 Brick Engraving Services to Fund 
Raisers, LTD. 
  
 
Background: 
As a part of the renovation of the Grove Plaza, CCDC is removing the original “founders” 
I-bricks, having them re-engraved onto Endicott™ 8” x 4” x 2 ¼“ square-edge bricks, and re-
installing them. Because of the anticipated value of the engraving services contract, CCDC was 
required by state statute to procure the services by the formal, sealed bid process outlined in 
Idaho Code § 67-2806.  The intent of CCDC’s invitation to bid for brick engraving services was 
to obtain firm fixed pricing from qualified professional engravers who have the requisite 
experience and the capacity to receive at least 13,989 bricks supplied by CCDC and provide 
three lines of unique engraving onto each brick. 
 
Staff issued the formal bid invitation for brick engraving services on September 15, 2015.  Legal 
notice was published in the Idaho Statesman newspaper on September 15 and 22, 2015. The 
bids were publicly opened and read on October 14, 2015 at 2:00 p.m. local time.  
 
Two (2) sealed bids were received from brick engraving companies, as follows: 
 
  COMPANY     BID RECEIVED 
 
  Fund Raisers, LTD.    $204,239.40 
 
  J+C Brick Engraving, LTD.   $223,824.00 
  d.b.a. “Cut In Stone” 
 
Fund Raisers, LTD., submitted the low bid, with a unit price of $14.60 per brick engraved.  Also, 
the company submitted the required bid bond and provided the required proof of experience 
engraving brick pavers for similarly-sized projects.  J+C Brick Engraving, LTD., was not the low 

 Page 1 



bid, did not submit the required bid bond, and did not provide the requisite information needed 
to show proof of experience engraving large orders of brick pavers. 
 
The bid invitation required submission of two Endicott™ 8” x 4” x 2 ¼“ square-edge brick 
samples with specific engraved text in order to show the quality of the company’s engraving 
services. CCDC made Endicott™ bricks available to all bidders and did, upon request, provide 
bricks to two of the three interested companies so that they could meet this requirement of the 
bid invitation. 
 
Both Fund Raisers, LTD., and J+C Brick Engraving, LTD., submitted two brick samples – 
however, only Fund Raisers, LTD., complied with the bid specifications: the company engraved 
the correct text and submitted one unfilled brick to show depth of engraving and one light-color 
filled brick to show quality of engraving.  J+C Brick Engraving, LTD., did not comply with the bid 
specifications: the company submitted smaller brick samples without the correct text engraved. 
 
A third company, Fundraising Brick LLC located in Missouri, submitted two brick samples but 
the engraving did not comply with the bid specifications. Additionally, Fundraising Brick LLC did 
not submit a sealed bid. Therefore, Fundraising Brick LLC’s submission cannot be considered 
because it did not meet any of CCDC’s specific bidding procedures and specifications. 
 
 
Fiscal Notes: 
As part of the Grove Plaza renovation, CCDC’s FY2016 budget includes sufficient funding to 
execute the contract with Fund Raisers, LTD., for re-engraving the founders bricks.       
 
 
Staff Recommendation: 

1. The Board adopt Resolution No. 1413 awarding the construction contract for brick 
engraving services to Fund Raisers, LTD., for the Bid amount. 
 

2. The Board authorize the Executive Director to negotiate and execute the general services 
contract with Fund Raisers, LTD., and to expend funds up to the amount bid amount of 
$204,239.40     

 
 

Suggested Motion: 
 
I move to adopt Resolution No. 1413 awarding the general services contract for the FY2016 
brick engraving services to Fund Raisers, LTD., for the Bid amount of $204,239.00 and 
authorizing the Executive Director to take all necessary steps to negotiate and execute the 
contract, and to expend funds as set forth in the resolution. 
   
 

 

 Page 2 



Company

Sealed Bid
Received by 2:00 
p.m. October 14, 

2015
Bid Security
(5% of Bid)

Signed Waiver 
and Release

Addendum 1 
noted on the 

first page

Addendum 2 
noted on the 

first page
Signed

Bid Form
Engraving Unit 

Price

Additional 
Costs and Fees 

Charged to 
CCDC

TOTAL BID PACKAGE 
SUM

TWO 
CORRECT 
SAMPLES 
RECEIVED

Number of 
years 

engraving 
bricks for 

commercial 
sale or resale

Five brick 
references 

given

All 9 
questions on 

Proposal 
answered in 

the 
affirmative

Idaho 
Preference Law 

Information

Fundraising Brick LLC X X X
(Missouri)

J+C Brick Engraving, LTD 
d.b.a. "Cut In Stone" Yes NO Yes Yes Yes Yes $16 zero $223,824.00 18 Yes n/a
(Texas)

Fund Raisers, LTD Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes $14.60 zero $204,239.40 Yes 25+ Yes Yes n/a
(Idaho)

Invitation to Bid: Brick Engraving Services
BIDS DUE: October 14, 2015 at 2:00 p.m.

RESULTS OF BID OPENING

Determination of the lowest qualified bidder will not be final until the CCDC Board of Commissioners reviews the Bid results at a public meeting
scheduled for November 9, 2015, and decides whether to award a contract and which Bidder will receive the contract award.
CCDC Board meetings begin at noon and are held in the CCDC Board Room, 121 N. 9th Street, Suite 500, Boise IDAHO  83702.  

Questions may be directed to:  Mary Watson, Contracts Manager, 208-384-4264 or mwatson@ccdcboise.com.

No sealed bid received Two recvd; did 
not meet 

specs

Two recvd; did 
not meet 

specs

References 
given did not 
meet specs

No information provided

EXHIBIT A

mwatson
Rectangle



RESOLUTION NO. 1413 

BY THE BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS OF THE URBAN RENEWAL AGENCY OF BOISE 
CITY, IDAHO:   

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS OF 
THE URBAN RENEWAL AGENCY OF BOISE CITY, IDAHO, 
FINDING FUND RAISERS, LTD., IS THE LOWEST QUALIFIED 
BIDDER FOR THE FY2016 INVITATION TO BID FOR BRICK 
ENGRAVING SERVICES; AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTIVE 
DIRECTOR TO NEGOTIATE AND EXECUTE A GENERAL 
SERVICES CONTRACT WITH FUND RAISERS, LTD., FOR THE 
BRICK ENGRAVING SERVICES; AND PROVIDING AN 
EFFECTIVE DATE 

THIS RESOLUTION, is made on the date hereinafter set forth by the Urban Renewal 
Agency of Boise City, Idaho, an independent public body, corporate and politic, authorized 
under the authority of the Idaho Urban Renewal Law of 1965, as amended, chapter 20, title 50, 
Idaho Code, and duly created and functioning urban renewal agency for Boise City, Idaho, 
hereinafter referred to as the “Agency.” 

WHEREAS, the Agency is required to comply with the competitive bidding provisions of 
chapter 28, title 67, Idaho Code; and  

WHEREAS, Idaho Code § 67-2806(2) provides for a competitive sealed bidding process 
for procurement of general services and personal property valued  in excess of $50,000; and  

WHEREAS, the Agency is in need of brick engraving services in order to re-engrave 
13,989 original “founders” bricks as part of its renovation of the Grove Plaza; and  

WHEREAS, the Agency’s budget for fiscal year 2016 includes funding for the re-
engraving of the founders bricks; and 

WHEREAS, the Agency issued an Invitation to Bid for Brick Engraving Services on 
September 15, 2015, and published the requisite public notice of the Invitation to Bid in the 
Idaho Statesman newspaper on September 15 and 22, 2015; and,  

WHEREAS, the Agency’s Invitation to Bid set forth specific bidding procedures and 
specifications that the Agency considered to be in its best interest and critical to its ability to 
receive the exact services sought to be procured, including: submission of a sealed bid and bid 
bond; proof of experience engraving brick pavers for similarly-sized projects; and submission of 
two Endicott™ brick pavers showing the quality of the company’s engraving services; and,  

WHEREAS, the Agency received two (2) sealed bids by the due date and time of 
2:00 p.m. on October 14, 2015; and, 

WHEREAS, of the two (2) bids received, the bid received from Fund Raisers, LTD., for 
the amount of Two Hundred Four Thousand Two Hundred Thirty-Nine and 40/100 Dollars 
($204,239.40) was the lowest bid price complying with bidding procedures and meeting the 
specifications for the services sought to be procured; and, 

RESOLUTION NO. 1413 Page 1 

EXHIBIT B

mwatson
Rectangle



 
WHEREAS, Fund Raisers, LTD., provided a unit price of Fourteen and 60/100 Dollars 

($14.60) for each brick engraved, as part of its bid; and 
 
WHEREAS, Agency staff reviewed the bids and recommends to the Board that the 

contract award for the FY2016 Brick Engraving Services be made to Fund Raisers, LTD., as the 
lowest qualified bidder. 

 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE MEMBERS OF THE BOARD OF 
COMMISSIONERS OF THE URBAN RENEWAL AGENCY OF BOISE CITY, AS FOLLOWS:   
 
 Section 1: That the above statements are true and correct. 
 
 Section 2: That the Board hereby finds that Fund Raisers, LTD., submitted the 
lowest qualified bid for the FY2016 Brick Engraving Services needed by the Agency.   
 

Section 3: That the Executive Director of the Agency is hereby authorized to 
negotiate and execute a general services contract with Fund Raisers, LTD., for brick engraving 
services for the per-brick unit price of $14.60 and to expend up to TWO HUNDRED FOUR 
THOUSAND TWO HUNDRED THIRTY-NINE AND 40/100 DOLLARS ($204,239.40) to re-
engrave 13,989 founders bricks as part of the Agency’s renovation of the Grove Plaza, 
consistent with the Board’s stated instructions at the November 9, 2015, Agency Board Meeting, 
and further is hereby authorized to execute all necessary documents required to implement the 
actions contemplated by the contract, subject to representations by Agency legal counsel that 
all conditions precedent to those actions and the contract or other documents are acceptable 
based upon advice from Agency’s legal counsel that is consistent with the comments and 
discussions received at the November 9, 2015, Agency Board Meeting. 

 
Section 4:  That this Resolution shall be in full force and effect immediately upon its 

adoption and approval.     
 
 
PASSED by the Urban Renewal Agency of Boise City, Idaho, on November 9, 2015.  

Signed by the Chairman of the Board of Commissioners, and attested by the Secretary to the 
Board of Commissioners, on November 9, 2015.   
 

URBAN RENEWAL AGENCY OF BOISE CITY 
 
 
      By:         
       John Hale, Chairman 
 
      Date:         
ATTEST: 
 
 
By:        
       Secretary 
 
Date:        
 

RESOLUTION NO. 1413  Page 2 



INVITATION TO BID 

BRICK ENGRAVING SERVICES 

SEPTEMBER 15, 2015 

CAPITAL CITY DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION 
121 N. 9TH STREET, SUITE 501 

BOISE, IDAHO  83702 

INVITATION TO BID: BRICK ENGRAVING SERVICES PAGE 1 

EXHIBIT C

mwatson
Rectangle



CAPITAL CITY DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION 
INVITATION TO BID – BRICK ENGRAVING SERVICES 
 
 
 
TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 
 
ADVERTISEMENT FOR BIDS 
 
INSTRUCTIONS TO BIDDERS 

General Provisions 
Bid Submission Process 
 

SPECIAL BID TERMS AND CONDITIONS 
 
BID PROPOSAL 
 
WAIVER AND RELEASE 
 
SAMPLE CONTRACT 
  

 
INVITATION TO BID: BRICK ENGRAVING SERVICES PAGE 2 
 
 



ADVERTISEMENT FOR BIDS 
 

BRICK ENGRAVING SERVICES 
 
Sealed bids will be received by Capital City Development Corporation (CCDC) at 121 N. 9th St., 
Suite 501, Boise, Idaho, 83702 until 2:00 p.m., local time, on September 29, 2015, for brick 
engraving services.  The project consists of engraving 13,989 bricks supplied by CCDC with 
three lines of unique engraving per brick, per the Invitation to Bid specifications. 
 
Proposals will be opened and publicly read at the above hour and date.  Late or incomplete 
submissions will not be accepted.  Email and FAX submissions will not be accepted. 
 
Interested parties are invited to obtain the Invitation to Bid and submission instructions at 
Capital City Development Corporation, 121 N. 9th St., Suite 501, Boise, Idaho 83702 (208)384-
4264 or downloaded from the website: www.ccdcboise.com   
 
A bid bond in the amount of 5% of the total bid amount is required. 
 
No pre-bid conference will be held, but bidders are invited to see samples of the bricks and 
required engraving style at the CCDC offices. 
 
 
Requests for information related to this Invitation should be directed to: 
Mary Watson, Contracts Manager | Attorney at Law 
(208) 384-4264 or mwatson@ccdcboise.com  
 
 
Pub. Sept. 15, 22, 2015 
 

  

 
INVITATION TO BID: BRICK ENGRAVING SERVICES PAGE 3 
 
 

http://www.ccdcboise.com/
mailto:mwatson@ccdcboise.com


INSTRUCTIONS TO BIDDERS 
 
 
Capital City Development Corporation (CCDC) is an independent public body, corporate and 
politic, organized and existing under the laws of the State of Idaho and known as the urban 
renewal agency of the City of Boise City, Idaho.  CCDC owns The Grove Plaza (“Grove” or 
“Plaza”) which is located in the heart of downtown Boise.  After 30 years of public enjoyment, 
the Plaza is in need of certain renovations meant to enhance and modernize the public space, 
including installation of new, engraved brick pavers. 
 
The intent of this Invitation to Bid is to obtain firm fixed pricing from qualified professional 
engravers who have the requisite experience and the capacity to receive 13,989 bricks supplied 
by CCDC and provide three lines of unique engraving onto each brick.  One or more orders will 
be placed at various times throughout the contract period.  No bid will be considered which 
stipulates that CCDC shall guarantee to order a specific quantity of engraving at one time or 
throughout the contract period.  The proposed contract is for a period commencing with the 
execution of the contract by CCDC and will expire on September 30, 2016.  All prices, 
discounts, terms, and conditions are to remain unchanged throughout the contract period. 
 
 
GENERAL PROVISIONS 
 
AWARD:  Award, if made, will be to the qualified bidder submitting the lowest bid price 
complying with bidding procedures and meeting the specifications for the services sought to be 
procured.  CCDC reserves the right to reject any bid from a bidder whose bid is submitted 
improperly, unintelligible, or incomplete. Prior to the effective date of a contract, CCDC shall 
have the right to accept or reject all bids, to waive any minor deviations/informalities, or to 
cancel the bid. 

ORAL INFORMATION: Questions concerning a bid must be directed in writing to CCDC’s 
Contract Manager no less than seven (7) calendar days before bids are due unless provided 
otherwise via an addendum. Oral information is not binding and any reliance by a bidder on any 
oral information or representation is at the bidder’s sole risk. Any information given a 
prospective bidder in response to a written question will be provided to all prospective bidders 
by an addendum, if such information is necessary for purposes of submitting a bid or if failure to 
give such information would be prejudicial to uninformed bidders. 

PUBLIC RECORDS:  CCDC is a public agency. The Idaho Public Records Act, Idaho Code 
Title 74, Chapter 1, allows the open inspection and copying of public records. Public records 
include any writing containing information relating to the conduct or administration of the public's 
business prepared, owned, used, or retained by a State or local agency regardless of the 
physical form or character. Unless exempted by the Public Records Law, your bid will be a 
public record subject to disclosure under the Public Records Law. Any questions regarding the 
applicability of the Public Records Law should be addressed to your legal counsel prior to 
submission. 

FORM OF AGREEMENT:  The agreement between the successful bidder and the Agency shall 
be the General Services Agreement between Agency and Contractor. A sample is provided in 
the Invitation to Bid. 

 
INVITATION TO BID: BRICK ENGRAVING SERVICES PAGE 4 
 
 



PERFORMANCE BOND:  A performance bond will be required at the time of execution of the 
Contract, in an amount of not less than one hundred percent (100%) of the total bid package 
sum.  The performance bond shall be a standard surety form executed by a surety reasonably 
acceptable to the Agency and authorized to do business in the State of Idaho. 

TAXES:  CCDC is exempt from Federal and State taxes and will execute the required 
exemption certificates for items purchased and used by CCDC.  Items purchased by CCDC and 
used by a contractor are subject to Use Tax.  All other taxes are the responsibility of the 
Contractor and are to be included in the Contractor’s bid pricing. 
 
INSURANCE:  Prior to executing a contract for engraving services, the successful bidder will be 
required to provide proof of the insurance coverages as specified in the contract. 
 
 
BID SUBMISSION PROCESS 
 
BID DOCUMENTS: The responsibility is on the bidder to use a complete set of bid documents 
to prepare a bid.  Agency shall not incur any liability for the bidder’s failure to do so. Bidders 
obtain no ownership interest or any use rights, except to use in preparation of their bid, by 
issuance of the bid documents.  Bidders shall field verify all information pertaining to the Work 
and shall be responsible for the determination of all quantities of materials required for the 
completion of the Work. No allowance shall be made for bidder’s failure to field-verify. 
 
ADDENDA: In the event it becomes necessary to revise any part of the bid documents, 
addenda will be issued. Information given to one bidder will be available to all other bidders if 
such information is necessary for purposes of submitting a bid or if failure to give such 
information would be prejudicial to uninformed bidders. It is the bidder’s responsibility to check 
for addenda prior to submitting a bid. A bidder is required to acknowledge receipt of all addenda 
by identifying the addenda numbers in the space provided on the bid proposal form. Failure to 
do so may result in the bid being declared non-responsive. No addenda will be issued less than 
four (4) calendar days before the closing date unless the bid closing date is extended. 
 
OBJECTIONS TO SPECIFICATIONS OR PROCESS: Objections to specifications or bidding 
procedures must be in writing and received by CCDC’s Contracts Manager at least three (3) 
business days before the date and time of bid opening. The objection must state the exact 
nature of the protest, describing the location of the protest portion or clause in the Bid 
documents and explaining why the provision should be struck, added, or altered, and contain 
suggested corrections. CCDC may deny the objection, modify the Invitation to Bid, and/or reject 
all or part of the objection. 
 
BID FORM: Bids must be submitted on the bid proposal forms, or copies of forms, furnished by 
the Agency. Bids submitted must contain an original signature in ink on the following forms: 

- Bid Proposal Form 
- Waiver and Release 
- Bid Bond (bid security) 

The Waiver and Release Form must be completed and included or the bid will be found non-
responsive. The person signing the Bid Proposal Form must initial any and all changes 
appearing on any bid form. If the bidder is a corporation or other legal entity, the bid form must 
be signed by an authorized designee. Oral, telephonic, telegraphic, facsimile or other 
electronically transmitted bid forms and/or signatures will not be considered. 

 
INVITATION TO BID: BRICK ENGRAVING SERVICES PAGE 5 
 
 



 
BID PRICES:  The bid form requires bidders to submit bid unit prices and a total bid package 
sum. Bidder will use the chart shown in the Bid Proposal form and will fill it out completely.  The 
total bid package sum is calculated by multiplying the unit price by 13,989 bricks to be engraved 
plus adding all additional costs or fees charged to CCDC by the bidder.  Bid amounts shall be 
expressed in words and numbers. The amount in words shall prevail if there is a discrepancy.  
Bids must remain open for sixty (60) days. 
 
SAMPLES:  Bidders shall furnish the following samples for evaluation with their bids: 

- One (1) unfilled sample to show the actual engraving depth. 
- One (1) dark color brick with light lettering fill to show quality and color contrast. 

Text on the samples can be any words or combinations of letters, numbers, and standard 
QWERTY keyboard characters. Bidders’ samples do not need to be brick pavers from Endicott 
Clay Products Company, but they must be 8” x 4” x 2 ¾“ brick pavers with wire-cut face, 
engraved with the Frutiger font in sizing as set forth in the Special Bid Terms and Conditions 
below.  Bidder is encouraged to view the samples displayed at the CCDC offices to determine 
whether Bidder can supply a matching product with color-matched filler. 
 
The successful bidder’s samples may be retained pending delivery for comparison with products 
delivered under the contract.  Samples will not be returned unless the bidder indicates the 
requirement to do so at the time the sample is furnished, and then only at the bidder’s expense.  
Failure to arrange for pick-up of released samples within thirty (30) days will result in disposal of 
the samples. 
 
TIME FOR SUBMISSION:  Bids must be submitted on or before the time specified above.  Late 
submissions will be rejected. 
 
SEALED ENVELOPE:  Bids shall be submitted in a sealed envelope with the following clearly 
printed on the outside of the envelope:  BRICK ENGRAVING SERVICES; the name and 
address of the bidder; and a statement such as “BID ENCLOSED” to indicate that it is a bid.  
Brick paver samples shall be in a sealed box or container that is separate from the submitted 
bid forms but identified in such a way as to stay associated with the submitted bid. 
 
MAILED BIDS:  When bids are mailed or shipped, the sealed envelope containing the bid shall 
be enclosed in a separate mailing envelope with the notation “SEALED BID ENCLOSED” on the 
face thereof.  If mailed, the mailing envelope shall be addressed as follows: 
 

Capital City Development Corporation 
Bid: Brick Engraving Services  
121 N. 9th Street, Suite 501 
Boise, Idaho  83702 

 
It is the bidder’s responsibility to ensure that its bid is delivered to the place designated for 
receipt on or before the specified closing time. The Agency assumes no responsibility for delays 
in the delivery of mail by the U.S. Post Office or private couriers. Bidders should be advised the 
intra-state mail system may increase delivery time from arrival at Central Postal to the place 
designated for receipt and should plan accordingly. LATE SUBMISSIONS WILL BE 
REJECTED, WILL NOT BE OPENED, AND WILL BE RETURNED TO THE BIDDER. 
NO DEVIATIONS WILL BE ALLOWED. 
 

 
INVITATION TO BID: BRICK ENGRAVING SERVICES PAGE 6 
 
 



BID CLOSING DECLARED:  Immediately prior to the bid opening, CCDC’s representative will 
declare the official bid closing. Any part of a bid not received prior to the bid closing declared by 
the designated representative will not be considered and will be returned to the bidder 
unopened. All bids shall be taken under advisement. 
 
EXECUTIVE ORDER 2009-10: Bidder shall prepare and submit its bid based on compliance 
with Executive Order 2009-10 and shall warrant that the bidder does not knowingly hire or 
engage any illegal aliens or persons not authorized to work in the United States; bidder shall 
take steps to verify that it does not hire or engage any illegal aliens or persons not authorized to 
work in the United States; and that any misrepresentation in this regard or any employment of 
persons not authorized to work in the United States constitutes a material breach and shall be 
cause for the imposition of monetary penalties and/or termination of any Contract resulting from 
this bid. 
 
LEGAL RESIDENCY REQUIREMENT:  By submitting a bid, the bidder attests, under penalty of 
perjury, that he (the bidder) is a United States citizen or legal permanent resident or that it is 
otherwise lawfully present in the United States pursuant to federal law.  Prior to being issued a 
contract, the bidder will be required to submit proof of lawful presence in the United States in 
accordance with Idaho Code § 67-7903. 
 
IDAHO PREFERENCE LAW:  Idaho Code § 67-2349 requires CCDC to apply a preference in 
determining which Contractor submitted the lowest responsible bid. If the Contractor who 
submitted the lowest dollar bid is domiciled in a state with a preference law that penalizes Idaho 
domiciled contractors, CCDC must apply the preference law (percentage amount) of that 
domiciliary state to that Contractor’s bid. 
 
BID SECURITY:  To be considered, bids must be accompanied by an acceptable bid security in 
an amount not less than five percent (5%) of the total value of the bid package – calculated by 
using bidder’s unit prices multiplied by 13,989 bricks to be engraved plus all additional costs or 
fees charged by the bidder. The security may be in the form of cash, a bond, or a certified or 
cashier's check. 
 
BID MODIFICATION OR WITHDRAWAL:  If a bid has been submitted, it may be modified or 
withdrawn in person by a bidder’s authorized representative before the opening of the bids. A 
bidder’s representative will be required to show identification and sign on a bid summary sheet 
before it will be released. After bid closing, no bid may be modified or withdrawn except in strict 
accordance with these Instructions or applicable law. 
 
OBJECTION TO AWARD OF CONTRACT:  If any participating bidder objects to CCDC’s 
award of the contract, such bidder shall respond in writing to the notice from CCDC within 
seven (7) calendar days of the date of transmittal of the notice, setting forth in such 
response the express reason or reasons that the award decision of CCDC’s governing 
board is in error.  Upon receipt of such objection, CCDC’ governing board shall review its 
decision and determine whether to affirm its prior award, modify the award, or choose to re-
bid, setting forth its reason or reasons therefore.  After completion of the review process, 
CCDC may proceed as it deems to be in the public interest. 
 
 
  

 
INVITATION TO BID: BRICK ENGRAVING SERVICES PAGE 7 
 
 



SPECIAL BID TERMS AND CONDITIONS 
 
The intent of this Invitation to Bid is to obtain firm fixed pricing from qualified professional 
engravers who have the requisite experience and the capacity to receive 13,989 bricks supplied 
by CCDC and provide three lines of unique engraving onto each brick.  One or more orders will 
be placed at various times throughout the contract period.  No bid will be considered which 
stipulates that CCDC shall guarantee to order a specific quantity of engraving at one time or 
throughout the contract period.  The proposed contract is for a period commencing with the 
execution of the contract by CCDC and will expire on September 30, 2016.  All prices, 
discounts, terms, and conditions are to remain unchanged throughout the contract period. 
 
This Invitation to Bid contains extremely specific details which are required in order to meet the 
demands of the new design and layout of the bricks on the Grove.  Therefore, these Special 
Conditions must be met in order to be considered a Qualified Bidder to provide the services 
needed within the deadlines set by the renovation schedule and incorporated in the Contract. 
The following combination of experience and engraving capacity are required to be considered 
a Qualified Bidder: 
 
Engraving experience required: 

- A minimum seven (7) years’ experience engraving bricks for commercial sale or resale. 
- Prior experience engraving Endicott™ wire-cut 8” x 4” x 2 ¾” clay bricks. 
- Experience completing five (5) engraving jobs of at least 10,000 bricks per job. 

 
Engraving facility / capacity required: 

- Utilize a CNC (computer numerical control) engraving machine capable of engraving into 
the Endicott™ brick pavers; hand engraving is not acceptable. 

- Have the necessary storage space to receive and store up to 17,355 bricks upon 
manufacturer’s delivery of bricks (expected on or about October 26, 2015). 

- Have the necessary manpower to engrave and fill in, in accordance with the 
specifications of the Invitation to Bid, 13,989 bricks by May 1, 2016. 

- Palletize the engraved and filled bricks, in specifically recorded batches, with names 
accurately documented in each batch, with each batch specified by pallet, in specific 
order of placement, to allow for brick-locator online web programming. 

- Ability to replace, within 48 hours’ notice by CCDC, any engraved bricks that upon 
removal from pallets for installation at the construction site are found to be damaged or 
broken.  

 
Engraving specifications: 

- Engrave Endicott™ wire-cut 8” x 4” x 2 ¾” clay brick pavers with square edges each with 
three (3) lines of text and fifteen (15) characters per line. 

- Engraving must be Frutiger Font, .5-inch letter height and 50% character spacing – to 
match exactly the samples displayed at the CCDC offices.  

- Engraving depth before insertion of filler must be at least 1/8-inch but no more than 
1/4-inch. 

- Insertion of filler that can be pigmented to color-match the samples displayed at the 
CCDC offices, with filler to be flush with the surface of the brick. 

- Insertion of filler that guarantees for the lifetime of the brick the permanent legibility with 
no deterioration or collection of dirt or debris in the lettering. 

 
END OF SPECIAL BID TERMS AND CONDITIONS 
 
INVITATION TO BID: BRICK ENGRAVING SERVICES PAGE 8 
 
 



BID PROPOSAL 
 
TO: CAPITAL CITY DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION (CCDC) 
 
The Bidder, in compliance with your Invitation to Bid for Brick Engraving Services, having 
examined the bidding and Contract Documents and being familiar with all of the conditions 
surrounding the proposed Work, including the availability of materials and labor, hereby proposes 
to furnish all labor, materials, and supplies and to provide the service and insurance in accordance 
with the Contract Documents, within the time set forth therein, and at the prices stated below. 
These prices are to cover all expenses incurred in performing the Work required under the 
Contract Documents. 
 
Bidder hereby agrees to commence Work under this Contract once the first shipment of bricks 
arrives from the manufacturer and work diligently to completion of the services by May 1, 2016. 
 
 
 Bidder acknowledges Addenda No.         
 ( List all Addenda ) 

 
 
BID PROPOSAL: Bidder agrees to perform all of the Work described in the Invitation to Bid for 
Brick Engraving Services for the following unit prices and Total Bid Package Sum: 

 

 Amount in Words Amount in Figures 

Engraving ( Unit Price ):  $ 
Unit Price x 13,989 
bricks engraved =  $ 

Any Additional Costs and 
Fees charged to CCDC 

by Bidder: 
 $ 

Total Bid Package Sum  $ 

 

Chart must be filled out completely; failure to show unit prices or additional costs and fees will 
render the bid non-responsive. Amounts shall be shown in both words and figures. 

In case of discrepancy, the amount shown in words will govern. 
 
Bidder agrees that this bid shall be good for a period of sixty (60) days after the scheduled opening 
time for receiving bids.  Bidder understands that the Agency reserves the right to reject any or all 
bids and to waive any informality in the bidding.  
 
Upon receipt of written Notice of Intent to Award of this bid, bidder will execute the formal Contract 
within ten (10) calendar days and deliver a Performance Bond in the amount of 100% of the Total 
Bid Package Sum shown above, as required by the Instructions to Bidders.  
 

 
INVITATION TO BID: BRICK ENGRAVING SERVICES PAGE 9 
 
 



The bid security in the amount of five percent (5%) of the Total Bid Package Sum is to become the 
property of the Agency, in the event the Contract and bond are not executed within the time set 
forth, as liquidated damages for the delay and additional expense to the Agency caused thereby.  
 
Bidder warrants that bid has been prepared and that any contract resulting from acceptance of 
this bid is subject to Executive Order 2009-10 and the General Services Agreement between 
Agency and Contractor. 

 
 
BIDDER QUALIFICATIONS: 
Bidder must answer each of the following questions. 
Failure to answer each of the questions below shall make your bid non-responsive. 
 
List number of years’ experience engraving bricks for commercial sale or resale:     
 
List five (5) references for brick engraving jobs of at least 10,000 bricks per job: 
 
 
1.               
    Person to Contact     Phone Number 
              
Name of Project and Its Location   Number of Bricks You Engraved 
 
 
2.               
    Person to Contact     Phone Number 
              
Name of Project and Its Location   Number of Bricks You Engraved 
 
 
3.               
    Person to Contact     Phone Number 
              
Name of Project and Its Location   Number of Bricks You Engraved 
 
 
4.               
    Person to Contact     Phone Number 
              
Name of Project and Its Location   Number of Bricks You Engraved 
 
 
5.               
    Person to Contact     Phone Number 
              
Name of Project and Its Location   Number of Bricks You Engraved 
 
 
 
 

 
INVITATION TO BID: BRICK ENGRAVING SERVICES PAGE 10 
 
 



BIDDER QUALIFICATIONS – CONTINUED 
 
 
Do you have experience engraving Endicott™ wire-cut clay bricks?      

          □ Yes    □ No 
 
 
Do you have access to a CNC (computer numerical control) engraving machine capable of 
engraving into the Endicott™ wire-cut clay brick pavers?  

          □ Yes    □ No 
 
 
Do you have the necessary storage space to receive and store up to 17,355 bricks upon 
manufacturer’s delivery of bricks?  

          □ Yes    □ No 
 
 
Do you have the necessary manpower to produce 13,989 engraved and filled bricks by the May 
1, 2016 deadline?  

          □ Yes    □ No 
 
Do you have the ability to palletize the engraved and filled bricks in specific batches, with names 
accurately documented in each batch, with each batch specified by pallet, in specific order of 
placement, to allow for brick-locator online web programming?  

          □ Yes    □ No 
 
 
Do you have the ability to replace within 48 hours’ notice any engraved bricks that upon removal 
from pallets for installation at the construction site are found to be damaged or broken?  

    □ Yes    □ No 
 
 
Do you have the ability to engrave Endicott™ wire-cut 8” x 4” x 2 ¾” clay brick pavers with 
square edges each with three (3) lines of text and fifteen (15) characters per line in Frutiger Font 
that is .5-inch letter height and 50% character spacing?  

    □ Yes    □ No 
 
 
Do you have the ability to engrave to a depth (before insertion of filler) that is at least 1/8-inch 
but no more than 1/4-inch?  

    □ Yes    □ No 
 
 
 
 
INVITATION TO BID: BRICK ENGRAVING SERVICES PAGE 11 
 
 



BIDDER QUALIFICATIONS – CONTINUED 
 
 
Do you have the ability to insert a filler that guarantees for the lifetime of the brick the 
permanent legibility with no deterioration or collection of dirt or debris in the lettering and that 
can be pigmented in order to exactly color-match the samples held by CCDC?  

    □ Yes    □ No 
 
 
END OF BIDDER QUALIFICATIONS SECTION 
 
PLEASE SIGN AND DATE BELOW FOR YOUR BID TO BE VALID. 
 
  
 
Dated this __________ day of       , 2015. 
 
 

 Respectfully submitted by: 

   
 (Company) 

(Seal - if bid is by a corporation)   
 (Street or PO Address) 

   
 (City, State and zip code) 

   
 (Authorized Signature) 

   
 (Title) 

   
 (Telephone Number) 

   
 (FAX Number) 
 
 
 
  

 
INVITATION TO BID: BRICK ENGRAVING SERVICES PAGE 12 
 
 



EXECUTE AND SUBMIT WITH BID 
 

WAIVER AND RELEASE 
 
The undersigned has read and fully accepts CCDC’s discretion and non-liability as stipulated 
herein, expressly for, but not limited to, CCDC’s decision to proceed with a selection process in 
response to the Invitation to Bid for Brick Engraving Services. 
 
A. Discretion of CCDC:  CCDC reserves the right in its sole discretion and judgment for 

whatever reason it deems appropriate to, at any time unless contrary to applicable state 
law:  

 
1) Modify or suspend any and all aspects of the bid process; 

2) Obtain further information from any person, entity, or group, including, but not limited 
to, any person, entity, or group responding to CCDC’s Bid Invitation (any such person, 
entity, or group responding is, for convenience, hereinafter referred to as “Bidder”), 
and to ascertain the depth of Bidder’s capability and experience for completion of the 
services and in any and all other respects to meet with and consult with any Bidder or 
any other person, entity, or group;  

3) Waive any formalities or defects as to form, procedure, or content with respect to its 
Invitation to Bid and any responses by any Bidder thereto; 

4) Accept or reject any sealed Bid received in response to the Bid Invitation, including 
any sealed Bid submitted by the undersigned; or select any one submission over 
another;  

5) Accept or reject all or any part of any materials, plans, drawings, schedules, proposals 
or statements, including, but not limited to, the nature and type of Bid.   

 
B. Non-Liability of CCDC 
 

1) The undersigned agrees that CCDC shall have no liability whatsoever of any kind or 
character, directly or indirectly, by reason of all or any decision made at the discretion 
of CCDC as identified above. 

2) The undersigned agrees that it has carefully and thoroughly reviewed the Invitation to 
Bid and has found it to be complete and free from ambiguities and sufficient for their 
intended purpose. 

 
Bidder’s Signature:          

Print Name:           

Print Title:           

Company Name:          

Date:            

 
INVITATION TO BID: BRICK ENGRAVING SERVICES PAGE 13 
 
 



 

 
 
 
 

GENERAL SERVICES AGREEMENT 
BRICK ENGRAVING SERVICES 

 
 THIS GENERAL SERVICES AGREEMENT (“Agreement”) is made by and between 
Capital City Development Corporation, an independent public body, corporate and politic, 
organized and existing under the laws of the State of Idaho and known as the urban renewal 
agency of the City of Boise City, Idaho, (“CCDC”) and _______________________________ 
(“CONTRACTOR”) (individually referred to as “Party” and collectively as the “Parties”), who 
agree as follows:  
 

PURPOSE AND INTENT 
As a component of CCDC’s Grove Plaza Renovation Project, CCDC will be transitioning the 
current brick paver specification standard from “I” brick pavers to a new specification standard 
of rectangular brick pavers.  Due to the fact that the “first generation” of personalized engraved 
brick pavers (“Founders’ bricks”) installed at The Grove Plaza in 1986 are “I” bricks, CCDC has 
elected to replace the existing Founders’ bricks with the new rectangular pavers.  To that end, 
CCDC wishes to engage CONTRACTOR to provide specialized brick paver engraving services, 
using CONTRACTOR’s unique and skilled method of engraving, in order for CCDC to preserve 
the tradition of community involvement at The Grove Plaza. 
 
 NOW THEREFORE, for good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of 
which is hereby acknowledged by the Parties hereto, the Parties agree as follows: 
 

1. CONTRACT DOCUMENTS; SCOPE OF SERVICES; SCHEDULE.  The 
Contract Documents consist of: this Contract and its Exhibit(s); the Invitation to Bid: Brick 
Engraving Services, issued by CCDC on September 15, 2015, and expressly incorporated by 
reference, including any Addenda thereto issued prior to execution of this Agreement; written 
amendments signed by both CCDC and CONTRACTOR; and CONTRACTOR’s Bid Proposal, 
and any Bonds and Insurance as required. CONTRACTOR shall perform engraving services as 
described in the Contract Documents which consists of engraving and filling 13,989 brick pavers 
for installation by CCDC.  CONTRACTOR shall complete all brick engraving services no later 
than May 1, 2016, and shall deliver the engraved pavers to CCDC’s specified location at a date 
to be determined but in no case later than May 1, 2016.   
 

(a)   Paver Acquisition and Delivery.  Parties acknowledge CCDC has procured a 
quantity of brick pavers of which 13,989 will be engraved as Founders’ bricks 
under this Agreement.  Pavers may be delivered in one or more shipments 
according to supplier’s production capabilities, with a shipment to be received 
FOB at CONTRACTOR’S engraving facilities on or about October 25, 2015.    

 
 Upon receipt of the shipment(s) of pavers from CCDC’s supplier, CONTRACTOR 

shall be responsible for any and all damages to the pavers until which time they 
are delivered to the custody of CCDC for installation on The Grove Plaza.  
CONTRACTOR will replace at no charge to CCDC any pavers damaged during 
that time of CONTRACTOR’S custody.   Damage is defined as: chips on the 
exposed surface of the paver larger than 1/4” and cracks longer than 2”.  CCDC 

 
SAMPLE CONTRACT  Page 1 
 



 

shall assume liability for any damages to the engraved pavers after CCDC has 
taken possession of the engraved pavers.  Coordination of delivery steps, 
including receipt of the engraved pavers by CCDC or its representative, will be 
arranged by the Parties as needed.   

 
 Upon delivery of the engraved bricks to The Grove Plaza for installation, 

CONTRACTOR will provide up to five (5) hours of on-site staff support in order to 
assist in facilitation of de-palletizing bricks for installation. 

 
 Because of the critical deadlines associated with the Grove Plaza project, CCDC 

and CONTRACTOR agree that if CONTRACTOR fails to deliver the full quantity 
of 13,989 engraved pavers to CCDC’s custody by May 1, 2016, CCDC will have 
no choice but to proceed with installation of non-engraved pavers where 
engraved pavers are not yet available, and CONTRACTOR agrees to reimburse 
CCDC for all reasonable expenses associated with CCDC’s contractor removing 
the non-engraved pavers and reinstalling the engraved pavers. 

 
2. NOTICE TO PROCEED.  CONTRACTOR shall notify CCDC when brick pavers 

arrive FOB from the manufacturer in order for CCDC to inspect the bricks.  Services to be 
performed under this Agreement shall commence upon CCDC’s written approval of brick pavers 
as received from the manufacturer.   

 
 3.     AMOUNT AND METHOD OF PAYMENT.   
 

(a) Amount and Method of Payment:  CCDC agrees to pay CONTRACTOR a fee not 
to exceed __________________________ ($__________) (the “unit price”) for 
each brick paver engraved under this Agreement, plus costs and fees in the 
amount of ________________________ ($__________), for a Total Bid 
Package Sum of           
($__________) for engraving 13,989 bricks.  In the event CCDC requires more 
brick engraving than the 13,989 units anticipated, CONTRACTOR will charge the 
unit price indicated above, said unit pricing being available to CCDC for the 
duration of this Agreement, and with reasonable costs and fees as negotiated. 

 
(b) Reimbursable Expenses.  Reimbursable expenses shall include general out-of-

pocket expenses and are limited to:  long-distance telephone charges, photo-
copying expenses, and overnight or standard mailing expenses, and shall be 
billed to CCDC at the actual cost to CONTRACTOR with no mark-up. 

 
(c) Notice Required Prior to Overages.  CONTRACTOR shall notify CCDC if 

CONTRACTOR anticipates CONTRACTOR’s charges for the Scope will exceed 
the not-to-exceed limit set for this Agreement.  CCDC will determine in its sole 
judgment if an amendment to the not-to-exceed limit is appropriate.  Any 
amendment shall be approved by CCDC in writing prior to the CONTRACTOR 
incurring costs in excess of the not-to-exceed limit.    
 

(d) Invoices.  CONTRACTOR shall provide time and expense records to CCDC in an 
invoice submitted to CCDC for payment.  Monthly invoices if approved by CCDC 
in writing shall be in a format acceptable to CCDC.  Each invoice shall specify 
charges as they relate to the tasks in the Scope of Services.  Each invoice shall 

 
SAMPLE CONTRACT  Page 2 
 



 

also specify current billing and previous payments, with a total of cost incurred 
and payments made to date.  

  
(e) Payment of Invoices.  All invoices shall be paid by CCDC within thirty (30) days 

of receipt of proper invoice, subject to Sections 3(f) and 21.  
 
(f) Correcting Deficiencies.  If a service or work product subject to a specific invoice 

does not meet the requirements of this Agreement as CCDC may reasonably 
determine, CCDC shall notify CONTRACTOR in writing and identify specific 
deficiencies in the service or work product that do not meet the requirements.  
CONTRACTOR shall have seven (7) working days to correct or modify the 
service or work product to comply with the requirements of the Agreement as set 
forth in the CCDC’s written notice.  If CCDC again reasonably determines the 
services or work product fails to meet the requirements, CCDC may withhold 
payment until deficiencies have been corrected to CCDC’s reasonable 
satisfaction or may terminate this Agreement for cause as set forth in Section 21 
of this Agreement.   

 
4. RIGHT OF CONTROL.  CCDC agrees that it will have no right to control or direct 

the manner or means by which CONTRACTOR accomplishes the results of the services 
performed hereunder.  CONTRACTOR has no obligation to work any particular hours or days or 
any particular number of hours or days.  CONTRACTOR agrees, however, that their other 
contracts and services shall not interfere with the performance of services under this 
Agreement.  CCDC agrees to coordinate project schedules, respective commencements, and 
deadlines with CONTRACTOR. 
 

5. INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR RELATIONSHIP.  CONTRACTOR is an 
independent CONTRACTOR and is not an employee, servant, agent, partner, or joint venturer 
of CCDC.  CCDC shall determine the services and work products to be done by 
CONTRACTOR, but CONTRACTOR shall determine the legal means by which it accomplishes 
the services and work projects specified by CCDC.  This Agreement shall not be construed to 
create any employer-employee relationship between CCDC and CONTRACTOR. 
 

6. DISCRIMINATION PROHIBITED.  In performing the services required herein, 
CONTRACTOR shall not discriminate against any person on the basis of race, color, religion, 
sex, national origin or ancestry, age or handicap.  Violation of this section shall constitute a 
material breach of this Agreement and be deemed grounds for cancellation, termination or 
suspension of the Agreement by CCDC, in whole or in part, and may result in ineligibility to 
perform additional services for CCDC.  

 
7. LICENSES AND LAW.  CONTRACTOR represents that it possesses the 

requisite skill, knowledge, and experience necessary, as well as all licenses required to perform 
the services under this Agreement.  CONTRACTOR further agrees to comply with all applicable 
laws, ordinances, and codes of Federal, State and local governments in the performance of the 
services hereunder. 
 

8. ACCESS TO RECORDS AND AUDITS.  CONTRACTOR shall maintain 
complete and accurate records with respect to costs incurred and manpower expended under 
this Agreement.  All such records shall be maintained according to generally accepted 
accounting principles, shall be clearly identified, and shall be readily accessible.  Such records 

 
SAMPLE CONTRACT  Page 3 
 



 

shall be available for review by CCDC representatives for three (3) years after final payment.  
Copies shall be made available upon request. 
 

9. FEDERAL, STATE, AND LOCAL PAYROLL TAXES. Neither federal, state or 
local income taxes, nor payroll taxes of any kind shall be withheld and paid by CCDC on behalf 
of CONTRACTOR or the employees of CONTRACTOR.  CONTRACTOR shall not be treated 
as an employee with respect to the services performed hereunder for federal or state tax 
purposes.   
 

10. FRINGE BENEFITS.  Because CONTRACTOR is engaged in its own 
independently established business, CONTRACTOR is not eligible for, and shall not participate 
in, any employee pension, health, or other fringe benefit plans of CCDC. 
 

11. EQUIPMENT, TOOLS, MATERIALS OR SUPPLIES.  CONTRACTOR shall 
supply, at CONTRACTOR’s sole expense, all equipment, tools, materials and/or supplies to 
accomplish the services and work product included in the Scope of Services 
 

12. PROPRIETARY RIGHTS.  With the exception of computer models created by 
CONTRACTOR, all other data, materials, reports, maps, graphics, tables, memoranda and 
other documents or products developed under this Agreement whether finished or not shall 
become the property of CCDC, shall be forwarded to CCDC at its request and may be used by 
CCDC as it sees fit.  CCDC agrees that if it uses products prepared by CONTRACTOR for 
purposes other than those intended in this Agreement, it does so at its sole risk and it agrees to 
hold CONTRACTOR harmless therefore. 
 

13. CONFIDENTIALITY.   
 

(a) CONTRACTOR agrees to maintain confidentiality of all work products produced 
under this Agreement, including both interim and draft, materials, reports, maps, 
graphics, tables, memoranda and other documents, unless and until CCDC 
signifies its written approval that a work product may be published as final work 
product.  CCDC reserves the right to distribute a final work product as it sees fit, 
provided that CONTRACTOR may use copies of any final work product in the 
marketing of its firm.  CONTRACTOR may use interim and draft work products in 
the marketing of its firm only upon written authorization from CCDC. 

 
(b) CONTRACTOR agrees that any names and addresses received from CCDC 

shall only be used on behalf of CCDC and shall not be used to create, distribute 
or sell mailing lists.  CONTRACTOR further agrees to maintain confidentiality of 
names and addresses received for any purpose and shall not use names and 
addresses in any work product except as authorized by CCDC.  

 
14. SUBCONTRACTORS.  CONTRACTOR may propose to CCDC the use of 

subcontractors (“SUBCONTRACTORS”) for performance of a particular aspect of the services.  
CCDC shall have the right to approve the use of subcontractors and the amount and method of 
subcontractors’ compensation prior to commencement of any services by subcontractors, and 
such approval shall be in writing.  CCDC shall also determine whether the selection of 
subcontractors should be made through any required selection process or through a selection 
process CCDC deems in its best interest.  CCDC shall have the right to approve any change in 
the use of subcontractors.  Such changes in subcontractors shall be approved by CCDC in 
writing and shall not affect the amount of payment stated in the Agreement unless specifically 
 
SAMPLE CONTRACT  Page 4 
 



 

authorized by CCDC in writing.  CCDC shall have no liability to subcontractors and 
CONTRACTOR shall be responsible for services performed or work product produced by the 
subcontractors and payment to subcontractors.   

 
15. COORDINATION WITH OTHER CONTRACTORS.  CONTRACTOR recognizes 

that CCDC has or may enter into agreements with other CONTRACTORs.  Upon request, 
CONTRACTOR agrees to coordinate with and work in conjunction with other CONTRACTORs 
when the need arises.   
 

16. STANDARD OF CARE.  CONTRACTOR shall perform its services consistent 
with the professional skill and care ordinarily provided by professional engraving companies 
practicing in the same or similar locality under the same or similar circumstances.  The 
CONTRACTOR shall perform its services as expeditiously as is consistent with such 
professional skill and care and the orderly progress of any services or work products performed 
under this Agreement.  
 

CONTRACTOR shall be entitled to rely on the accuracy and completeness of any 
information furnished by CCDC, except in such circumstances that CONTRACTOR should, in 
the exercise of reasonable care, consistent with the professional skill and care ordinarily 
provided by CONTRACTORs practicing under the same or similar circumstances, know the 
information to be incorrect, unreliable or incomplete.  CONTRACTOR shall provide prompt 
notice to CCDC if CONTRACTOR becomes aware of any errors, omissions or inconsistencies 
in such information. 

 
17. INDEMNIFICATION.  CONTRACTOR agrees to indemnify, defend and hold 

harmless CCDC, and its officers, agents and employees, from and against all claims, losses, 
actions, or judgments for damages or injury to persons or property to the extent caused by the 
CONTRACTOR’s negligence or intentionally wrongful acts during the performance of this 
Agreement by CONTRACTOR or CONTRACTOR’s agents, employees, or representatives.  In 
case any action or proceeding is brought against CCDC or its officers, agents or employees by 
reason of or arising out of connection with CONTRACTOR’s negligence or intentionally wrongful 
acts during the performance of this Agreement, CONTRACTOR, upon written notice from 
CCDC, shall at CONTRACTOR’s expense, resist or defend such action or proceeding. 
 

18. INSURANCE.  Prior to commencing to provide services under this Agreement, 
CONTRACTOR shall obtain at its sole cost and expense and thereafter maintain for the term of 
this Agreement, at least the minimum insurance coverages set forth below: 

 
(a) CONTRACTOR shall maintain in full force and effect Worker’s Compensation as 

required by applicable law or regulation, and provide proof to CCDC of such 
coverage or that such worker’s compensation insurance is not required under the 
circumstances. 

 
(b) CONTRACTOR agrees to obtain and keep in force during the term of this 

Agreement a commercial general liability insurance policy on an occurrence 
basis (as opposed to a claims made basis) with minimum coverage of 
$1,000,000 per occurrence, and a minimum aggregate policy limit of $2,000,000.  
The commercial general liability insurance policy shall name CCDC as an 
Additional Insured and protect its officers, agents and employees from and 
against any and all claims, losses, actions, and judgments for damages or injury 

 
SAMPLE CONTRACT  Page 5 
 



 

to persons or property arising out of or in connection with the CONTRACTOR’s 
negligence during the performance of this Agreement.   

 
(c) CONTRACTOR agrees to obtain and keep in force during the term of this 

Agreement a professional liability insurance policy with minimum coverage of 
$1,000,000 per claim and a minimum aggregate policy limit of $1,000,000.  

 
(d) Employer’s liability insurance in the minimum amount required by applicable law 

or regulation.  
 

(e) CONTRACTOR shall provide to CCDC proof of workers compensation and 
general, professional and employer’s liability coverage as set forth above before 
commencing its performance as herein provided, and shall require insurer to 
notify CCDC ten (10) days prior to cancellation of said policy or policies. 

 
 19. PERFORMANCE BOND.  CONTRACTOR shall furnish a performance bond to 
CCDC.  The bond shall set forth a penal sum in an amount not less than the Total Bid Package 
Sum and shall include a power of attorney attached to the bond.  The signature of both the 
CONTRACTOR and the Surety are required. If the Surety is incorporated, the bond must have 
the corporate seal. The bond shall incorporate by reference the terms of this Agreement as fully 
as though they were set forth verbatim in the bond. In the event the Total Contract Sum is 
adjusted by the Parties, the penal sum of the bond shall be deemed increased by like amount. 
The bond furnished by CONTRACTOR shall be a standard surety form and shall be executed 
by a Surety, or Sureties, reasonably acceptable to CCDC and authorized to do business in the 
State of Idaho and shall be payable to CCDC.  The performance bond shall include coverage in 
favor of CCDC for correction of Defective Work by CONTRACTOR for two years following 
delivery of the engraved bricks to CCDC for installation. 
 
 20. WARRANTY.  CONTRACTOR warrants that all materials shall be new and of 
good quality and free from defective workmanship and materials.  CONTRACTOR shall be 
specifically obligated to correct, upon written direction from CCDC, any and all defective or 
nonconforming work for the lifetime of the brick paver.  CONTRACTOR’s warranty excludes 
remedy for damage or defect caused by abuse by Agency or its representatives, improper or 
insufficient maintenance, or normal wear and tear and normal usage.  This warranty shall 
survive the completion of this Agreement and final payment to the CONTRACTOR.  
 
 21. TERMINATION OF AGREEMENT. 

 
(a) FOR CAUSE.  If, through any cause, the CONTRACTOR shall fail to fulfill its 

obligations in compliance with the schedule under this Agreement, or if the 
CONTRACTOR shall violate any of the covenants, agreements, or stipulations of 
this Agreement, CCDC shall thereupon have the right to terminate this 
Agreement by giving written notice to the CONTRACTOR and specifying the 
effective date thereof at least fifteen (15) days before the effective date of such 
termination.  If this Agreement is terminated for cause, CONTRACTOR shall be 
paid an amount for the actual services performed in accordance with this 
Agreement through the cancellation date.  CONTRACTOR shall provide CCDC 
all work products generated prior to date of termination.  All work products 
generated, whether complete or not, are the property of CCDC, as set forth in 
Section 12 of this Agreement.   

 
 
SAMPLE CONTRACT  Page 6 
 



 

(b) TERMINATION FOR CONVENIENCE OF CCDC.   CCDC may terminate this 
Agreement at any time, for any reason, by giving at least a fifteen (15) day notice 
in writing to the CONTRACTOR.  If this Agreement is terminated by CCDC as 
provided herein, CONTRACTOR shall be paid an amount for the actual services 
performed in accordance with this Agreement through the cancellation date.  
CONTRACTOR shall also provide CCDC all work products of consulting 
generated to date of termination. 

 
22. DISPUTES.  In the event that a dispute arises between CCDC and the 

CONTRACTOR regarding application or interpretation of any provision of this Agreement, the 
aggrieved Party shall promptly notify the other Party to this Agreement of the dispute within ten 
(10) days after such dispute arises.  If the Parties shall have failed to resolve the dispute within 
thirty (30) days after delivery of such notice, the Parties may first endeavor to settle the dispute 
in an amicable manner by mediation.  If the Parties elect to mediate their dispute, the Parties 
will select a mediator by mutual agreement and agree to each pay half of the mediator’s costs 
and fees.  The mediation will take place in Boise, Idaho unless otherwise agreed by the Parties 
in writing.  Should the Parties be unable to resolve the dispute to their mutual satisfaction within 
thirty (30) days after such completion of mediation, each Party shall have the right to pursue any 
rights or remedies it may have at law or in equity.  If the Parties do not mutually agree to 
mediate the dispute, either Party may pursue any rights or remedies it may have at law.   
 

23. ATTORNEY FEES.  Should any litigation or arbitration be commenced between 
the Parties hereto concerning this Agreement, the prevailing Party shall be entitled, in addition 
to any other relief as may be granted, to costs and reasonable attorneys’ fees as determined by 
arbitrator or court of competent jurisdiction.  This provision shall be deemed to be a separate 
contract between the Parties and shall survive any default, termination, or forfeiture of this 
Agreement. 

 
24. NONWAIVER.  Failure of either Party to exercise any of the rights under this 

Agreement, or breach thereof, shall not be deemed to be a waiver of such right or a waiver of 
any subsequent breach. 

 
25. NOTICES.  Any and all notices required to be given by either of the Parties 

hereto, unless otherwise stated in this Agreement shall be in writing and be deemed 
communicated when delivered in person, by courier or mailed in the United States mail, 
certified, return receipt requested, addresses as follows: 

 
To CCDC: 

John Brunelle, Executive Director 
Capital City Development Corporation 
121 N. 9th Street, Suite 501 
Boise, ID 83702 
208-384-4264 
jbrunelle@ccdcboise.com 
 

To CONTRACTOR: 
 
 
 
 
 

 
SAMPLE CONTRACT  Page 7 
 

mailto:jbrunelle@ccdcboise.com


 

Telephone numbers and E-mail addresses are for convenience and not to be used for 
notices required to be in writing.  Either Party may, by written notice, change the address, 
telephone number and/or E-mail address listed above. 

 
26. GENERAL ADMINISTRATION AND MANAGEMENT.  The Executive Director of 

CCDC, or his/her designee, shall be CCDC’s representative, and shall oversee and approve all 
services to be performed, coordinate all communications,  review and approve all invoices, and 
carry out any and all tasks as may be required of CCDC under this Agreement. 

 
27. TERM OF AGREEMENT.  This Agreement shall begin on the date when both 

Parties have signed the Agreement (last date signed) and shall expire on September 30, 2016.  
The expiration date may be extended due to necessity or unforeseen circumstances if approved 
by CCDC in writing.  CONTRACTOR shall begin performing services upon CONTRACTOR’s 
receipt of brick pavers from the manufacturer and inspection by CCDC, with an expected 
delivery date on or about October 25, 2015.  The Parties acknowledge and understand that 
nothing in this Agreement precludes CONTRACTOR from responding to any Invitations to Bid 
or Requests for Qualifications or Proposals for any additional services or work products 
contemplated by CCDC. 
 

28. ENTIRE AGREEMENT.  This Agreement, along with any and all Exhibits, 
attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference, contains the entire Agreement of the 
Parties and supersedes any and all other agreements or understandings, oral or written, 
whether previous to the execution hereof or contemporaneous herewith.  This Agreement 
covers services or work products CONTRACTOR has not completed, but does not cover 
services or work products that have been completed and CCDC has paid CONTRACTOR’S fee. 

 
29. AMENDMENTS.  This Agreement may be amended only in writing, upon mutual 

agreement of both CCDC and CONTRACTOR. 
 

30. ASSIGNMENT.  It is expressly agreed and understood by the Parties hereto, that 
CONTRACTOR shall not have the right to assign, transfer, hypothecate or sell any of its rights 
under this Agreement except upon the prior express written consent of CCDC. 

 
31. COUNTERPARTS.   This Agreement may be executed in any number of 

counterparts.  Such counterparts shall be deemed to be original instruments. Counterparts 
together shall constitute one (1) agreement. 

 
32. GOVERNING LAW.  Any dispute under this Agreement, or related to this 

Agreement, shall be decided in accordance with the laws of the state of Idaho, county of Ada. 
 

33. SEVERABILITY.  If any part of this Agreement is held unenforceable, the 
remaining portions of the Agreement will nevertheless remain in full force and effect. 
 

34. SUCCESSORS IN INTEREST.  The provisions of this Agreement shall be 
binding upon and shall inure to the benefit of the Parties hereby, and their respective 
successors and assigns.   
 

35. THIRD PARTY BENEFICIARIES.  CCDC and CONTRACTOR are the only 
Parties to this Agreement.  The Parties do not intend that any non-party or third party will have 
any rights whatsoever under this Agreement. 

 
 
SAMPLE CONTRACT  Page 8 
 



 

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, CCDC and CONTRACTOR have executed this Agreement 

with an effective date as of the last date written below. 
 
 
CAPITAL CITY DEVELOPMENT CORP.  CONTRACTOR 
 
 
              
John Brunelle, Executive Director       
 
Date:        Date:        
 
 
EXHIBITS 

- List of Content to be Engraved 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Budget Info / For Office Use 
Fund/District 301 
Account 6250 
Activity Code 15119 
PO # TBD 
Due Date May 31, 2016 
Term Date September 30, 2016 
 

 
SAMPLE CONTRACT  Page 9 
 



 

 
EXHIBIT 

CCDC’s List of Content to be Engraved 
 

{To be added at time of Contract execution.} 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
SAMPLE CONTRACT  Page 10 
 



BID ADDENDUM No. 1 
 

 
 
 
1.1 PROJECT INFORMATION:  Invitation to Bid for Brick Engraving Services 
 OWNER:  Capital City Development Corporation 
 DATE OF ADDENDUM:  September 23, 2015 
 
 
1.2 NOTICE TO BIDDERS 
 

A. This Addendum serves to clarify, revise, and supersede information in the 
Invitation to Bid.  Portions of the Addendum affecting the Contract Documents 
will be incorporated in the Contract by enumeration of the Addendum in the 
General Services Agreement between Agency and Contractor. 

 
B. The bidder shall acknowledge receipt of this Addendum in the appropriate space 

on the Bid Form. 
 
C. Because of the information contained in this Addendum, the date for receipt of 

bids is hereby changed.  Bid submission to the CCDC office address remains 
unchanged. 

 
 1. New Bid Due Date:  Wednesday, October 14, 2015 by 2:00 p.m. 

 
 
1.3 REVISIONS TO TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 
 A. TABLE OF CONTENTS: Revised to insert line “ADDENDUM #1” 
 
 
1.4 REVISIONS TO INSTRUCTIONS TO BIDDERS 
 
 A. Introductory Paragraph:  Revised to add the following information: 
 

CCDC will supply the successful bidder with 13,989 bricks which will need unique 
engraving.  The unique text to be engraved on each brick originates from the 
bricks installed on The Grove Plaza 30 years ago.  The original bricks had one 
line of text with up to 26 characters – that text will need to be re-formatted into a 
three line, 15 characters per line, format. The successful bidder must complete 
the inscription formatting utilizing natural breaking points between words and 
refrain from using hyphens.  Any use of hyphens will require review and approval 
by CCDC before engraving.  The General Services Agreement between Agency 
and Contractor will contain a provision regarding this detail. 
 
Examples regarding hyphenation: 
 

INVITATION TO BID: BRICK ENGRAVING SERVICES  PAGE 1 
Addendum No. 1   |   September 23, 2015 



Original brick engraving: 
 
 
 
 
 
New brick engraving - ACCEPTABLE: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
New brick engraving – NOT ACCEPTABLE: 
 
 
 
 
 
     

 
 B. SAMPLES:  Delete the paragraph in its entirety and replace with the following: 
 

SAMPLES:  Bidders shall furnish the following samples for evaluation with their 
bids: 
- One (1) unfilled engraved sample to show the actual engraving depth. 
- One (1) dark color brick with light lettering fill to show quality and color 

contrast. 
 
Text on the samples shall read as follows: 
 
 
 
. 
 
 
 
 
In order to show quality of filler, bidders’ samples must be brick pavers from 
Endicott Clay Products Company, and must be 8” x 4” x 2 ¼“ brick pavers with 
wire-cut face, engraved with the Frutiger font in sizing as set forth in the Special 
Bid Terms and Conditions below.  Bidder is encouraged to view the samples 
displayed at the CCDC offices to determine whether Bidder can supply a 
matching product with color-matched filler. 
 
CCDC is able to supply bidders with four (4) Endicott™ brick pavers for 
engraving as samples.  Bidders should contact CCDC at (208) 384-4264 as early 
as possible to request the Endicott™ brick pavers suitable for sample engraving.  
Bidder will not be charged for the samples but will be charged for delivery if 
bidder requests that the bricks be shipped. 
 

 
Stephen and Madeline Smith 

 

 
Stephen and 

Madeline Smith 
 

 
Stephen and Made- 

line Smith 
 

 
“THE GROVE PLAZA” 

BRICK-BY-BRICK 
1234567890 @&!’~ 

 

INVITATION TO BID: BRICK ENGRAVING SERVICES  PAGE 2 
Addendum No. 1   |   September 23, 2015 



The successful bidder’s samples may be retained pending delivery for 
comparison with products delivered under the contract.  Samples will not be 
returned unless the bidder indicates the requirement to do so at the time the 
sample is furnished, and then only at the bidder’s expense.  Failure to arrange for 
pick-up of released samples within thirty (30) days will result in disposal of the 
samples. 

 
C. TIME FOR SUBMISSION:  Revised to change the bid submission date and time 

to Wednesday, October 14, 2015 by 2:00 p.m. 
 
 
1.5 REVISIONS TO SPECIAL BID TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

 
A. Engraving experience required:  Revised to change the size of brick paver to be 

8” x 4” x 2 ¼”. 
 
B. Engraving facility / capacity required:  The first bullet point is revised, as follows:  

“Utilize a CNC (computer numerical control) engraving machine an engraving 
method capable of engraving into the Endicott™ brick pavers; hand engraving is 
not acceptable.” 

 
C. Engraving specifications:  The first bullet point is revised as follows: 
 “Engrave Endicott™ wire-cut 8” x 4” x 2 ¾” 2 ¼ ”clay brick pavers with square 

edges each with up to three (3) lines of text and up to fifteen (15) characters per 
line.” 

 
 

1.6 REVISIONS TO BID PROPOSAL FORM 
 

A. Bidder Qualifications:  Two questions have been revised as follows.  See new 
Bid Proposal form attached; Bidder to use new form. 

 
1.  Type of engraving machine is revised in the following question, as 

follows:  “Do you have access to a CNC (computer numerical control) 
utilize an engraving machine method capable of engraving into the 
Endicott™ wire-cut clay brick pavers?” 

 
2. Size of brick paver is revised in the following question, with clarification 

added:  “Do you have the ability to engrave Endicott™ wire-cut 8” x 4” x 2 
¼” clay brick pavers with square edges each with up to three (3) lines of 
text and up to fifteen (15) characters per line in Frutiger Font that is .5-
inch letter height and 50% character spacing?”  

 
 
List of Documents  Size of Sheet  No. of Pages   
Addendum No. 1   8.5x11   3 
Bid Proposal Form  8.5x11   4 
 
 
END OF ADDENDUM No. 1 
 

INVITATION TO BID: BRICK ENGRAVING SERVICES  PAGE 3 
Addendum No. 1   |   September 23, 2015 



BID PROPOSAL 
 
TO: CAPITAL CITY DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION (CCDC) 
 
The Bidder, in compliance with your Invitation to Bid for Brick Engraving Services, having 
examined the bidding and Contract Documents and being familiar with all of the conditions 
surrounding the proposed Work, including the availability of materials and labor, hereby proposes 
to furnish all labor, materials, and supplies and to provide the service and insurance in accordance 
with the Contract Documents, within the time set forth therein, and at the prices stated below. 
These prices are to cover all expenses incurred in performing the Work required under the 
Contract Documents. 
 
Bidder hereby agrees to commence Work under this Contract once the first shipment of bricks 
arrives from the manufacturer and work diligently to completion of the services by May 1, 2016. 
 
 
 Bidder acknowledges Addenda No.         
 ( List all Addenda ) 

 
 
BID PROPOSAL: Bidder agrees to perform all of the Work described in the Invitation to Bid for 
Brick Engraving Services for the following unit prices and Total Bid Package Sum: 

 

 Amount in Words Amount in Figures 

Engraving ( Unit Price ):  $ 

Unit Price x 13,989 
bricks engraved =  $ 

Any Additional Costs and 
Fees charged to CCDC 

by Bidder: 
 $ 

Total Bid Package Sum  $ 

 

Chart must be filled out completely; failure to show unit prices or additional costs and fees will 
render the bid non-responsive. Amounts shall be shown in both words and figures. 

In case of discrepancy, the amount shown in words will govern. 
 
Bidder agrees that this bid shall be good for a period of sixty (60) days after the scheduled opening 
time for receiving bids.  Bidder understands that the Agency reserves the right to reject any or all 
bids and to waive any informality in the bidding.  
 
Upon receipt of written Notice of Intent to Award of this bid, bidder will execute the formal Contract 
within ten (10) calendar days and deliver a Performance Bond in the amount of 100% of the Total 
Bid Package Sum shown above, as required by the Instructions to Bidders.  
 

INVITATION TO BID: BRICK ENGRAVING SERVICES  PAGE 4 
Addendum No. 1   |   September 23, 2015 



The bid security in the amount of five percent (5%) of the Total Bid Package Sum is to become the 
property of the Agency, in the event the Contract and bond are not executed within the time set 
forth, as liquidated damages for the delay and additional expense to the Agency caused thereby.  
 
Bidder warrants that bid has been prepared and that any contract resulting from acceptance of 
this bid is subject to Executive Order 2009-10 and the General Services Agreement between 
Agency and Contractor. 

 
 
BIDDER QUALIFICATIONS: 
Bidder must answer each of the following questions. 
Failure to answer each of the questions below shall make your bid non-responsive. 
 
List number of years’ experience engraving bricks for commercial sale or resale:     
 
List five (5) references for brick engraving jobs of at least 10,000 bricks per job: 
 
 
1.               
    Person to Contact     Phone Number 
              
Name of Project and Its Location   Number of Bricks You Engraved 
 
 
2.               
    Person to Contact     Phone Number 
              
Name of Project and Its Location   Number of Bricks You Engraved 
 
 
3.               
    Person to Contact     Phone Number 
              
Name of Project and Its Location   Number of Bricks You Engraved 
 
 
4.               
    Person to Contact     Phone Number 
              
Name of Project and Its Location   Number of Bricks You Engraved 
 
 
5.               
    Person to Contact     Phone Number 
              
Name of Project and Its Location   Number of Bricks You Engraved 
 
 
 
 
 

INVITATION TO BID: BRICK ENGRAVING SERVICES  PAGE 5 
Addendum No. 1   |   September 23, 2015 



BIDDER QUALIFICATIONS – CONTINUED 
 
 
Do you have experience engraving Endicott™ wire-cut clay bricks?      

          □ Yes    □ No 
 
 
Do you utilize an engraving method capable of engraving into the Endicott™ wire-cut clay brick 
pavers?  

          □ Yes    □ No 
 
 
Do you have the necessary storage space to receive and store up to 17,355 bricks upon 
manufacturer’s delivery of bricks?  

          □ Yes    □ No 
 
 
Do you have the necessary manpower to produce 13,989 engraved and filled bricks by the May 
1, 2016 deadline?  

          □ Yes    □ No 
 
Do you have the ability to palletize the engraved and filled bricks in specific batches, with names 
accurately documented in each batch, with each batch specified by pallet, in specific order of 
placement, to allow for brick-locator online web programming?  

          □ Yes    □ No 
 
 
Do you have the ability to replace within 48 hours’ notice any engraved bricks that upon removal 
from pallets for installation at the construction site are found to be damaged or broken?  

    □ Yes    □ No 
 
 
Do you have the ability to engrave Endicott™ wire-cut 8” x 4” x 2 ¼” clay brick pavers with 
square edges each with up to three (3) lines of text and up to fifteen (15) characters per line in 
Frutiger Font that is .5-inch letter height and 50% character spacing?  

    □ Yes    □ No 
 
 
Do you have the ability to engrave to a depth (before insertion of filler) that is at least 1/8-inch 
but no more than 1/4-inch?  

    □ Yes    □ No 
 
 
 

INVITATION TO BID: BRICK ENGRAVING SERVICES  PAGE 6 
Addendum No. 1   |   September 23, 2015 



BIDDER QUALIFICATIONS – CONTINUED 
 
 
Do you have the ability to insert a filler that guarantees for the lifetime of the brick the 
permanent legibility with no deterioration or collection of dirt or debris in the lettering and that 
can be pigmented in order to exactly color-match the samples held by CCDC?  

    □ Yes    □ No 
 
 
END OF BIDDER QUALIFICATIONS SECTION 
 
PLEASE SIGN AND DATE BELOW FOR YOUR BID TO BE VALID. 
 
  
 
Dated this __________ day of       , 2015. 
 
 

 Respectfully submitted by: 

   
 (Company) 

(Seal - if bid is by a corporation)   
 (Street or PO Address) 

   
 (City, State and zip code) 

   
 (Authorized Signature) 

   
 (Title) 

   
 (Telephone Number) 

   
 (FAX Number) 
 
 
 

INVITATION TO BID: BRICK ENGRAVING SERVICES  PAGE 7 
Addendum No. 1   |   September 23, 2015 



BID ADDENDUM No. 2 
 

 
 
 
1.1 PROJECT INFORMATION:  Invitation to Bid for Brick Engraving Services 
 OWNER:  Capital City Development Corporation 
 DATE OF ADDENDUM:  October 2, 2015 
 
 
1.2 NOTICE TO BIDDERS 
 

A. This Addendum serves to clarify, revise, and supersede information in the 
Invitation to Bid.  Portions of the Addendum affecting the Contract Documents 
will be incorporated in the Contract by enumeration of the Addendum in the 
General Services Agreement between Agency and Contractor. 

 
B. The bidder shall acknowledge receipt of this Addendum in the appropriate space 

on the Bid Form. 
 
C. The date for receipt of bids is unchanged by this Addendum.  Bid submission to 

the CCDC office address also remains unchanged. 
 
 1. Bid Due Date:  Wednesday, October 14, 2015 by 2:00 p.m. 

 
 
1.3 REVISIONS TO TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 
 A. TABLE OF CONTENTS: Revised to insert line “ADDENDUM #2” 
 
 
1.4 REVISIONS TO INSTRUCTIONS TO BIDDERS 
 

A. BID PRICES:  Revised to add the following sentence:  “Additional costs and fees 
charged to CCDC by the bidder includes all shipping and delivery fees to return 
the engraved bricks to CCDC for installation.” 

 
 

1.5 CLARIFICATION TO BID PROPOSAL FORM 
 

A. BID PROPOSAL:  “Any Additional Costs and Fees charged to CCDC by Bidder” 
on the bid proposal chart includes all shipping and delivery fees. 
  

 
 
END OF ADDENDUM No. 2 

INVITATION TO BID: BRICK ENGRAVING SERVICES  PAGE 1 
Addendum No. 2   |   October 2, 2015 



EXHIBIT D

mwatson
Rectangle

































































 

Page 1 
 

 

 

AGENDA BILL 

Agenda Subject: 
Greater Boise Auditorium District Convention Center Expansion 
Financing Schedule 
 

Date: 
November 9, 2015 
 

Staff Contact: 
Ross Borden, Finance Director 
 

Attachments: 
1. Centre Building Financing Plan memo from Financial 

Advisor Eric Heringer, Piper Jaffray & Co (11/3/15) 
 

Action Requested: 
Concur with Proposed Greater Boise Auditorium District (the District) Convention Center 
Expansion Financing Schedule. 
 

Related Resolutions:   

 Resolution 1418 (November 9, 2015) adopting the First Amendment to the Amended 
and Restated Development Agreement between the Agency and the District. 

 Resolution 1362 (October 14, 2014) adopting the Amended and Restated Development 
Agreement between the Agency and the District (executed December 19, 2014).  

 Resolution 1343 (April 21, 2014) adopting the original Development Agreement between 
the Agency and the District (executed June 9, 2014).   

Background: 
The Greater Boise Auditorium District (the District) has long sought to expand and improve its 
convention center.  That facility, built in 1990 and unchanged in the 25 years since, has 
occupied the southwest quadrant of a downtown Boise superblock bounded by Capitol 
Boulevard, Main Street, 9th Street and Front Street.  Occupying the center of the superblock is 
the Grove Plaza that was constructed by the Agency in the late 1980’s.  The Grove Plaza has 
since become a signature civic focal point.  The northeast quadrant of the superblock is owned 
by the KC Gardner Company (Gardner Company) and occupied by the existing 19 story US 
Bank Plaza that was completed in 1978.  Gardner Company is currently constructing the City 
Centre Plaza development on the remainder of its quadrant.  That project is replacing a surface 
parking lot with a nine story office and retail building (the Clearwater Building) and five story 
building with two floors of parking and three floors of meeting and convention space (the Centre 
Building), both being built on top of the subterranean multi-modal center (Main Street Station) 
that will be owned and operated by Valley Regional Transit, the region’s public transportation 
authority.  The northwest quadrant has been occupied since 1988 by the 11 story Wells Fargo 
Center building, outdoor plaza and an underground parking garage.  The southeast quadrant 
has been occupied since 1998 by the 16 story Grove Hotel and condominiums, an underground 
parking garage and Century Link Arena.   



 

Page 2 
 

The District’s overall expansion project will cost an estimated $38 million and consists of these 
elements:   

 All of one floor and portions of two others in the Centre Building to be used as a new 
ballroom, kitchen and ancillary facilities.  

 One floor in the Clearwater Building to be used for meeting space, and ancillary facilities.   

 A District-funded elevated concourse directly connecting its existing facility to the new 
Centre Building via interposed Century Link Arena.   

o The District’s space in the Centre and Clearwater buildings will be directly 
connected via elevated concourse, constructed by the developer.  

 Related furniture and equipment to outfit the new facilities. 

 Renovation of the existing convention center.  

 Improvements to the Grove Plaza.  

The project will significantly expand the District’s facilities and capabilities and is integral to 
Gardner Company’s City Centre Plaza development.  

The District would like the Agency to:  

1. Use its statutory powers to issue a note to Wells Fargo totaling $23,500,000, which 
amount could be subject to change;  

2. Purchase the condominiumized space in the Centre Building from the Developer; 

3. Lease the Centre Building space to the District on a year-to-year basis. 

The District would use hotel/motel room tax and event revenue to make the lease payments to 
the Agency sufficient for the Agency to make debt service payments to Wells Fargo.  When the 
note has been retired, the District would purchase the space from the Agency for a nominal 
amount.  

This public project and financing method required judicial review and validation to confirm that 
through the lease, the District will not obligate tax dollars for more than one year.  The Idaho 
Constitution requires multi-year obligations of tax revenue to be approved by a super majority of 
voters.   

The District’s first petition for judicial validation – filed June 11, 2014 – was denied by the District 
Court holding that the financing method resulted in a multi-year obligation.  The parties modified 
the agreements and filed a second petition on December 19, 2014.  It too was denied on 
somewhat different grounds.  The District appealed the second decision to the Idaho Supreme 
Court.  The District’s appeal was aided by several friends of the court including CCDC.  On 
October 15, 2015, the Idaho Supreme Court reversed the lower court’s rulings and determined 
that the financing structure was a year-to-year commitment and that the non-appropriation 
clause contained in the agreements allowed the District to ‘walk away’ and vacate the premises 
with no further liability should it decide to not renew the lease each year.  



 

Page 3 
 

With that favorable ruling, the District, the Agency and Wells Fargo immediately resumed the 
conduit financing process for the purchase of the condominium units in the under-construction 
Centre Building and to fund related reserves and financing costs.  According to the attached 
schedule from Agency Financial Advisor Eric Heringer, Piper Jaffray & Co, financing documents 
are to be finalized by December 1, both the Agency Board and the District Board would formally 
authorize the financing at meetings on December 14, with closing 30 days later on January 14, 
2016.  The current estimated occupancy date for the District’s Centre Building condo units is 
September 1, 2016. 

Fiscal Notes: 
As conduit financier for a significant portion of the District’s convention center expansion project, 
the Agency is on track to issue notes on January 14, 2016, which will be purchased by Wells 
Fargo.  The final principal amount of the note, interest rates, and term are still being discussed. 
 
The financing documents will make it clear that the Agency would not be at risk were the District 
to default during any of its annual leases or fail to renew the lease each year.  In that situation, 
Wells Fargo, as note holder, would become the owner of the Centre condominium unit(s), the 
financed facilities and equipment.  

The sunset of the Agency’s Central District, which encompasses the super block where all this 
development is taking place, in FY 2018 poses no obstacle for this note issue.  While the 
Agency will no longer be able to use tax increment revenue after the Central District sunsets, 
this lease revenue note has no connection to any of the Agency’s revenue allocation areas or 
revenues.  

Nor will this project negatively affect the Agency’s capacity to bond future projects.  This lease 
revenue note will be secured exclusively by District hotel/motel room tax revenue - $4.8 million 
in FY2014 – and event revenue.  Zero Agency revenue is pledged.   

Staff Recommendation: 
Concur with the Centre Building Financing Plan as presented.  
 
Suggested Motion: 
I move to concur with the Centre Building Financing Plan as presented. 
 
 

 

4810‐5152‐6954, v.  2 



      
 

101 South Capitol Blvd, Suite 603, Boise, Idaho 83702 
Tel: 208-344-8577   |  Fax: 208-345-9952 
Piper Jaffray & Co. Since 1895, Member SIPC and NYSE 

 
 
November 3, 2015 
 
 
TO:  Capital City Development Corp. (“CCDC”) Board of Commissioners: 
 
RE:  Centre Building Financing Plan 
 
FROM: Eric Heringer, Piper Jaffray & Co. 
 
 

 
The following information outlines the schedule and process for moving forward with 
the financing of the Centre Building and Lease Agreement with the Greater Boise 
Auditorium District (the “District”). 
 
 
SCHEDULE 
 

11/9/15 Distribution of Draft Financing Documents which include: 
• Resolution authorizing issuance of Notes to finance the 

project 
• Lease Revenue Note 
• Lease Agreement between CCDC and the District 
• Note Purchase Agreement between CCDC & Wells Fargo 
• Deed of Trust 
• Option Agreement 
• Legal Opinions 

 
11/9/15 CCDC Board meeting to review the First Amendment to the 

Amended and Restated Development Agreement between CCDC 
and the District 

 
11/16/15 District Board meeting to review and amend the Development 

Agreement 
 
12/1/15 Finalize Draft Financing Documents 
   
  

rborden
Typewritten Text
ATTACHMENT 1



CCDC/GBAD 
Building Finance Plan 
November 3, 2015 

2 
101 South Capitol Blvd., Suite 603           Boise, ID  83702           (208) 344-8577           www.PiperJaffray.com 

 

 
12/1/15 Finalize Financing Budget including: 

• Project Fund Deposit (Acquisition and FF&E) 
• Capitalized Interest (from Closing through Occupancy) 
• Debt Service Reserve Fund 
• Costs of Issuance and other Closing Fees 

 
12/3/15 Publish Notice of Sale (at least 10-days prior to sale) 
 
12/14/15 District Board meeting to consider adoption of a Resolution 

authorizing: 
• Execution of the Lease Agreement with CCDC 
• Final interest rate and lease payment schedule established 

 
12/14/15 CCDC Board meeting to consider adoption of a Resolution 

authorizing: 
• Execution of the Lease Agreement with the District 
• Issuance and sale of the Notes to Wells Fargo 
• Execution of related financing documents 
• Final interest rate and lease payment schedule established 

    
1/14/16 Close Note Sale 

• Wells Fargo delivers Note proceeds to CCDC  
 
 
PARTICIPANTS 

The financing team consists of the following participants 
 

Issuer (and Lessor):   CCDC 
Lessee:     Greater Boise Auditorium District 
Issuer Legal Counsel:   Elam & Burke, P.A. 
Issuer Special Counsel (financing): Sherman & Howard L.L.C. 
Issuer Financial Advisor:   Piper Jaffray & Co. 
Lessee Counsel:    Givens Pursley LLP 
Bond Counsel:    Hawley Troxell Ennis & Hawley LLP 
Lender (purchaser of Note):  Wells Fargo Bank 
Lender’s Counsel:    Chapman and Cutler LLP 



CCDC/GBAD 
Building Finance Plan 
November 3, 2015 

3 
101 South Capitol Blvd., Suite 603           Boise, ID  83702           (208) 344-8577           www.PiperJaffray.com 

 

 
INDICATIVE TERMS 
 

The indicative terms provided in the Wells Fargo proposal submitted on 11/20/2014 
including the following: 

 
• 10-year fixed rate of 2.65% with mandatory tender at end of the fixed rate 

term 
• Mandatory tender requires the Note be renewed with Wells Fargo (or a 

replacement lender) or the Notes (lease) paid in full 
• Closing fee to bank of 0.20% of the par amount payable at closing 
• Notes (lease) can be prepaid (in whole or in part) after 3 years without 

penalty 
• Lease Payment Reserve Fund equal to one year’s lease payment obligation 

 
 
Please let Ross Borden, Ryan Armbruster or Eric Heringer know if you have any follow 
up questions on the schedule, financing documents and/or financing terms. 
 
 
Cc:  Mr. John Brunelle, CCDC 
 Mr. Todd Bunderson, CCDC 
 Mr. Ross Borden, CCDC 
 Mr. Ryan Armbruster, Elam & Burke, P.A. 
 Mr. Kurt Kaufmann, Sherman & Howard L.L.C. 
 Mr. Patrick Rice, Greater Boise Auditorium District 
 Ms. Anne Marie Downen, Greater Boise Auditorium District 
 Ms. Susan Eastlake, Greater Boise Auditorium District 
 Ms. Kimberly Maloney, Givens Pursley 
 Mr. Mike Stoddard, Hawley Troxell Ennis & Hawley LLP 
 Ms. Danielle Quade, Hawley Troxell Ennis & Hawley LLP 
 Mr. Adam Christenson, Hawley Troxell Ennis & Hawley LLP 
 Ms. Shonna Russell, Hawley Troxell Ennis & Hawley LLP 
 Ms. Linda Armstrong, Wells Fargo Bank 
 Mr. Aaron Book, Wells Fargo Bank 
 Mr. John Self, Wells Fargo Bank 
 Mr. David Field, Chapman and Cutler LLP 
 Mr. Michael Keith, Piper Jaffray & Co. 
 Mrs. Jacque McVey, Piper Jaffray & Co. 



 

Page 1 
 

 

 

AGENDA BILL 

Agenda Subject: 
Greater Boise Auditorium District Convention Center Expansion: First 
Amendment to the Amended and Restated Development Agreement 
 

Date: 
November 9, 2015 
 

Staff Contact: 
Ross Borden, Finance Director 
 

Attachments: 
1. Resolution 1418 
2. First Amendment to the Amended and Restated 

Development Agreement 
 

Action Requested: 
Adopt Resolution 1418 incorporating the First Amendment into the Amended and Restated 
Development Agreement between the Agency and the Greater Boise Auditorium District. 
 

Related Resolutions and Agenda Items:   

 Greater Boise Auditorium District Convention Center Expansion Financing Schedule 
(November 9, 2015 Board Agenda Item). 

 Resolution 1362 (October 14, 2014) adopting the Amended and Restated Development 
Agreement between the Agency and the District (executed December 19, 2014).  

 Resolution 1343 (April 21, 2014) adopting the original Development Agreement between 
the Agency and the District (executed June 9, 2014).   

Background: 
The Greater Boise Auditorium District (the District) has long sought to expand and improve its 
convention center.  That facility, built in 1990 and unchanged in the 25 years since, has 
occupied the southwest quadrant of a downtown Boise superblock bounded by Capitol 
Boulevard, Main Street, 9th Street and Front Street.  Occupying the center of the superblock is 
the Grove Plaza that was constructed by the Agency in the late 1980’s.  The Grove Plaza has 
since become a signature civic focal point in downtown Boise.  The northeast quadrant of the 
superblock is owned by the KC Gardner Company (Gardner Company) and is occupied by the 
existing 19 story US Bank Plaza that was completed in 1978.  Gardner Company is currently 
constructing the City Centre Plaza development on the remainder of its quadrant.  That project 
is replacing a surface parking lot with a nine story office and retail building (the Clearwater 
Building) and five story building with two floors of parking and three floors of meeting and 
convention space (the Centre Building), both being built on top of the subterranean multi-modal 
center (Main Street Station) that will be owned and operated by Valley Regional Transit, the 
region’s public transportation authority.   

The District’s overall $38 million (approximate) expansion project consists of several elements 
within the Centre and Clearwater buildings and its current facility.  It will significantly expand the 



 

Page 2 
 

District’s facilities and capabilities and is integral to Gardner Company’s City Centre Plaza 
development.  

Gardner Company is building these facilities as a turnkey project to suit the District’s 
requirements via a Master Development Agreement.  

 All of one floor and portions of two floors in the Centre building to be used as a new 
ballroom, kitchen and ancillary facilities.  

 One floor in the Clearwater Building to be used for meeting space, and ancillary facilities.   

 The District’s space in the Centre and Clearwater buildings will be directly connected via 
elevated concourse, constructed by the developer. 

The District has formally agreed to purchase the Centre Building under a condominium regime 
from the Gardner Company.  Initially, the District will lease its space in the Clearwater Building 
but could ultimately purchase that space.  The District will assign the Purchase Agreement to 
the Agency.  The Agency will issue the note, which will be purchased by Wells Fargo.  The 
Agency will use the note proceeds to purchase the condominium units from Gardner Company.  
The Agency would nominally own the facilities and will lease them to the District.  The District 
will pay annual lease payments equal to the required debt service to the Agency, subject to the 
District’s decision to renew the Lease Agreement annually.  The Agency would use those 
District payments to make the note payments to Wells Fargo.  When the note is retired, the 
District would purchase the condo units from the Agency for a nominal amount.  

The District has requested the Agency to use its statutory powers to issue a note on the 
District’s behalf totaling an estimated, subject-to-change $23,500,000.   

The current estimated occupancy date for the District’s condo units is September 1, 2016.  

This public project and financing method required judicial review and validation to confirm that 
through the lease, the District will not obligate tax dollars beyond the annual lease term.  The 
Idaho Constitution requires multi-year obligations of tax revenue to be approved by a super 
majority of voters.  After two denials at the District Court level in 2014 the decision was 
appealed to the Idaho Supreme Court.  On October 15, 2015 the lower court’s rulings were 
reversed and the financing structure was held to be a year-to-year commitment and that the 
non-appropriation clause contained in the agreements allowed the District to ‘walk away’ and 
vacate the premises with no further liability should it decide to not renew the lease each year.  

With that favorable ruling, the District, the Agency and Wells Fargo immediately resumed the 
conduit financing process and seek to issue a note with proceeds sufficient to purchase the 
condominium units in the Centre Building, fund related reserves and financing costs, etc.  

Fiscal Notes: 
This First Amendment to the Amended and Restated Development Agreement addresses only 
the additional financing costs reimbursable to the Agency by the District over the amount 
contained in the Amended and Restated Development Agreement adopted by Board Resolution 
1362 on October 14, 2014.  These increases total $46,000.  The rest of that agreement is 
unchanged and there is no other fiscal impact.  



 

Page 3 
 

 

 
Under a conduit financing structure at no time would the Agency be at risk should the District 
default on its annual lease payments.  The District is also free to discontinue leasing the 
facilities from the Agency at any time over the course of the agreement.  In both of those 
situations, Wells Fargo, as note holder, having assumed all of the risk, would take possession of 
all financed assets: Centre building condominium unit(s), equipment, furniture, etc.   

Staff Recommendation: 
Adopt Resolution 1418.  
 
Suggested Motion: 
I move adoption of Resolution 1418 approving the First Amendment into the Amended and 
Restated Development Agreement. 
 
 

 

4812‐2532‐8682, v.  2 

Development Agreement

CCDC  Firm

Amended & 

Restated

1st 

Amendment

Note Counsel Kurt Kaufmann Sherman & Howard $ 15,000 $ 31,000

Financial Advisor Eric Heringer Piper Jaffray $ 63,500 $ 63,500

General Counsel Ryan Armbruster Elam & Burke $ 40,000 $ 70,000

All Other Expenses $ 5,000 $ 5,000

$ 123,500 $ 169,500

Increase $ 46,000



 
RESOLUTION NO. 1418 - 1 

RESOLUTION NO. 1418 
 
BY THE BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS OF THE URBAN RENEWAL AGENCY OF BOISE 
CITY, IDAHO: 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS OF THE URBAN 
RENEWAL AGENCY OF BOISE CITY, IDAHO, APPROVING THE FIRST 
AMENDMENT TO AMENDED AND RESTATED DEVELOPMENT 
AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE AGENCY AND THE GREATER BOISE 
AUDITORIUM DISTRICT; AND AUTHORIZING THE CHAIR, VICE-
CHAIR, OR EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR AND SECRETARY, RESPECTIVELY, 
TO EXECUTE AND ATTEST SAID FIRST AMENDMENT TO AMENDED 
AND RESTATED DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT SUBJECT TO CERTAIN 
CONDITIONS; AUTHORIZING THE CHAIR, VICE-CHAIR, OR 
EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR AND SECRETARY TO EXECUTE ALL 
NECESSARY DOCUMENTS REQUIRED TO IMPLEMENT THE FIRST 
AMENDMENT TO AMENDED AND RESTATED DEVELOPMENT 
AGREEMENT AND TO MAKE ANY NECESSARY TECHNICAL CHANGES 
TO THE FIRST AMENDMENT TO AMENDED AND RESTATED 
DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT SUBJECT TO CERTAIN CONDITIONS, 
INCLUDING SUBSTANTIVE CHANGES; AND PROVIDING AN 
AFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
 THIS RESOLUTION, made on the date hereinafter set forth by the Urban Renewal 
Agency of Boise City, Idaho, an independent public body corporate and politic, authorized under 
the authority of the Idaho Urban Renewal Law of 1965, as amended, Chapter 20, Title 50, Idaho 
Code, a duly created and functioning urban renewal agency for Boise City, Idaho, hereinafter 
referred to as the “Agency.”   
 
 WHEREAS, the Agency, an independent public body, corporate and politic, is an urban 
renewal agency created by and existing under the authority of and pursuant to the Idaho Urban 
Renewal Law of 1965, being Idaho Code, Title 50, Chapter 20, as amended and supplemented 
(“Law”);   
 
 WHEREAS, the Boise City Council adopted its Ordinance No. 5597 on December 6, 
1994, approving the Amended Urban Renewal Plan (hereinafter the “Amended Plan” and the 
Urban Renewal Area is hereinafter referred to as the “Project Area”), Boise Central District 
Project I and II which Amended Plan adopts by reference the Downtown Urban Design Plan, 
Framework Master Plan, and Design Guidelines (hereinafter the “Design Guidelines”);   
 
 WHEREAS, the City Council of the City, after notice duly published, conducted a public 
hearing on June 5, 2007; 
 
 WHEREAS, following said public hearing, the City adopted its Ordinance No. 6576 on 
June 26, 2007, effective upon publication on July 23, 2007, approving and making certain 
findings on the 2007 Amended and Restated Urban Renewal Plan, for the Boise Central District 

rborden
Typewritten Text
ATTACHMENT 1



 
RESOLUTION NO. 1418 - 2 

Project I, Idaho R-4 and Project II, Idaho R-5 (the “2007 Plan”); 
 

WHEREAS, the Law authorizes the Agency to carry out urban renewal projects within 
its area of operation and to issue revenue bonds for the purpose of financing the cost of any such 
urban renewal project and to secure payment of such bonds as provided in the Section 50-2012 
of the Law; 

WHEREAS, the Greater Boise Auditorium District (“District”) is a public body 
organized and operating under the laws of the state of Idaho (the “State”) as an auditorium 
district pursuant to Title 67, Chapter 49 of the Idaho Code (hereinafter the “Act”); 

WHEREAS, the Act authorizes the District to acquire, operate and maintain public 
convention and auditorium facilities and further authorizes the District to enter into lease 
arrangements relating to the construction and operation of its authorized facilities; 

WHEREAS, Section 67-4912(f) of the Act authorizes the District to acquire, dispose of 
and encumber real and personal property and any interest therein, including leases and easements 
within the District; 

WHEREAS, Section 50-2015 of the Law authorizes the District to dedicate, sell, convey 
or lease any of its respective interests in any property to the Agency, to incur the entire expense 
of any public improvements for an urban renewal project, and take such further actions as are 
necessary to aid in or cooperate in the planning or carrying out of an urban renewal plan and 
related activities; 

WHEREAS, Section 50-2015 of the Law further authorizes the District and the Agency 
to enter into any such sale, conveyance, lease, or agreement without appraisal, public notice, 
advertisement, or public bidding; 

WHEREAS, the 2007 Plan identifies as an objective the development of a convention 
center and the Agency’s participation in such a project; 

WHEREAS, the District intends to expand and improve its convention center and public 
event facilities in downtown Boise (the “Project”) to be located within the boundaries of both the 
District and the Agency and within the Project Area; 

WHEREAS, the Agency has previously adopted that certain Participation Program 
outlining its policy on participation in certain redevelopment projects; 

WHEREAS, the Project includes (i) renovation of the District’s existing convention 
center facilities, (ii) construction of a new ballroom facility, related kitchen and ancillary 
facilities, meeting space and ancillary facilities, and an elevated concourse attaching the 
District’s existing facilities to the new ballroom facility, (iii) purchase of related furniture and 
equipment, and (iv) improvements to the Grove Plaza.  The new ballroom facility and related 
kitchen, as well as the new meeting space and all ancillary facilities are located in new buildings 
being constructed by KC Gardner Company, L.C. (the “Developer”), who has acquired title to 
parcels to the south and west of the existing US Bank office tower in close proximity to the 



 
RESOLUTION NO. 1418 - 3 

District’s existing facilities.  The parcels are referred to herein as the “South Parcel” and the 
“West Parcel”; 

WHEREAS, the District and the Developer have entered into a Master Development 
Agreement (the “Master Development Agreement”), and as amended, whereby the Developer 
agreed to develop and build to suit the new ballroom facility, related kitchen and ancillary 
facilities within a new building to be constructed on the South Parcel, such building referred to 
herein as the “Centre Building,” as well as the meeting space and ancillary facilities within a 
new building to be constructed on the West Parcel, such building referred to herein as the 
“Clearwater Building.” Both the Centre Building and the Clearwater Building will be subject to 
a condominium regime as set forth in the condominium documents and will be leased or sold by 
the Developer to the District; 

WHEREAS, the District has previously sought nonappropriation lease financing for 
purchase of the unit containing the new ballroom facility, the related kitchen, and ancillary 
facilities in the Centre Building (the “Financed Project”).  To facilitate the financing of the 
Financed Project, the District has requested that the Agency utilize its statutory powers and 
further its public purposes by issuing a promissory note[s] or similar instrument (the “Note”) on 
the District’s behalf, to be repaid by the Agency solely from lease payments payable by the 
District to the Agency in the amount of the principal and interest coming due on such Note under 
an annual appropriation lease of the Financed Project (the “Lease Agreement”); 

WHEREAS, the District and the Agency intend for the Agency to purchase the Financed 
Project with the proceeds of the Note; 
 
 WHEREAS, Agency staff and District staff negotiated a Development Agreement (the 
“Development Agreement”), which addressed, inter alia, the role of the Agency as a conduit 
lender, payment of expenses, indemnity, and the judicial confirmation process; 
 

WHEREAS, on April 21, 2014, Agency staff adopted Resolution No. 1343 approving the 
Development Agreement, which included the form of Lease Agreement;   
  
 WHEREAS, after approval by the District Board, the District and Agency entered into 
the Development Agreement dated June 9, 2014; 
 
 WHEREAS, as contemplated by the Development Agreement, the District after 
completing the process described in the Idaho Judicial Confirmation Law filed its Petition for 
Judicial Confirmation; 
 
 WHEREAS, on August 28, 2014, Judge Moody issued her Order denying Petition for 
Judicial Confirmation (“Order”) having determined certain provisions in the proposed 
Development Agreement, Master Development Agreement and Lease Agreement created 
liabilities for the District beyond one year, thus not in compliance with Article VIII, Section 3, of 
the Idaho Constitution and found there were too many unknowns concerning the District’s 
liability; 
 
 WHEREAS, after the issuance of the Order, representatives of the District, the Agency, 



 
RESOLUTION NO. 1418 - 4 

and the Developer considered revisions to the various documents in response to the Order; 
 
 WHEREAS, Agency staff and District staff have negotiated an Amended and Restated 
Development Agreement, which addresses, interalia, the role of the Agency as a conduit lender, 
payment of expenses, and the judicial confirmation process and which includes by way of exhibit 
the form of Lease Agreement and the form of Assignment of Purchase and Sale Agreement; 
 
 WHEREAS, on October 14, 2014, the Agency Board adopted Resolution No. 1362 
approving the Amended and Restated Development Agreement; 
 
 WHEREAS, after approval by the District Board, the District and Agency entered into 
the Amended and Restated Development Agreement on December 19, 2014;  
 
 WHEREAS, as contemplated by the Amended and Restated Development Agreement, 
the District after completing the process described in the Idaho Judicial Confirmation Law filed 
its second Petition for Judicial Confirmation; 
 
 WHEREAS, on March 23, 2015, Judge Norton issued her Order denying the second 
Petition for Judicial Confirmation (“Norton Order”) having determined certain provisions in the 
proposed Amended and Restated Development Agreement, Master Development Agreement and 
Lease Agreement created potential liabilities for the District beyond one year, thus not in 
compliance with Article VIII, Section 3, of the Idaho Constitution and found there were too 
many unknowns concerning the District’s potential liability; 
 
 WHEREAS, the District appealed the decision by Judge Norton to the Idaho Supreme 
Court; 
 
 WHEREAS, on October 15, 2015, the Supreme Court issued its opinion reversing the 
decision of Judge Norton, finding the District is entitled to judicial confirmation of the Lease; 
 
 WHEREAS, since the issuance of the Supreme Court opinion, representatives of the 
District and the Agency have determined a First Amendment to Amended and Restated 
Development Agreement is appropriate in order to allow the District and Agency to enter into 
the Lease; 
 

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors finds it in the best public interest to approve the First 
Amendment to Amended and Restated Development Agreement and to authorize the Chair, 
Vice-Chair, or Executive Director to execute and attest the First Amendment to Amended and 
Restated Development Agreement, subject to certain conditions, and to execute all necessary 
documents to implement the transaction, subject to the conditions set forth below. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE MEMBERS OF THE BOARD OF 
COMMISSIONERS OF THE URBAN RENEWAL AGENCY, OF BOISE CITY, IDAHO, AS 
FOLLOWS: 
 
 Section 1: That the above statements are true and correct.   



 
RESOLUTION NO. 1418 - 5 

 
 Section 2: That the Agency Board reaffirms the Project consisting of public 
components is a type 3 transformative project as defined in the Agency’s Participation Program. 
 
 Section 3. That the First Amendment to Amended and Restated Development 
Agreement, attached hereto as Exhibit A, is hereby incorporated herein and made a part hereof 
by reference and is hereby approved and accepted as to form recognizing technical changes or 
corrections which may be required prior to execution of the First Amendment to Amended and 
Restated Development Agreement. 
 
 Section 4. That the Chair, Vice-Chair, or Executive Director of the Agency are 
hereby authorized to sign and enter into the First Amendment to Amended and Restated 
Development Agreement and, further, are hereby authorized to execute all necessary documents 
required to implement the actions contemplated by the First Amendment to Amended and 
Restated Development Agreement subject to representations by the Agency staff and Agency 
legal counsel that all conditions precedent to and any necessary technical changes to the First 
Amendment to Amended and Restated Development Agreement or other documents are 
acceptable upon advice from the Agency’s legal counsel and that said changes are consistent 
with the provisions of the First Amendment to Amended and Restated Development Agreement 
and the comments and discussions received at the November 9, 2015, Agency Board meeting, 
including any substantive changes discussed and approved at that meeting. 
 
 Section 5. That execution of the First Amendment to Amended and Restated 
Development Agreement is subject to approval of the First Amendment to Amended and 
Restated Development Agreement by the District. 
 
 Section 6. That this Resolution shall be in full force and effect immediately upon its 
adoption and approval.   
 
 PASSED AND ADOPTED by the Urban Renewal Agency of Boise City, Idaho, on 
November 9, 2015.  Signed by the Chair of the Board of Commissioners, and attested by the 
Secretary to the Board of Commissioners, on November 9, 2015. 
 
      APPROVED:   
 
 
 
      By_______________________________________ 
           Chair of the Board 
ATTEST:   
 
 
By_________________________________ 
     Secretary 
4840-7378-3850, v.  1 



 
FIRST AMENDMENT TO AMENDED AND  
RESTATED DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT - 1 

FIRST AMENDMENT TO AMENDED AND RESTATED DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT (10-30-15) 

FIRST AMENDMENT TO 
AMENDED AND RESTATED DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 

THIS FIRST AMENDMENT TO AMENDED AND RESTATED DEVELOPMENT 
AGREEMENT (this “Amendment”) is entered into as of the ___ day of November, 2015, between 
the Greater Boise Auditorium District, Ada County, State of Idaho,  an auditorium district organized 
and operating under the laws of the State of Idaho (the “District”), created and maintained under the 
provisions of Title 67, Chapter 49, Idaho Code, as amended, and the Urban Renewal Agency of 
Boise City, Idaho, aka Capital City Development Corporation (the “Agency”), a public body, 
corporate and politic, organized and operating pursuant to Title 50, Chapters 20 and 29, Idaho Code.  
This Amendment amends that Amended and Restated Development Agreement entered into between 
the District and the Agency dated December 19, 2014 (the “Amended and Restated Development 
Agreement”). 

1. Expenses of Finance Professionals.  Amended and Restated Development 
Agreement “Section 5 Expenses Fund” is hereby deleted and replaced in its entirety by the 
following: 

Section 5. Expenses Fund.  The District previously budgeted and 
committed $123,000 in a fund called the “Expenses Fund” held by the District as 
the sole source of payment for all reasonable and necessary out-of-pocket costs, 
expenses and fees, incurred by the Agency from June 9, 2014 through the effective 
date of the Lease directly in connection with the issuance of the Note and the 
Financed Project.  The District has been informed by the Agency that, due to the 
extended time frame required to complete the Judicial Confirmation Proceedings 
pursuant to Section 2 of the Development Agreement, the Agency will be incurring 
additional expenses directly in connection with the issuance of the Note and the 
Financed Project between October 15, 2015 and the effective date of the Lease.  The 
District hereby agrees to increase the Expenses Fund to $169,500.00, and to 
presently budget and commit the additional amount required, as detailed below. 

The District shall not be required to pay for any expenses hereunder in excess 
of the stop amounts set forth below, inclusive of amounts paid by the District from 
the Expenses Fund prior to the date of this Amendment, unless the Agency first 
obtains the District’s prior written consent to incur such excess expenses, and 
additional funds are budgeted and committed therefor: 

 
Expense 

 
Initial 

 
Additional 

Total 
(Stop Amount) 

Sherman & Howard L.L.C. 
(Agency Note Counsel) 

$15,000 $16,000 $31,000

Piper Jaffray & Co. 
(Agency Financial Advisor) 

$63,500 $0 $63,500

Elam & Burke 
(Agency General Counsel) 

$40,000 $30,000 $70,000

rborden
Typewritten Text
ATTACHMENT 2



 
FIRST AMENDMENT TO AMENDED AND  
RESTATED DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT - 2 

FIRST AMENDMENT TO AMENDED AND RESTATED DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT (10-30-15) 

 
Expense 

 
Initial 

 
Additional 

Total 
(Stop Amount) 

All other Agency incurred 
expenses 

$5,000 $0 $5,000

  
The Agency shall provide to the District a final accounting of all expenses 

incurred by the finance professionals listed above in sufficient time in advance of the 
issuance of the Note to allow for such expenses to be paid, as costs of issuance, from 
the proceeds from the sale of the Note.  All expenses incurred pursuant to this 
Section shall, to the extent paid by the District prior to the issuance of the Note, be 
reimbursed to the District, and otherwise shall be paid directly to the finance 
professionals listed above or to the Agency, as directed by the Agency.  In the event 
of a dispute concerning the amounts billed by Agency pursuant to this Section, the 
Executive Director of the District and the Executive Director of the Agency shall 
meet and attempt to resolve the dispute.  In the event the dispute is not resolved by 
the Executive Directors, the Boards of the District and the Agency shall meet to 
resolve the dispute.     

The provisions of this Section shall survive for thirty (30) days beyond the 
termination of this Agreement, and if funds remain in the Expenses Fund thirty (30) 
days after the termination of this Agreement, such funds shall be released to the 
District.  The District shall terminate the Expenses Fund following closing of the 
financing and payment of the finance professionals or reimbursement of the District 
and/or Agency, as applicable.  In the event the financing does not close on or before 
August 31, 2016, the District shall pay the Agency’s expenses incurred pursuant to 
this Section from the Expenses Fund. 

The District shall pay directly, and not from the Expenses Fund, the fees of 
Bond Counsel, the District’s counsel, and the District’s financial advisor, if 
applicable.  The District may, at its option, be reimbursed for all such fees incurred in 
connection with the financing, whether incurred prior to or following the date of this 
Amendment, as costs of issuance from the proceeds from the sale of the Note. 

2. No Other Changes.  All capitalized terms used in this Amendment shall have the 
meanings given to them in the Amended and Restated Development Agreement. No other terms or 
conditions of the Amended and Restated Development Agreement are changed by this Amendment, 
and the Amended and Restated Development Agreement shall remain in full force and effect 
modified only by the terms and conditions of this Amendment. In the event of a conflict between the 
provisions of the Amended and Restated Development Agreement and those of this Amendment, the 
provisions of this Amendment shall control. 

3. Counterparts.  This Amendment may be executed in one or more counterparts, each 
of which will be deemed to be a duplicate original of this document and all of which original 
counterparts, when combined together, will be deemed to constitute one and the same original 
document. 

 [Signatures appear on following page] 



 
FIRST AMENDMENT TO AMENDED AND  
RESTATED DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT - 3 

FIRST AMENDMENT TO AMENDED AND RESTATED DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT (10-30-15) 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Agreement effective as of the day 
and year hereinabove first written. 

URBAN RENEWAL AGENCY OF BOISE CITY, 
IDAHO, AKA CAPITAL CITY DEVELOPMENT 
CORPORATION  

By:   
 Chairman 

GREATER BOISE AUDITORIUM DISTRICT 

By:   
      Chairman 

By:   
 Executive Director 

 

 



Page 1 
 

 

 

AGENDA BILL 

 

Agenda Subject: 
CONSIDER: Approve The Grove Plaza Renovation Design  

Date: 
November 9, 2015 
 

Staff Contact: 
Doug Woodruff 
 

Attachments: 
1) Renovation Design Exhibit 

 

Action Requested: 
Approve the renovation design and authorize staff to apply for jurisdictional approvals and 
proceed with technical drawings for construction. 
 

 
Fiscal Notes: 

With approval of the renovation design agency staff and the design team will be able to 
compile an accurate construction estimate.  Staff will present the project budget and 
construction estimate to the board at a later date for consideration and approval.   
 
Background: 

In November 2014 a group of strategic stakeholders convened to plan the future of The 
Grove Plaza. The resulting document – The Charter for The Grove Plaza – shares a collective 
vision of the physical attributes, primary functions, renovation recommendations and 
management guidelines for the next generation of The Grove Plaza. In June 2015 CSHQA and 
ZGF Architects began developing renovation design concepts for the Grove Plaza founded 
upon the charter document recommendations.  The concepts were refined through various 
levels of public engagement which include: individual meetings with adjacent property owners, 
an online public survey garnering over 500 responses, and two open houses.   
 

The enclosed exhibit represents the recommended renovation design. It takes into 
account lessons learned from the initial 30 years of public use, and also it represents a 
collective vision of enhanced public enjoyment for the next 30 years. Improve the fountain and 
provide public restrooms were the two primary public requests.  Both are key elements in the 
design.  Emergency egress to access adjacent facilities is maintained, and trees are arranged to 
emphasize main entries to adjacent businesses—primary concerns of key stakeholders.  More 
shade is provided with fewer larger trees and the addition of shade structures. The orthogonal 
water feature layout, the bar pattern brick paving, integrated shade sails, and the alternating 
tree arrangement on the north and south spokes support the preferences expressed by CCDC 
commissioners during an October 2015 work session.  The renderings accurately represent all 
key design elements and site furnishings. 
 

Approval of the recommended renovation design will continue the collaborative 
supporting role CCDC has taken in the transformational City Center Plaza project.  The City 
Center Plaza site improvements overlap the plaza renovation improvements.  Reconciliation of 
the site plans is necessary prior to the placement of the concrete lid over VRT’s Main Street 



Page 2 
 

Station.  The lid is to be placed as soon as January 2016.  It is important that CCDC act quickly 
and reconcile the construction drawings prior to 2016. 
 
The Boise Centre concourse design team is completing construction documents in December 
2015. To ensure accurate bidding and meaningful construction phasing plans CCDC must 
advance the plaza design into 60% complete technical drawings. With design approval, this can 
be accomplished by December 11, 2015 allowing for the necessary coordination to occur.   
 
Staff Recommendation: 
Agency staff recommends approving the design and authorizing application for jurisdictional 
approvals and advancement of the technical drawings.  
 
With design approval CSHQA will submit an application to Planning and Development Services 
Design Review on November 17, 2015.  
 

Suggested Motion: 
I approve The Grove Plaza renovation design and authorize staff to apply for jurisdictional 
approvals and proceed with technical drawings for construction. 
 

 

 



THE GROVE PLAZA
2015 Renovation Concept Design



The Grove Plaza is the place 

where Boise mornings begin and 

evenings end — a symbolic full 

circle, sheltered by Idaho’s signature 

four seasons and a vibrant, urban, 

downtown environment. It connects 

local, next door and far away, 

bringing people to one central 

location to live, work, gather, 

celebrate and be entertained.  

VISION STATEMENT

Bird’s Eye View of Plaza Looking South



The Grove Plaza renovation upholds 

and carries forward the physical 

attributes and primary functions 

of the charter.  In addition, there 

are three primary areas of focus to 

guide the reinvestment: enhancing 

the user experience; nurturing 

positive community spirit; and, 

using environmentally responsible 

practices in constructing and 

creating this public space.

DESIGN OBJECTIVE

Site Plan of Renovation Improvements



Performance events are 

enhanced with an upgraded 

demountable stage, power 

and lighting, and a high quality 

sound system

ENHANCING THE USER EXPERINCE

Perspective View of Plaza Looking East 



Perspective View of Plaza Looking East 

Additional shade from trees 

and shade structures are 

added to the perimeter of the 

plaza.

More seating options are 

provided in the form of 

movable chairs and tables 

with umbrellas.

ENHANCING THE USER EXPERINCE



ENHANCING THE USER EXPERINCE

Public restroom facilities will 

be co-located with an attendant 

booth on the west spoke.

Restroom Facility Floor Plan

Restroom Facility North Elevation



ENHANCING THE USER EXPERINCE

A new flush-to-surface water 

feature will be constructed in the 

same location as the original, 

with expanded programming and 

lighting capabilities.



The Grove Plaza: Brick by 

Brick personalized brick 

program is open to the public. 

As in 1986, citizens will have 

an opportunity to purchase a 

personalized brick to help fund 

the renovation.

NURTURE POSITIVE COMMUNITY SPIRIT

Perspective View of Plaza Looking West



The trees and lights alternate 

along the spokes to accomodate 

entrances to adjacent facilities and 

businesses.

More bike parking is provided 

along the spokes for the 

convenience of patrons and 

visitors. 

NURTURE POSITIVE COMMUNITY SPIRIT



A suspended pavement system 

grows larger trees and supports 

the regional effort to improve 

the ecological health and water 

quality of the Boise River by 

disconnecting from the river outlet 

and infiltrating storm water runoff 

on-site.

USE ENVIRONMENTALLY 
RESPONIBLE  PRACTICES

Section Showing Stormwater Tree Cells



Low energy LED area lighting 

will illumniate the plaza at 

night.

The plaza will be furnished 

with recycling stations in 

addition to trash receptacles.

“FGP’ Area Light

Landscape Forms Inc.

‘Chase Park’ Refuse Recepticles

Landscape Forms Inc.

USE ENVIRONMENTALLY 
RESPONIBLE  PRACTICES



Perspective View of Plaza Looking West



RESOLUTION No. 1391  Page 1 
 

 

 

AGENDA BILL 

 

Agenda Subject: 
CONSIDER:  Resolution 1416 CSHQA Task Order for Renovation 
Engineering and Construction Administration Services 

Date: 
November 9, 2015 
 

Staff Contact: 
Doug Woodruff 
 

Attachments: 
1) Resolution 1416 
2) CSHQA Proposal 

 

Action Requested: 
Adopt Resolution No. 1416 authorizing the Agency’s Executive Director to negotiate and 
execute a task order with CSHQA. 
 

 
Fiscal Notes: 
If approved, Resolution 1416 acknowledges that the Executive Director will negotiate and 
execute a task order with CSHQA to provide up to $365,000 of professional design and 
construction services.  This task order will be funded from the FY 2016 budget “Grove Plaza 
2.0” Central District CIP line item.  
 
Background: 
On June 8, 2015 Resolution 1391 was adopted, selecting CSHQA to provide professional 
design services for the renovation of The Grove Plaza.   The resolution authorized a task order 
for CSHQA to begin initial design services.  Once a clear definition of the design scope, staff 
indicated a second request to the Board would be made to approve the remainder of services 
needed to complete the renovation project.   
 
As of November 9, 2015 a renovation design has been established.  CSHQA has provided the 
enclosed fee proposal to provide the remaining design, engineering, and construction 
administration services necessary to complete the renovation project as currently understood.  
The scope of services is comprehensive.  It provides services through all remaining stages of 
the project and includes services from needed specialists.  The proposal includes CSHQA in-
house Landscape Architecture, Civil Engineering, Architecture, Electrical Engineering, 
Mechanical Engineering, and Audio/Visual Communications services.  CSHQA is also sub-
contracting with ZGF Architects for urban design consultation; Waterline Studios for fountain 
design and engineering; KPFF for Structural Engineering and Strata for Geotechnical 
Engineering.    
 
The proposal does not include professional surveyor services.  CCDC is contracted separately 
with Quadrant Consulting Inc. for surveyor services. 
 
Staff Recommendation: 
Agency Staff recommends that the Agency Board find it in the best interest of the public and of 
the Agency to authorize the Agency’s Executive Director to negotiate and execute a task order 



RESOLUTION No. 1391  Page 2 
 

with CSHQA to provide the remaining professional design and construction administration 
services required to complete the renovation of The Grove Plaza.  
 

Suggested Motion: 
I move to adopt Resolution No. 1416 authorizing the Agency’s Executive Director to negotiate 
and execute a task order with CSHQA for professional design, engineering, and construction 
administrations services needed to complete the renovation of The Grove Plaza.  
 

 

 



RESOLUTION NO. 1416 - 1 

RESOLUTION NO. 1416 
 
BY THE BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS OF THE URBAN RENEWAL AGENCY OF 
BOISE CITY, IDAHO:   
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS OF 
THE URBAN RENEWAL AGENCY OF BOISE CITY, IDAHO,   
AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR TO 
NEGOTIATE AND EXECUTE A TASK ORDER WITH 
CSHQA, A PROFESSIONAL ASSOCIATION, AS LEAD 
DESIGN CONSULTANT FOR THE GROVE PLAZA 
RENOVATION PROJECT FOR THE FINAL DESIGN AND AS 
LEAD ARCHITECT ON THE GROVE PLAZA RENOVATION 
PROJECT DURING CONSTRUCTION; AUTHORIZING THE 
EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR TO EXPEND FUNDS PURSUANT 
TO THE TASK ORDER; AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE 
DATE.  

 
 THIS RESOLUTION, Made on the date hereinafter set forth by the Urban Renewal 
Agency of Boise City, Idaho, an independent public body, corporate and politic, authorized 
under the authority of the Idaho Urban Renewal Law of 1965, as amended, Chapter 20, Title 50, 
Idaho Code (the “Law”), a duly created and functioning urban renewal agency for Boise City, 
Idaho, hereinafter referred to as the “Agency.”   
 

WHEREAS, the City Council of Boise City, Idaho (the “City”), after notice duly 
published, conducted a public hearing on the amended and restated Urban Renewal Plan for the 
Boise Central District Project I, Idaho R-4, and Project II, Idaho R-5 (the “Amended Urban 
Renewal Plan”);   
 

WHEREAS, following said public hearing, the City adopted its Ordinance No. 5597 on 
December 6, 1994, approving the Amended Urban Renewal Plan and making certain findings;   
 
 WHEREAS, the City, after notice duly published, conducted a public hearing on the 2007 
Amended and Restated Urban Renewal Plan for the Boise Central District Project I, Idaho R-4, 
and Project II, Idaho R-5 (the “2007 Plan”); 
 
 WHEREAS, following said public hearing, the City adopted its Ordinance No. 6576 on 
June 26, 2007, effective upon publication on July 23, 2007, approving the 2007 Plan and making 
certain findings on the 2007 Plan, for the Boise Central District Project I, Idaho R-4 and Project 
II, Idaho R-5; 
 
 WHEREAS, the Agency has selected CSHQA, a professional association (“CSHQA”), 
pursuant to Idaho Code § 67-2320 as an on-call design professional for the provision of 
architectural design services; 
 
 WHEREAS, the Agency adopted Resolution 1391 on June 8, 2015, which contemplated 
a two step process to design and oversee the Grove Plaza Renovation Project, authorized the 
Executive Director to enter into a task order with CSHQA for the initial design concepts for the 
Grove Plaza Renovation Project, and authorized the Executive Director to negotiate a task order 



RESOLUTION NO. 1416 - 2 

with CSHQA for step two of the process, which includes the preparation of final design 
concepts, construction drawings, and the supervision of the construction of the Grove Plaza 
Renovation Project; 
 

WHEREAS, CSHQA has prepared a proposal for the preparation of final design 
concepts, construction drawings, and the supervision of the construction of the Grove Plaza 
Renovation Project; 
 

WHEREAS, the Executive Director and Agency staff believe it is in the best interest of 
the Agency and the public to negotiate the terms of a task order with CSHQA for the preparation 
of the final design concepts, preparation of the construction drawings, and construction 
supervision services related to the Grove Plaza Renovation Project contemplated by Resolution 
No. 1391, and furthermore to authorize the Executive Director to expend up to Three Hundred 
and Sixty Five Thousand and No/100 Dollars ($365,000.00) for the services provided under the 
task order; 
 
 WHEREAS, the Agency board hereby finds it in the best interests of the Agency and the 
public to approve the recommendations of Agency staff set forth above. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 
OF THE URBAN RENEWAL AGENCY OF BOISE CITY, IDAHO:   
 
 Section 1. That the above statements are true and correct.  
 
 Section 2. That the Executive Director and Agency are authorized to negotiate the 
terms of a task order with CSHQA for the preparation of the final design concepts, preparation of 
the construction drawings, and construction supervision services related to the Grove Plaza 
Renovation Project contemplated by Resolution No. 1391.  
 

Section 3. That the Executive Director is authorized to expend up to Three Hundred 
and Sixty Five Thousand and No/100 Dollars ($365,000.00) for the services provided under such 
task order; 
 
 Section 4: That this Resolution shall be in full force and effect immediately upon its 
adoption and approval. 
 
 PASSED by the Urban Renewal Agency of the City of Boise, Idaho, on November 9, 
2015.  Signed by the Chairman of the Board of Commissioners, and attested by the Secretary to 
the Board of Commissioners, on this 9th day of November 2015.   
 
      APPROVED:   
 
      By_________________________________ 
        Chairman of the Board 
 
ATTEST: 
 
By____________________________ 
  Secretary   
4812-5003-8314, v.  1 























Page 1 of 2 

 

 

AGENDA BILL 

Agenda Subject: 
CCDC Personnel Manual Update 

Date: 
November 9, 2015 
 

Staff Contact: 
Ross Borden, Finance Director 
 

Attachments: 
1. Resolution 1409 
2. Personnel Manual with Updates – Clean  
3. Personnel Manual with Updates – Redline  

Action Requested: 
Consider updates to the Agency Personnel Manual and adoption of Resolution 1409. 

Background: 
The Agency’s Personnel Manual was originally adopted in November 1999 by Resolution 806.  
Any substantive change to the Manual requires formal Board action (Section 1.4 Changing 
Policies).  Revisions have been adopted in February 2001, October 2001, October 2003, January 
2008, May 2008 and February 2012.  After reviewing the current edition and working with counsel 
at Elam & Burke, staff recommends various updates and changes.  

 Update to comport with current law and ordinance. 

 Synchronize sections by removing duplicate, superfluous or obsolete language and 
references.  Clarify intent.  Modernize to reflect contemporary workplace standards.  

 Make numerous minor, non-substantive edits throughout to address style, grammar, 
terminology, formatting and technical changes.   

Summary of Substantive Recommended Revisions 
Chapter 4 Hours and Attendance. 

1. Add New Section. 4.7 Break Time for Nursing Mothers. 

Chapter 5 Travel / Meeting Expense Policy.  

1. Modify Section. 5.4 Reimbursements.  Change from reimbursement of documented 
expenses to per diem allowance using State of Idaho reimbursement limits.  Add new 
Appendix A containing maximum daily and partial day allowances.   

Chapter 7 Benefits.  

1. Delete Subsection 7.3.2.1 Self-Insurance – Medical Reimbursement Plan.  This benefit 
is unique, administratively burdensome and increasingly problematic vis-à-vis 
Affordable Care Act and HIPAA rules and regulations.  Counsel considers it a potential 
liability. The Agency is required to notify employees prior to terminating the benefit.  
Delete Attachment 1 Medical Reimbursement Plan.   

2. Modify Section 7.5 Tuition Reimbursement Policy.  Change to require that regular, full-
time employees become eligible after one year of employment, and must remain 
employed for one year to avoid repayment.  Maximum per-employee, per-fiscal year 
reimbursement is $1,000.  

3. Delete Section 7.7 HIPAA Compliance.  No longer required with the deletion of the 
Subsection 7.3.2.1 Self-Insurance – Medical Reimbursement Plan.  Also delete 
Attachment 2 Policies and Procedures to Comply with HIPAA Privacy Regulations.  

rborden
Typewritten Text



Page 2 of 2 

Chapter 8 Leaves. 

1. Modify Subsection 8.3.3 Using Paid Sick Leave.  Delete current practice that provides 
employees a floating holiday in December if they have used less than three sick days 
so far that calendar year.   

2. Modify Section 8.8 Bereavement Leave.  Three days to five days.  

3. Modify Section. 8.9 Holidays.  Delete Columbus Day, add Floating Holiday. 

4. Delete Section 8.13 Additional Leaves.  

5. Add New Section 8.13 Paid Parental Leave.  Provides up to six weeks paid parental 
leave concurrent with Family and Medical Leave Act (FMLA) leave for male or female 
employees following the birth, adoption, or placement of child in foster care. An 
employee would qualify after one year of employment. The percent of salary paid 
increases with the years of service, from 60% of salary between one and six years of 
service and 100% of salary thereafter.   

Chapter 9 Employee Responsibilities and Conduct. 

1. Modify Section 9.10 Seat Belt, Cellular Phone and Texting Policy.  Adds a prohibition on 
calling and texting while driving on Agency business.  

2. Add New Section 9.16 Gifts & Gratuities.  Prohibit employees from accepting gifts 
valued in excess of $50.   

Chapter 12 Electronic Communication.  Extensive language modeled after Boise City’s policy. 

1. Add New Section 12.2 Electronic Communications and Public Records.   

2. Add New Section 12.4 Social Media Policy.  

3. Add New Section 12.5 Social Media Personal Use. 

4. Add New Section 12.6 Mobile Communications Policy. 

5. Add New Section 12.7 Record Retention.  Add Appendix B Records Retention 
Schedule. 

Executive Committee-Recommended Improvements for Next Update 
1. Modify Section 2.3 Anti-Harassment and Discrimination Policy.  Add reference to Section 

11 Complaint Procedures and Section 7.3.1 Employee Assistance Program. 

2. Modify Section 6.1 Performance Evaluation and Compensation Plan.  Add detail to make 
Performance Evaluation reference more robust, e.g. increase evaluation frequency.  

3. Modify Section 11.1 Additional (Complaint) Procedures.  Add / authorize an independent 
third party – such as the Employee Assistance Program (EAP) cited in Section 7.3.1 – as 
an option to receive and assist employees with workplace complaints or claims.  

4. Appendix A, Per Diem Rates.  Modify as necessary to keep current.  
 
Staff Recommendation: 
Adopt recommended updates to the CCDC Personnel Manual. 
 
Suggested Motion: 
I move adoption of Resolution 1409 to incorporate the presented updates and final, minor 
production edits into the Agency Personnel Manual. 
 



RESOLUTION NO. 1409 - 1 

 RESOLUTION NO. 1409 
 
BY THE BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS OF THE URBAN RENEWAL AGENCY OF BOISE 
CITY, IDAHO:   
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS OF THE 
URBAN RENEWAL AGENCY OF BOISE CITY, IDAHO, 
RECOMMENDING ADOPTION OF CERTAIN REVISIONS AND 
CHANGES TO THE PERSONNEL MANUAL FOR THE URBAN 
RENEWAL AGENCY; AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 
TO TAKE APPROPRIATE ACTION; AND PROVIDING FOR 
MODIFICATION TO THE PERSONNEL MANUAL TO BE EFFECTIVE 
UPON THE PASSAGE AND APPROVAL OF THIS RESOLUTION AND 
PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
THIS RESOLUTION, Made on the date hereinafter set forth by the Urban Renewal Agency 

of Boise City, Idaho, an independent public body, corporate and politic, authorized under the 
authority of the Idaho Urban Renewal Law of 1965, Chapter 20, Title 50, Idaho Code, as amended, a 
duly created and functioning urban renewal agency for Boise City, Idaho, hereinafter referred to as 
the “Agency.”   

 
WHEREAS, the Agency staff and Agency counsel previously prepared and the Board has 

approved a Personnel Manual for the employees of the Agency, dated November, 1999;  
 
WHEREAS, the Personnel Manual for the employees of the Agency was last revised by the 

Agency Board on February 13, 2012, through the adoption of Resolution No. 1299;    
 
WHEREAS, the Agency staff now finds it necessary to recommend certain changes and 

revisions in the Agency Personnel Manual;   
 
WHEREAS, those changes and revisions are set forth in the Agency Personnel Manual 

attached hereto and incorporated herein as Exhibit A;   
 
WHEREAS, Agency staff and counsel have reviewed the proposed deletions and changes to 

the Agency Personnel Manual and find them to be in order;   
 
WHEREAS, the Agency staff finds it in the best interests of the Agency and the public to 

approve and adopt the revisions and additions to the Agency Personnel Manual;   
 
WHEREAS, the Agency Board finds it in the best interest of the Agency and the public to 

adopt the revised Agency Personnel Manual. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS OF 

THE URBAN RENEWAL AGENCY OF BOISE CITY, IDAHO:   
 
Section 1: That the above statements are true and correct.   
 
Section 2: That the revisions and additions to the Agency Personnel Manual are hereby 

approved and adopted by the Agency Board and are effective on January 1, 2016.  That the Executive 

rborden
Typewritten Text
ATTACHMENT 1



RESOLUTION NO. 1409 - 2 

Director is authorized and directed to take all action to implement the revisions and additions to the 
Agency Personnel Manual, including distribution to Agency employees and receipt of signed 
acknowledgment by Agency employees as necessary. 

 
Section 3: That this Resolution shall be in full force and effect immediately upon its 

adoption and approval.   
 
PASSED by the Urban Renewal Agency of the City of Boise, Idaho, on November 9, 2015.  

Signed by the Chairman of the Board of Commissioners, and attested by the Secretary to the Board of 
Commissioners, on this 9th day of November 2015.   

 
      APPROVED:   
 
 
      By_________________________________ 
        Chairman of the Board 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
By____________________________ 
  Secretary   
4831-4910-0074, v.  1 



 
 
 
 

 
 

PERSONNEL MANUAL 
 
 
 

Adopted by the CCDC Board of Commissioners 
 

Effective Date 
 

January 1, 2016 
 

rborden
Typewritten Text
 ATTACHMENT 2CLEAN VERSION





i 
 

CAPITAL CITY DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION 
 

PERSONNEL MANUAL 
 

ADOPTED BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
 

EFFECTIVE DATES 
November 1999 
February 2001 
October 2001 

October 1, 2003 
January 14, 2008 

May 27, 2008 
February 13, 2012 

January 1, 2016 
     

 
 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 
 
PERSONNEL MANUAL ..................................................................................................................................... 1 
 
CHAPTER 1 PURPOSE AND SCOPE .................................................................................................. 1 
 
1.1 INTRODUCTION ..................................................................................................................................... 1 
1.2 INTENT OF POLICIES–EMPLOYMENT AT WILL .............................................................................. 1 
1.3 SCOPE OF POLICIES .............................................................................................................................. 1 
1.4 CHANGING THE POLICIES ................................................................................................................... 1 
1.5 DEFINITIONS ........................................................................................................................................... 2 

1.5.1 Immediate Family ............................................................................................................. 2 
1.5.2 Regular Full-Time Employee............................................................................................ 2 
1.5.3 Regular Part-Time Employee............................................................................................ 2 
1.5.4 Temporary Employee ........................................................................................................ 2 
1.5.5 Exempt Employee ............................................................................................................. 2 
1.5.6 Non-Exempt Employee ..................................................................................................... 2 

 
CHAPTER 2 GENERAL POLICIES AND PRACTICES ..................................................................... 3 
 
2.1 EQUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITY  ............................................................................................ 3 
2.2 DISABILITY DISCRIMINATION  .......................................................................................................... 3 
2.3 ANTI-HARASSMENT AND DISCRIMINATION POLICY ................................................................... 3 
2.4 EMPLOYEE PERSONNEL RECORDS ................................................................................................... 4 
2.5 EMPLOYMENT REFERENCES .............................................................................................................. 5 
 
CHAPTER 3 RECRUITING AND HIRING .......................................................................................... 6 
 
3.1 RECRUITING ........................................................................................................................................... 6 
3.2 HIRING ..................................................................................................................................................... 6 
3.3 TEMPORARY EMPLOYEES .................................................................................................................. 6 

3.3.1 Temporary, At Will Employees ........................................................................................ 6 
3.3.2 Compensation/Benefits ..................................................................................................... 6 



ii 
 

3.4 EMPLOYMENT OF RELATIVES (NEPOTISM).................................................................................... 6 
3.4.1 Family Relationship .......................................................................................................... 6 
3.4.2 Change in Circumstances .................................................................................................. 7 

3.5 PROMOTIONS ......................................................................................................................................... 7 
 
CHAPTER 4 HOURS AND ATTENDANCE ........................................................................................ 8 
 
4.1 WORKING HOURS .................................................................................................................................. 8 
4.2 HOURS OF WORK AND OVERTIME ................................................................................................... 8 
4.3 COMPENSATORY TIME ........................................................................................................................ 8 
4.4 ATTENDANCE ......................................................................................................................................... 8 
4.5 TELECOMMUTING POLICY ................................................................................................................. 9 

4.5.1 Purpose ............................................................................................................................. 9 
4.5.2 Participation ...................................................................................................................... 9 
4.5.3 Equipment ......................................................................................................................... 9 
4.5.4 General Issues ................................................................................................................... 9 

4.6 BREAKS AND MEAL PERIODS .......................................................................................................... 10 
4.7 BREAK TIME FOR NURSING MOTHERS .......................................................................................... 10 
4.8 PAYROLL RECORDS ............................................................................................................................ 10 
 
CHAPTER 5 TRAVEL/MEETING EXPENSE POLICY .................................................................... 11 
 
5.1 GENERAL POLICY ............................................................................................................................... 11 
5.2 VEHICLE USE ........................................................................................................................................ 11 
5.3 AIRFARE ................................................................................................................................................ 11 
5.4 REIMBURSEMENTS ............................................................................................................................. 11 
5.5 ADDITIONAL ALLOWABLE INCIDENTAL EXPENSES ................................................................. 12 
5.6 EXPENDITURES NOT REIMBURSABLE ........................................................................................... 12 
5.7 DOCUMENTATION .............................................................................................................................. 13 
5.8 CORPORATE CREDIT CARD .............................................................................................................. 13 
 
CHAPTER 6 PERFORMANCE EVALUATIONS AND TRAINING ....................................................... 14 
 
6.1 PERFORMANCE EVALUATIONS AND COMPENSATION PLAN .................................................. 14 
6.2 TRAINING POLICY ............................................................................................................................... 14 
 
CHAPTER 7 BENEFITS ...................................................................................................................... 15 
 
7.1 RETIREMENT BENEFITS ..................................................................................................................... 15 
7.2 DISABILITY BENEFITS (WORKERS’ COMPENSATION) ............................................................... 15 

7.2.1 Coverage and Claims ...................................................................................................... 15 
7.2.2 Coordination of Benefits ................................................................................................. 15 

7.3 HEALTH INSURANCE BENEFITS ...................................................................................................... 15 
7.3.1 Employee Assistance Program........................................................................................ 16 

7.4 CONTINUATION OF INSURANCE COVERAGE ............................................................................... 16 
7.4.1 Workers’ Compensation Benefits ................................................................................... 16 
7.4.2 Termination, Retirement, Leave of Absence .................................................................. 16 

7.5 TUITION REIMBURSEMENT POLICY ............................................................................................... 16 
 
CHAPTER 8   LEAVES ......................................................................................................................... 18 
 
8.1 DEFINITIONS ......................................................................................................................................... 18 

8.1.1 Dependent Children ........................................................................................................ 18 



iii 
 

8.1.2 Immediate Family ........................................................................................................... 18 
8.1.3 Serious Health Condition ................................................................................................ 18 

8.2 VACATION LEAVE............................................................................................................................... 18 
8.2.1 Accruals .......................................................................................................................... 18 
8.2.2 Accelerated Vacation Accruals for Exempt Level Employees ....................................... 18 
8.2.3 Limits on Accruals .......................................................................................................... 19 
8.2.4 Using Vacation Leave ..................................................................................................... 19 
8.2.5 Payment for Vacation Accruals at Termination .............................................................. 19 

8.3 SICK LEAVE .......................................................................................................................................... 19 
8.3.1 Accruals .......................................................................................................................... 19 
8.3.2 Limits on Sick Leave Accruals ....................................................................................... 19 
8.3.3 Using Paid Sick Leave .................................................................................................... 20 

8.4 LEAVE WITHOUT PAY ........................................................................................................................ 20 
8.5 JURY AND WITNESS LEAVE .............................................................................................................. 20 

8.5.1 Jury Duty ........................................................................................................................ 20 
8.5.2 Witness Duty................................................................................................................... 21 

8.6 ADMINISTRATIVE LEAVE ................................................................................................................. 21 
8.7 MILITARY LEAVE ................................................................................................................................ 21 
8.8 BEREAVEMENT LEAVE ...................................................................................................................... 21 
8.9 HOLIDAYS ............................................................................................................................................. 21 
8.10 RELIGIOUS HOLIDAYS ....................................................................................................................... 22 
8.11 ON-THE-JOB INJURIES AND TIME LOSS CLAIMS ......................................................................... 22 
8.12 FAMILY AND MEDICAL LEAVE ....................................................................................................... 22 

8.12.1 Reasons for Family or Medical Leave ............................................................................ 22 
a. Employee’s Serious Health Condition ..................................................................... 22 
b. To Care for a New Child.......................................................................................... 22 
c. To Care for a Spouse, Parent or Child With a Serious Health 

Condition ................................................................................................................. 22 
8.12.2 Requests for Family or Medical Leave ........................................................................... 23 
8.12.3 Use of Paid Leave for Family or Medical Leave ............................................................ 23 
8.12.4 Length of Leave .............................................................................................................. 23 
8.12.5 Benefits ........................................................................................................................... 23 
8.12.6 Return to Work ............................................................................................................... 23 

8.13 PAID PARENTAL LEAVE POLICY ..................................................................................................... 24 
8.14 LEAVE AND BENEFITS FOR PART-TIME AND TEMPORARY EMPLOYEES ............................. 24 

8.14.1 Regular Part-Time Employees ........................................................................................ 24 
8.14.2 Temporary Employees .................................................................................................... 24 

 
CHAPTER 9 EMPLOYEE RESPONSIBILITIES AND CONDUCT ................................................. 25 
 
9.1 GENERAL CODE OF CONDUCT ......................................................................................................... 25 
9.2 OUTSIDE EMPLOYMENT AND CONFLICTS OF INTEREST .......................................................... 25 
9.3 REPORTING IMPROPER GOVERNMENTAL ACTION .................................................................... 26 
9.4 POLITICAL ACTIVITIES ...................................................................................................................... 26 
9.5 NO SMOKING POLICY ......................................................................................................................... 26 
9.6 PERSONAL POSSESSIONS AND ELECTRONIC COMMUNICATIONS ......................................... 26 
9.7 USE OF AGENCY VEHICLES AND EQUIPMENT ............................................................................ 26 
9.8 BULLETIN BOARDS ............................................................................................................................. 26 
9.9 CONTACT WITH THE NEWS MEDIA ................................................................................................ 27 
9.10 SEAT BELT, CELLULAR PHONE AND TEXTING POLICY ............................................................ 27 
9.11 DRIVER’S LICENSE REQUIREMENTS .............................................................................................. 27 
9.12 SOLICITATIONS ................................................................................................................................... 27 
9.13 SAFETY .................................................................................................................................................. 27 



iv 
 

9.14 SUBSTANCE ABUSE ............................................................................................................................ 27 
9.14.1 Availability of Rehabilitation or Treatment .................................................................... 27 
9.14.2 When Job Performance Is Affected ................................................................................ 28 
9.14.3 Drug-Free Workplace ..................................................................................................... 28 

9.15 GIFTS & GRATUITIES .......................................................................................................................... 28 
 
CHAPTER 10 DISCIPLINE AND TERMINATION ............................................................................ 29 
 
10.1 ACTIONS SUBJECT TO DISCIPLINARY ACTION ........................................................................... 29 
10.2 LAYOFF .................................................................................................................................................. 30 
10.3 RESIGNATION ....................................................................................................................................... 30 
 
CHAPTER 11  COMPLAINT PROCEDURES ...................................................................................... 31 
 
11.1 COMPLAINT PROCEDURES ............................................................................................................... 31 

11.1.1 Additional Procedures ........................................................................................................ 32 
 
CHAPTER 12 ELECTRONIC COMMUNICATIONS .......................................................................... 33 
 
12.1 ELECTRONIC COMMUNICATION MONITORING .......................................................................... 33 
12.2 ELECTRONIC COMMUNICATIONS AND PUBLIC RECORDS ....................................................... 33 
12.3 INTERNET POLICY............................................................................................................................... 33 
12.4 SOCIAL MEDIA POLICY ...................................................................................................................... 34 

12.4.1 Introduction ..................................................................................................................... 34 
12.4.2 Definitions ...................................................................................................................... 34 
12.4.3 Social Media Account Access......................................................................................... 34 
12.4.4 Prohibited Content in Agency Social Media ................................................................... 35 
12.4.5 Expectation of Privacy .................................................................................................... 36 

12.5  SOCIAL MEDIA PERSONAL USE ............................................................................................ 36 
12.5.1 Introduction ..................................................................................................................... 36 
12.5.2 No Expectation of Privacy .............................................................................................. 36 
12.5.3 Employee Personal Use of Social Media ........................................................................ 37 
12.5.4 Prohibited Conduct in Personal Social Media ................................................................ 37 
12.5.5 Employee Responsibility and Duty to Report ................................................................. 38 

12.6 MOBILE COMMUNICATIONS POLICY ............................................................................................. 38 
12.7 RECORD RETENTION .......................................................................................................................... 38 
 
 
RECEIPT OF PERSONNEL POLICIES ........................................................................................................... 39 

 
 



1 
 

CAPITAL CITY DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION 
Personnel Manual 

 
 

CHAPTER 1 
PURPOSE AND SCOPE 

 
1.1 INTRODUCTION 
 
These personnel policies serve as a general guide to the Capital City Development Corporation’s (“Agency”) current 
employment practices and procedures. As such, we hope they will help you better understand how the Agency 
operates and what is expected of you as an employee. The Agency places the highest value on our employees and 
their well-being. We want to see that you are a satisfied and productive worker, with the support necessary to 
achieve the objectives of your position.  
 
It is our belief that when consistent personnel policies are known and communicated to all, the chances for greater 
job satisfaction increase. These personnel policies serve as a general guide to the Agency’s current employment 
practices and procedures. If you have any questions, please ask your supervisor. As you have ideas or suggestions 
for improvement, please do the same. 
 
1.2 INTENT OF POLICIES–EMPLOYMENT AT WILL 
 
These policies are not intended to be a contract, express or implied, or any type of promise or guarantee of specific 
treatment upon which you may rely, or as a guarantee of employment for any specific duration. Your employment 
with us is at will, and either of us may decide to terminate the employment relationship at any time and for any 
reason. 
 
Please understand that no supervisor, manager or representative of the Agency other than a written statement by the 
Executive Director has the authority to enter into any agreement with you for employment for any specified period 
or to make any written or verbal commitments contrary to the foregoing. 
 
1.3 SCOPE OF POLICIES 
 
These personnel policies apply to all Agency employees and do not apply to the appointed Board of Commissioners.  
In cases where these policies conflict with any Agency resolution, the provisions of a specific written employment 
agreement, state or federal law, the terms of that law, resolution or agreement prevail. In all other cases, these 
policies apply. 
 
1.4 CHANGING THE POLICIES 
 
The Capital City Development Corporation Personnel Manual, November 1999, was initially adopted by the Agency 
Board pursuant to Resolution No. 806, approved at the Board’s special meeting of November 3, 1999.  The 
provisions of Resolution No.806 vest certain authority in the Executive Director to make minor modifications of 
these policies, as the need arises.  Any such modification shall be in writing and distributed to all employees.  The 
Executive Director may deviate from these policies in individual situations, particularly in an emergency, in order to 
achieve the primary purpose of serving the Agency’s mission.  Any substantive change to this Personnel Manual 
requires Board action, by approval of a resolution adopting any change or amendment to the Personnel Manual.  
Revisions to the Personnel Policy were approved in February 2001, October 2001, October 1, 2003, January 14, 
2008, May 27, 2008, February 13, 2012, and November 9, 2015. 
 
This Personnel Manual dated January 1, 2016 supersedes any prior manuals used by the Agency. 
 



2 
 

1.5 DEFINITIONS 
 
 1.5.1 Immediate Family  
 
An employee’s spouse, child (natural, adopted, step), parents (natural, step, adopted), brother or sister, 
mother/father-in-law, daughter/son-in-law, grandparents, grandchildren or other relative who lives in the 
employee’s home. 
 
 1.5.2 Regular Full-Time Employee  
 
An exempt or non-exempt employee who has worked at least 30 days and who regularly works a minimum of forty 
(40) hours a week. 
 

1.5.3 Regular Part-Time Employee  
 
An exempt or non-exempt employee who has worked at least 30 days and who regularly works less than forty (40) 
but at least twenty (20) hours a week. 
 
 1.5.4 Temporary Employee  
 
 Temporary employees may be hired in an intern capacity, may be hired to replace temporarily regular employees 
who are on vacation or other leave, may be hired to meet peak workload or special needs, or may be hired to fill a 
vacancy temporarily until a regular employee is hired.  A temporary employee is one hired for a specified purpose 
for a limited duration, generally not more than one year, as approved by the Executive Director.  Like all employees, 
temporary employees’ employment is at will and the temporary employee can be dismissed at any time and for any 
reason. 
 
 1.5.5 Exempt Employee 
 
Exempt employees are not subject to overtime pay.  An employee’s classification as exempt or non-exempt is 
determined by the Executive Director or his/her designee. 
 
 1.5.6 Non-Exempt Employee 
 
Non-exempt employees are entitled to overtime pay as provided for in sections 4.2 and 4.3. An employee’s 
classification as exempt or non-exempt is determined by the Executive Director or his/her designee. 

 



3 
 

CHAPTER 2 
GENERAL POLICIES AND PRACTICES 

 
2.1 EQUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITY  
 
The Agency is committed to providing equal employment opportunity for all persons without regard to race, color, 
religion, gender, national origin, age, sexual orientation, gender identity, disability, veteran, current, or future 
military status, or any other applicable legally protected status. 
 
Equal opportunity extends to all aspects of the employment relationship, including hiring, promoting, retaining, 
training, disciplining, terminating, working conditions, compensation, benefits, and other terms and conditions of 
employment. 
 
Additionally, the Agency is committed to providing an employment environment that is free from discrimination 
and harassment. All individuals employed by the Agency are expected to conduct themselves at all times so as to 
provide a working atmosphere free from discrimination and harassment. 
 
Employees who believe they have been subjected to discrimination or harassment related to their race, color, 
religion, gender, national origin, age, sexual orientation, gender identity, disability, veteran status, or any other 
applicable legally protected status should report the behavior in accordance with the equal employment opportunity 
regulations. 
 
The Agency will not discriminate against any applicant or employee in hiring or in the terms, conditions, and 
privileges of employment based upon pregnancy, childbirth, or related medical conditions. 
 
2.2 DISABILITY DISCRIMINATION  
 
The Agency does not discriminate against any applicant or employee in hiring or in the terms, conditions, and 
privileges of employment due to disabilities.  When the Agency is made aware of any disability which prevents an 
otherwise qualified applicant or employee from performing a job, the Agency will work with the employee to 
determine if the employee is disabled and if so, will assess whether any reasonable accommodation would allow the 
person to perform the job before refusing employment or making a distinction in terms, conditions, or privileges of 
employment because of the disability.  An accommodation which creates an undue hardship on the Agency or which 
endangers health or safety is not a reasonable accommodation.  The Agency will make any reasonable 
accommodation necessary to allow an otherwise qualified applicant or employee to perform the job. 
 
An otherwise qualified applicant for employment or an employee with a disability who requests reasonable 
accommodation must inform his or her immediate supervisor or management of the nature of the disability and the 
accommodation required.  The Agency will then follow the procedures set forth above.  Employees with access to 
such information shall maintain the confidentiality of the information to the extent reasonably possible and shall not 
release the information to anyone who does not have the right or need to know. 
 
2.3 ANTI-HARASSMENT AND DISCRIMINATION POLICY 
 
SEXUAL HARASSMENT AND DISCRIMINATION IS UNLAWFUL AND ABSOLUTELY FORBIDDEN BY 
THE AGENCY. 
 
It is the Agency’s policy to foster and maintain a work environment that is free from discrimination and 
intimidation. Toward this end, the Agency will not tolerate discrimination or harassment of any kind made by 
employees toward co-workers or members of the public. Employees are expected to show respect for each other and 
the public at all times, despite individual differences. 
 



4 
 

Sexual harassment is behavior of a sexual nature, which is unwelcome. Harassment may include verbal or physical 
conduct that demeans or shows hostility or aversion toward another employee or members of the public. 
 
The Executive Director and other employee supervisors are responsible for creating an atmosphere free of 
discrimination and harassment. Further, employees are responsible for respecting the rights of their co-workers and 
others, including the citizens they serve. The following procedure outlines the steps to follow if you believe you 
have experienced harassment or discrimination on the job. 
 
If you are subject to a violation of this policy from anyone, including supervisors, fellow employees or managers, 
immediately bring the problem to the attention of a supervisor or the Executive Director in writing.  If the complaint 
involves the Executive Director, you should report the violation to the Chair of the Board of Directors in writing.  
The complaint will be promptly investigated.  To the extent possible, complaints will be handled confidentially. 
If an investigation shows the accused employee did engage in improper harassment or discrimination, appropriate 
corrective action will be taken, as in the case of any other serious employee misconduct, up to and including 
discharge. No employee shall be retaliated against or otherwise subject to adverse treatment for making a complaint 
of harassment in good faith. 
 
The Agency prohibits harassment.  Harassment is defined as conduct that substantially interferes with an employee’s 
work performance or creates an intimidating, hostile, or offensive work environment.  This would include, but not 
be limited to harassing, threatening or offensive conducted directed toward a person’s race, color, religion, gender, 
national origin, age, sexual orientation, gender identity, disability, veteran status, or any other applicable legally 
protected status. 
 
The Agency will actively enforce its policy against harassment.  The policy applies to all conduct by any supervisor, 
manager, coworker, or subordinate, that affects an employee’s work environment.  The Agency considers a violation 
of this policy a serious offense requiring disciplinary action, up to and including discharge. 
 
In the event a complaint of harassment is found to be totally and completely without basis, appropriate disciplinary 
measures may be taken against the employee who brought the complaint, up to and including discharge.  While this 
is in no way intended to discourage any employee who believes he/she has been the victim of harassment from 
bringing a complaint, the Agency recognizes that a charge of harassment can cause serious damage to the reputation 
and personal character of the accused. 
 
 I have read and understand the Anti-Harassment and Discrimination Policy. 
 
 ____________________________              _______________ 
 Employee signature                       Date 
 
2.4 EMPLOYEE PERSONNEL RECORDS 
 
A personnel file for each employee is kept by the appropriate Agency staff member. An employee’s personnel file 
may contain the employee’s name, title and/or position held, job description, salary, changes in employment status, 
training received, performance evaluations, personnel actions affecting the employee, including discipline, and other 
pertinent information. Medical information about employees is contained in a separate confidential file. 
 
Employees have the right to review their files during normal business hours, within three (3) business days after a 
request to do so is received by the Executive Director. An employee may request removal of irrelevant or erroneous 
information in his/her personnel file. If the Agency denies an employee’s request to remove the information, the 
employee may file a written rebuttal statement to be placed in his/her file. 
 
Personnel files are kept confidential to the maximum extent permitted by law. 
 
 



5 
 

2.5 EMPLOYMENT REFERENCES 
 
The Executive Director, his/her designee, or a supervisor will provide employment references on current or former 
Agency employees. All employees shall refer requests for references to the Executive Director or his/her supervisor. 
References may be limited to verification of dates of employment, positions held, and salary. 
 
 



6 
 

CHAPTER 3 
RECRUITING AND HIRING 

 
 
3.1 RECRUITING 
 
Recruiting practices are based solely on the basis of ability, merit, qualifications and competence, without regard to 
race, color, religion, gender, national origin, age, sexual orientation, gender identity, disability, veteran status, or any 
other applicable legally protected status. 
 
Any applicant supplying false or misleading information may be subject to immediate termination, if hired. 
 
3.2 HIRING 
 
When a position becomes vacant and prior to any recruitment activity, the Executive Director shall review the 
position, its job description and the need for such a position. The recruitment and selection process shall be 
conducted under the direction of the Executive Director. 
 
The Agency may also conduct certain background procedures as allowed or required by law. An example of such 
procedure is requiring applicants/employees to show proof they are authorized to work in the United States.  
 
3.3 TEMPORARY EMPLOYEES 
 
 3.3.1 Temporary, At Will Employees  
 
Temporary employees are at will employees.  The Executive Director may hire temporary employees to temporarily 
replace regular employees who are on vacation or other leave, to meet peak work load or special needs, or to 
temporarily fill a vacancy until a regular employee is hired.   
 
 3.3.2 Compensation/Benefits  
 
Temporary non-exempt employees are eligible for overtime pay as required by law as provided for in sections 4.2 
and 4.3. Temporary employees do not receive retirement, vacation, sick leave, health insurance, holidays or any 
other benefits during their employment unless required by law, or approved in writing by the Executive Director for 
persons whose employment is expected to exceed four (4) consecutive months. 
 
Temporary employees pay contributions to the Social Security System. 
 
3.4 EMPLOYMENT OF RELATIVES (NEPOTISM) 
 
 3.4.1 Family Relationship  
 
The immediate family of current Agency employees or persons sharing living quarters will not be employed by the 
Agency where: 
 
 (1) One of the parties would have authority (or practical power) to supervise, appoint, remove, or 

discipline the other; 
 
 (2) One party would handle confidential material that creates improper or inappropriate access to that 

material by the other; 
 
 (3) One party would be responsible for auditing the work of the other; or 
 



7 
 

 (4) Other circumstances exist that might lead to potential conflict among the parties or conflict 
between the interest of one or both parties and the best interests of the Agency. 

 
Members of the immediate family of Agency Board members will not be eligible for Agency employment. 
 

3.4.2 Change in Circumstances  
 
If two employees marry, become related or begin sharing living quarters with one another, and in the Agency’s 
judgment, the potential problems noted above exist or reasonably could exist, only one of the employees will be 
permitted to stay with the Agency, unless accommodations, as determined in the discretion of the Executive 
Director, can be made to eliminate the potential problem. The decision as to which employee will remain with the 
Agency must be made by the two employees within thirty (30) calendar days of the date they marry, become related, 
or begin sharing living quarters with each other. If no decision is made during this time, the Agency reserves the 
right to terminate either or both employees. 
 
3.5 PROMOTIONS 
 
The Agency encourages promotion from within the organization whenever possible, but reserves the right to seek 
qualified applicants outside of the organization at its discretion. 
 

 



8 
 

CHAPTER 4 
HOURS AND ATTENDANCE 

 
4.1 WORKING HOURS 
 
The Agency’s standard workweek is Monday through Friday from 8:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m. with an unpaid lunch 
period. Due to the nature of the Agency’s operations, longer hours may be necessary in some instances. 
 
A normal working schedule for a regular full-time employee consists of forty (40) hours each workweek.  
 
Part-time and temporary employees will work hours as specified by the Executive Director. 
 
4.2 HOURS OF WORK AND OVERTIME 
 
All Agency positions are designated as either “exempt” or “non-exempt” according to the Fair Labor Standards Act 
(“FLSA”) and Idaho Minimum Wage Act regulations. You will be informed of your status by the Agency. 
 
For regular full-time Agency employees, the established work period is forty (40) hours within a seven (7) day 
workweek. All employees are responsible for accurately reporting all hours worked on forms supplied by the 
Agency.  
 
Non-exempt employees are entitled to additional compensation, either in cash or compensatory time off, when they 
work more than forty (40) hours within a seven (7) day workweek. All overtime must be authorized in advance by 
the Executive Director or his/her designee. Overtime pay is calculated at one and one-half (1.5) times the 
employee’s regular rate of pay for all time worked beyond forty (40) hours within a seven (7) day workweek. When 
computing overtime, time paid for but not worked (e.g., holidays, sick leave and vacation time), is not counted as 
hours worked. 
 
Exempt employees are exempt from the FLSA and Idaho Minimum Wage Act overtime provisions and do not 
receive either overtime pay or compensatory time in lieu of overtime pay. An exempt employee is paid to perform a 
job, which may not necessarily be completed in a normal week.  
 
4.3 COMPENSATORY TIME 
 
Non-exempt employees entitled to overtime pay may request compensatory time off instead of cash payment. All 
compensatory time is approved on a case-by-case basis by the Executive Director or his/her designee and must be 
pre-arranged. The Agency is not required to grant compensatory time instead of overtime pay. If the compensatory 
time option is exercised, the employee is credited with one and one-half (1.5) times the hours worked as overtime. 
Maximum accruals of compensatory time shall be limited to 16 hours for regular non-exempt employees. After 
maximum accrual, overtime compensation shall be paid.  
 
Non-exempt employees will be allowed compensatory time off within a reasonable time period after making a 
request to the Executive Director or his/her designee, unless doing so would unduly disrupt Agency operations. 
Compensatory time off should be used for short-term absences from work.  
 
4.4 ATTENDANCE 
 
Punctual and consistent attendance is a condition of employment. The Executive Director, his/her designee, or the 
immediate supervisor is responsible for the attendance record of the staff. 
 
Non-exempt employees unable to work or unable to report to work on time should notify their supervisor as soon as 
possible, ordinarily before the work day begins or within thirty (30) minutes of the employee’s usual starting time. If 
an absence continues beyond three (3) days, the employee is responsible for reporting in each day. If the supervisor 



9 
 

is unavailable, the employee may leave a message with the designated representative, stating the reason for being 
late or unable to report for work. 
 
An employee who is absent without authorization or notification is subject to disciplinary action, up to and including 
discharge. 
 
This policy is not applicable to employees on designated state or federal military leave, family medical leave, or jury 
duty.  Additionally, nothing in this policy should be construed to change the Agency’s at-will relationship with all 
employees. 
 
4.5 TELECOMMUTING POLICY 
 
 4.5.1 Purpose  
 
This purpose of this telecommuting policy is to establish general guidelines for telecommuting.  Some goals of the 
policy are: 
 
  1. Enhance performance and increase productivity. 
 
   2. Mitigate any potential or perceived safety issues if long hours must be worked.  
 
   3. Provide for flexibility: 
 
   a. Telecommute occasionally to complete a special project. 
 
   b. Telecommute only a portion of the day. 
 
   c. Telecommute on a scheduled, part-time basis. 
 
 4.5.2 Participation  
 
Telecommuting is voluntary, but it is not a right and is subject to approval by the Executive Director.  Generally, 
non-exempt employees are providing support services for exempt staff and public contact services.  Absence from 
the office would hinder productivity rather than enhance it.  Most often non-exempt staff are not assigned special 
projects that can be completed outside work hours nor required to work long or late hours. 
   
 4.5.3 Equipment  
 
Telecommuting equipment must be provided by the employee.  The Agency will supply the support services and 
communication software necessary to access the work desktop.  Any operating system or hardware upgrades or 
purchases or any modem or phone line installation and maintenance necessary to participate in the telecommuting 
program must be provided by the employee.  Additionally, workspace needs are the responsibility of the employees.  
The Agency assumes no responsibility for personal equipment or associated costs.   
 
Employee must provide for adequate protection to prevent unauthorized access to Agency desktop computers or 
other Agency equipment.  This may include, but is not limited to a secure in-house location with no unauthorized 
access to the home computer and password authorization. 
 
 4.5.4 General Issues  
 
Telecommuting is not a right.  This program must be utilized to benefit the Agency.  Budgetary demands are a factor 
and the Executive Director determines the benefit to the Agency.  Exempt employees working additional hours 
through the telecommuting program need not secure Executive Director permission.  Exempt employees utilizing 



10 
 

the telecommuting program in lieu of working in the office during the standard working hours must establish a 
schedule through the Executive Director.  The Executive Director may determine non-exempt staff need access to 
the telecommuting program. 
 
Employees are covered by Workers Compensation during their telecommuting work hours. 
 
4.6 BREAKS AND MEAL PERIODS 
 
Non-exempt employees are provided one (1) fifteen-minute break for every four hours worked. All breaks shall be 
arranged so they do not interfere with Agency business or service to the public. Break periods will be scheduled as 
near as possible to the mid-point of each four-hour work period. Break periods MAY NOT be accumulated or taken 
at the beginning or end of any work period (i.e., morning or afternoon shift).   
 
Lunch periods are unpaid. Meal periods for non-exempt employees shall be scheduled by the employee’s supervisor. 
Meal periods must be taken not less than two (2) hours or more than five (5) hours from the beginning of the shift. 
Lunch break scheduling and duration will be established by the employee’s supervisor provided that lunch breaks 
for non-exempt employees shall be no less than 30 minutes. The scheduling of meal periods may vary depending on 
workload. Unused lunch periods (e.g., only 30 of an allotted 60 minutes lunch period is used) may not be carried 
forward or accrued or used at other times of the day without the specific pre-approval of employee’s supervisor. 
 
4.7 BREAK TIME FOR NURSING MOTHERS 
 
The Agency will provide reasonable break time for an employee to express breast milk for her nursing 
child for one year after the child’s birth each time such employee has need to express the milk. The 
frequency of breaks needed to express milk as well as the duration of each break will likely vary.  The 
Agency shall provide a place, other than a bathroom, that is shielded from view and free from intrusion 
from coworkers and the public, which may be used by an employee to express breast milk. A bathroom, 
even if private, is not a permissible location under the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act. The 
location provided must be functional as a space for expressing breast milk. If the space is not dedicated 
to the nursing mother’s use, it must be available when needed in order to meet the statutory requirement. 
A space temporarily created or converted into a space for expressing milk or made available when 
needed by the nursing mother is sufficient provided that the space is shielded from view, and free from 
any intrusion from co-workers and the public. Breaks taken for the purpose of expressing milk are unpaid. 
 
4.8 PAYROLL RECORDS 
 
The official payroll records are kept by the Finance Department. Each employee shall turn in a signed work record 
bi-weekly for each pay period, as specified by the Finance Officer. 
 



11 
 

CHAPTER 5 
 

TRAVEL/MEETING EXPENSE POLICY 
 
5.1 GENERAL POLICY   
 
Any person authorized to perform official business on behalf of the Agency may incur travel/meeting expenses.  It is 
expected that good judgment, prudence and discretion will be exercised while conducting Agency business.  The 
itinerary of an employee shall be planned to eliminate unnecessary travel in the performance of work assignments.  
Should travel companions accompany any person authorized to perform official business on behalf of the Agency, it 
is expected that they will pay for their costs without causing any charges to accrue to the Agency.  Transitioning 
between home and work is not considered travel for the purpose of this policy. 
 
5.2 VEHICLE USE 
 
The cost of transportation by private vehicles is reimbursed at the rate established by the State Board of Examiners, 
computed according to a commonly used online mapping utility which supports the distance as the most direct 
and/or efficient route. 
 
If private conveyance is used, liability insurance in the amount required by Idaho Code § 49-117(16) shall be 
provided. Employees shall have current vehicle insurance and a valid driver’s license when using a private vehicle 
for Agency business. The employee’s insurance is considered by State statute to be primary before the Agency’s 
insurance. If an employee is involved in an accident and does not have a valid driver’s license and insurance the 
Agency will disclaim any liability and the employee will be personally liable. 
 
5.3 AIRFARE 
 
The cost for commercial airfare shall be limited to the lowest available class of passage rate, such as “coach” or 
similar classification. Airfare at other classes and seat selection or other upgrade fees are not allowed unless 
properly documented that the seat selection, upgrade fees, or class of passage at a higher rate was necessary due to 
availability, physical limitations or other factors, and that the ticket was purchased at the earliest opportunity. 
Baggage fees charged by commercial airlines are allowable not to exceed one checked bag and one carry-on bag per 
departure unless additional baggage costs are necessary and approved in advance. Any additional costs, such as in-
flight services, internet access or entertainment, are not allowable and are the responsibility of the traveler, unless a 
valid business purpose is identified and approved in advance by the designated authority. Costs incurred should 
always be the most economical under the circumstances.  Whenever possible, courtesy services offered by hotels or 
hosting agencies should be used.  Costs incurred before or after a scheduled meeting which are not necessary to 
perform official business are not expenses of the Agency. 
 
5.4 REIMBURSEMENTS 
 
A completed travel expense report shall be submitted to the Executive Director or the appropriate supervisor for 
signature within five (5) week days of return from the trip. This form is required for every trip even if the only 
Agency expense is the per diem meal allowance. Extra expense such as bridge tolls, garage and parking fees and like 
expenses shall be allowable in addition to the mileage reimbursement. The mode and route of travel shall be those 
allowable travel expenses actually incurred by the traveler by use of the most economical mode, from the standpoint 
of time, cost, and practicality. Cost should include overtime and compensatory time amounts that may accrue under 
the Fair Labor Standards Act for non-exempt employees. If public transportation is used, costs by common carrier 
including bus, train, rental car, and airlines are allowable. Receipts for non per diem expenses shall be submitted 
upon return. Reimbursable airline travel shall be limited to coach or other normally lowest cost passage.  
 
Traveling employees who rent automobiles for Agency business purposes shall purchase liability, comprehensive, 
and collision coverage through the rental agency, unless the automobile rental amount is paid by means of a personal 



12 
 

credit card that provides such rental car insurance coverage. In the event that the employee fails to buy insurance 
through the rental car company, the employee shall be personally responsible for damages and other liability 
incurred through rental and use of the automobile. Subsistence allowance shall cover actual necessary expenditures 
for lodging, provided that receipts are presented. Food including tips and incidentals are paid on a per diem basis. 
 
Lodging will be reimbursed at actual cost not to exceed single rate for (1) person plus tax or the actual cost if a room 
is shared. An original receipt shall be submitted for settlement of the travel expense. A government room rate should 
be secured whenever possible.   
 
Meals and incidental expenses - The Agency uses a per diem method for meals of employees while on overnight out 
of town travel. The per diem amounts are consistent with those set forth in the State Travel Policy and Procedures 
(https://www.sco.idaho.gov/web/sbe/sbeweb.nsf/pages/trvlpolicy.htm), set forth in Appendix A hereto which also 
require that if an employee receives a meal at nominal or no cost, the per diem shall be adjusted by deducting the 
appropriate amount. A continental breakfast such as muffins, bagels, fruit, and coffee that is provided free of charge 
will not reduce the employee’s meal allowance.  
 
For partial days away from home, the per diem amount should be adjusted using the meal breakdown chart and the 
employee’s travel schedule. At no time may the adjusted amount be more than the per diem for the day. Please refer 
to the per diem rate and meal breakdown charts on the State Travel Policy and Procedures 
(https://www.sco.idaho.gov/web/sbe/sbeweb.nsf/pages/trvlpolicy.htm).   
 
Reimbursement will be made for miscellaneous expenses such as taxis, shuttles, etc. Reimbursement for telephone 
calls pertaining to official Agency business will be paid.. An item not specifically described or requests to exceed 
the above regulations as an allowable expense, but which are nevertheless necessary in the performance of official 
travel duties for the Agency, may be reimbursable upon submission of a receipt, a thorough explanation and 
approval by the Executive Director. 
 
5.5 ADDITIONAL ALLOWABLE INCIDENTAL EXPENSES 
 

 Conference material which may be useful to work.  These supplies are and will remain the 
property of the Agency. 

 
 Registration fees required in connection with attendance at conventions, conferences, schools, and 

official meetings.  All requests for registration at such functions must be accompanied by a 
complete published agenda of the event. 

  
5.6 EXPENDITURES NOT REIMBURSABLE  
 
Certain travel/meeting expenses are considered personal and not essential to the transaction of official Agency 
business: 
 

 Alcoholic beverages. 
 

 Personal entertainment and transportation. 
 

 Theft, loss or damage to personal property. 
 

 Expenses of spouse, family or other persons not authorized to receive reimbursement under this 
policy. 
 

 Airline and other trip insurance. 
 



13 
 

 Medical or hospital expenses. 
 

 Personal toilet articles, postage, reading material, telephone calls. 
 
5.7 DOCUMENTATION 
 
An expense report shall be completed within one week of incurring expenses.  No expense report for reimbursement 
shall be paid unless bona fide vendor receipts accompany it.  Such receipts should show the date, a description of the 
purchase, vendor identification and amount paid.  Receipts are required for all expenses over $5.00.  If it is 
necessary in the course of Agency business to pay for persons not considered Agency employees, the bona fide 
vendor receipt should include comments detailing the names of additional persons and the purpose for incurring the 
additional cost. 
 
Should any person use a corporate credit card to charge travel/meeting expense and not provide proper 
documentation, that person shall pay the incurred expense. 
 
5.8 CORPORATE CREDIT CARD 
 
Corporate credit card use shall be limited to business purposes.  Violations of this policy shall subject the individual 
to dismissal.  Any unauthorized charge on the card shall be the responsibility of the individual.  
 
 



14 
 

CHAPTER 6 
PERFORMANCE EVALUATIONS, COMPENSATION PLAN AND TRAINING 

 
 
6.1 PERFORMANCE EVALUATIONS AND COMPENSATION PLAN 
 
To achieve the Agency’s goal to train, promote and retain the best-qualified employee for every job, the Agency will 
conduct yearly performance evaluations for all positions. The Executive Director or designee is responsible for 
developing and maintaining the Agency’s performance evaluation program and compensation plan. The Agency’s 
compensation plan may include position descriptions, pay grades, salary ranges, reviews, reclassification or 
promotions, reporting relationships and bonuses.  The compensation plan is intended to provide flexibility and is 
subject to changes based on direction from the Agency Board or by the Executive Director.   
 
6.2 TRAINING POLICY 
 
Employee training and professional development are core Agency values. The Agency seeks, within the limits of 
available resources, to offer training to increase an employee’s skill, knowledge and abilities directly related to 
Agency employment, to obtain or maintain required licenses and certifications, to maintain professional designations 
and certifications related to position responsibilities, and to develop staff resources. Opportunities may include but 
are not limited to: on-the-job training, in-house workshops and seminars sponsored by other agencies or 
organizations, continuing education, and memberships with professional organizations as authorized by the 
Executive Director.  
 



15 
 

CHAPTER 7 
BENEFITS 

 
 
7.1 RETIREMENT BENEFITS 
 
The Agency has elected to participate in the Public Employee Retirement System of Idaho (PERSI). PERSI is a 
defined benefit retirement plan and is mandatory for eligible employees. Employees are eligible to participate in 
PERSI if they normally work twenty (20) hours or more per week and the term of employment is for five (5) 
consecutive months or longer.  
 
As a PERSI member you have a percentage of your gross salary deducted, tax deferred, from your bi-weekly 
paycheck as contribution toward your retirement. Additionally, the Agency contributes a percentage toward 
retirement 
 
Active members of PERSI earn service credit toward a PERSI retirement. Most members are vested when they 
acquire 60 months of service. Once vested an employee may be eligible to claim a monthly lifetime retirement 
benefit.  
 
PERSI also offers a supplemental retirement savings plan called the Choice 401(k) Plan, which allows PERSI 
eligible employees to make voluntary contributions.  
For more information, please contact human resources and/or visit PERSI at www.persi.state.id.us/. 
 
7.2 DISABILITY BENEFITS (WORKERS’ COMPENSATION) 
 
 7.2.1 Coverage and Claims  
 
All employees are covered by worker’s compensation insurance. This insurance covers employees in case of on-the-
job injury or job-related occupational disease.  The Agency’s workers’ compensation insurance carrier will pay the 
employee for workdays lost and medical costs attributable to job-related injuries or occupational diseases. All job-
related accidents must be reported immediately to the supervisor. 
 
When an employee is absent for one or more days due to an on-the-job accident or occupational disease, he/she is 
required to file a claim for Workers’ Compensation. If the employee files a claim, the Agency will pay the 
employee’s regular salary from the employee’s sick leave pending determination of eligibility for Workers’ 
Compensation benefits. 
 
 7.2.2 Coordination of Benefits  
 
If the employee is determined to be eligible for Workers’ Compensation benefits the Agency will credit the amount 
of personal sick leave used until payment of workers’ compensation benefits commences.  This policy is to ensure 
that employees will receive prompt and regular payment during periods of injury or disability, so long as accrued 
sick leave is available pending determination of entitlement to workers’ compensation benefits. Upon determination 
of entitlement to workers’ compensation benefits, the appropriate amount of sick leave shall be restored to the 
employee’s account.  (Please also see Section 8.11 of this Policy manual.) 
 
Subject to the Idaho Workers’ Compensation laws and in coordination with the Agency’s workers’ compensation 
insurance carrier, the Agency may require an examination at its expense, performed by a physician of its choice.  
 
7.3 HEALTH INSURANCE BENEFITS 
 
Regular full-time and part-time employees and their dependents are eligible to participate in the Agency’s various 
insurance programs as of the 1st of the month following the date of employment. The programs and criteria for 



16 
 

eligibility will be explained upon hire. The Agency pays the cost of premiums in the amounts authorized by the 
Agency Board. The Agency reserves the right to make changes in the carriers and provisions of these programs 
when deemed necessary or advisable.   
 
Temporary employees will normally not be eligible for group health insurance coverage.   
 

7.3.1 Employee Assistance Program  
 
As part of the Agency’s insurance programs, the Agency has provided for an Employee Assistance Program (EAP) 
for its employees through which employees and their dependents are able to obtain appropriate and necessary care 
for problems they may suffer and for such other personal problems as may interfere with their productivity and 
general welfare.  The program and criteria for eligibility will be explained upon hire.  The Agency pays the costs 
imposed by the provider of the program in the amounts authorized by the Agency Board.  The Agency reserves the 
right to make changes to this program when deemed necessary or advisable, with prior notice to affected employees. 
 
7.4 CONTINUATION OF INSURANCE COVERAGE 
 
 7.4.1 Workers’ Compensation Benefits  
 
An employee receiving Workers’ Compensation benefits continues to accrue vacation leave and sick leave for up to 
six (6) months.  The Agency also continues to pay for the employer’s portion of health insurance premiums.  After 
six (6) months, the employee’s healthcare benefits shall cease.  The employee may continue health care benefits by 
self-paying insurance premiums for the remainder of the time he/she receives Workers’ Compensation benefits. 
 
 7.4.2 Termination, Retirement, Leave of Absence  
 
For eligible employees who terminate, retire or are on an approved leave of absence, the Agency will pay the 
Agency’s share of the premium for the month the employee is leaving. 
 
7.5 TUITION REIMBURSEMENT POLICY 
 
The Agency is committed to continuous learning.  As a means to pursue this goal and to encourage professional 
growth and increase effectiveness in its employees, the Agency will provide tuition reimbursement for regular full-
time employees who have been employed by the Agency for at least one year. In addition, the employee must be 
continuously employed as a regular full-time employee at the time the class is completed and at the time request for 
reimbursement is submitted.  The employee must maintain regular full-time employment with the Agency for one 
year after receiving reimbursement to avoid re-payment of the benefit. 
 
Participation is subject to the availability of funds. 
 
An employee’s participation in the program will not adversely affect departmental operations or services. 
 
The time scheduled by an employee to attend classes during working hours must be made up during the employee’s 
pay cycle. 
 
The employee’s supervisor must verify that course is job-related. Job related courses are: 
 
Credit course(s) whose content is of direct and significant assistance to the employee in fulfilling present duties and 
responsibilities or advancing professional development.  Courses that are not directly related to a specific job, but 
form part of a job-related degree program, may also qualify for this benefit.  Continuing education and audited 
courses do not qualify nor does course work undertaken solely for self-enrichment. 
 



17 
 

Under this policy employees may be reimbursed for up to two job-related courses per fiscal year in an amount not to 
exceed $1,000.  Courses must be taken from an accredited, degree-granting college or university. 
 
The employee must complete the course(s) with a grade of “C” or better.  In the case of pass/fail classes, the 
employee must pass the class. 
 
Employees must pay tuition and required fees when registering for courses at eligible institutions.  Tuition and fees 
excluding application fees will be reimbursed only after proof of successful completion of the course(s) and proof of 
payment is provide.  Fees include books and supplies.  
 
If reimbursement is available through other sources such as grants or scholarship, those avenues of reimbursement 
must be pursued before reimbursement from the Agency is sought. 
 
It is the employee’s responsibility as a taxpayer to assess the tax consequences of reimbursement for educational 
expenses and comply with existing provisions of the Internal Revenue Code. 
 
Application for reimbursement must be made in writing with attached documentation of course payment and 
completion. 
 
 



18 
 

CHAPTER 8   
LEAVES 

 
 
8.1 DEFINITIONS 
 
For purposes of this Chapter, the following definitions shall apply: 
 
 8.1.1 Dependent Children  
 
Dependent children are children of an employee through age 26 (including stepchildren, foster children, legally 
adopted children, legal wards or a child of a person standing in loco parentis).[Drafting note – confirm 
definition/requirements with current healthcare plan. ] 
 
 8.1.2 Immediate Family  
 
Immediate family is an employee’s spouse, child (natural, adopted, step), parents (natural, step, adopted), brother or 
sister, mother/father-in-law, daughter/son-in-law, grandparents, grandchildren, or other relative who lives in the 
employee’s home. 
 
 8.1.3 Serious Health Condition  
 
Serious health condition is an illness, injury, impairment, or physical or mental condition that involves:  (a) in-
patient care in a hospital, hospice or residential medical care facility; or (b) continuing treatment by a health care 
provider. 
 
8.2 VACATION LEAVE 
 
 8.2.1 Accruals   
 
Vacation hours are accrued at the end of each pay period. Each regular full-time employee is entitled to vacation 
leave as follows: 
 

Years of Employment Vacation Hours Earned 

Beginning of eligibility through the 
completion of the first year 

10 hrs/month  

Beginning of year 2 through the 
completion of the fourth year 

12 hrs/month  

Beginning of year 5 & over 14 hrs/month 

 
Regular part-time employees will receive vacation on a pro-rata basis.  
 
Temporary employees are not eligible except as provided by Section 3.3 for any vacation benefits.  Employees do 
not accrue vacation benefits during a leave without pay in any month in which compensation is not paid. 
 

8.2.2 Accelerated Vacation Accruals for Exempt Level Employees  
 
In order to ensure the Agency is competitive in hiring and retaining the most qualified employees in exempt level 
positions, the Executive Director is authorized to agree to initial lump sum and specific monthly accruals of time 



19 
 

which exceed the schedules of earning contained in Section 8.2.1.  Such agreements must be in writing and be 
retained in both the personnel and payroll file of that employee. 
 
 8.2.3 Limits on Accruals  
 
The maximum number of vacation hours which may be carried over from one calendar year to the next is one year’s 
accrual at the current earning rate for that employee, provided however, that the total accrual of unused vacation 
leave shall not exceed 1.5 times the current annual rate.  (Please note: the maximum number of unused vacation 
hours is pro-rated for a part-time regular employee to reflect his/her normally scheduled workweek.) 
 
Any leave accruals exceeding the maximum carryover on December 31 of each year will automatically be forfeited 
unless otherwise specifically authorized in writing by the Executive Director or designee. 
 
In cases where Agency operations have made it impractical for an employee to use vacation time, the Executive 
Director may in his or her sole discretion authorize additional carryover or temporarily increase the total accrual 
limit for unused leave. 
 
In recognition that the demands of work schedules may prevent the appropriate use of accumulated vacation leave, 
at the sole discretion of the Executive Director, exempt employees may be paid for up to one-half of current accrual 
balance of vacation time per year. 
 
 8.2.4 Using Vacation Leave  
 
An employee may take vacation leave only after obtaining permission from the appropriate supervisor or Executive 
Director, as the case may be.  Vacations must be scheduled to meet the operating requirements of the Agency, and, 
as far as practicable, the preferences of the employee.  The maximum number of hours an employee may take is the 
number of hours posted to his/her account at the time the vacation leave is taken; an employee may not “borrow” 
from vacation accruals not yet earned. 
 
If due to Agency convenience, a pre-approved vacation must be cancelled or changed causing out-of-pocket expense 
to the employee, then the Agency may reimburse the employee for the unrecoverable portion of the out-of-pocket 
expense.  
 
 8.2.5 Payment for Vacation Accruals at Termination  
 
When leaving Agency service, an employee will be paid, at the base hourly rate as of the date of departure, a lump 
sum for all accrued unused vacation which has not been forfeited, but only up to the maximum accrued amount. 
 
8.3 SICK LEAVE 
 
 8.3.1 Accruals  
 
All full-time regular employees accrue sick leave benefits at the rate of eight (8) hours for each calendar month of 
continuous employment.  Four (4) hours of sick leave is accrued as of each pay period.  Regular part-time 
employees may accrue sick leave benefits on a pro-rata basis according to hours worked. The hours accrued for a 
particular pay period cannot be used by an employee in advance of or during the pay period they are accrued. 
 
Temporary employees do not earn sick leave benefits except as provided in Section 3.3.   Employees do not accrue 
sick leave benefits during a leave without pay in any month in which compensation is not paid. 
 
 8.3.2 Limits on Sick Leave Accruals  
 
The maximum number of hours an employee may carry in his/her sick leave balance is 720 hours. 



20 
 

 8.3.3 Using Paid Sick Leave  
 
Acceptable use of sick leave covers those situations in which an employee is absent from work due to: 
 
 (1) Employee’s own health condition (illness, injury, physical or mental disability, including 

disability due to pregnancy or childbirth); 
 
 (2) The need to care for an immediate family member who is ill; 
 

 (3) Medical or dental appointments for the employee or employee’s immediate family, provided that 
the employee must make a reasonable effort to schedule such appointments at times which have 
the least interference with the work day; 

 
 (4) Exposure to a contagious disease where on-the-job presence of the employee would jeopardize the 

health of others; 
 
 (5) Use of a prescription drug that impairs job performance or safety; 
 
 (6) Additional leave beyond bereavement leaves for a death in the immediate family, to be authorized 

by the Executive Director. 
 
A doctor’s certificate may be required when an employee is absent for a period in excess of three (3) days.  Abuse of 
such leave may subject the employee to discipline or termination. 
 
Employees who use all their accumulated sick leave and require more time off work due to illness or injury may, 
with their department head’s prior approval, request a leave without pay or use accumulated compensatory time, if 
any. 
 
Employees will not be paid for any unused sick leave upon leaving Agency service for any reason.  Sick leave is a 
benefit solely for use by an employee to receive pay for absences while employed, and is not an entitlement. 

 
8.4 LEAVE WITHOUT PAY 
 
The Executive Director may grant leaves of absence without pay for absence from work not covered by any other 
type of leave or if other leave balances are exhausted.  Examples of situations for which leave without pay may be 
granted include time off work for personal reasons such as prolonged illness, or parenting. 
 
8.5 JURY AND WITNESS LEAVE 
 
 8.5.1 Jury Duty  
 
The Agency provides all employees leave for the full period of jury duty service.  Regular full-time and part-time 
employees who have worked for the Agency for at least 30 days receive paid jury duty leave of up to two weeks 
each time they are called for jury service.  In general, if jury duty extends beyond two weeks in any one instance, the 
additional leave will be unpaid or vacation time or a floating holiday may be used at the discretion of the employee’s 
supervisor.  Exempt salaried employees who are asked to serve longer than two weeks should contact the Executive 
Director to discuss whether further paid leave will be provided.  Payment provided by the courts during periods of 
paid jury duty leave must be turned over to the Agency, excluding expense reimbursements, such as mileage.  You 
must provide your supervisor with a copy of the jury duty summons as soon as possible after receiving it.  Upon 
completion of jury duty, you are required to provide your supervisor with proof of jury service. 
 



21 
 

 8.5.2 Witness Duty  
 
All employees summoned to testify in court are allowed time off for the period they serve as witnesses.  In general, 
witness duty leave is unpaid unless you are a witness in a case involving the Agency.  For exempt employees, 
however, salary payment will continue except for full-day absences caused because the employee is a party in a 
lawsuit. 
 
8.6 ADMINISTRATIVE LEAVE 
 
On a case-by-case basis, the Agency may place an employee on administrative leave with or without pay for an 
indefinite period of time.  Administrative leave may be used in the best interests of the Agency as determined by the 
Executive Director during the pendency of an investigation or other administrative proceeding. 
 
8.7 MILITARY LEAVE 
 
The Agency provides all employees with leave while performing military service in accordance with federal and 
state law. 
 
If you require time off from work to fulfill military duties, you will be treated in accordance with applicable 
requirements of state and federal laws.  You are expected to notify your supervisor and provide a copy of your 
orders as soon as possible. 
 
8.8 BEREAVEMENT LEAVE 
 
The Agency provides regular full-time and part-time employees with paid leave for up to five (5) days in the event 
of the death of an immediate family member.   
 
8.9 HOLIDAYS 
 
The following are recognized as paid holidays for all regular full-time and part-time employees: 
  
 New Year’s Day   January 1 
 Martin Luther King’s Birthday 3rd Monday in January 
 President’s Day   3rd Monday in February 
 Memorial Day   Last Monday in May 
 Independence Day  July 4 
 Labor Day   1st Monday in September 
 Veteran’s Day   November 11 
 Thanksgiving Day  4th Thursday in November 
 Day after Thanksgiving  Day after Thanksgiving 
 Christmas Day   December 25 

Floating Holiday (2)  Two days selected independently by each employee with supervisor’s 
advance approval. 

 
Any holiday falling on Saturday will be celebrated on the preceding Friday.  Any holiday falling on Sunday will be 
celebrated on the following Monday. 
 
Non-exempt regular full-time or part-time employees will be paid for the holiday at one and one-half times their 
regular rate of pay for any time worked on the observed holiday.  Such time must be pre-authorized by the Executive 
Director. 
 
Temporary employees will be paid at their regular straight-time rate for hours worked on an observed holiday. 
 



22 
 

8.10 RELIGIOUS HOLIDAYS 
 
If an employee’s religious beliefs require observance of a holiday not included in the basic holiday schedule, the 
employee may, with the Executive Director’s approval, take the day off using vacation, compensatory time, a 
floating holiday day or leave without pay. 
 
8.11 ON-THE-JOB INJURIES AND TIME LOSS CLAIMS 
 
Any employee involved in any accident or suffering a job-related injury or occupational disease is required to report 
the accident and/or injury/illness to his/her supervisor immediately.  Failure to report may be grounds for 
denying workers’ compensation, and/or cause for discipline up to and including dismissal. 
 
Whenever an on-the-job injury causes a regular employee to take time off work for treatment and/or recuperation 
(“time loss”), that time is charged to the employee’s sick leave balance, if any, until the State of Idaho Industrial 
Commission, or the Agency’s workers’ compensation insurance carrier, has determined whether the claim is 
covered under the Workers’ Compensation program.  If the injury is covered by the Workers’ Compensation 
program any sick leave which has been used will be restored to the employee’s sick leave balance. 
 
If the ruling is that the time loss is not covered by the Workers’ Compensation program, then the employee will 
continue to be charged sick leave for the time loss.  If the employee exhausts all his/her sick leave, then the 
employee will be charged his/her vacation, and finally may be placed on leave without pay. 
 
8.12 FAMILY AND MEDICAL LEAVE  
 
 8.12.1 Reasons for Family or Medical Leave  
 
Federal Law provides that certain public agencies must provide family and medical leave benefits.  The Agency will 
comply with this law when required.  Employees will be eligible for this leave when they have been employed by 
the Agency for at least 12 months, and have worked at least 1250 hours in the 12 months before the leave.  
Essentially this means that new employees, and part time employees, may not be eligible for such leave.  Eligible 
employees are entitled to Family or Medical Leave for the following reasons: 
 
  a. Employee’s Serious Health Condition  
 
An employee may take Family or Medical Leave for the employee’s serious health condition, when that condition 
prevents the employee from performing the essential functions of his or her job.  This could include leave taken by a 
mother for a serious health condition related to pregnancy.  An employee who needs this type of leave must give 
thirty (30) days’ notice to the Executive Director, if the need for leave is foreseeable, or as much notice as is 
practicable if the need for leave could not be foreseen. 
 
  b. To Care for a New Child  
 
An employee may take Family or Medical Leave to care for a newborn child, a newly adopted child, or a child 
placed for foster care in the home of the employee.  Leave for this purpose must be taken within one year of the 
birth or placement of the child.  An employee who anticipates the need for such leave must provide notice to the 
Executive Director at least thirty (30) days in advance, unless the need for such leave was not foreseeable, in which 
case the employee must give as much notice as is practicable under the circumstances. 
 
  c. To Care for a Spouse, Parent or Child With a Serious Health Condition  
 
An employee may take leave when the employee is needed to care for the employee’s spouse, parent or child who 
has a serious health condition as described above.  The same type of notice as that required for leave for the 
employee’s own serious health condition is required.   



23 
 

 8.12.2 Requests for Family or Medical Leave  
 
All requests for family leaves, paid or unpaid, must be comply with  work rules, including work rules regarding 
notification of illness.  In addition, at the time leave is requested, the Agency reserves the right to require the 
employee to obtain a medical certification from a physician, on a form provided by the Agency.  This medical 
certification will allow the Agency to verify that the leave qualifies for Family or Medical Leave.  Anytime the 
Agency requests such a certification, the certification must be returned within 15 days.  If not returned, the leave 
may be delayed until the certification is completed.  The burden is thus on the employee to return the medical 
certification as soon as possible so that leave will not be delayed.   
 
 8.12.3 Use of Paid Leave for Family or Medical Leave  
 
An employee may choose, or the Agency may require, use of paid sick leave accruals when the leave is taken for a 
serious health condition of the employee, parent, child or spouse,  or when leave is taken to care for a new child, by 
birth, adoption or foster care placement.  In addition, vacation leave, a floating holiday, or comp time accrued  may 
be used by the employee, at the option of the employee, if the employee requests time off according to his/her 
department’s work rules.  Any leave taken beyond such accrued leave is unpaid leave.  
 
 8.12.4 Length of Leave  
 
The employee is entitled to up to 12 weeks of unpaid leave in any 12-month period for family or medical leave.  A 
12-month period shall be measured forward from the first date of an employee’s family or medical leave (i.e., if the 
first day of family or medical leave is March 15, the 12-month period will run through the following March 14). 
 
 8.12.5 Benefits  
 
Regular employees taking leave without pay must first exhaust all posted vacation before moving to unpaid status.  
An employee on leave of absence without pay does not accrue vacation and sick leave during the period of leave. 
 
An employee on leave of absence for family or medical leave will continue to receive group health and life 
insurance benefits during the leave to the same extent as if the employee had been continuously employed during 
such leave.  The Agency will pay the employee’s proportionate share of insurance to the same extent as it pays for 
other employees.   
 
Employees should contact the Financial Officer prior to going on leave, or as soon as possible if the need for leave 
was not foreseeable, to make arrangements for the continuation of health benefits during the leave, and to ensure 
that new children are added to the appropriate insurance coverage.  Where an employee has been responsible for 
premiums for family or other coverage, arrangements must be made to assure payment of such premiums during the 
course of the leave.   
 
Employees may be required to provide periodic medical certifications to substantiate the continuing need for family 
or medical leave.  In addition, employees are required to update the agency at least weekly on the status of their 
return to work. 
 

8.12.6 Return to Work 
  

Upon returning from qualifying medical or family leave, the employee is entitled to be reinstated to the same 
position held before the leave, or to a position with equivalent pay, benefits and conditions.  Employees who have 
exhausted their 12 week entitlement but do not return from their leave will be terminated to the extent permissible 
by law.   
 
  
 



24 
 

8.13 PAID PARENTAL LEAVE POLICY 
 
 Maternity/paternity/adoption leave under this policy is paid leave associated with the birth of an 
employee’s own child or the placement of a child with the employee in connection with adoption or foster care.  
Maternity/paternity/adoption leave is not charged against the employee’s other paid leave credits, and the maximum 
amount of paid days received is six (6) weeks.  Employees will be eligible for this leave when they have been 
employed by the Agency for at least 12 months, and have worked at least 1250 hours in the 12 months before the 
leave.  Essentially this means that new employees, and part time employees, may not be eligible for such leave. 
Temporary employees are not eligible for paid maternity/paternity/adoption leave under this policy.  The paid leave 
is compensated at the following levels: 
 
 -After one full year of service – 60 percent of salary 
 -After five full years of service – 100 percent of salary. 
 
After the six (6) weeks of maternity/paternity/adoption leave have been exhausted, subsequent leave will be covered 
under appropriate policies.  The FMLA allows employees up to 12 workweeks of unpaid leave annually.  Paid leave 
under this policy will run concurrently with FMLA leave.  After paid maternity/paternity/adoption leave is 
exhausted, the employee is required to apply any other available paid leave, which will also run concurrently with 
FMLA leave. 
 
8.14 LEAVE AND BENEFITS FOR PART-TIME AND TEMPORARY EMPLOYEES 
 
Unless noted otherwise in these policies, benefits for regular part-time and temporary employees are as follows: 
 
 8.14.1 Regular Part-Time Employees  
 
All leaves, including holidays, are pro-rated. Pro-rated means the ratio between the number of hours in the 
employee’s normal work schedule and (40) hours per week. 
 
 8.14.2 Temporary Employees  
 
Temporary employees normally are not eligible to receive benefits, including leaves, holidays and insurance, except 
as provided in Section 3.3.  
 



25 
 

CHAPTER 9 
EMPLOYEE RESPONSIBILITIES AND CONDUCT 

 
9.1 GENERAL CODE OF CONDUCT 
 
CCDC is a public agency and a vital part of the city’s local government. Its work requires daily interaction with 
public officials, business leaders, the media, and the general public. Employees are public servants working in the 
public eye and stewards of public funds. Employees must respect and act on the direction provided by the governing 
board, the Executive Director and supervisor. Employees should use discretion and appropriate deference when 
expressing opinions on Agency-related matters. 
 
For the Agency to be successful, anll employees must represent the Agency in a professional, pleasant, courteous, 
tactful, efficient and helpful manner.  Agency success also depends on each employee’s job performance, 
professional conduct and behavior.  The Agency expects tact and courtesy towards the public and fellow employees, 
respectful communications; adherence to Agency policies, procedures, safety rules and safe work practices; 
compliance with directions from supervisors; preserving and protecting the Agency’s equipment, grounds, facilities 
and resources and providing orderly and cost efficient services to its citizens.  
 
Employees must maintain a clean and neat appearance appropriate to their work assignment, as determined by their 
position and the Executive Director. 
 
Nothing in this section alters the at-will status of employment at the Agency or the ability of the Agency, or any 
employee, to terminate the employment relationship at any time. 
 
The Agency is a relatively small organization.  To function as efficiently as possible, the Executive Director may 
ask employees to perform duties outside regular assignments.  It is no reflection on the employee’s worth to the 
Agency, but a necessary arrangement for most small organizations. 
 
To make the most efficient use of personnel, the Agency also reserves the right to change an employee’s work 
conditions and the duties originally assigned.  All positions may include other duties as assigned.  Employee 
responses such as “that is not my job” may be considered a performance issue.  
 
9.2 OUTSIDE EMPLOYMENT AND CONFLICTS OF INTEREST 
 
Employees shall not, directly or indirectly, engage in any outside employment or financial interest which presents a 
conflict of interest as defined in the Idaho Code, or interferes with the employee’s ability to perform his/her assigned 
Agency job.  Examples include, but are not limited to, outside employment that: 
 

 (1) Prevents the employee from being available for work as required to meet the obligations of their 
employment; 

 
 (2) Is conducted by non-exempt employees during the employee’s work hours; 
 
 (3) Incurs costs to the Agency, such as unreimbursed long distance charges; 
 
 (4) Is with a firm that has contracts with or does business with the Agency; 
 
 (5) May reasonably be perceived by members of the public as a conflict of interest or otherwise 

discredits public service; 
 
An employee who chooses to have an additional job, contractual commitment or self-employment should consult the 
Agency’s Code of Ethics to determine whether a conflict with Agency employment might exist and take prescribed 
action if warranted.  



26 
 

9.3 REPORTING IMPROPER GOVERNMENTAL ACTION 
 
State law provides protection to employees who, in good faith, report instances of government waste or abuse.  If 
you report such misconduct and your reporting is within the protection of this law, you cannot be terminated in 
retaliation for such reporting. 
 
9.4 POLITICAL ACTIVITIES 
 
Agency employees may participate in political or partisan activities of their choosing provided that Agency 
resources and property are not utilized, and the activity does not adversely affect the responsibilities of the 
employees in their positions.  Employees may not campaign on Agency time or while representing the Agency in 
any way.  Employees may not allow others to use Agency facilities or funds for political activities. 
 
Any Agency employee who meets with or may be observed by the public or otherwise represents the Agency to the 
public, while performing his/her regular duties, may not wear or display any button, badge or sticker relevant to any 
candidate or ballot issue during working hours.  Employees shall not solicit, on Agency property or Agency time, for 
a contribution for a partisan political cause. 
 
Except as noted in this policy, Agency employees are otherwise free to fully exercise their constitutional First 
Amendment rights (political activity and free speech), unless the Agency’s right to govern effectively outweighs the 
employee’s rights. 
 
9.5 NO SMOKING POLICY 
 
For health and safety considerations, the Agency prohibits smoking by employees in all Agency facilities, including 
Agency-owned buildings, vehicles, and offices or other facilities rented or leased by the Agency, including 
individual employee offices. 
 
9.6 PERSONAL POSSESSIONS AND ELECTRONIC COMMUNICATIONS 
 
The Agency furnishes desks, closets, and/or lockers for security of employee coats, purses, and other personal 
possessions.  We do not, however, assume responsibility for any theft or damage to the personal belongings of 
employees, and we reserve the right to search employee desks, lockers, and personal belongings brought onto 
Agency premises, if necessary. 
 
The Agency also furnishes computers for use in conducting Agency business.  The computers are the Agency’s 
property.  Because the computers are for Agency business, the Agency reserves the right to review the contents of 
any files or documents on the computer, including contents of any electronic mail.  By using Agency equipment, 
you consent to such access by the Agency.  Agency computers may not be used for personal business other than 
incidental communication resulting in no additional cost to the Agency. 
 
9.7 USE OF AGENCY VEHICLES AND EQUIPMENT 
 
Use of Agency phones for local personal phone calls should be kept to a minimum; unreimbursed long distance 
personal use is prohibited. The personal use of wireless phone/messaging service which results in increased cost to 
the Agency must be reimbursed by the Employee.  Other Agency equipment, including vehicles, should be used by 
employees for Agency business only.  An employee’s misuse of Agency services, telephones, vehicles, equipment 
or supplies can result in disciplinary action including termination. 
 
9.8 BULLETIN BOARDS 
 
Information of special interest to all employees is posted regularly on the Agency bulletin boards.  Employees may 
not post any information on these bulletin boards without the authorization of the Executive Director or designee. 



27 
 

9.9 CONTACT WITH THE NEWS MEDIA 
 
The Executive Director or designee shall be responsible for all official contacts with the news media, including 
answering of questions from the media.  The Executive Director may designate specific employees to give out 
procedural, factual or historical information on particular subjects. 
 
9.10 SEAT BELT, CELLULAR PHONE AND TEXTING POLICY 
 
Per Idaho law, anyone operating or riding in Agency vehicles must wear seat belts at all times.  Additionally, the 
Agency expects its employees to refrain from using their phone or media device while driving in the course and 
scope of their employment.  If acceptance of a call is unavoidable and pulling over is not an option, employees are 
expected to keep the call short and use hands-free options. Texting while driving is strictly prohibited.  Violation of 
this policy may lead to disciplinary action, up to and including termination. 
 
9.11 DRIVER’S LICENSE REQUIREMENTS 
 
As part of the requirements for certain specific Agency positions, an employee may be required to hold a valid Idaho 
State Driver’s license.  If an employee’s license is revoked, suspended or lost, or is in any other way not current, 
valid, and in the employee’s possession, the employee shall promptly notify the Executive Director and will be 
immediately suspended from driving duties.  The employee may not resume driving for Agency business until proof 
of a valid, current license is provided to the Executive Director.  Depending on the duration of license suspension or 
revocation, an employee may be subject to disciplinary action, including termination. 
 
9.12 SOLICITATIONS 
 
Most forms of selling and solicitations are inappropriate in the workplace.  They can be an intrusion on employees 
and citizens and may present a risk to employee safety or to the security of Agency or employee property.  Other 
than for authorized community based fund raising campaigns, employees may not solicit for any purpose during 
work time or in work areas. 
 
9.13 SAFETY 
 
Every employee is responsible for maintaining a safe work environment and following the Agency’s safety rules. 
Each employee shall promptly report all unsafe or potentially hazardous conditions to his/her department head.  The 
Agency will make every effort to remedy problems as quickly as possible.  No retaliation will occur for reporting an 
unsafe condition. 
 
In case of an accident involving a personal injury, regardless of how serious, employees shall immediately notify 
their department head or the Executive Director. 
 
9.14 SUBSTANCE ABUSE 
 
The Agency’s philosophy on substance abuse has two focuses:  (1) a concern for the well being of the employee and 
(2) a concern for the safety of other employees and members of the public. 
 
The Agency reserves the right to conduct random and baseline drug testing should the need arise in the future. 
 

9.14.1 Availability of Rehabilitation or Treatment  
 
As part of our employee assistance program, we encourage employees who are concerned about their alcohol or 
drug use to seek counseling, treatment and rehabilitation.  Although the decision to seek diagnosis and accept 
treatment is completely voluntary, the Agency is fully committed to helping employees who voluntarily come 
forward overcome substance abuse problems.  In recognition of the sensitive nature of these matters, all discussions 



28 
 

will be kept confidential. Employees who seek advice or treatment will not be subject to retaliation or 
discrimination. 
 
 9.14.2 When Job Performance Is Affected  
 
Although the Agency is concerned with rehabilitation, it must be understood that disciplinary action may be taken 
when an employee’s job performance is impaired because he/she is under the influence of drugs or alcohol on the 
job.  The Agency may discipline or terminate an employee possessing, consuming, selling or using alcohol, or 
controlled substances (other than legally prescribed) during work hours.  The Agency may also discipline or 
terminate an employee who reports for duty or works under the influence of alcohol or illegal substances.  “Under 
the influence” means that the employee is impaired to any degree in the performance of his/her work.  To the extent 
allowed by law, an employee may be required to submit to alcohol or illegal substance testing when the Agency has 
reasonable suspicion that the employee is under the influence of illegal substances or alcohol.  Refusal to submit to 
testing under these circumstances shall be grounds for termination.  The confidentiality of test results will be 
protected. 
 
 9.14.3 Drug-Free Workplace  
 
The manufacturing, distribution, dispensation, possession and use of unlawful drugs or alcohol on Agency premises 
or during work hours by Agency employees is strictly prohibited.  Employees also must notify the Agency within 
five (5) days of any conviction for a drug violation. 
 
9.15 GIFTS & GRATUITIES 
 
Employees may not accept gifts of more than a nominal value ($50.00) from any vendor, supplier, or other person 
doing business with the Agency. Receiving such a gift may give the appearance of influence regarding the 
employee’s business decisions, transaction, or service. Advertising and promotional items are not considered gifts. 



29 
 

CHAPTER 10 
DISCIPLINE AND TERMINATION 

 
10.1 ACTIONS SUBJECT TO DISCIPLINARY ACTION 
 
Our success in providing excellent service to our citizens and maintaining good relationships with the community 
depends on our employees.  We have therefore outlined for your guidance certain conduct which, if engaged in, 
would be detrimental to our objective and could lead to disciplinary action including discharge.  The Executive 
Director, or his or her designee, is responsible for evaluating, managing, disciplining, and, if necessary, discharging 
or terminating all employees.  The Executive Director may directly communicate with any Agency employee 
concerning employment related issues, or coordinate such communication through respective department heads or 
other supervisors.   
 
The following specified conduct is illustrative and not comprehensive.  Nothing in the section alters the at-will 
status of employment at the Agency or the ability of the Agency, or any employee, to terminate the employment 
relationship at any time. 
 
 (1) Misrepresentation or withholding of pertinent facts in securing employment. 
 

 (2) Unauthorized use or possession of the Agency facilities/property, unauthorized use of position 
with the Agency for personal gain or advantage, accepting unlawful gratuities or bribes, or lying. 

 
 (3) Smoking in any unauthorized posted area or creating of fire hazards in any area. 
 
 (4) Failure to report an occurrence causing damage to Agency, customer, or public property; failure to 

properly secure the Agency facilities or property. 
 
 (5) Unauthorized recording of one’s own or another employee’s time record (all involved employees 

can be subject to disciplinary action). 
 

 (6) Habitual lateness for work; absence without proper notification to immediate supervisor, excessive 
absenteeism, or insufficient reasons for absenteeism; loitering, goofing off, failing to assist others 
in a work situation. 

 
 (7) Making malicious, false, or derogatory statements that are intended or could reasonably be 

expected to damage the integrity or reputation of the Agency or our employees, on or off 
premises; disorderly conduct, including fighting on the premises; rudeness, discrimination, 
intimidation, coercion, use of obscene language, gesture or lack of courtesy to the public or fellow 
employees. 

 
 (8) Intentional falsification of records/paperwork required in the transaction of the Agency business. 
 
 (9) Inability, inefficiency, negligence, or insubordination, including a refusal or failure to perform 

assigned work or concealing defective work. 
 

 (10) Failure to observe safety practices, rules, regulations, and instructions; negligence that results in 
injury to others; failure to wear required safety clothing and equipment. 

 
 (11) Failure to promptly report to your immediate supervisor an on-the-job injury or accident involving 

an employee, equipment, property, or visitor. 
 
 (12) Dishonesty or theft, including deliberate destruction, damage, or removal of the Agency’s or 

other’s property from the premises, or any job site. 



30 
 

 
 (13) Possession, use, sale, or being under the influence of alcohol and illegal drugs while on Agency 

business (including standby duty).  The only exception to this rule shall be for an employee using 
or possessing a controlled substance prescribed by a doctor if such use does not impair safe and/or 
efficient work performance. 

 
 (14) Conviction of a misdemeanor or felony. 
 
 (15) Unauthorized or personal use of the Agency corporate credit card. 
 
10.2 LAYOFF 
 
The Executive Director, in his or her discretion, may lay off employees for lack of work, budgetary restrictions, 
reorganization, or other changes that have taken place.  In determining who is to be laid off, consideration will 
usually be given to individual performance and job qualifications, as determined by the Agency.  Seniority may be 
considered when performance and qualifications are equal, as determined by the Agency.  Employees who are laid 
off may be eligible to be re-employed, if a vacancy occurs in a position for which they are qualified, but there is no 
guarantee of re-employment. 
 
10.3 RESIGNATION 
 
An employee is encouraged to provide at least (2) weeks’ notice of resignation.  This time limit may be waived or 
reduced by the Executive Director. 
 



31 
 

CHAPTER 11  
COMPLAINT PROCEDURES 

 
11.1 COMPLAINT PROCEDURES 
 
The Agency recognizes that sometimes situations arise in which employees feel that they have not been treated 
fairly or in accordance with Agency policies.  For this reason any employee who feels he or she has been 
discriminated against or has been subjected to harassment should promptly take the following steps: 
 
Step 1:  Employees should first try to resolve any problem or complaint with their supervisor if circumstances 

prohibit this response (e.g., the supervisor is involved in the conduct), report the behavior to the Executive 
Director.  If the Executive Director is involved in the conduct, the employee should follow the procedure 
for making a claim against the Executive Director set forth in Section 11.2.  In writing, state specific details 
of the discriminating behavior.  It is helpful if details of dates, times, places, and witnesses, if any, of the 
discrimination or harassment can be provided. 

 
Step 2:  When normal communication between an employee and the supervisor is not successful or practical, or 

when an employee disagrees with the application of Agency policies and procedures, the employee should 
attempt to resolve the problem with the Executive Director.  When normal communication between an 
employee and the Executive Director is not successful or practical, or when an employee disagrees with the 
application of Agency policies and procedures, the employee should follow the procedure for making a 
claim against the Executive Director set forth in Section 11.2. 

 
Step 3:  If the employee is not satisfied with the response from the supervisor, the employee may submit the 

problem, in writing, to the Executive Director.  The written complaint must contain, at a minimum: 
 
  (1) A description of the problem; 
 
  (2) A specific policy or procedure which the employee believes has been violated or 

misapplied; 
 
  (3) The date of the circumstances leading to the complaint or the date when the employee 

first became aware of those circumstances; 
 
  (4) The remedy sought by the employee to resolve the complaint.   
  
The written complaint should be filed within ten (10) working days of the occurrence leading to the complaint.  This 
time limit provides an opportunity to resolve the issue immediately. 
 
The Executive Director may meet with the parties, either individually or together, and will respond in writing to the 
aggrieved employee within a reasonable time  of the meeting.   The Executive Director response and decision shall 
be final and binding with respect to employee and the Agency, except as provided for in Section 11.2, below. 
 
Complaint Investigation and Confidentiality 
 
All complaints will be investigated promptly.  The identity of the employee making the complaint, as well as the 
identity of the individual accused of discrimination, will be kept as confidential as possible. 
 
Retaliation 
 
It is contrary to agency policy for a supervisor or any other employee to retaliate against any employee who files a 
charge of discrimination.  Please report any conduct that you feel could be retaliatory immediately. 
 



32 
 

11.1.1  Additional Procedures 
 
In the event an employee who feels he or she has been discriminated against or has been subjected to harassment by 
the Executive Director, or an employee seeks to file a written complaint against the Executive Director as allowed 
under Section 11.1  of this Manual, the employee shall file a written complaint with the Chair of the Board of the 
Agency, including, at a minimum, the information set forth in Step 3 of Section 11.1,  which for  purposes of this 
section, such written complaint shall be referred to as a “Claim.”  Any Claim against the Executive Director must be 
filed within ten (10) working days of the occurrence leading to the Claim, or ten (10) working days after the 
employee becomes aware of the circumstances. 
 
The Chair of the Board, or his/her designee (whose designee may be regular counsel to the Agency, special counsel 
to the Agency or an independent person retained by the Chair for such purposes), may meet with the Executive 
Director and employee, either individually or together, and attempt to mediate the Claim.  The mediation process 
shall be completed within fifteen (15) working days of the filing of the Claim. 
 
 



33 
 

CHAPTER 12 
ELECTRONIC COMMUNICATION 

 
12.1 ELECTRONIC COMMUNICATION MONITORING 
 
The Agency monitors its phone system, network and computers.  Information stored in or on company facilities is 
subject to inspection at any time without notice.  Employees have no personal privacy right in anything created, 
received, or sent on or from the computer and/or internet system; by accessing the system, employees expressly 
waive any right of privacy in anything they create, store, send, or receive on the system.  By accessing the system, 
employees further consent to allowing personnel of the Agency to access all material created, sent or received on the 
system. 
 
12.2 ELECTRONIC COMMUNICATIONS AND PUBLIC RECORDS 
 
As the Agency is a public entity, each employee is subject to public records laws.  
 
Each employee is responsible for the content of all text, audio or images that he or she creates, sends, forwards, 
retrieves, or stores using the Agency’s electronic communication systems. Employees should not consider any 
electronic communication, media or services to be either private or secure. Although email, computer and network 
accounts may be protected by passwords, Employees should understand that their account and records 
may not be private. Employees using the Agency’s information technology expressly waive any right of privacy in 
anything they create, store, send, or receive on an Agency computer or through the Agency provided Internet. This 
includes, but is not limited to, messages or data sent or received on a mobile device. The term mobile device 
includes cellular telephone, smartphone, tablet, PDA, etc. The use of personally-owned mobile devices to send 
and/or receive electronic communications for the transaction of Agency business creates a record that may be 
subject to disclosure pursuant to a public records request. Employees who use personal mobile devices to transact 
Agency business may be required to provide all communications that relate to Agency business, including text 
messages, to the Agency upon request. The Agency discourages the transaction of Agency business via text 
message on personal mobile devices and/or the transaction of Agency business via personal email accounts. 
 
12.3  INTERNET POLICY 
 
Employees may use the internet to increase productivity.  Employees are expected to comply with all Agency 
policies that may be applicable to the internet.  These include, but are not limited to, confidentiality, harassment, 
solicitation, outside employment and business ethics.  Under no circumstances are pornographic or harassing 
materials to be sent, received, viewed, or downloaded using company facilities at any time or using personal 
facilities during working hours. 
 
Personal use of the internet is not prohibited if it does not interfere with job responsibilities and productivity.  
Anonymous messages are not to be sent.  Aliases are not to be used.  Employees are not to place personal copies of 
software or data on any computer without prior authorization. 
 
If the employee is using an internet site paid for by the Agency, the employee is expected to only use it for business 
purposes.  All work created or received using Agency equipment or facilities are Agency property.  Illegal use of 
software is prohibited. 
 
The Agency does monitor its phone system, network, and computers.  Information stored in or on Agency facilities 
is subject to inspection at any time without notice.  Employees have no personal privacy right in anything created, 
received or sent on or from the computer and/or internet system; by accessing the system, employees expressly 
waive any right of privacy in anything they create, store, send or receive on the system.  By accessing the system, 
employees further consent to allowing personnel of the Agency to access all material created, sent or received on the 
system. 
 



34 
 

Violation of this Agency policy will be addressed as a performance issue. 
 
All items uploaded to our web site are to be scanned for viruses.  All items downloaded from web site or any other 
locations are to be scanned for viruses.  Material downloaded from the internet is to be placed on diskettes first; it is 
never to be placed on a hard drive.  At least two anti-virus software programs are to be used to scan for viruses 
before any material from a diskette is placed on our network system. 
 
12.4 SOCIAL MEDIA POLICY 
 

12.4.1 Introduction 
 

The Agency recognizes that social media can be a highly effective tool for sharing ideas and exchanging 
information. The Agency is committed to using social media to promote the Agency’s mission and strategic plan 
and to maintain effective communications with employees, customers, business partners and citizens. The Agency 
has an interest and responsibility in determining what is published on behalf of the Agency via social media. The 
purpose of social media is to disseminate information from the Agency, to the public to provide a forum for 
discussion and to gather feedback from residents and visitors on Agency-related issues. This regulation establishes 
rules for the creation and use of social media by Agency employees as a means of conveying Agency related content 
to the public. This regulation applies to all Agency employees. 
 
 12.4.2 Definitions 
 

A. Social Media – web and mobile based technologies which are used for interactive communication 
by organizations, communities and individuals often utilizing, but not limited to, third-party 
services that connect users to one another. Examples of social media include, but are not limited 
to, Facebook, Twitter, Google+, LinkedIn, YouTube, MySpace, Second Life, Delicious, Yelp, 
Flickr, Picasa, blogs, message boards, and chat rooms. Social media may exist in many different 
forms including, but not limited to, internet forums, online profiles, wikis, podcasts, pictures and 
video, email, instant messaging, music sharing, and voice over IP. 

 
B. Posts – content published through social media that may consist of dialogue, pictures, videos, 

URLs, articles, or other communicative content. 
 
C. Comments – response, reply, observation or opinion made via a social media to a post or another 

comment, usually made by outside third parties. 
 
D. Digital Equipment – includes but is not limited to computers, laptops, telephones, cellular phones, 

smart phones, and iPods. Any technology provided by the Agency for communication, computing, 
etc., is covered by this definition. 

 
E. Electronic Communication – any communication made via digital equipment including but not 

limited to email, texts, phone calls, voicemail and tweets. 
 
F. Disparaging Remarks – posts or comments made to ridicule, discredit, or demean another person. 

 
 12.4.3 Social Media Account Access 
 
Social media network access shall be limited to those with a clear business purpose to use the forum. Only official 
Agency spokespersons and authorized individuals shall have permission to create, publish or comment on behalf 
of the Agency. All users shall obtain authorization, as described within this section, prior to creating and 
maintaining a page or site associated with the Agency on a social media network. All authorized social media pages 
or sites associated with the Agency shall belong to and be managed by the Agency. 
 



35 
 

Only individuals who are authorized by the Executive Director or his/her designee are permitted to access, manage 
and/or post via Agency social media for the purpose of conducting Agency business. 
 
The Executive Director or his/her designee is responsible for maintaining an up to date list of all social networking 
application domain names in use, the names of all authorized employee administrators or users of these accounts, as 
well as the associated user identifications and passwords currently active within their respective departments. 
 
Oversight of Agency sponsored social media shall be performed by supervisors of those authorized to manage the 
Agency’s social media activity. All posts on Agency social media shall be in accordance with this policy. 
The Executive Director or his/her designee shall monitor the Agency’s social media for comments requesting 
responses from the Agency and for comments in violation of this policy. The Executive Director or his/her designee 
will also monitor content on Agency social media to ensure adherence to this policy and the interests and goals of 
the Agency. The Executive Director or his/her designee responsible for the creation and/or maintenance of social 
media content shall ensure that it is able to edit or remove this content. 
 
Authorized individuals representing the Agency on Agency social media must conduct themselves at all times as a 
representative of the Agency in accordance with all Agency policies. 
 
When an individual responds to a comment in his/her official capacity as an Agency employee, the individual shall 
not share personal information about himself or herself, or other Agency employees. If the Agency has multiple 
individuals posting or commenting on behalf of the Agency, those individuals shall coordinate their responses to 
ensure that conflicting views and/or information is not being disseminated. 
 
Whenever possible, Agency social media should link back to the official Agency  website for forms, documents, 
online services, and other information necessary to conduct business with the Agency. 
 
Use of posted photographs on social media sites shall abide by all copyright and printed material laws. 
All Agency social media shall adhere to applicable federal, state, and local laws, regulations and policies. 
 
All content or comments made in any social media shall conform to that site’s terms and conditions of use. 
 

12.4.4 Prohibited Content in Agency Social Media 
 

As a public entity the Agency must serve all of its constituents in a civil and unbiased manner. Agency social media 
posts and comments containing any of the following inappropriate forms of content shall not be allowed and are 
subject to removal and/or restriction by the Agency: 
 

A. Comments not topically related to the particular social media post being commented upon, 
including random or unintelligible comments; 

 
B. Profane, obscene or violent language and/or content; 
 
C. Defamatory or personal attacks; 
 
D. Threats to any person or organization; 
 
E. Content that promotes, fosters, or perpetuates harassment or discrimination on the basis of race, 

color, religion, sex, age, national origin, citizenship status, disability, genetic information, veteran 
status, sexual orientation or gender identity/expression; 

 
F. Sexual content or links to sexual content; 
 



36 
 

G. Any comments for the solicitation of commerce that is not related to the Agency or its business 
partners, including but not limited to advertising of any business or product for sale; 

 
H. Comments in support of or opposition to political campaigns, or candidates; 
 
I. Encouragement of illegal activity; 
 
J. Conduct in violation of any federal, state, or local laws; 
 
K. Information that may tend to compromise the safety or security of the public or public systems; 
 
L. Content that violates a legal ownership interest, such as trademark, patent, or copyright, of any 

other party; or 
 
M. Confidential or proprietary information. 

 
12.4.5 Expectation of Privacy 
 

Nothing in this policy bestows an individual right nor may it be construed to provide an expectation of privacy. 
Users of social media should be mindful that once content is placed online, it is no longer under the user’s control. 
Content posted to the internet is immediate and does not expire. Participation in social media, whether by Agency or 
non-Agency internet resources and whether made while on or off duty must not violate the privacy rights of other 
Agency employees or customers or violate any Agency policies. 
 
12.5 SOCIAL MEDIA PERSONAL USE 
 
 12.5.1 Introduction 
 
The Agency recognizes that many employees have personal social media accounts and engage in various social 
media activities. As such, the Agency respects employees' right to express personal opinions when using personal 
social media and does not retaliate or discriminate against employees who use personal social media for political or 
other lawful purposes. However, employees are personally responsible for content they post on personal social 
media. 
 
Social media come in many forms including, but not limited to, internet forums, blogs, online profiles, wikis, 
podcasts, pictures and video, email, instant messaging, music sharing, voice over IP, and others. Social media also 
include social websites and online communities for business and personal use, such as Facebook, LinkedIn, 
Yelp, YouTube, Twitter, message boards, and chat rooms. 
 
The purpose of this policy is to caution employees regarding their use of personal social media as it relates to the 
Agency. This regulation applies to all Agency employees. 
 

12.5.2 No Expectation of Privacy 
 
The Agency may monitor content, comments, and/or discussions about the Agency on social media made by anyone 
at any time. Content posted to the internet is immediate and does not expire. Users of social media should be aware 
that they are not anonymous when they make online comments. Even if a person posts anonymously or under a 
pseudonym, their identity may still be determined. Utilization of privacy settings for personal use of social media is 
recommended. However persons who use social media should be mindful that once content is placed online, it is no 
longer under their control and content shared via private social media does not always stay private. 
 
Employees should have no expectation of privacy while using Agency digital equipment or facilities for any purpose 
including the use of electronic communications. Regardless of password use and privacy settings, the Agency may 



37 
 

retrieve, review and/or monitor or log internet usage and content found on Agency systems and digital equipment, 
including deleted messages, posts, or comments without notice to the employee. Therefore, users have no 
expectation of privacy in the use of the Agency’s systems or equipment to download, transmit, post, comment, or 
store information. Nothing in this regulation bestows an individual right nor may it be construed to 
provide an expectation of privacy. 
 

12.5.3 Employee Personal Use of Social Media 
 

An employee may access social media while at work within the parameters of the Agency’s policies. Users are 
expected to limit use to personal time, such as breaks, lunch periods and off-duty time. If an employee’s use of 
social media becomes excessive, interferes with or is disruptive to Agency business or productivity, 
or negatively affects the employee’s job duties, the employee may be subject to discipline, up to and including 
termination. 
 
When posting to personal social media, if an employee speaks about job-related content or makes reference to the 
Agency, people may perceive the individual to be talking on behalf of the Agency. If the employee is not acting in 
an official and/or authorized Agency capacity, the employee shall use a disclaimer and make it clear that the views 
are not necessarily reflective of the views of the Agency. An example of such disclaimer is “The views, opinions, 
ideas, and information expressed on this site are my own and neither reflects the views of my employer nor is in any 
way attributable to the Agency.” 
 
Participation in social media, whether by Agency or non-Agency internet resources and whether made while on or 
off duty must not violate the privacy rights of other Agency employees, customers, or business partners, or any 
Agency policy.  When participating in social media employees are expected to know and follow all Agency’s 
policies. They are also expected to be respectful, truthful, accurate, and not engage in retaliatory behavior. 
 

12.5.4 Prohibited Conduct in Personal Social Media 
 

Employees may be disciplined up to and including termination for engaging in any of the following in their personal 
online social media activity: 
 

A.  Promoting or taking part in activities which violate federal, state, or local law. 
 
B. Threatening harm, directly or indirectly, to any Agency employee or Agency customer, business 

partner, vendor, or supplier. 
 
C. Making false or misleading statements about Agency employees, the Agency, Agency customers, 

business partners, vendors, or suppliers. 
 
D. Making disparaging remarks toward or about any Agency employee, the Agency, Agency 

customers, business partners, vendors, and/or suppliers that are based on race, color, religion, sex, 
age, national origin, citizenship status, disability, genetic information, veteran status, sexual 
orientation, gender identity/expression or other characteristic protected by law. 

 
E. Using social media to bully, harass, or retaliate against Agency employees or Agency customers, 

business partners, vendors, or suppliers. 
 
F. Posting content or making comments that purport to express the opinions of the Agency. If a 

comment or post could reasonably be interpreted to express the opinions of the Agency, then the 
employee shall state that the comment/post is a personal opinion in the manner previously 
described in this regulation. Only an individual officially authorized by his/her supervisor may 
post or comment on behalf of the Agency. The fact that the subject of the social media content is 



38 
 

not specifically named does not constitute a defense or excuse for Agency employees to engage in 
behavior via their personal social media that violates Agency policies. 

 
Employees are expected to report known violations of this policy to the Executive Director. 
 

12.5.5 Employee Responsibility and Duty To Report 
 

Employees are personally responsible for the content they publish via personal social media. Conduct that violates 
any aspect of this regulation is subject to investigation and discipline regardless of whether such conduct may have 
occurred away from work or on non-working time. Employees with questions regarding whether certain activities 
fall within the parameters of this regulation are encouraged to contact their supervisor.  
 
12.6 MOBILE COMMUNICATIONS POLICY 
 
CCDC will authorize certain employees, on a voluntary basis, to use their personal cellular devices for work 
purposes when required by their job duties, with payment of an allowance under the terms of this policy.  The 
allowance is considered additional compensation and will be subject to all applicable taxes and withholdings.  
Allowances are not considered an entitlement and may be changed or withdrawn at any time.  CCDC is not liable for 
purchase, maintenance, damage or loss of the mobile communication device. 
 
Eligibility will be determined by the Executive Director and is based on; communication capability requirement of 
an employee’s job, employee safety requirements, employee being a critical decision maker, employee monitoring 
mission critical information during non-business hours and other special circumstances as approved by the director. 
 
Allowances will be approved annually by the Executive Director for a one year term and will be paid monthly. 
Employees are responsible for signing a Mobile Communication Agreement and for providing a copy of the pages 
from the monthly statement verifying the charge to the accounting department.  Under no circumstance will the 
allowance be greater than cost of the mobile device service plan.   
 
 CCDC is not responsible for the administration and payment of all mobile communications costs, nor is it liable to 
any party for the contractual obligations of the plan.  The employee is required to notify CCDC if the mobile 
communication device that they are receiving the allowance for is lost, stolen or no longer in operation.   WORK 
RELATED RECORDS AND COMMUNICATIONS ARE LIKELY SUBJECT TO IDAHO PUBLIC RECORDS 
REQUESTS.  SUCH RECORDS AND COMMUNICATIONS MAY INCLUDE BUT ARE NOT LIMITED TO: 
CALL LOGS, TEXTS, EMAILS AND OTHER MESSAGES.  SHOULD A PUBLIC RECORDS REQUEST BE 
FILED, YOU WILL BE ASKED TO GIVE YOUR DEVICE TO THE AGENCY, ITS ATTORNEYS OR 
TECHNOLOGY REPRESENTATIVES TO REVIEW THAT INFORMATION TO DETERMINE WHAT 
INFORMATION IS SUBJECT TO DISCLOSURE.  EMPLOYEES ARE RESPONSIBLE TO ENSURE THAT 
CELLULAR DEVICES ARE PROPERLY SECURED VIA PASSWORD PROTECTION.  
 
APPROVED BY: ___________________________   DATE:_______________ 

 
 

12.7 RECORD RETENTION  
Employees are required to comply with the Agency’s records retention schedules.  The records retention schedules 
are attached hereto as Appendix B. 
 



39 
 

Capital City Development Corporation 
 

RECEIPT OF PERSONNEL POLICIES 
 
All employees should read the following; then sign, date and return the form to the Agency Executive Director.  The 
form will be placed in the employee’s personnel file. 
 
Enclosed are the Capital City Development Corporation Personnel Policies.  It is your responsibility to read these 
policies, as they will acquaint you with some of your employee benefits, our personnel practices and rules, and some 
organizational philosophy.  Employee specifically acknowledges receipt and review of the Agency’s Sexual 
Harassment Policy, Section 2.5. 
 
Employment with the Agency is at-will and it is important to understand that these policies do not create an 
employment contract or a guarantee of employment of any specific duration between the Agency and its employees.  
Although we hope that your employment relationship with us will be long term, we recognize that at times things do 
not always work out as hoped, and either of us may decide to terminate the employment relationship, at any time, 
with or without cause. 
 
As the Agency grows and changes, personnel policies may change.  The Agency, therefore, reserves the right to 
revise, supplement, clarify or rescind any policy or portion of a policy when deemed appropriate by the Executive 
Director.  You will be notified of any such changes. 
 
Please also understand that no supervisor, manager or representative of the Agency other than the Executive 
Director has the authority to make any written statements or representations which are inconsistent with these 
policies.  Any changes by the Executive Director for particular employees must be in writing or they are ineffective. 
 
If you have any questions about these policies or any other policies of the Agency, please feel free to ask the 
Executive Director. 
 
I have read and understand the statement above. 
 
 
_____________________________________   Date:     
Employee Signature 
 
 
_____________________________________ 
Employee Printed Name 
 



40 
 

APPENDIX A 
 
Maximum Per Diem Allowance 
Daily Per Diem Allowance  
 
(a) In State: $45.00 day  
 
(b) Out-of-State Per Diem Allowance: $51.00 per day  
 
Partial Day Per Diem Allowance 
Where employees are to be absent from their primary official station on official business for less than twenty four 
(24) hours, partial day per diem allowance is equal to a maximum of twenty-five percent (25%) of the total per diem 
allowance for breakfast, thirty-five percent (35%) for the total per diem allowance for lunch, and fifty-five percent 
(55%) of the total per diem allowance for dinner.  
 

Partial Day Per Diem Allowance 
 

In-State Out-of-State 
Breakfast – 25% $11.25 $12.75  
Lunch – 35% $15.75 $17.85  
Dinner – 55% $24.75 $28.05  



41 
 

APPENDIX B 
 

Records Retention Schedule 
 
 
 
4813-2064-3367, v.  8-2064-3367, v.  5-2064-3367, v.  4-2064-3367, v.  3 



 
 
 
 

 
 

PERSONNEL MANUAL 
 
 
 

Adopted by the CCDC Board of Commissioners 
 

Effective Date 
 

February 13, 2012 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

rborden
Typewritten Text
   ATTACHMENT 3REDLINE VERSION

rborden
Typewritten Text

rborden
Typewritten Text



 
2 

 

January 1, 2016 
 



i 
 

CAPITAL CITY DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION 
 

PERSONNEL MANUAL 
 

ADOPTED BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
 

EFFECTIVE DATES 
November 1999 
February 2001 
October 2001 

October 1, 2003 
January 14, 2008 

May 27, 2008 
February 13, 2012 

January 1, 2016 
     

 
 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 
 
PERSONNEL MANUAL ................................................................................................................................... 61 
 
CHAPTER 1 PURPOSE AND SCOPE ................................................................................................ 61 
 
1.1 INTRODUCTION ................................................................................................................................... 61 
1.2 INTENT OF POLICIES–EMPLOYMENT AT WILL ............................................................................ 61 
1.3 SCOPE OF POLICIES ............................................................................................................................ 61 
1.4 CHANGING THE POLICIES ................................................................................................................. 61 
1.5 DEFINITIONS ......................................................................................................................................... 72 

1.5.1 Calendar Month of Service ............................................................................................... 7 
1.5.2 Immediate Family ........................................................................................................... 72 
1.5.32 Regular Full-Time Employee.......................................................................................... 72 
1.5.43 Regular Part-Time Employee.......................................................................................... 72 
1.5.54 Temporary Employee ...................................................................................................... 72 
1.5.5 Exempt Employee ............................................................................................................. 2 
1.5.6 Non-Exempt Employee ..................................................................................................... 2 

 
CHAPTER 2 GENERAL POLICIES AND PRACTICES ................................................................... 83 
 
2.1 EQUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITY  .......................................................................................... 83 
2.2 DISABILITY DISCRIMINATION  ........................................................................................................ 83 
2.3 LIFE THREATENING/COMMUNICABLE DISEASES  ........................................................................ 8 
2.42.3 ANTI-HARASSMENT AND DISCRIMINATION POLICY ................................................................. 83 
2.54 EMPLOYEE PERSONNEL RECORDS ............................................................................................... 104 
2.65 EMPLOYMENT REFERENCES .......................................................................................................... 105 
 
CHAPTER 3 RECRUITING AND HIRING ...................................................................................... 116 
 
3.1 RECRUITING ....................................................................................................................................... 116 
3.2 HIRING ................................................................................................................................................. 116 
3.3 TEMPORARY EMPLOYEES .............................................................................................................. 116 



 
ii 

 

3.3.1 Temporary, At Will Employees .................................................................................... 116 
3.3.2 Compensation/Benefits ................................................................................................. 116 

3.4 EMPLOYMENT OF RELATIVES (NEPOTISM)................................................................................ 126 
3.4.1 Family Relationship ...................................................................................................... 126 
3.4.2 Change in Circumstances .............................................................................................. 127 

3.5 PROMOTIONS ..................................................................................................................................... 127 
 
CHAPTER 4 HOURS AND ATTENDANCE .................................................................................... 138 
 
4.1 WORKING HOURS .............................................................................................................................. 138 
4.2 HOURS OF WORK AND OVERTIME ............................................................................................... 138 
4.3 COMPENSATORY TIME .................................................................................................................... 138 
4.4 ATTENDANCE ..................................................................................................................................... 138 
4.5 TELECOMMUTING POLICY ............................................................................................................. 149 

4.5.1 Purpose ......................................................................................................................... 149 
4.5.2 Participation .................................................................................................................. 149 
4.5.3 Equipment ..................................................................................................................... 149 
4.5.4 General Issues ............................................................................................................... 159 

4.6 BREAKS AND MEAL PERIODS ...................................................................................................... 1510 
4.74.7 BREAK TIME FOR NURSING MOTHERS .......................................................................................... 10 
4.8 PAYROLL RECORDS ........................................................................................................................ 1510 
 
CHAPTER 5 TRAVEL/MEETING EXPENSE POLICY ................................................................ 1611 
 
5.1 GENERAL POLICY ........................................................................................................................... 1611 
5.2 VEHICLE USE ........................................................................................................................................ 11 
5.3 AIRFARE ................................................................................................................................................ 11 
5.4 REIMBURSEMENTS ............................................................................................................................. 11 
5.5 ADDITIONAL ALLOWABLE INCIDENTAL EXPENSES ............................................................. 1612 
5.36 EXPENDITURES NOT REIMBURSABLE ....................................................................................... 1712 
5.47 DOCUMENTATION .......................................................................................................................... 1713 
5.58 CORPORATE CREDIT CARD .......................................................................................................... 1713 
 
CHAPTER 6 PERFORMANCE EVALUATIONS AND TRAINING ................................................... 1814 
 
6.1 PERFORMANCE EVALUATIONS .................................................. 18 AND COMPENSATION PLAN

....................................................................................................................................................... 14 
6.2 TRAINING POLICY ........................................................................................................................... 1814 
 
CHAPTER 7 BENEFITS .................................................................................................................. 1915 
 
7.1 RETIREMENT BENEFITS ................................................................................................................. 1915 
7.2 DISABILITY BENEFITS (WORKERS’ COMPENSATION) ........................................................... 1915 

7.2.1 Coverage and Claims .................................................................................................. 1915 
7.2.2 Coordination of Benefits ............................................................................................. 1915 

7.3 HEALTH INSURANCE BENEFITS .................................................................................................. 1915 
7.3.1 Employee Assistance Program.................................................................................... 1916 
7.3.2 Self-Insurance–Medical Reimbursement Plan ................................................................ 20 

7.4 CONTINUATION OF INSURANCE COVERAGE ........................................................................... 2016 
7.4.1 Workers’ Compensation Benefits ............................................................................... 2016 
7.4.2 COBRA Rights ............................................................................................................... 20 
7.4.3 Termination, Retirement, Leave of Absence .............................................................. 2016 



 
iii 

 

7.5 UNEMPLOYMENT COMPENSATION ................................................................................................ 20 
7.67.5 TUITION REIMBURSEMENT ............................................................................................... 20 POLICY
 16 
7.7 HIPAA COMPLIANCE .......................................................................................................................... 21 
 
CHAPTER 8   LEAVES ..................................................................................................................... 2218 
 
8.1 DEFINITIONS ..................................................................................................................................... 2218 

8.1.1 Dependent Children .................................................................................................... 2218 
8.1.2 Immediate Family ....................................................................................................... 2218 
8.1.3 Serious Health Condition ............................................................................................ 2218 

8.2 VACATION LEAVE........................................................................................................................... 2218 
8.2.1 Accruals ...................................................................................................................... 2218 
8.2.2 Accelerated Vacation Accruals for Exempt Level Employees ................................... 2318 
8.2.3 Limits on Accruals ...................................................................................................... 2319 
8.2.4 Using Vacation Leave ................................................................................................. 2319 
8.2.5 Payment for Vacation Accruals at Termination .......................................................... 2319 

8.3 SICK LEAVE ...................................................................................................................................... 2319 
8.3.1 Accruals ...................................................................................................................... 2319 
8.3.2 Limits on Sick Leave Accruals ................................................................................... 2419 
8.3.3 Using Paid Sick Leave ................................................................................................ 2420 

8.4 LEAVE WITHOUT PAY .................................................................................................................... 2520 
8.5 JURY AND WITNESS LEAVE .......................................................................................................... 2520 

8.5.1 Jury Duty .................................................................................................................... 2520 
8.5.2 Witness Duty............................................................................................................... 2521 

8.6 ADMINISTRATIVE LEAVE ............................................................................................................. 2521 
8.7 MILITARY LEAVE ............................................................................................................................ 2521 
8.8 BEREAVEMENT LEAVE .................................................................................................................. 2521 
8.9 HOLIDAYS ......................................................................................................................................... 2621 
8.10 RELIGIOUS HOLIDAYS ................................................................................................................... 2622 
8.11 ON-THE-JOB INJURIES AND TIME LOSS CLAIMS ..................................................................... 2622 
8.12 FAMILY AND MEDICAL LEAVE ................................................................................................... 2722 

8.12.1 Reasons for Family or Medical Leave ........................................................................ 2722 
a. Employee’s Serious Health Condition ................................................................. 2722 
b. To Care for a New Child...................................................................................... 2722 
c. To Care for a Spouse, Parent or Child With a Serious Health 

Condition ............................................................................................................. 2722 
8.12.2 Requests for Family or Medical Leave ....................................................................... 2723 
8.12.3 Use of Paid Leave for Family or Medical Leave ........................................................ 2723 
8.12.4 Length of Leave .......................................................................................................... 2823 
8.12.5 Benefits ....................................................................................................................... 2823 
8.12.6 Return to Work ........................................................................................................... 2823 

8.13 ADDITIONAL LEAVES ............................................................ 28PAID PARENTAL LEAVE POLICY
 24 

8.13.1 Bereavement Leave ......................................................................................................... 28 
8.13.2 Other Leaves ................................................................................................................... 28 

8.14 LEAVE AND BENEFITS FOR PART-TIME AND TEMPORARY EMPLOYEES ......................... 2824 
8.14.1 Regular Part-Time Employees .................................................................................... 2924 
8.14.2 Temporary Employees ................................................................................................ 2924 

 
CHAPTER 9 EMPLOYEE RESPONSIBILITIES AND CONDUCT ............................................. 3025 
 



 
iv 

 

9.1 GENERAL CODE OF CONDUCT ..................................................................................................... 3025 
9.2 OUTSIDE EMPLOYMENT AND CONFLICTS OF INTEREST ...................................................... 3025 
9.3 REPORTING IMPROPER GOVERNMENTAL ACTION ................................................................ 3126 
9.4 POLITICAL ACTIVITIES .................................................................................................................. 3126 
9.5 NO SMOKING POLICY ..................................................................................................................... 3126 
9.6 PERSONAL POSSESSIONS AND ELECTRONIC COMMUNICATIONS ..................................... 3126 
9.7 USE OF AGENCY VEHICLES AND EQUIPMENT ........................................................................ 3126 
9.8 BULLETIN BOARDS ......................................................................................................................... 3226 
9.9 CONTACT WITH THE NEWS MEDIA ............................................................................................ 3227 
9.10 SEAT BELT, CELLULAR PHONE AND TEXTING POLICY ........................................................ 3227 
9.11 DRIVER’S LICENSE REQUIREMENTS .......................................................................................... 3227 
9.12 SOLICITATIONS ............................................................................................................................... 3227 
9.13 SAFETY .............................................................................................................................................. 3227 
9.14 SUBSTANCE ABUSE ........................................................................................................................ 3227 

9.14.1 Availability of Rehabilitation or Treatment ................................................................ 3327 
9.14.2 When Job Performance Is Affected ............................................................................ 3328 
9.14.3 Drug-Free Workplace ................................................................................................. 3328 

9.15 GIFTS & GRATUITIES .......................................................................................................................... 28 
 
CHAPTER 10 DISCIPLINE AND TERMINATION ........................................................................ 3429 
 
10.1 ACTIONS SUBJECT TO DISCIPLINARY ACTION ....................................................................... 3429 
10.2 LAYOFF .............................................................................................................................................. 3530 
10.3 RESIGNATION ................................................................................................................................... 3530 
 
CHAPTER 11  COMPLAINT PROCEDURES .................................................................................. 3631 
 
11.1 COMPLAINT PROCEDURES ............................................................................................................... 31 

11.1.1 Additional Procedures ........................................................................................................ 32 
 
CHAPTER 12 ELECTRONIC COMMUNICATIONS .......................................................................... 33 
 
12.1 ELECTRONIC COMMUNICATION MONITORING .......................................................................... 33 
12.2 ELECTRONIC COMMUNICATIONS AND PUBLIC RECORDS ....................................................... 33 
12.3 INTERNET POLICY............................................................................................................................... 33 
12.4 SOCIAL MEDIA POLICY ...................................................................................................................... 34 

12.4.1 Introduction ..................................................................................................................... 34 
12.4.2 Definitions ...................................................................................................................... 34 
12.4.3 Social Media Account Access......................................................................................... 34 
12.4.4 Prohibited Content in Agency Social Media ................................................................... 35 
12.4.5 Expectation of Privacy .................................................................................................... 36 

12.5  SOCIAL MEDIA PERSONAL USE ............................................................................................ 36 
11.2 APPEAL PROCESS12.5.1 .................................................................................... Introduction

 ........................................................................................................................................ 36 
12.5.2 No Expectation of Privacy .............................................................................................. 36 
12.5.3 Employee Personal Use of Social Media ........................................................................ 37 
12.5.4 Prohibited Conduct in Personal Social Media ................................................................ 37 
12.5.5 Employee Responsibility and Duty to Report ................................................................. 38 

12.6 MOBILE COMMUNICATIONS POLICY ............................................................................................. 38 
12.7 RECORD RETENTION .......................................................................................................................... 38 
 
 



 
v 

 

RECEIPT OF PERSONNEL POLICIES ....................................................................................................... 3839 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
vi 

 

 



1 
 

CAPITAL CITY DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION 
Personnel Manual 

 
 
 

CHAPTER 1 
PURPOSE AND SCOPE 

 
1.1 INTRODUCTION 
 
These personnel policies serve as a general guide to the Agency’sCapital City Development Corporation’s 
(“Agency”) current employment practices and procedures. As such, we hope they will help you better understand 
how the Agency operates and what is expected of you as an employee. The Agency places the highest value on our 
employees and their well-being. We want to see that you are a satisfied and productive worker, with the support 
necessary to achieve the objectives of your position.  
 
It is our belief that when consistent personnel policies are known and communicated to all, the chances for greater 
job satisfaction increase. These personnel policies serve as a general guide to the Agency’s current employment 
practices and procedures. If you have any questions, please ask your supervisor. As you have ideas or suggestions 
for improvement, please do the same. 
 
1.2 INTENT OF POLICIES–EMPLOYMENT AT WILL 
 
These policies are not intended to be a contract, express or implied, or any type of promise or guarantee of specific 
treatment upon which you may rely, or as a guarantee of employment for any specific duration. Your employment 
with us is at will, and either of us may decide to terminate the employment relationship at any time and for any 
reason. 
 
Please understand that no supervisor, manager or representative of the Agency other than a written statement by the 
Executive Director has the authority to enter into any agreement with you for employment for any specified period 
or to make any written or verbal commitments contrary to the foregoing. 
 
1.3 SCOPE OF POLICIES 
 
These personnel policies apply to all Agency employees and do not apply to the appointed Board of Commissioners.  
In cases where these policies conflict with any Agency Resolutionresolution, the provisions of a specific written 
employment agreement, state or federal law, the terms of that law, resolution or agreement prevail. In all other cases, 
these policies apply. 
 
1.4 CHANGING THE POLICIES 
 
The Capital City Development Corporation Personnel Manual, November 1999, was initially adopted by the Agency 
Board pursuant to Resolution No. 806, approved at the Board’s special meeting of November 3, 1999.  The 
provisions of Resolution No.806 vest certain authority in the Executive Director to make minor modifications of 
these policies, as the need arises.  Any such modification shall be in writing and distributed to all employees.  The 
Executive Director may deviate from these policies in individual situations, particularly in an emergency, in order to 
achieve the primary purpose of serving the Agency’s mission.  Any substantive change to this Personnel Manual 
requires Board action, by approval of a resolution adopting any change or amendment to the Personnel Manual.  
Revisions to the Personnel Policy were approved in February 2001, October 2001, October 1, 2003, January 14, 
2008, May 27, 2008 and, February 13, 2012, and November 9, 2015. 
 
This Personnel Manual dated February 13, 2012January 1, 2016 supersedes any prior manuals used by the Agency. 



 
2 

 

 
 
 
1.5 DEFINITIONS 
 
 1.5.1 Calendar Month of Service  
 
The minimum number of hours in a calendar month (e.g. January, February, etc.) for which a regular employee must 
receive compensation (time worked, compensated leave, sick leave) in order to earn and accrue sick leave and/or 
vacation credit for that month. A full-time regular employee must have at least 90 hours compensated time in a 
calendar month to earn service credit; a part-time regular employee must have compensated time equal to at least 
seventy-five (75) percent of his/her regular work schedule in a calendar month to earn service credit. 
 
 1.5.2 1.5.1 Immediate Family  
 
An employee’s spouse, child (natural, adopted, step), parents (natural, step, adopted), brother or sister, 
mother/father-in-law, daughter/son-in-law, grandparents, grandchildren or other relative who lives in the 
employee’s home. 
 
 1.5.32 Regular Full-Time Employee  
 
AnAn exempt or non-exempt employee who has worked at least 30 days and who regularly works a minimum of 
forty (40) hours a week. 
 

1.5.43 Regular Part-Time Employee  
 
AnAn exempt or non-exempt employee who has worked at least 30 days and who regularly works less than forty 
(40) but at least twenty (20) hours a week. 
 
 1.5.54 Temporary Employee  
 
Department directors may use temporary employees.  Temporary employees may be hired in an intern capacity, may 
be hired to replace temporarily regular employees who are on vacation or other leave, may be hired to meet peak 
workload or special needs, or may be hired to fill a vacancy temporarily until a regular employee is hired.  A 
temporary employee is one hired for a specified purpose for a limited duration, generally not more than one year, as 
approved by the Executive Director.  Like all employees, temporary employees’ employment is at will and the 
temporary employee can be dismissed at any time and for any reason. 
 

 
 
 

 1.5.5 Exempt Employee 
 
Exempt employees are not subject to overtime pay.  An employee’s classification as exempt or non-exempt is 
determined by the Executive Director or his/her designee. 
 
 1.5.6 Non-Exempt Employee 
 
Non-exempt employees are entitled to overtime pay as provided for in sections 4.2 and 4.3. An employee’s 
classification as exempt or non-exempt is determined by the Executive Director or his/her designee. 

 



 
3 

 

CHAPTER 2 
GENERAL POLICIES AND PRACTICES 

 
2.1 EQUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITY  
 
The Agency is an Equal Employment Opportunity Employer. The Agency employs, retains, promotes, terminates 
and otherwise treats all employees and job applicants on the basis of job-related qualifications and competence. 
These policies and all committed to providing equal employment practices shall be appliedopportunity for all 
persons without regard to any individual’s sex, race, color, religion, gender, national origin, age, sexual orientation, 
gender identity, disability, veteran, current, or future military status., or any other applicable legally protected status. 
 
Equal opportunity extends to all aspects of the employment relationship, including hiring, promoting, retaining, 
training, disciplining, terminating, working conditions, compensation, benefits, and other terms and conditions of 
employment. 
 
Additionally, the Agency is committed to providing an employment environment that is free from discrimination 
and harassment. All individuals employed by the Agency are expected to conduct themselves at all times so as to 
provide a working atmosphere free from discrimination and harassment. 
 
Employees who believe they have been subjected to discrimination or harassment related to their race, color, 
religion, gender, national origin, age, sexual orientation, gender identity, disability, veteran status, or any other 
applicable legally protected status should report the behavior in accordance with the equal employment opportunity 
regulations. 
 
The Agency will not discriminate against any applicant or employee in hiring or in the terms, conditions, and 
privileges of employment based upon pregnancy, childbirth, or related medical conditions... 
 
 
2.2 DISABILITY DISCRIMINATION  
 
The Agency does not discriminate against any applicant or employee in hiring or in the terms, conditions, and 
privileges of employment due to a physical or mental impairment.disabilities.  When the Agency is made aware of 
any disability which prevents an otherwise qualified applicant or employee from performing a job, the Agency will 
work with the employee to determine if the employee is disabled and if so, will assess whether any reasonable 
accommodation would allow the person to perform the job before refusing employment or making a distinction in 
terms, conditions, or privileges of employment because of the disability.  An accommodation which creates an 
undue hardship on the Agency or which endangers health or safety is not a reasonable accommodation.  The Agency 
will make any reasonable accommodation necessary to allow an otherwise qualified applicant or employee to 
perform the job. 
 
An otherwise qualified applicant for employment or an employee with a disability who requests reasonable 
accommodation must inform his or her immediate supervisor or management of the nature of the disability and the 
accommodation required.  The Agency will then follow the procedures set forth in above.  Employees with access to 
such information shall maintain the confidentiality of the information to the extent reasonably possible and shall not 
release the information to anyone who does not have the right or need to know. 
 
2.3 LIFE THREATENING/COMMUNICABLE DISEASES  
2.3 
Employees with life threatening illnesses or communicable diseases are treated the same as all other employees. 
They are permitted to continue working as long as they are able to perform the essential functions of their job and 
medical evidence shows they, like any other employee, are not a threat in the workplace. The Agency will work to 



 
4 

 

preserve the safety of all of its employees and reserves the right to reassign employees or take other job actions, 
including discharge, when a substantial and unusual safety risk to fellow Agency employees or the public exists. 
 
2.4 ANTI-HARASSMENT AND DISCRIMINATION POLICY 
 
SEXUAL HARASSMENT AND DISCRIMINATION IS UNLAWFUL AND ABSOLUTELY FORBIDDEN BY 
THE AGENCY. 
 
It is the Agency’s policy to foster and maintain a work environment that is free from discrimination and 
intimidation. Toward this end, the Agency will not tolerate discrimination or harassment of any kind, including 
sexual harassment, that is made by employees toward co-workers or members of the public. Employees are expected 
to show respect for each other and the public at all times, despite individual differences. 
 
Sexual harassment is behavior of a sexual nature, which is unwelcome. Harassment may include verbal or physical 
conduct that demeans or shows hostility or aversion toward another employee or members of the public. 
 
Each member of management isThe Executive Director and other employee supervisors are responsible for creating 
an atmosphere free of discrimination and harassment. Further, employees are responsible for respecting the rights of 
their co-workers and others, including the citizens they serve. The following procedure outlines the steps to follow if 
you believe you have experienced harassment or discrimination on the job. 
 
If you are subject to a violation of this policy from anyone, including supervisors, fellow employees or managers, 
immediately bring the problem to the attention of a supervisor or the Executive Director in writing.  If the complaint 
involves the Executive Director, you should report the violation to the Chair of the Board of Directors in writing.  
The complaint will be promptly investigated.  To the extent possible, complaints will be handled confidentially. 
If an investigation shows the accused employee did engage in improper harassment or discrimination, appropriate 
corrective action will be taken, as in the case of any other serious employee misconduct., up to and including 
discharge. No employee shall be retaliated against or otherwise subject to adverse treatment for making a complaint 
of harassment in good faith. 
 
OurThe Agency prohibits harassment.  Harassment is defined as conduct that substantially interferes with an 
employee’s work performance or creates an intimidating, hostile, or offensive work environment.  This would 
include, but not be limited to harassing, threatening or offensive conducted directed toward a person’s sex, race, age, 
disabilitycolor, religion, gender, national origin, age, sexual orientation, gender identity, disability, veteran status, or 
current or future militaryany other applicable legally protected status. 
 
The Agency will actively enforce our polityits policy against harassment.  The policy applies to all conduct by any 
supervisor, manager, coworker, or subordinate, vendor, client, or customer that affects an employee’s work 
environment.  The Agency considers a violation of this policy a serious offense that will torequiring disciplinary 
action, up to and including discharge. 
 
In the event a complaint of harassment is found to be totally and completely without basis, appropriate disciplinary 
measures may be taken against the employee who brought the complaint., up to and including discharge.  While this 
is in no way intended to discourage any employee who believes he/she has been the victim of harassment from 
bringing a complaint, the Agency recognizes that a charge of harassment can cause serious damage to the reputation 
and personal character of the accused. 
 
 
 
 
 
 I have read and understand the Anti-Harassment and Discrimination Policy. 



 
5 

 

 
 _____________________              ________ 
 Employee’s ____________________________              _______________ 
 Employee signature                       Date   
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
6 

 

2.54 EMPLOYEE PERSONNEL RECORDS 
 
A personnel file for each employee is kept inby the Agency’s Administrative Officeappropriate Agency staff 
member. An employee’s personnel file may contain the employee’s name, title and/or position held, job description, 
department to which the employee is assigned, salary, changes in employment status, training received, performance 
evaluations, personnel actions affecting the employee, including discipline, and other pertinent information. Medical 
information about employees is contained in a separate confidential file. 
 
Employees have the right to review their files during normal business hours, within three (3) business days after a 
request to do so is received by the Executive Director. An employee may request removal of irrelevant or erroneous 
information in his/her personnel file. If the Agency denies an employee’s request to remove the information, the 
employee may file a written rebuttal statement to be placed in his/her file. 
 
Personnel files are kept confidential to the maximum extent permitted by law. 
 
 
2.65 EMPLOYMENT REFERENCES 
 
Only theThe Executive Director, his/her designee, or a supervisor will provide employment references on current or 
former Agency employees. All employees shall refer requests for references to the Executive Director. or his/her 
supervisor. References willmay be limited to verification of dates of employment, positions held, and salary. 
 
 



 
7 

 

CHAPTER 3 
RECRUITING AND HIRING 

 
 
3.1 RECRUITING 
 
Recruiting practices are based solely on the basis of ability, merit, qualifications and competence, without regard to 
race, color, religion, gender, national origin, sex, pregnancyage, sexual orientation, gender identity, disability, 
veteran status, or ageany other applicable legally protected status. 
 
Any applicant supplying false or misleading information may be subject to immediate termination, if hired. 
 
3.2 HIRING 
 
When a position becomes vacant and prior to any recruitment activity, the Executive Director shall review the 
position, its job description and the need for such a position. The recruitment and selection process shall be 
conducted under the direction of the Executive Director. 
 
The Agency may administer pre-employment examinations to test the qualifications and ability of applicants, and 
may include testing for illegal drugs, where the responsibilities of a given position include duties of a significant 
safety sensitive nature, such as extensive driving or tasks performed at a construction site. The Agency may also 
conduct certain background procedures as allowed or required by law. An example of such procedure is requiring 
applicants/employees to show proof they are authorized to work in the United States.  
 
After an offer of employment has been made and prior to commencement of employment, the Agency may require 
persons selected for employment to successfully pass a medical examination, which may include testing for illegal 
drugs where the responsibilities of a given position include duties of a significant safety sensitive nature, such as 
extensive driving or tasks performed at a construction site. The offer of employment may be conditioned on the 
results of the examination. 
 
A candidate may be disqualified from consideration if:  (1) found unable to perform the duties of the position (and 
the individual’s condition cannot reasonably be accommodated in the workplace without undue hardship); (2) the 
candidate refuses to submit to a drug test or the drug test is positive; (3) after an offer of employment has been 
made, the candidate refuses to submit to a medical examination or complete medical history forms; or (3) if any 
exam reveals use of illegal drugs. 
 
3.3 TEMPORARY EMPLOYEES 
 
 3.3.1 Temporary, At Will Employees  
 
Temporary employees are at will employees.  The Executive Director may usehire temporary employees to 
temporarily replace regular employees who are on vacation or other leave, to meet peak work load or special needs, 
or to temporarily fill a vacancy until a regular employee is hired.   
 
 3.3.2 Compensation/Benefits  
 
Temporary non-exempt employees are eligible for overtime pay as required by law as provided for in sections 4.2 
and 4.3. Temporary employees do not receive retirement, vacation, sick leave, health insurance, holidays or any 
other benefits during their employment unless required by law, or approved in writing by the Executive Director for 
persons whose employment is expected to exceed 30four (4) consecutive daysmonths. 
 
Temporary employees pay contributions to the Social Security System. 



 
8 

 

 
3.4 EMPLOYMENT OF RELATIVES (NEPOTISM) 
 
 3.4.1 Family Relationship  
 
The immediate family of current CCDCAgency employees or persons sharing living quarters will not be employed 
by the Agency where: 
 
 (1) One of the parties would have authority (or practical power) to supervise, appoint, remove, or 

discipline the other; 
 
 (2) One party would handle confidential material that creates improper or inappropriate access to that 

material by the other; 
 
 (3) One party would be responsible for auditing the work of the other; or 
 
 (4) Other circumstances exist that might lead to potential conflict among the parties or conflict 

between the interest of one or both parties and the best interests of the Agency. 
 
Members of the immediate family of CCDCAgency Board members will not be eligible for Agency employment. 
 

3.4.2 Change in Circumstances  
 
If two employees marry, become related or begin sharing living quarters with one another, and in the Agency’s 
judgment, the potential problems noted above exist or reasonably could exist, only one of the employees will be 
permitted to stay with the Agency, unless accommodations, as determined in the discretion of the Executive 
Director, can be made to eliminate the potential problem. The decision as to which employee will remain with the 
Agency must be made by the two employees within thirty (30) calendar days of the date they marry, become related, 
or begin sharing living quarters with each other. If no decision is made during this time, the Agency reserves the 
right to terminate either or both employees. 
 
3.5 PROMOTIONS 
 
The Agency encourages promotion from within the organization whenever possible, but reserves the right to seek 
qualified applicants outside of the organization at its discretion. 
 

 



 
9 

 

CHAPTER 4 
HOURS AND ATTENDANCE 

 
4.1 WORKING HOURS 
 
The Agency’s standard workweek is Monday through Friday from 8:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m. with an unpaid lunch 
period. Due to the nature of the Agency’s operations, longer hours may be necessary in some instances. 
 
A normal working schedule for a regular, non-exempt, full-time employeesemployee consists of forty (40) hours 
each workweek.  
 
Part-time and temporary employees will work hours as specified by the Executive Director. 
 
4.2 HOURS OF WORK AND OVERTIME 
 
All Agency positions are designated as either “exempt” or “non-exempt” according to the Fair Labor Standards Act 
(“FLSA”) and Idaho Minimum Wage Act regulations. You will be informed of your status by the Agency. 
 
For mostregular full-time Agency employees, the established work period is forty (40) hours within a seven (7) day 
workweek. All personnelemployees are responsible for accurately reporting all hours worked on forms supplied by 
the Agency.  
 
Non-exempt employees are entitled to additional compensation, either in cash or compensatory time off, when they 
work more than the maximum numbers offorty (40) hours duringwithin a work period.seven (7) day workweek. All 
overtime must be authorized in advance by the Executive Director. or his/her designee. Overtime pay is calculated at 
one and one-half (1.5) times the employee’s regular rate of pay for all time worked beyond the established work 
periodforty (40) hours within a seven (7) day workweek. When computing overtime, time paid for but not worked 
(e.g., holidays, sick leave and vacation time), is not counted as hours worked. 
 
Exempt employees are exempt from the Fair Labor Standards Act (FLSA) orFLSA and Idaho Minimum Wage Act 
overtime provisions and do not receive either overtime pay or compensatory time in lieu of overtime pay. An 
exempt employee is paid to perform a job, which may not necessarily be completed in a normal week. In recognition 
of the extra time demands of certain exempt positions, informal paid leave may be taken, as mutually agreed upon 
between the employee and the Executive Director.  
 
4.3 COMPENSATORY TIME 
 
Non-exempt employees entitled to overtime pay may request compensatory time off instead of cash payment. 
ThisAll compensatory time is approved on a case-by-case basis by the Executive Director or his/her designee and 
must be pre-arranged. The Agency is not required to grant compensatory time instead of overtime pay. If the 
compensatory time option is exercised, the employee is credited with one and one-half (1.5) times the hours worked 
as overtime. Maximum accruals of compensatory time shall be limited to 16 hours for regular non-exempt 
employees. After maximum accrual, overtime compensation shall be paid.  
 
Non-exempt employees will be allowed compensatory time off within a reasonable time period after making a 
request to their department headthe Executive Director or his/her designee, unless doing so would unduly disrupt 
Agency operations. Compensatory time off should be used for short-term absences from work.  
 
4.4 ATTENDANCE 
 
Punctual and consistent attendance is a condition of employment. The Executive Director, his/her designee, or the 
immediate supervisor is responsible for the attendance record of the staff. 



 
10 

 

 
Non-exempt employees unable to work or unable to report to work on time should notify their supervisor as soon as 
possible, ordinarily before the work day begins or within thirty (30) minutes of the employee’s usual starting time. If 
an absence continues beyond three (3) days, the employee is responsible for reporting in each day. If the Executive 
Directorsupervisor is unavailable, the employee may leave a message with the designated representative, stating the 
reason for being late or unable to report for work. 
 
An employee who is absent without authorization or notification is subject to disciplinary action, up to and including 
possible terminationdischarge. 
 
This policy is not applicable to employees on designated state or federal military leave, family medical leave, or jury 
duty.  Additionally, nothing in this policy should be construed to change the Agency’s at-will relationship with all 
employees. 
 
4.5 TELECOMMUTING POLICY 
 
 4.5.1 Purpose  
 
This purpose of this telecommuting policy is to establish general guidelines for telecommuting.  Some goals of the 
policy are: 
 
  1. Enhance performance and increase productivity. 
 
   2. Mitigate any potential or perceived safety issues if long hours must be worked.  
 
   3. Provide for flexibility: 
 
   a. Telecommute occasionally to complete a special project. 
 
   b. Telecommute only a portion of the day. 
 
   c. Telecommute on a scheduled, part-time basis. 
 
 4.5.2 Participation  
 
Telecommuting is voluntary, but it is not a right.  The telecommuting program should apply to exempt employees. 
and is subject to approval by the Executive Director.  Generally, non-exempt employees are providing support 
services for exempt staff and public contact services.  Absence from the office would hinder productivity rather than 
enhance it.  Most often non-exempt staff are not assigned special projects that can be completed outside work hours 
nor required to work long or late hours. 
 
   
 4.5.3 Equipment  
 
Telecommuting equipment must be provided by the employee.  The Agency will supply the support services and 
communication software necessary to access the work desktop.  Any operating system or hardware upgrades or 
purchases or any modem or phone line installation and maintenance necessary to participate in the telecommuting 
program must be provided by the employee.  Additionally, workspace needs are the responsibility of the employees.  
The Agency assumes no responsibility for personal equipment or associated costs.   
 



 
11 

 

Employee must provide for adequate protection to prevent unauthorized access to Agency desktop computers or 
other Agency equipment.  This may include, but is not limited to a secure in-house location with no unauthorized 
access to the home computer and password authorization. 
 
 4.5.4 General Issues  
 
Telecommuting is not a right.  This program must be utilized to benefit the Agency.  Budgetary demands are a factor 
and the Executive Director determines the benefit to the Agency.  Exempt employees working additional hours 
through the telecommuting program need not secure Executive Director permission.  Exempt employees utilizing 
the telecommuting program in lieu of working in the office during the hours determined in the Personnel Policy 
Manualstandard working hours must establish a schedule through the Executive Director.  The Executive Director 
may determine non-exempt staff need access to the telecommuting program. 
 
Employees are covered by Workers Compensation during their telecommuting work hours. 
 
4.6 BREAKS AND MEAL PERIODS 
 
Non-exempt employees are provided one (1) fifteen-minute break for every four hours worked. All breaks shall be 
arranged so that they do not interfere with Agency business or service to the public. RestBreak periods will be 
scheduled as near as possible to the mid-point of each four-hour work period. RestBreak periods MAY NOT be 
accumulated or taken at the beginning or end of any work period (i.e., morning or afternoon shift).   
 
Lunch periods are unpaid. Meal periods for non-exempt employees shall be scheduled by the Executive 
Director.employee’s supervisor. Meal periods must be taken not less than two (2) hours or more than five (5) hours 
from the beginning of the shift. Lunch break scheduling and duration will be established by the employee’s 
supervisor provided that lunch breaks for nonexemptnon-exempt employees shall be no less than 30 minutes. The 
scheduling of meal periods may vary depending on department workload. Unused lunch periods (e.g., only 30 of an 
allotted 60 minutes lunch period is used) may not be carried forward or accrued or used at other times of the day 
without the specific pre-approval of employee’s supervisor. 
 
4.74.7 BREAK TIME FOR NURSING MOTHERS 
 
The Agency will provide reasonable break time for an employee to express breast milk for her nursing 
child for one year after the child’s birth each time such employee has need to express the milk. The 
frequency of breaks needed to express milk as well as the duration of each break will likely vary.  The 
Agency shall provide a place, other than a bathroom, that is shielded from view and free from intrusion 
from coworkers and the public, which may be used by an employee to express breast milk. A bathroom, 
even if private, is not a permissible location under the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act. The 
location provided must be functional as a space for expressing breast milk. If the space is not dedicated 
to the nursing mother’s use, it must be available when needed in order to meet the statutory requirement. 
A space temporarily created or converted into a space for expressing milk or made available when 
needed by the nursing mother is sufficient provided that the space is shielded from view, and free from 
any intrusion from co-workers and the public. Breaks taken for the purpose of expressing milk are unpaid. 
 
4.8 PAYROLL RECORDS 
 
The official payroll records are kept by the Finance OfficerDepartment. Each employee shall turn in a signed work 
record bi-weekly for that workweekeach pay period, as specified by the Finance Officer. 
 



 
12 

 

CHAPTER 5 
 

TRAVEL/MEETING EXPENSE POLICY 
 
5.1 GENERAL POLICY   
 
Any person authorized to perform official business on behalf of Capital City Development Corporationthe Agency 
may incur travel/meeting expenses.  It is expected that good judgment, prudence and discretion will be exercised 
while conducting Agency business.  The itinerary of an employee shall be planned to eliminate unnecessary travel in 
the performance of work assignments.  Should travel companions accompany any person authorized to perform 
official business on behalf of the Agency, it is expected that they will pay for their costs without causing any charges 
to accrue to Capital City Development Corporationthe Agency.  Transitioning between home and work is not 
considered travel for the purpose of this policy. 
 
5.2 VEHICLE USE 
 
The cost of transportation by private vehicles is reimbursed at the rate established by the State Board of Examiners, 
computed according to a commonly used online mapping utility which supports the distance as the most direct 
and/or efficient route. 
 
If private conveyance is used, liability insurance in the amount required by Idaho Code § 49-117(16) shall be 
provided. Employees shall have current vehicle insurance and a valid driver’s license when using a private vehicle 
for Agency business. The employee’s insurance is considered by State statute to be primary before the Agency’s 
insurance. If an employee is involved in an accident and does not have a valid driver’s license and insurance the 
Agency will disclaim any liability and the employee will be personally liable. 
 
5.3 AIRFARE 
 
The If airfare is used that is not the lowest available including Saturday night stay over, then the cost of hotel, meals 
and all expenses for staying the additional days should be greater than or equal to the difference in cost as compared 
to Saturday night stay over rate. cost for commercial airfare shall be limited to the lowest available class of passage 
rate, such as “coach” or similar classification. Airfare at other classes and seat selection or other upgrade fees are not 
allowed unless properly documented that the seat selection, upgrade fees, or class of passage at a higher rate was 
necessary due to availability, physical limitations or other factors, and that the ticket was purchased at the earliest 
opportunity. Baggage fees charged by commercial airlines are allowable not to exceed one checked bag and one 
carry-on bag per departure unless additional baggage costs are necessary and approved in advance. Any additional 
costs, such as in-flight services, internet access or entertainment, are not allowable and are the responsibility of the 
traveler, unless a valid business purpose is identified and approved in advance by the designated authority. Costs 
incurred should always be the most economical under the circumstances.  Whenever possible, courtesy services 
offered by hotels or hosting agencies should be used.  Costs incurred before or after a scheduled meeting which are 
not necessary to perform official business are not expenses of the Agency. 
 
Payment5.4 REIMBURSEMENTS 
 
A completed travel expense report shall be submitted to the Executive Director or the appropriate supervisor for 
actual costs signature within five (5) week days of return from the trip. This form is required for every trip even if 
the only Agency expense is the per diem meal allowance. Extra expense such as bridge tolls, garage and parking 
fees and like expenses shall be allowable in addition to the mileage reimbursement. The mode and route of travel 
shall be those allowable travel expenses actually incurred.  Allowable costs shall  by the traveler by use of the most 
economical mode, from the standpoint of time, cost, and practicality. Cost should include overtime and 
compensatory time amounts that may accrue under the Fair Labor Standards Act for non-exempt employees. If 
public transportation, meals,  is used, costs by common carrier including bus, train, rental car, and airlines are 



 
13 

 

allowable. Receipts for non per diem expenses shall be submitted upon return. Reimbursable airline travel shall be 
limited to coach or other normally lowest cost passage.  
 
Traveling employees who rent automobiles for Agency business purposes shall purchase liability, comprehensive, 
and collision coverage through the rental agency, unless the automobile rental amount is paid by means of a personal 
credit card that provides such rental car insurance coverage. In the event that the employee fails to buy insurance 
through the rental car company, the employee shall be personally responsible for damages and other liability 
incurred through rental and use of the automobile. Subsistence allowance shall cover actual necessary expenditures 
for lodging and miscellaneous expenses.  , provided that receipts are presented. Food including tips and incidentals 
are paid on a per diem basis. 
 
Lodging will be reimbursed at actual cost should not to exceed the single rate for one(1) person plus tax or the actual 
cost if thea room is shared. An original receipt shall be submitted for settlement of the travel expense. A government 
room rate should be secured whenever possible.  Meals shall be reimbursed on an actual basis and should be 
reasonable for the location and purpose of the trip.  The tip should not exceed fifteen percent (15%).  Duplicate 
allowance shall not be made for meal costs included in registration fees. 
 
Payment shall not be made for any expenses incurred while staying with family or friends.  However, a non-
alcoholic thank-you gift in lieu of lodging/travel expense not to exceed $25.00 may be incurred. 
 
ItemsMeals and incidental expenses - The Agency uses a per diem method for meals of employees while on 
overnight out of town travel. The per diem amounts are consistent with those set forth in the State Travel Policy and 
Procedures (https://www.sco.idaho.gov/web/sbe/sbeweb.nsf/pages/trvlpolicy.htm), set forth in Appendix A hereto 
which also require that if an employee receives a meal at nominal or no cost, the per diem shall be adjusted by 
deducting the appropriate amount. A continental breakfast such as muffins, bagels, fruit, and coffee that is provided 
free of charge will not reduce the employee’s meal allowance.  
 
For partial days away from home, the per diem amount should be adjusted using the meal breakdown chart and the 
employee’s travel schedule. At no time may the adjusted amount be more than the per diem for the day. Please refer 
to the per diem rate and meal breakdown charts on the State Travel Policy and Procedures 
(https://www.sco.idaho.gov/web/sbe/sbeweb.nsf/pages/trvlpolicy.htm).   
 
Reimbursement will be made for miscellaneous expenses such as taxis, shuttles, etc. Reimbursement for telephone 
calls pertaining to official Agency business will be paid.. An item not specifically described or requests to exceed 
the above regulations as an allowable expense, but which are nevertheless necessary in the performance of official 
travel duties for the Agency, may be payablereimbursable upon submission of a receipt and, a thorough explanation.  
The and approval by the Executive Director must approve all expenses. 
 
5.5 ADDITIONAL ALLOWABLE INCIDENTAL EXPENSES 
 

  Educational materials required for specific authorized schools.Conference material which 
may be useful to work.  These supplies are and will remain the property of the Agency. 

 
 Miscellaneous travel costs such as bus, taxi, bridge or other tolls, parking, ferry, and the like are authorized 

by a listing of same as provided by the reimbursement form. 
 

  Registration fees required in connection with attendance at conventions, conferences, 
schools, and official meetings.  All requests for registration at such functions must be 
accompanied by a complete published agenda of the event. 

 



 
14 

 

 Business telephone and postage expenses are an allowable expense.  Phone calls to the employee’s office 
are also an allowable expense.  A brief personal telephone call, which is made to advise the employee’s 
family of change in travel plans is also allowable. 

 
 
 
 
  
5.36 EXPENDITURES NOT REIMBURSABLE  
 
Certain travel/meeting expenses are considered personal and not essential to the transaction of official Agency 
business: 
 
o Liquor. 
 

 o Alcoholic beverages. 
 

 Personal entertainment and transportation. 
 

 o Theft, loss or damage to personal property. 
 

 o Expenses of spouse, family or other persons not authorized to receive reimbursement 
under this policy. 
 

o Barber or beauty parlor. 
 

 o Airline and other trip insurance. 
 

 o Medical or hospital expenses. 
 

 o Personal toilet articles, postage, reading material, telephone calls. 
 
5.47 DOCUMENTATION 
 
An expense report shall be completed within one week of incurring expenses.  No expense report for reimbursement 
shall be paid unless bona fide vendor receipts accompany it.  Such receipts should show the date, a description of the 
purchase, vendor identification and amount paid.  Receipts are required for all expenses over $5.00.  If it is 
necessary in the course of Agency business to pay for persons not considered Agency employees, the bona fide 
vendor receipt should include comments detailing the names of additional persons and the purpose for incurring the 
additional cost. 
 
Should any person use a corporate credit card to charge travel/meeting expense and not provide proper 
documentation, that person shall pay the incurred expense. 
 
5.58 CORPORATE CREDIT CARD 
 
Corporate credit card use shall be limited to business purposes.  Violations of this policy shall subject the individual 
to dismissal.  Any unauthorized charge on the card shall be the responsibility of the individual.  
 
 
 



 
15 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 



 
16 

 

CHAPTER 6 
PERFORMANCE EVALUATIONS, COMPENSATION PLAN AND TRAINING 

 
 
6.1 PERFORMANCE EVALUATIONS AND COMPENSATION PLAN 
 
To achieve the Agency’s goal to train, promote and retain the best-qualified employee for every job, the Agency will 
conduct yearly performance evaluations for all positions. The Executive Director or designee is responsible for 
developing and maintaining the Agency’s performance evaluation program. and compensation plan. The Agency’s 
compensation plan may include position descriptions, pay grades, salary ranges, reviews, reclassification or 
promotions, reporting relationships and bonuses.  The compensation plan is intended to provide flexibility and is 
subject to changes based on direction from the Agency Board or by the Executive Director.   
 
6.2 TRAINING POLICY 
 
Employee training and professional development are core Agency values. The Agency seeks, within the limits of 
available resources, to offer training to increase an employee’s skill, knowledge and abilities directly related to 
Agency employment, to obtain or maintain required licenses and certifications, to maintain professional designations 
and certifications related to position responsibilities, and to develop staff resources. Opportunities may include but 
are not limited to: on-the-job training, in-house workshops and seminars sponsored by other agencies or 
organizations, continuing education, and memberships with professional organizations as authorized by the 
Executive Director.  
 
 
 



 
17 

 

CHAPTER 7 
BENEFITS 

 
 
7.1 RETIREMENT BENEFITS 
 
The Agency makes contributions on behalf of all eligible employeeshas elected to participate in the pension or 
Public Employee Retirement System of Idaho (PERSI). PERSI is a defined benefit retirement plan and is mandatory 
for eligible employees. Employees are eligible to participate in PERSI if they normally work twenty (20) hours or 
more per week and the term of employment is for five (5) consecutive months or longer.  
 
As a PERSI member you have a percentage of your gross salary deducted, tax deferred, from your bi-weekly 
paycheck as contribution plans currently approved by the CCDC Board of Directors for toward your retirement. 
Additionally, the Agency contributes a percentage toward retirement 
 
Active members of PERSI earn service credit toward a PERSI retirement. Most members are vested when they 
acquire 60 months of service. Once vested an employee may be eligible to claim a monthly lifetime retirement 
benefit.  
 
PERSI also offers a supplemental retirement savings plan called the Choice 401(k) Plan, which allows PERSI 
eligible employees and as otherwise required by law.to make voluntary contributions.  
For more information, please contact human resources and/or visit PERSI at www.persi.state.id.us/. 
 
7.2 DISABILITY BENEFITS (WORKERS’ COMPENSATION) 
 
 7.2.1 Coverage and Claims  
 
All employees are covered by worker’s compensation insurance. This insurance covers employees in case of on-the-
job injury or job-related occupational disease.  The Agency’s workers’ compensation insurance carrier will pay the 
employee for workdays lost and medical costs attributable to job-related injuries or occupational diseases. All job-
related accidents must be reported immediately to the supervisor. 
 
When an employee is absent for one or more days due to an on-the-job accident or occupational disease, he/she is 
required to file a claim for Workers’ Compensation. If the employee files a claim, the Agency will pay the 
employee’s regular salary from the employee’s sick leave pending determination of eligibility for Workers’ 
Compensation benefits. 
 
 7.2.2 Coordination of Benefits  
 
If the employee is determined to be eligible for Workers’ Compensation benefits the Agency will credit the amount 
of personal sick leave used until payment of workers’ compensation benefits commences.  This policy is to ensure 
that employees will receive prompt and regular payment during periods of injury or disability, so long as accrued 
sick leave is available pending determination of entitlement to workers’ compensation benefits. Upon determination 
of entitlement to workers’ compensation benefits, the appropriate amount of sick leave shall be restored to the 
employee’s account.  (Please also see Section 8.11 of this Policy manual.) 
 
Subject to the Idaho Workers’ Compensation laws and in coordination with the Agency’s workers’ compensation 
insurance carrier, the Agency may require an examination at its expense, performed by a physician of its choice.  
 
7.3 HEALTH INSURANCE BENEFITS 
 



 
18 

 

Regular full-time and part-time employees and their dependents are eligible to participate in the Agency’s various 
insurance programs after 30 daysas of the initial1st of the month following the date of employment. The programs 
and criteria for eligibility will be explained upon hire. The Agency pays the cost of premiums in the amounts 
authorized by the Agency Board. The Agency reserves the right to make changes in the carriers and provisions of 
these programs when deemed necessary or advisable.  The program may include a self-insurance component and a 
procedure written for implementation. 
 
Temporary employees will normally not be eligible for group health insurance coverage.   
 

7.3.1 Employee Assistance Program  
 
As part of the Agency’s insurance programs, the Agency has provided for an Employee Assistance Program (EAP) 
for its employees through which employees and their dependents are able to obtain appropriate and necessary care 
for problems they may suffer and for such other personal problems as may interfere with their productivity and 
general welfare.  The program and criteria for eligibility will be explained upon hire.  The Agency pays the costs 
imposed by the provider of the program in the amounts authorized by the Agency Board.  The Agency reserves the 
right to make changes to this program when deemed necessary or advisable, with prior notice to affected employees. 
 

7.3.2.1 Self-Insurance–Medical Reimbursement Plan  
 
As part of the Agency’s Health Insurance program, the Agency Board, pursuant to Resolution No. 918 approved on 
January 13, 2003, adopted a Medical Reimbursement Plan.  A copy of the current Medical Reimbursement Plan is 
attached hereto as Attachment 1 and is incorporated herein by reference.  As with the Agency’s health benefit 
program, the Agency reserves the right to make changes to the Medical Reimbursement Plan when deemed 
necessary or advisable, with prior notice to affected employees. 
 
7.4 CONTINUATION OF INSURANCE COVERAGE 
 
 7.4.1 Workers’ Compensation Benefits  
 
An employee receiving Workers’ Compensation benefits continues to accrue vacation leave and sick leave for up to 
six (6) months.  The Agency also continues to pay for the employer’s portion of health insurance premiums.  After 
six (6) months, the employee’s healthcare benefits shall cease.  The employee may continue health care benefits by 
self-paying insurance premiums for the remainder of the time he/she receives Workers’ Compensation benefits. 
 
 7.4.2 COBRA Rights  
 
Upon an employee’s termination from Agency employment or upon an unpaid leave of absence, at the employer’s 
option and expense, the employee may be eligible to continue Agency health insurance benefits to the extent 
provided under the federal COBRA regulations.  An administrative handling fee over and above the cost of the 
insurance premium may be charged the employee or his/her dependents that elect to exercise their COBRA 
continuation rights. 
 
 7.4.3 7.4.2 Termination, Retirement, Leave of Absence  
 
For eligible employees who terminate, retire or are on an approved leave of absence, the Agency will pay the 
Agency’s share of the premium for the month the employee is leaving. 
 
7.5 UNEMPLOYMENT COMPENSATION 
 



 
19 

 

Agency employees may qualify for Idaho State Unemployment Compensation after termination from Agency 
employment depending on the reason for termination and if certain qualifications are met. 
 
7.67.5 TUITION REIMBURSEMENT POLICY 
 
Capital City Development Corporation The Agency is committed to excellence.continuous learning.  As a means to 
pursue excellence,this goal and to encourage professional growth and increase effectiveness in its employees, the 
Agency will provide tuition reimbursement for all regular full-time employees thatwho have met the probationary 
requirements of the been employed by the Agency.  for at least one year. In addition to the probationary 
requirement, the employee must be classifiedcontinuously employed as a permanentregular full-time employee at 
the time the class is completed and at the time request for reimbursement is submitted.  The employee must maintain 
regular full-time employment with the Agency for one year after receiving reimbursement to avoid re-payment of 
the benefit. 
 
Participation is subject to the availability of funds. 
 
An employee’s participation in the program will not adversely affect departmental operations or services. 
 
The time scheduled by an employee to attend classes during working hours must be made up during the employee’s 
pay cycle. 
 
The employee’s supervisor must verify that course is job-related. Job related courses are: 
 
Credit course(s) whose content is of direct and significant assistance to the employee in fulfilling present duties and 
responsibilities or advancing professional development.  Courses that are not directly related to a specific job, but 
form part of a job-related degree program, may also qualify for this benefit.  Continuing education and audited 
courses do not qualify nor does course work undertaken solely for self-enrichment. 
 
Under this policy employees may be reimbursed for up to two job-related courses per fiscal year. in an amount not 
to exceed $1,000.  Courses must be taken from an accredited, degree-granting college or university. 
 
The employee must complete the course(s) with a grade of “C” or better.  In the case of pass/fail classes, the 
employee must pass the class. 
 
Employees must pay tuition and required fees when registering for courses at eligible institutions.  Tuition and fees 
excluding application fees will be reimbursed only after proof of successful completion of the course(s) and proof of 
payment is provide.  Fees include books and supplies.  
 
If reimbursement is available through other sources such as grants or scholarship, those avenues of reimbursement 
must be pursued before reimbursement from the Agency is sought. 
 
It is the employee’s responsibility as a taxpayer to assess the tax consequences of reimbursement for educational 
expenses and comply with existing provisions of the Internal Revenue Code. 
 
Application for reimbursement must be made in writing with attached documentation of course payment and 
completion. 
 
7.7 HIPAA COMPLIANCE 
 
The Agency has adopted certain policies and procedures in compliance with the Health Insurance Portability and 
Accountability Act of 1996 (HIPAA), a copy of which is attached hereto as Attachment 2 and incorporated herein 
by reference. 



 
20 

 

 
 



 
21 

 

CHAPTER 8   
LEAVES 

 
 
8.1 DEFINITIONS 
 
For purposes of this Chapter, the following definitions shall apply: 
 
 8.1.1 Dependent Children  
 
Dependent children are children of an employee through age 1826 (including stepchildren, foster children, legally 
adopted children, legal wards or a child of a person standing in loco parentis) who are unmarried and claimed as an 
exemption on the employee’s federal income tax return; adult dependent children age 19 through age 22 who are 
unmarried, attending full-time an educational institution of higher learning, and claimed as an exemption on the 
employee’s federal income tax return; and/or incapacitated children who have a developmental or physical disability 
which existed before the child reached age 23, which is continuing, and which prevents the child from providing for 
his or her own support.).[Drafting note – confirm definition/requirements with current healthcare plan. ] 
 
 8.1.2 Immediate Family  
 
Immediate family is an employee’s spouse, child (natural, adopted, step), parents (natural, step, adopted), brother or 
sister, mother/father-in-law, daughter/son-in-law, grandparents, grandchildren, or other relative who lives in the 
employee’s home. 
 
 8.1.3 Serious Health Condition  
 
Serious health condition is an illness, injury, impairment, or physical or mental condition that involves:  (a) in-
patient care in a hospital, hospice or residential medical care facility; or (b) continuing treatment by a health care 
provider. 
 
8.2 VACATION LEAVE 
 
 8.2.1 Accruals   
 
Vacation hours are accrued at the end of each pay period. Each regular full-time employee is entitled to vacation 
leave as follows: 
 

Years of Employment Vacation Hours Earned 

0-1 yearsBeginning of eligibility 
through the completion of the first 

10 hrs/month  

1-5 yearsBeginning of year 2 through 
the completion of the fourth year 

12 hrs/month  

6 yearsBeginning of year 5 & over 14 hrs/month 

 
Regular part-time employees will receive vacation on a pro-rata basis.  
 
Temporary employees are not eligible except as provided by Section 3.3 for any vacation benefits.  Employees do 
not accrue vacation benefits during a leave without pay in any month in which compensation is not paid. 
 



 
22 

 

  
 

 
 
 
8.2.2 Accelerated Vacation Accruals for Exempt Level Employees  

 
In order to ensure the Agency is competitive in hiring and retaining the most qualified employees in exempt level 
positions, the Executive Director is authorized to agree to initial lump sum and specific monthly accruals of time 
which exceed the schedules of earning contained in Section 8.2.1.  Such agreements must be in writing and be 
retained in both the personnel and payroll file of that employee. 
 
 8.2.3 Limits on Accruals  
 
The maximum number of vacation hours which may be carried over from one calendar year to the next is one year’s 
accrual at the current earning rate for that employee, provided however, that the total accrual of unused vacation 
leave shall not exceed 1.5 times the current annual rate.  (Please note: the maximum number of unused vacation 
hours is pro-rated for a part-time regular employee to reflect his/her normally scheduled workweek.) 
 
Any leave accruals exceeding the maximum carryover on December 31 of each year will automatically be forfeited 
unless otherwise specifically authorized in writing by the Executive Director or designee. 
 
In cases where Agency operations have made it impractical for an employee to use vacation time, the Executive 
Director may in his or her sole discretion authorize additional carryover or temporarily increase the total accrual 
limit for unused leave. 
 
In recognition that the demands of work schedules may prevent the appropriate use of accumulated vacation leave, 
at the sole discretion of the Executive Director, exempt employees may be paid for up to one-half of current accrual 
balance of vacation time per year. 
 
 8.2.4 Using Vacation Leave  
 
An employee may take vacation leave only after obtaining permission from the appropriate supervisor or Executive 
Director, as the case may be.  Vacations must be scheduled to meet the operating requirements of the Agency, and, 
as far as practicable, the preferences of the employee.  The maximum number of hours an employee may take is the 
number of hours posted to his/her account at the time the vacation leave is taken; an employee may not “borrow” 
from vacation accruals not yet earned. 
 
If due to Agency convenience, a pre-approved vacation must be cancelled or changed causing out-of-pocket expense 
to the employee, then the Agency willmay reimburse the employee for the unrecoverable portion of the out-of-
pocket expense.  
 
 8.2.5 Payment for Vacation Accruals at Termination  
 
When leaving Agency service, an employee will be paid, at the base hourly rate as of the date of departure, a lump 
sum for all accrued unused vacation which has not been forfeited, but only up to the maximum accrued amount. 
 
8.3 SICK LEAVE 
 
 8.3.1 Accruals  
 



 
23 

 

All full-time regular employees accrue sick leave benefits at the rate of eight (8) hours for each calendar month of 
continuous employment.  SickFour (4) hours of sick leave is accrued as of the first of each monthpay period.  
Regular part-time employees may accrue sick leave benefits on a pro-rata basis according to hours worked. The 
hours accrued for a particular pay period cannot be used by an employee in advance of or during the pay period they 
are accrued. 
 
Temporary employees do not earn sick leave benefits except as provided in Section 3.3.   Employees do not accrue 
sick leave benefits during a leave without pay in any month in which compensation is not paid. 
 
 8.3.2 Limits on Sick Leave Accruals  
 
The maximum number of hours an employee may carry in his/her sick leave balance is 720 hours. 
 
 8.3.3 Using Paid Sick Leave  
 
Acceptable use of sick leave covers those situations in which an employee is absent from work due to: 
 
 (1) Employee’s own health condition (illness, injury, physical or mental disability, including 

disability due to pregnancy or childbirth); 
 
 (2) The need to care for an immediate family member who is ill; 
 

 (3) Medical or dental appointments for the employee or employee’s immediate family, provided that 
the employee must make a reasonable effort to schedule such appointments at times which have 
the least interference with the work day; 

 
 (4) Exposure to a contagious disease where on-the-job presence of the employee would jeopardize the 

health of others; 
 
 (5) Use of a prescription drug that impairs job performance or safety; 
 
 (6) Additional leave beyond bereavement leaves for a death in the immediate family, to be authorized 

by the Executive Director. 
 
A doctor’s certificate may be required when an employee is absent for a period in excess of three (3) days.  Abuse of 
such leave may subject the employee to discipline or termination. 
 
Employees who use all their accumulated sick leave and require more time off work due to illness or injury may, 
with their department head’s prior approval, request a leave without pay or use accumulated compensatory time, if 
any. 
 
Employees will not be paid for any unused sick leave upon leaving Agency service for any reason.  Sick leave is a 
benefit solely for use by an employee to receive pay for absences while employed, and is not an entitlement. 

 
If an employee uses less than three sick leave days in a calendar year, that employee will be granted one additional 
floating holiday to be taken as provided in Section 8.9. 
 



 
24 

 

8.4 LEAVE WITHOUT PAY 
 
The Executive Director may grant leaves of absence without pay for absence from work not covered by any other 
type of leave or if other leave balances are exhausted.  Examples of situations for which leave without pay may be 
granted include time off work for personal reasons such as prolonged illness, or parenting. 
 
8.5 JURY AND WITNESS LEAVE 
 
 8.5.1 Jury Duty  
 
The Agency provides all employees leave for the full period of jury duty service.  Regular full-time and part-time 
employees who have worked for the Agency for at least 30 days receive paid jury duty leave of up to two weeks 
each time they are called for jury service.  In general, if jury duty extends beyond two weeks in any one instance, the 
additional leave will be unpaid or vacation time or a floating holiday may be used at the discretion of the employee’s 
supervisor.  Exempt salaried employees who are asked to serve longer than two weeks should contact the Executive 
Director to discuss whether further paid leave will be provided.  Payment provided by the courts during periods of 
paid jury duty leave must be turned over to the Agency, excluding expense reimbursements, such as mileage.  You 
must provide your supervisor with a copy of the jury duty summons as soon as possible after receiving it.  Upon 
completion of jury duty, you are required to provide your supervisor with proof of jury service. 
 
 8.5.2 Witness Duty  
 
All employees summoned to testify in court are allowed time off for the period they serve as witnesses.  In general, 
witness duty leave is unpaid unless you are a witness in a case involving the Agency.  For exempt employees, 
however, salary payment will continue except for full-day absences caused because the employee is a party in a 
lawsuit. 
 
8.6 ADMINISTRATIVE LEAVE 
 
On a case-by-case basis, the Agency may place an employee on administrative leave with or without pay for an 
indefinite period of time.  Administrative leave may be used in the best interests of the Agency as determined by the 
Executive Director during the pendency of an investigation or other administrative proceeding. 
 
8.7 MILITARY LEAVE 
 
The Agency provides all employees with leave while performing military service in accordance with federal and 
state law. 
 
If you require time off from work to fulfill military duties, you will be treated in accordance with applicable 
requirements of state and federal laws.  You are expected to notify your supervisor and provide a copy of your 
orders as soon as possible. 
 
8.8 BEREAVEMENT LEAVE 
 
The Agency provides regular, full-time and part-time employees with paid leave for up to three (3five (5) days in the 
event of the death of an immediate family member.  These family members include spouse, children, parents, 
brother, sister, grandparent or grandchild of the employee and that of his/her spouse’s family. 
 



 
25 

 

8.9 HOLIDAYS 
 
The following are recognized as paid holidays for all regular full-time and part-time employees: 
  
 New Year’s Day   January 1 
 Martin Luther King’s Birthday 3rd Monday in January 
 President’s Day   3rd Monday in February 
 Memorial Day   Last Monday in May 
 Independence Day  July 4 
 Labor Day   1st Monday in September 
 Columbus Day   2nd Monday in October 
 Veteran’s Day   November 11 
 Thanksgiving Day  4th Thursday in November 
 Day after Thanksgiving  Day after Thanksgiving 
 Christmas Day   December 25 

Floating Holiday (1)  One day2)  Two days selected independently by each 
employee with supervisor’s advance approval. 

 
Any holiday falling on Saturday will be celebrated on the preceding Friday.  Any holiday falling on Sunday will be 
celebrated on the following Monday. 
 
Non-exempt regular full-time or part-time employees will be paid for the holiday plusat one and one-half times their 
regular rate of pay for any time worked on the observed holiday.  Such time must be pre-authorized by the Executive 
Director. 
 
Temporary employees will be paid at their regular straight-time rate for hours worked on an observed holiday. 
 
8.10 RELIGIOUS HOLIDAYS 
 
If an employee’s religious beliefs require observance of a holiday not included in the basic holiday schedule, the 
employee may, with the Executive Director’s approval, take the day off using vacation, compensatory time, a 
floating holiday day or leave without pay. 
 
8.11 ON-THE-JOB INJURIES AND TIME LOSS CLAIMS 
 
Any employee involved in any accident or suffering a job-related injury or occupational disease is required to report 
the accident and/or injury/illness to his/her supervisor immediately.  Failure to report may be grounds for 
denying workers’ compensation, and/or cause for discipline up to and including dismissal. 
 
Whenever an on-the-job injury causes a regular employee to take time off work for treatment and/or recuperation 
(“time loss”), that time is charged to the employee’s sick leave balance, if any, until the State of Idaho Industrial 
Commission, or the Agency’s workers’ compensation insurance carrier, has determined whether the claim is 
covered under the Workers’ Compensation program.  If the injury is covered by the Workers’ Compensation 
program any sick leave which has been used will be restored to the employee’s sick leave balance. 
 
If the ruling is that the time loss is not covered by the Workers’ Compensation program, then the employee will 
continue to be charged sick leave for the time loss.  If the employee exhausts all his/her sick leave, then the 
employee will be charged his/her vacation, and finally may be placed on leave without pay. 
 
 



 
26 

 

8.12 FAMILY AND MEDICAL LEAVE-COMPLETELY REVIEW AND REVISE THIS POLICY  
 
 8.12.1 Reasons for Family or Medical Leave  
 
Federal Law provides that certain public agencies must provide family and medical leave benefits.  CCDCThe 
Agency will comply with this law when required.  Employees will be eligible for this leave when they have been 
employed by the Agency for at least 12 months, and have worked at least 1250 hours in the 12 months before the 
leave.  Essentially this means that new employees, and part time employees, may not be eligible for such leave.  
Eligible employees are entitled to Family or Medical Leave for the following reasons: 
 
  a. Employee’s Serious Health Condition  
 
An employee may take Family or Medical Leave for the employee’s serious health condition, when that condition 
prevents the employee from performing the essential functions of his or her job.  This could include leave taken by a 
mother for a serious health condition related to pregnancy.  An employee who needs this type of leave must give 
thirty (30) daysdays’ notice to the Executive Director, if the need for leave is foreseeable, or as much notice as is 
practicable if the need for leave could not be foreseen. 
 
   
  b. To Care for a New Child  
 
An employee may take Family or Medical Leave to care for a newborn child, a newly adopted child, or a child 
placed for foster care in the home of the employee.  Leave for this purpose must be taken within one year of the 
birth or placement of the child.  An employee who anticipates the need for such leave must provide notice to the 
Executive Director at least thirty (30) days in advance, unless the need for such leave was not foreseeable, in which 
case the employee must give as much notice as is practicable under the circumstances. 
 
  c. To Care for a Spouse, Parent or Child With a Serious Health Condition  
 
An employee may take leave when the employee is needed to care for the employee’s spouse, parent or child who 
has a serious health condition as described above.  The same type of notice as that required for leave for the 
employee’s own serious health condition is required.   
 
 8.12.2 Requests for Family or Medical Leave  
 
All requests for family leaves, paid or unpaid, must be comply with  work rules, including work rules regarding 
notification of illness.  In addition, at the time leave is requested, the Agency reserves the right to require the 
employee to obtain a medical certification from a physician, on a form provided by the Agency.  This medical 
certification will allow the Agency to verify that the leave qualifies for Family or Medical Leave.  Anytime the 
Agency requests such a certification, the certification must be returned within 15 days.  If not returned, the leave 
may be delayed until the certification is completed.  The burden is thus on the employee to return the medical 
certification as soon as possible so that leave will not be delayed.   
 
 8.12.3 Use of Paid Leave for Family or Medical Leave  
 
An employee may choose, or the Agency may require, use of paid sick leave accruals when the leave is taken for a 
serious health condition of the employee, parent, child or spouse,  or when leave is taken to care for a new child, by 
birth, adoption or foster care placement.  In addition, vacation leave, a floating holiday, or comp time accrued  may 
be used by the employee, at the option of the employee, if the employee requests time off according to his/her 
department’s work rules.  Any leave taken beyond such accrued leave is unpaid leave.  
 
 8.12.4 Length of Leave  



 
27 

 

 
The employee is entitled to up to 12 weeks of unpaid leave in any 12-month period for family or medical leave.  A 
12-month period shall be measured forward from the first date of an employee’s family or medical leave (i.e., if the 
first day of family or medical leave is March 15, the 12-month period will run through the following March 14). 
 
 8.12.5 Benefits  
 
Regular employees taking leave without pay must first exhaust all posted vacation before moving to unpaid status.  
An employee on leave of absence without pay does not accrue vacation and sick leave during the period of leave. 
 
An employee on leave of absence for family or medical leave will continue to receive group health and life 
insurance benefits during the leave to the same extent as if the employee had been continuously employed during 
such leave.  The Agency will pay the employee’s proportionate share of insurance to the same extent as it pays for 
other employees.   
 
Employees should contact the Financial Officer prior to going on leave, or as soon as possible if the need for leave 
was not foreseeable, to make arrangements for the continuation of health benefits during the leave, and to ensure 
that new children are added to the appropriate insurance coverage.  Where an employee has been responsible for 
premiums for family or other coverage, arrangements must be made to assure payment of such premiums during the 
course of the leave.   
 
Employees may be required to provide periodic medical certifications to substantiate the continuing need for family 
or medical leave.  In addition, employees are required to update the agency at least weekly on the status of their 
return to work. 
 

8.12.6 Return to Work 
  

Upon returning from qualifying medical or family leave, the employee is entitled to be reinstated to the same 
position held before the leave, or to a position with equivalent pay, benefits and conditions.  Employees who have 
exhausted their 12 week entitlement but do not return from their leave will be terminated to the extent permissible 
by law.   
 
8.13 ADDITIONAL LEAVES 
 
 8.13.1 Bereavement Leave  
 
A full time regular employee may use up to a total of forty (40) hours of accrued sick leave per occurrence in the 
event of a death in the employee’s immediate family.  It is expected that such leave will be taken immediately 
following the death.   
 
 8.13.2 Other Leaves  
 
The Agency will provide any other leaves that are legally required or deemed to be in the best interests of the 
Agency.   
  
 
8.13 PAID PARENTAL LEAVE POLICY 
 
 Maternity/paternity/adoption leave under this policy is paid leave associated with the birth of an 
employee’s own child or the placement of a child with the employee in connection with adoption or foster care.  
Maternity/paternity/adoption leave is not charged against the employee’s other paid leave credits, and the maximum 
amount of paid days received is six (6) weeks.  Employees will be eligible for this leave when they have been 



 
28 

 

employed by the Agency for at least 12 months, and have worked at least 1250 hours in the 12 months before the 
leave.  Essentially this means that new employees, and part time employees, may not be eligible for such leave. 
Temporary employees are not eligible for paid maternity/paternity/adoption leave under this policy.  The paid leave 
is compensated at the following levels: 
 
 -After one full year of service – 60 percent of salary 
 -After five full years of service – 100 percent of salary. 
 
After the six (6) weeks of maternity/paternity/adoption leave have been exhausted, subsequent leave will be covered 
under appropriate policies.  The FMLA allows employees up to 12 workweeks of unpaid leave annually.  Paid leave 
under this policy will run concurrently with FMLA leave.  After paid maternity/paternity/adoption leave is 
exhausted, the employee is required to apply any other available paid leave, which will also run concurrently with 
FMLA leave. 
 
8.14 LEAVE AND BENEFITS FOR PART-TIME AND TEMPORARY EMPLOYEES 
 
Unless noted otherwise in these policies, benefits for regular part-time and temporary employees are as follows: 
 
  
 8.14.1 Regular Part-Time Employees  
 
All leaves, including holidays, are pro-rated. Pro-rated means the ratio between the number of hours in the 
employee’s normal work schedule and (40) hours per week. 
 
 8.14.2 Temporary Employees  
 
Temporary employees normally are not eligible to receive benefits, including leaves, holidays and insurance, except 
as provided in Section 3.3.  
 



 
29 

 

CHAPTER 9 
EMPLOYEE RESPONSIBILITIES AND CONDUCT 

 
9.1 GENERAL CODE OF CONDUCT 
 
All CCDC is a public agency and a vital part of the city’s local government. Its work requires daily interaction with 
public officials, business leaders, the media, and the general public. Employees are public servants working in the 
public eye and stewards of public funds. Employees must respect and act on the direction provided by the governing 
board, the Executive Director and supervisor. Employees should use discretion and appropriate deference when 
expressing opinions on Agency-related matters. 
 
For the Agency to be successful, anll employees are expected to must represent the Agency to the public in a 
professional manner that is , pleasant, courteous, tactful, efficient and helpful.  Employees must maintain a clean and 
neat appearance appropriate to their work assignment, as determined by their position and the Executive Director. 
 
Since the proper working relationship between employees and the Agency  manner.  Agency success also depends 
on each employee’s on-going job performance, professional conduct and behavior, the Agency has established 
certain minimum standards of personal conduct. Among the Agency’s expectations are: basic.  The Agency expects 
tact and courtesy towards the public and fellow employees, respectful communications; adherence to Agency 
policies, procedures, safety rules and safe work practices; compliance with directions from supervisors; preserving 
and protecting the Agency’s equipment, grounds, facilities and resources; and providing orderly and cost efficient 
services to its citizens.  
 
Employees must maintain a clean and neat appearance appropriate to their work assignment, as determined by their 
position and the Executive Director. 
 
Nothing in this section alters the at-will status of employment at the Agency or the ability of the Agency, or any 
employee, to terminate the employment relationship at any time. 
 
The Agency is a relatively small organization.  To function as efficiently as possible, the Executive Director may 
ask employees to perform seemingly “menial” duties outside regular assignments.  It is no reflection on the 
employee’s worth to the Agency, but a necessary arrangement for most small organizations. 
 
To make the most efficient use of personnel, the Agency also reserves the right to change an employee’s work 
conditions and the duties originally assigned.  All positions may include other duties as assigned.  Employee 
responses such as “that is not my job” may be considered a performance issue.  
 
9.2 OUTSIDE EMPLOYMENT AND CONFLICTS OF INTEREST 
 
Employees shall not, directly or indirectly, engage in any outside employment or financial interest which presents a 
Conflictconflict of Interestinterest as defined in the Agency’s adopted Ethics Policy or State StatuteIdaho Code, or 
interferes with the employee’s ability to perform his/her assigned Agency job.  Examples include, but are not limited 
to, outside employment that: 
 

 (1) Prevents the employee from being available for work as required to meet the obligations of their 
employment; 

 
 (2) Is conducted by non-exempt employees during the employee’s work hours; 
 
 (3) Incurs costs to the Agency, such as unreimbursed long distance charges; 
 
 (4) Is with a firm that has contracts with or does business with the Agency; 



 
30 

 

 
 (5) May reasonably be perceived by members of the public as a conflict of interest or otherwise 

discredits public service; 
 
An employee who chooses to have an additional job, contractual commitment or self-employment should consult the 
Agency’s Code of Ethics to determine whether a conflict with Agency employment might exist and take prescribed 
action if warranted.  
 
 
 
 
 
9.3 REPORTING IMPROPER GOVERNMENTAL ACTION 
 
State law provides protection to employees who, in good faith, report instances of government waste or abuse.  If 
you report such misconduct and your reporting is within the protection of this law, you cannot be terminated in 
retaliation for such reporting. 
 
9.4 POLITICAL ACTIVITIES 
 
Agency employees may participate in political or partisan activities of their choosing provided that Agency 
resources and property are not utilized, and the activity does not adversely affect the responsibilities of the 
employees in their positions.  Employees may not campaign on Agency time or while representing the Agency in 
any way.  Employees may not allow others to use Agency facilities or funds for political activities. 
 
Any Agency employee who meets with or may be observed by the public or otherwise represents the Agency to the 
public, while performing his/her regular duties, may not wear or display any button, badge or sticker relevant to any 
candidate or ballot issue during working hours.  Employees shall not solicit, on Agency property or Agency time, for 
a contribution for a partisan political cause. 
 
Except as noted in this policy, Agency employees are otherwise free to fully exercise their constitutional First 
Amendment rights (political activity and free speech), unless the Agency’s right to govern effectively outweighs the 
employee’s rights. 
 
9.5 NO SMOKING POLICY 
 
For health and safety considerations, the Agency prohibits smoking by employees in all Agency facilities, including 
Agency-owned buildings, vehicles, and offices or other facilities rented or leased by the Agency, including 
individual employee offices. 
 
9.6 PERSONAL POSSESSIONS AND ELECTRONIC COMMUNICATIONS 
 
The Agency furnishes desks, closets, and/or lockers for security of employee coats, purses, and other personal 
possessions.  We do not, however, assume responsibility for any theft or damage to the personal belongings of 
employees, and we reserve the right to search employee desks, lockers, and personal belongings brought onto 
Agency premises, if necessary. 
 
The Agency also furnishes computers for use in conducting Agency business.  The computers are the Agency’s 
property.  Because the computers are for Agency business, the Agency reserves the right to review the contents of 
any files or documents on the computer, including contents of any electronic mail.  By using Agency equipment, 
you consent to such access by the Agency.  Agency computers may not be used for personal business other than 
incidental communication resulting in no additional cost to the Agency. 



 
31 

 

 
9.7 USE OF AGENCY VEHICLES AND EQUIPMENT 
 
Use of Agency phones for local personal phone calls should be kept to a minimum; unreimbursed long distance 
personal use is prohibited. The personal use of wireless phone/messaging service which results in increased cost to 
the Agency must be reimbursed by the Employee.  Other Agency equipment, including vehicles, should be used by 
employees for Agency business only.  An employee’s misuse of Agency services, telephones, vehicles, equipment 
or supplies can result in disciplinary action including termination. 
 
9.8 BULLETIN BOARDS 
 
Information of special interest to all employees is posted regularly on the Agency bulletin boards.  Employees may 
not post any information on these bulletin boards without the authorization of the Executive Director or designee. 
 
9.9 CONTACT WITH THE NEWS MEDIA 
 
The Executive Director or designee shall be responsible for all official contacts with the news media during working 
hours, including answering of questions from the media.  The Executive Director may designate specific employees 
to give out procedural, factual or historical information on particular subjects. 
 
9.10 SEAT BELT, CELLULAR PHONE AND TEXTING POLICY 
 
Per Idaho law, anyone operating or riding in Agency vehicles must wear seat belts at all times.  Additionally, the 
Agency expects its employees to refrain from using their phone or media device while driving in the course and 
scope of their employment.  If acceptance of a call is unavoidable and pulling over is not an option, employees are 
expected to keep the call short and use hands-free options. Texting while driving is strictly prohibited.  Violation of 
this policy may lead to disciplinary action, up to and including termination. 
 
9.11 DRIVER’S LICENSE REQUIREMENTS 
 
As part of the requirements for certain specific Agency positions, an employee may be required to hold a valid Idaho 
State Driver’s license.  If an employee’s license is revoked, suspended or lost, or is in any other way not current, 
valid, and in the employee’s possession, the employee shall promptly notify the Executive Director and will be 
immediately suspended from driving duties.  The employee may not resume driving for Agency business until proof 
of a valid, current license is provided to the Executive Director.  Depending on the duration of license suspension or 
revocation, an employee may be subject to disciplinary action, including termination. 
 
9.12 SOLICITATIONS 
 
Most forms of selling and solicitations are inappropriate in the workplace.  They can be an intrusion on employees 
and citizens and may present a risk to employee safety or to the security of Agency or employee property.  Other 
than for authorized community based fund raising campaigns, employees may not solicit for any purpose during 
work time or in work areas. 
 
9.13 SAFETY 
 
Every employee is responsible for maintaining a safe work environment and following the Agency’s safety rules. 
Each employee shall promptly report all unsafe or potentially hazardous conditions to his/her department head.  The 
Agency will make every effort to remedy problems as quickly as possible.  No retaliation will occur for reporting an 
unsafe condition. 
 



 
32 

 

In case of an accident involving a personal injury, regardless of how serious, employees shall immediately notify 
their department head or the Executive Director. 
 
9.14 SUBSTANCE ABUSE 
 
The Agency’s philosophy on substance abuse has two focuses:  (1) a concern for the well being of the employee and 
(2) a concern for the safety of other employees and members of the public. 
 
The Agency reserves the right to conduct random and baseline drug testing should the need arise in the future. 
 
  
  



 
33 

 

9.14.1 Availability of Rehabilitation or Treatment  
 
As part of our employee assistance program, we encourage employees who are concerned about their alcohol or 
drug use to seek counseling, treatment and rehabilitation.  Although the decision to seek diagnosis and accept 
treatment is completely voluntary, the Agency is fully committed to helping employees who voluntarily come 
forward overcome substance abuse problems.  In some cases, the expense of treatment may be fully or partially 
covered by the Agency’s benefit program.  In recognition of the sensitive nature of these matters, all discussions will 
be kept confidential. Employees who seek advice or treatment will not be subject to retaliation or discrimination. 
 
 9.14.2 When Job Performance Is Affected  
 
Although the Agency is concerned with rehabilitation, it must be understood that disciplinary action may be taken 
when an employee’s job performance is impaired because he/she is under the influence of drugs or alcohol on the 
job.  The Agency may discipline or terminate an employee possessing, consuming, selling or using alcohol, or 
controlled substances (other than legally prescribed) during work hours.  The Agency may also discipline or 
terminate an employee who reports for duty or works under the influence of alcohol or illegal substances.  “Under 
the influence” means that the employee is impaired to any degree in the performance of his/her work.  To the extent 
allowed by law, an employee may be required to submit to alcohol or illegal substance testing when the Agency has 
reasonable suspicion that the employee is under the influence of illegal substances or alcohol.  Refusal to submit to 
testing under these circumstances shall be grounds for termination.  The confidentiality of test results will be 
protected. 
 
 9.14.3 Drug-Free Workplace  
 
Based on the federal Drug-Free Workplace Act, theThe manufacturing, distribution, dispensation, possession and 
use of unlawful drugs or alcohol on Agency premises or during work hours by Agency employees is strictly 
prohibited.  Employees also must notify the Agency within five (5) days of any conviction for a drug violation. 
 
9.15 GIFTS & GRATUITIES 
 
Employees may not accept gifts of more than a nominal value ($50.00) from any vendor, supplier, or other person 
doing business with the Agency. Receiving such a gift may give the appearance of influence regarding the 
employee’s business decisions, transaction, or service. Advertising and promotional items are not considered gifts. 



 
34 

 

CHAPTER 10 
DISCIPLINE AND TERMINATION 

 
10.1 ACTIONS SUBJECT TO DISCIPLINARY ACTION 
 
Our success in providing excellent service to our citizens and maintaining good relationships with the community 
depends on our employees.  We have therefore outlined for your guidance certain conduct which, if engaged in, 
would be detrimental to our objective and could lead to disciplinary action including discharge.  The Executive 
Director, or his or her designee, is responsible for evaluating, managing, disciplining, and, if necessary, discharging 
or terminating all employees.  The Executive Director may directly communicate with any Agency employee 
concerning employment related issues, or coordinate such communication through respective department heads or 
other supervisors.   
 
The following specified conduct is illustrative and not comprehensive.  Nothing in the section alters the at-will 
status of employment at the Agency or the ability of the Agency, or any employee, to terminate the employment 
relationship at any time. 
 
 (1) Misrepresentation or withholding of pertinent facts in securing employment. 
 

 (2) Unauthorized use or possession of the Agency facilities/property, unauthorized use of position 
with the Agency for personal gain or advantage, accepting unlawful gratuities or bribes, or lying. 

 
 (3) Smoking in any unauthorized posted area or creating of fire hazards in any area. 
 
 (4) Failure to report an occurrence causing damage to Agency, customer, or public property; failure to 

properly secure the Agency facilities or property. 
 
 (5) Unauthorized recording of one’s own or another employee’s time record (all involved employees 

can be subject to disciplinary action). 
 

 (6) Habitual lateness for work; absence without proper notification to immediate supervisor, excessive 
absenteeism, or insufficient reasons for absenteeism; loitering, goofing off, failing to assist others 
in a work situation. 

 
 (7) Making malicious, false, or derogatory statements that are intended or could reasonably be 

expected to damage the integrity or reputation of the Agency or our employees, on or off 
premises; disorderly conduct, including fighting on the premises; rudeness, discrimination, 
intimidation, coercion, use of obscene language, gesture or lack of courtesy to the public or fellow 
employees. 

 
 (8) Intentional falsification of records/paperwork required in the transaction of the Agency business. 
 
 (9) Inability, inefficiency, negligence, or insubordination, including a refusal or failure to perform 

assigned work or concealing defective work. 
 

 (10) Failure to observe safety practices, rules, regulations, and instructions; negligence that results in 
injury to others; failure to wear required safety clothing and equipment. 

 
 (11) Failure to promptly report to your immediate supervisor an on-the-job injury or accident involving 

an employee, equipment, property, or visitor. 
 



 
35 

 

 (12) Dishonesty or theft, including deliberate destruction, damage, or removal of the Agency’s or 
other’s property from the premises, or any job site. 

 
 (13) Possession, use, sale, or being under the influence of alcohol and illegal drugs while on Agency 

business (including standby duty).  The only exception to this rule shall be for an employee using 
or possessing a controlled substance prescribed by a doctor if such use does not impair safe and/or 
efficient work performance. 

 
 (14) Conviction of a misdemeanor or felony. 
 
 (15) Unauthorized or personal use of the Agency corporate credit card. 
 
10.2 LAYOFF 
 
The Executive Director, in his or her discretion, may lay off employees for lack of work, budgetary restrictions, 
reorganization, or other changes that have taken place.  In determining who is to be laid off, consideration will 
usually be given to individual performance and job qualifications, as determined by the Agency.  Seniority may be 
considered when performance and qualifications are equal, as determined by the Agency.  Employees who are laid 
off may be eligible to be re-employed, if a vacancy occurs in a position for which they are qualified, but there is no 
guarantee of re-employment. 
 
10.3 RESIGNATION 
 
An employee is encouraged to provide at least (2) weeksweeks’ notice of resignation.  This time limit may be 
waived or reduced by the Executive Director. 
 
 
 



 
36 

 

CHAPTER 11  
COMPLAINT PROCEDURES 

 
11.1 COMPLAINT PROCEDURES 
 
The Agency recognizes that sometimes situations arise in which employees feel that they have not been treated 
fairly or in accordance with Agency policies.  For this reason any employee who feels he or she has been 
discriminated against or has been subjected to harassment should promptly take the following steps: 
 
Step 1:  Employees should first try to resolve any problem or complaint with their supervisor if circumstances 

prohibit this response (e.g., the supervisor is involved in the conduct), report the behavior to the Executive 
Director.  If the Executive Director is involved in the conduct, the employee should follow the procedure 
for making a claim against the Executive Director set forth in Section 11.2.  Orally or inIn writing, state 
specific details of the discriminating behavior.  It is helpful if details of dates, times, places, and witnesses, 
if any, of the discrimination or harassment can be provided. 

 
Step 2:  When normal communication between an employee and the supervisor is not successful or practical, or 

when an employee disagrees with the application of Agency policies and procedures, the employee should 
attempt to resolve the problem with the Executive Director.  When normal communication between an 
employee and the Executive Director is not successful or practical, or when an employee disagrees with the 
application of Agency policies and procedures, the employee should follow the procedure for making a 
claim againsagainst the Executive Director set forth in Section 11.2. 

 
Step 3:  If the employee is not satisfied with the response from the department headsupervisor, the employee may 

submit the problem, in writing, to the Executive Director.  The written complaint must contain, at a 
minimum: 

 
  (1) A description of the problem; 
 
  (2) A specific policy or procedure which the employee believes has been violated or 

misapplied; 
 
  (3) The date of the circumstances leading to the complaint or the date when the employee 

first became aware of those circumstances; 
 
  (4) The remedy sought by the employee to resolve the complaint.   
  
The written complaint mustshould be filed within ten (10) working days of the occurrence leading to the complaint, 
or ten (10) working days after.  This time limit provides an opportunity to resolve the employee becomes aware of 
the circumstancesissue immediately. 
 
The Executive Director may meet with the parties, either individually or together, and will usually respond in 
writing to the aggrieved employee within ten (10) daysa reasonable time  of the meeting.   The Executive Director 
response and decision shall be final and binding with respect to employee and the Agency, except as provided for in 
Section 11.2, below. 
 
Complaint Investigation and Confidentiality 
 
All complaints will be investigated promptly.  The identity of the employee making the complaint, as well as the 
identity of the individual accused of discrimination, will be kept as confidential as possible. 
 
 



 
37 

 

 
Retaliation 
 
It is contrary to agency policy for a supervisor or any other employee to retaliate against any employee who files a 
charge of discrimination.  Please report any conduct that you feel could be retalitoryretaliatory immediately. 
 

11.2 APPEAL PROCESS11.1.1  Additional Procedures 
 
In the event the employee is dissatisfied with the decision of the Executive Director after completing the procedure 
set forth in Section 11.1 (which for purposes of this section shall be referred to as an Appeal), orIn the event an 
employee who feels he or she has been discriminated against or has been subjected to harassment by the Executive 
Director, or an employee seeks to file a written complaint against the Executive Director as allowed under 
Sections 1.4, 2.4, or 2.5Section 11.1  of this Manual, the employee shall file a written complaint with the Chair of 
the Board of the Agency, including, at a minimum, the information set forth in Step 3 of Section 11.1,  which for  
purposes of this section, such written complaint shall be referred to as a “Claim.”  Any Appeal must be filed within 
ten (10) working days of the decision of the Executive Director.  Any Claim against the Executive Director, must be 
filed within ten (10) working days of the occurrence leading to the Claim, or ten (10) working days after the 
employee becomes aware of the circumstances. 
 
The Chair of the Board, or his/her designee (whose designee may be regular counsel to the Agency, special counsel 
to the Agency or an independent person retained by the Chair for such purposes), may meet with the Executive 
Director and employee, either individually or together, and attempt to mediate the Claim or the Appeal..  The 
mediation process shall be completed within fifteen (15) working days of the filing of the Claim or the Appeal. 
 
If mediation fails, and the employee desires to further pursue the Claim or Appeal, the Chair shall convene a hearing 
committee of the Board, which committee shall consist of the Chair, the Vice-Chair, and one member of the Board 
selected at large by the Chair.  The hearing committee shall convene  for purposes of disposing of the Claim within 
fifteen (15) working days after completion of the mediation process described above.  The hearing committee shall 
allow for the presentation of witnesses, cross- examination of witnesses, and submission of records by both the 
Executive Director and the employee.  The procedures of the hearing committee shall be informal in nature and not 
bound by strict rules of evidence or procedure. 
 
The hearing committee shall render its written decision within fifteen (15) working days of the hearing date.  The 
written decision of the hearing committee shall be final and binding with respect to the employee and the Agency. 



 
38 

 

CHAPTER 12 
ELECTRONIC COMMUNICATION 

 
12.1 ELECTRONIC COMMUNICATION MONITORING 
 
The Agency monitors its phone system, network and computers.  Information stored in or on company facilities is 
subject to inspection at any time without notice.  Employees have no personal privacy right in anything created, 
received, or sent on or from the computer and/or internet system; by accessing the system, employees expressly 
waive any right of privacy in anything they create, store, send, or receive on the system.  By accessing the system, 
employees further consent to allowing personnel of the Agency to access all material created, sent or received on the 
system. 
 
12.2 ELECTRONIC COMMUNICATIONS AND PUBLIC RECORDS 
 
As the Agency is a public entity, each employee is subject to public records laws.  
 
Each employee is responsible for the content of all text, audio or images that he or she creates, sends, forwards, 
retrieves, or stores using the Agency’s electronic communication systems. Employees should not consider any 
electronic communication, media or services to be either private or secure. Although email, computer and network 
accounts may be protected by passwords, Employees should understand that their account and records 
may not be private. Employees using the Agency’s information technology expressly waive any right of privacy in 
anything they create, store, send, or receive on an Agency computer or through the Agency provided Internet. This 
includes, but is not limited to, messages or data sent or received on a mobile device. The term mobile device 
includes cellular telephone, smartphone, tablet, PDA, etc. The use of personally-owned mobile devices to send 
and/or receive electronic communications for the transaction of Agency business creates a record that may be 
subject to disclosure pursuant to a public records request. Employees who use personal mobile devices to transact 
Agency business may be required to provide all communications that relate to Agency business, including text 
messages, to the Agency upon request. The Agency discourages the transaction of Agency business via text 
message on personal mobile devices and/or the transaction of Agency business via personal email accounts. 
 
12.3  INTERNET POLICY 
 
Employees may use the internet to increase productiveproductivity.  Employees are expected to comply with all 
Agency policies that may be applicable to the internet.  These include, but are not limited to, confidentiality, 
harassment, solicationsolicitation, outside employment and business ethics.  Under no circumstances are 
pornographic or harassing materials to be sent, received, viewed, or downloaded using company facilities at any 
time or using personal facilities during working hours. 
 
Personal use of the internet is not prohibited if it does not interfere with job responsibilities and productivity.  
Anonymous messages are not to be sent.  Aliases are not to be used.  Employees are not to place personal copies of 
software or data on any computer without prior authorization. 
 
If you arethe employee is using an internet site paid for by the Agency, you arethe employee is expected to only 
use it for business purposes.  All work created or received using Agency equipment or facilities are AgencyyAgency 
property.  Illegal use of software is prohibited. 
 
The Agency does monitor its phone system, network, and computers.  Information stored in or on Agency facilities 
is subject to inspection at any time without notice.  Employees have no personal privacy right in anything created, 
received or sent on or from the computer and/or internet system; by accessing the system, employees expressly 
waive any right of privacy in anything they create, store, send or receive on the system.  By accessing the system, 
employees further consent to allowing personnel of the Agency to access all material created, sent or received on the 
system. 



 
39 

 

 
Violation of this Agency policy will be addressed as a performance issue. 
 
All items uploaded to our web site are to be scanned for viruses.  All items downloaded from web site or any other 
locations are to be scanned for viruses.  Material downloaded from the internet is to be placed on diskettes first; it is 
never to be placed on a hard drive.  At least two anti-virus software programs are to be used to scan for viruses 
before any material from a diskette is placed on our network system. 
 
12.4 SOCIAL MEDIA POLICY 
 

12.4.1 Introduction 
 

The Agency recognizes that social media can be a highly effective tool for sharing ideas and exchanging 
information. The Agency is committed to using social media to promote the Agency’s mission and strategic plan 
and to maintain effective communications with employees, customers, business partners and citizens. The Agency 
has an interest and responsibility in determining what is published on behalf of the Agency via social media. The 
purpose of social media is to disseminate information from the Agency, to the public to provide a forum for 
discussion and to gather feedback from residents and visitors on Agency-related issues. This regulation establishes 
rules for the creation and use of social media by Agency employees as a means of conveying Agency related content 
to the public. This regulation applies to all Agency employees. 
 
 12.4.2 Definitions 
 

A. Social Media – web and mobile based technologies which are used for interactive communication 
by organizations, communities and individuals often utilizing, but not limited to, third-party 
services that connect users to one another. Examples of social media include, but are not limited 
to, Facebook, Twitter, Google+, LinkedIn, YouTube, MySpace, Second Life, Delicious, Yelp, 
Flickr, Picasa, blogs, message boards, and chat rooms. Social media may exist in many different 
forms including, but not limited to, internet forums, online profiles, wikis, podcasts, pictures and 
video, email, instant messaging, music sharing, and voice over IP. 

 
B. Posts – content published through social media that may consist of dialogue, pictures, videos, 

URLs, articles, or other communicative content. 
 
C. Comments – response, reply, observation or opinion made via a social media to a post or another 

comment, usually made by outside third parties. 
 
D. Digital Equipment – includes but is not limited to computers, laptops, telephones, cellular phones, 

smart phones, and iPods. Any technology provided by the Agency for communication, computing, 
etc., is covered by this definition. 

 
E. Electronic Communication – any communication made via digital equipment including but not 

limited to email, texts, phone calls, voicemail and tweets. 
 
F. Disparaging Remarks – posts or comments made to ridicule, discredit, or demean another person. 

 
 12.4.3 Social Media Account Access 
 
Social media network access shall be limited to those with a clear business purpose to use the forum. Only official 
Agency spokespersons and authorized individuals shall have permission to create, publish or comment on behalf 



 
40 

 

of the Agency. All users shall obtain authorization, as described within this section, prior to creating and 
maintaining a page or site associated with the Agency on a social media network. All authorized social media pages 
or sites associated with the Agency shall belong to and be managed by the Agency. 
 
Only individuals who are authorized by the Executive Director or his/her designee are permitted to access, manage 
and/or post via Agency social media for the purpose of conducting Agency business. 
 
The Executive Director or his/her designee is responsible for maintaining an up to date list of all social networking 
application domain names in use, the names of all authorized employee administrators or users of these accounts, as 
well as the associated user identifications and passwords currently active within their respective departments. 
 
Oversight of Agency sponsored social media shall be performed by supervisors of those authorized to manage the 
Agency’s social media activity. All posts on Agency social media shall be in accordance with this policy. 
The Executive Director or his/her designee shall monitor the Agency’s social media for comments requesting 
responses from the Agency and for comments in violation of this policy. The Executive Director or his/her designee 
will also monitor content on Agency social media to ensure adherence to this policy and the interests and goals of 
the Agency. The Executive Director or his/her designee responsible for the creation and/or maintenance of social 
media content shall ensure that it is able to edit or remove this content. 
 
Authorized individuals representing the Agency on Agency social media must conduct themselves at all times as a 
representative of the Agency in accordance with all Agency policies. 
 
When an individual responds to a comment in his/her official capacity as an Agency employee, the individual shall 
not share personal information about himself or herself, or other Agency employees. If the Agency has multiple 
individuals posting or commenting on behalf of the Agency, those individuals shall coordinate their responses to 
ensure that conflicting views and/or information is not being disseminated. 
 
Whenever possible, Agency social media should link back to the official Agency  website for forms, documents, 
online services, and other information necessary to conduct business with the Agency. 
 
Use of posted photographs on social media sites shall abide by all copyright and printed material laws. 
All Agency social media shall adhere to applicable federal, state, and local laws, regulations and policies. 
 
All content or comments made in any social media shall conform to that site’s terms and conditions of use. 
 

12.4.4 Prohibited Content in Agency Social Media 
 

As a public entity the Agency must serve all of its constituents in a civil and unbiased manner. Agency social media 
posts and comments containing any of the following inappropriate forms of content shall not be allowed and are 
subject to removal and/or restriction by the Agency: 
 

A. Comments not topically related to the particular social media post being commented upon, 
including random or unintelligible comments; 

 
B. Profane, obscene or violent language and/or content; 
 
C. Defamatory or personal attacks; 
 
D. Threats to any person or organization; 
 



 
41 

 

E. Content that promotes, fosters, or perpetuates harassment or discrimination on the basis of race, 
color, religion, sex, age, national origin, citizenship status, disability, genetic information, veteran 
status, sexual orientation or gender identity/expression; 

 
F. Sexual content or links to sexual content; 
 
G. Any comments for the solicitation of commerce that is not related to the Agency or its business 

partners, including but not limited to advertising of any business or product for sale; 
 
H. Comments in support of or opposition to political campaigns, or candidates; 
 
I. Encouragement of illegal activity; 
 
J. Conduct in violation of any federal, state, or local laws; 
 
K. Information that may tend to compromise the safety or security of the public or public systems; 
 
L. Content that violates a legal ownership interest, such as trademark, patent, or copyright, of any 

other party; or 
 
M. Confidential or proprietary information. 

 
12.4.5 Expectation of Privacy 
 

Nothing in this policy bestows an individual right nor may it be construed to provide an expectation of privacy. 
Users of social media should be mindful that once content is placed online, it is no longer under the user’s control. 
Content posted to the internet is immediate and does not expire. Participation in social media, whether by Agency or 
non-Agency internet resources and whether made while on or off duty must not violate the privacy rights of other 
Agency employees or customers or violate any Agency policies. 
 
12.5 SOCIAL MEDIA PERSONAL USE 
 
 12.5.1 Introduction 
 
The Agency recognizes that many employees have personal social media accounts and engage in various social 
media activities. As such, the Agency respects employees' right to express personal opinions when using personal 
social media and does not retaliate or discriminate against employees who use personal social media for political or 
other lawful purposes. However, employees are personally responsible for content they post on personal social 
media. 
 
Social media come in many forms including, but not limited to, internet forums, blogs, online profiles, wikis, 
podcasts, pictures and video, email, instant messaging, music sharing, voice over IP, and others. Social media also 
include social websites and online communities for business and personal use, such as Facebook, LinkedIn, 
Yelp, YouTube, Twitter, message boards, and chat rooms. 
 
The purpose of this policy is to caution employees regarding their use of personal social media as it relates to the 
Agency. This regulation applies to all Agency employees. 
 

12.5.2 No Expectation of Privacy 
 
The Agency may monitor content, comments, and/or discussions about the Agency on social media made by anyone 
at any time. Content posted to the internet is immediate and does not expire. Users of social media should be aware 



 
42 

 

that they are not anonymous when they make online comments. Even if a person posts anonymously or under a 
pseudonym, their identity may still be determined. Utilization of privacy settings for personal use of social media is 
recommended. However persons who use social media should be mindful that once content is placed online, it is no 
longer under their control and content shared via private social media does not always stay private. 
 
Employees should have no expectation of privacy while using Agency digital equipment or facilities for any purpose 
including the use of electronic communications. Regardless of password use and privacy settings, the Agency may 
retrieve, review and/or monitor or log internet usage and content found on Agency systems and digital equipment, 
including deleted messages, posts, or comments without notice to the employee. Therefore, users have no 
expectation of privacy in the use of the Agency’s systems or equipment to download, transmit, post, comment, or 
store information. Nothing in this regulation bestows an individual right nor may it be construed to 
provide an expectation of privacy. 
 

12.5.3 Employee Personal Use of Social Media 
 

An employee may access social media while at work within the parameters of the Agency’s policies. Users are 
expected to limit use to personal time, such as breaks, lunch periods and off-duty time. If an employee’s use of 
social media becomes excessive, interferes with or is disruptive to Agency business or productivity, 
or negatively affects the employee’s job duties, the employee may be subject to discipline, up to and including 
termination. 
 
When posting to personal social media, if an employee speaks about job-related content or makes reference to the 
Agency, people may perceive the individual to be talking on behalf of the Agency. If the employee is not acting in 
an official and/or authorized Agency capacity, the employee shall use a disclaimer and make it clear that the views 
are not necessarily reflective of the views of the Agency. An example of such disclaimer is “The views, opinions, 
ideas, and information expressed on this site are my own and neither reflects the views of my employer nor is in any 
way attributable to the Agency.” 
 
Participation in social media, whether by Agency or non-Agency internet resources and whether made while on or 
off duty must not violate the privacy rights of other Agency employees, customers, or business partners, or any 
Agency policy.  When participating in social media employees are expected to know and follow all Agency’s 
policies. They are also expected to be respectful, truthful, accurate, and not engage in retaliatory behavior. 
 

12.5.4 Prohibited Conduct in Personal Social Media 
 

Employees may be disciplined up to and including termination for engaging in any of the following in their personal 
online social media activity: 
 

A.  Promoting or taking part in activities which violate federal, state, or local law. 
 
B. Threatening harm, directly or indirectly, to any Agency employee or Agency customer, business 

partner, vendor, or supplier. 
 
C. Making false or misleading statements about Agency employees, the Agency, Agency customers, 

business partners, vendors, or suppliers. 
 
D. Making disparaging remarks toward or about any Agency employee, the Agency, Agency 

customers, business partners, vendors, and/or suppliers that are based on race, color, religion, sex, 
age, national origin, citizenship status, disability, genetic information, veteran status, sexual 
orientation, gender identity/expression or other characteristic protected by law. 

 



 
43 

 

E. Using social media to bully, harass, or retaliate against Agency employees or Agency customers, 
business partners, vendors, or suppliers. 

 
F.  
 
 
 
 

Posting content or making comments that purport to express the opinions of the Agency. If a comment or 
post could reasonably be interpreted to express the opinions of the Agency, then the employee 
shall state that the comment/post is a personal opinion in the manner previously described in this 
regulation. Only an individual officially authorized by his/her supervisor may post or comment on 
behalf of the Agency. The fact that the subject of the social media content is not specifically 
named does not constitute a defense or excuse for Agency employees to engage in behavior via 
their personal social media that violates Agency policies. 

 
Employees are expected to report known violations of this policy to the Executive Director. 
 

12.5.5 Employee Responsibility and Duty To Report 
 

Employees are personally responsible for the content they publish via personal social media. Conduct that violates 
any aspect of this regulation is subject to investigation and discipline regardless of whether such conduct may have 
occurred away from work or on non-working time. Employees with questions regarding whether certain activities 
fall within the parameters of this regulation are encouraged to contact their supervisor.  
 
12.6 MOBILE COMMUNICATIONS POLICY 
 
CCDC will authorize certain employees, on a voluntary basis, to use their personal cellular devices for work 
purposes when required by their job duties, with payment of an allowance under the terms of this policy.  The 
allowance is considered additional compensation and will be subject to all applicable taxes and withholdings.  
Allowances are not considered an entitlement and may be changed or withdrawn at any time.  CCDC is not liable for 
purchase, maintenance, damage or loss of the mobile communication device. 
 
Eligibility will be determined by the Executive Director and is based on; communication capability requirement of 
an employee’s job, employee safety requirements, employee being a critical decision maker, employee monitoring 
mission critical information during non-business hours and other special circumstances as approved by the director. 
 
Allowances will be approved annually by the Executive Director for a one year term and will be paid monthly. 
Employees are responsible for signing a Mobile Communication Agreement and for providing a copy of the pages 
from the monthly statement verifying the charge to the accounting department.  Under no circumstance will the 
allowance be greater than cost of the mobile device service plan.   
 
 CCDC is not responsible for the administration and payment of all mobile communications costs, nor is it liable to 
any party for the contractual obligations of the plan.  The employee is required to notify CCDC if the mobile 
communication device that they are receiving the allowance for is lost, stolen or no longer in operation.   WORK 
RELATED RECORDS AND COMMUNICATIONS ARE LIKELY SUBJECT TO IDAHO PUBLIC RECORDS 
REQUESTS.  SUCH RECORDS AND COMMUNICATIONS MAY INCLUDE BUT ARE NOT LIMITED TO: 
CALL LOGS, TEXTS, EMAILS AND OTHER MESSAGES.  SHOULD A PUBLIC RECORDS REQUEST BE 
FILED, YOU WILL BE ASKED TO GIVE YOUR DEVICE TO THE AGENCY, ITS ATTORNEYS OR 
TECHNOLOGY REPRESENTATIVES TO REVIEW THAT INFORMATION TO DETERMINE WHAT 
INFORMATION IS SUBJECT TO DISCLOSURE.  EMPLOYEES ARE RESPONSIBLE TO ENSURE THAT 
CELLULAR DEVICES ARE PROPERLY SECURED VIA PASSWORD PROTECTION.  



 
44 

 

 
APPROVED BY: ___________________________   DATE:_______________ 

 
 

12.7 RECORD RETENTION  
Employees are required to comply with the Agency’s records retention schedules.  The records retention schedules 
are attached hereto as Appendix B. 
 



 
45 

 

Capital City Development Corporation 
 

RECEIPT OF PERSONNEL POLICIES 
 
All employees should read the following; then sign, date and return the form to the Agency Executive Director.  The 
form will be placed in the employee’s personnel file. 
 
Enclosed are the Capital City Development Corporation Personnel Policies.  It is your responsibility to read these 
policies, as they will acquaint you with some of your employee benefits, our personnel practices and rules, and some 
organizational philosophy.  Employee specifically acknowledges receipt and review of the Agency’s Sexual 
Harassment Policy, Section 2.5. 
 
Employment with the CCDCAgency is at-will and it is important to understand that these policies do not create an 
employment contract or a guarantee of employment of any specific duration between the Agency and its employees.  
Although we hope that your employment relationship with us will be long term, we recognize that at times things do 
not always work out as hoped, and either of us may decide to terminate the employment relationship, at any time, 
with or without cause. 
 
As the Agency grows and changes, personnel policies may change.  The Agency, therefore, reserves the right to 
revise, supplement, clarify or rescind any policy or portion of a policy when deemed appropriate by the Executive 
Director.  You will be notified of any such changes. 
 
Please also understand that no supervisor, manager or representative of the Agency other than the Executive 
Director has the authority to make any written statements or representations which are inconsistent with these 
policies.  Any changes by the Executive Director for particular employees must be in writing or they are ineffective. 
 
If you have any questions about these policies or any other policies of the Agency, please feel free to ask the 
Executive Director. 
 
I have read and understand the statement above. 
 
 
______________________________   Dated:     
_____________________________________   Date:     
Employee Signature 
 
 
______________________________ 
_____________________________________ 
Employee Printed Name 
 



 
46 

 

APPENDIX A 
 
Maximum Per Diem Allowance 
Daily Per Diem Allowance  
 
(a) In State: $45.00 day  
 
(b) Out-of-State Per Diem Allowance: $51.00 per day  
 
Partial Day Per Diem Allowance 
Where employees are to be absent from their primary official station on official business for less than twenty four 
(24) hours, partial day per diem allowance is equal to a maximum of twenty-five percent (25%) of the total per diem 
allowance for breakfast, thirty-five percent (35%) for the total per diem allowance for lunch, and fifty-five percent 
(55%) of the total per diem allowance for dinner.  
 

Partial Day Per Diem Allowance 
 

In-State Out-of-State 
Breakfast – 25% $11.25 $12.75  
Lunch – 35% $15.75 $17.85  
Dinner – 55% $24.75 $28.05  



 
47 

 

APPENDIX B 
 

 
E. Review Procedure.  The purpose of the review procedure set forth in this 

paragraph and in paragraph F below is to provide a procedure by which a claimant under the 
Plan may have a reasonable opportunity to appeal a denial or partial denial of a claim and request 
a full and fair review.  To accomplish that purpose, the claimant or a duly authorized 
representative may: 
 
  (1) Request a review upon written application to the Plan Administrator; 
 
  (2) Review pertinent Plan documents or agreements; and 
 
  (3) Submit issues and comments in writing. 
 

A claimant (or duly authorized representative) shall request a review at any time within 
sixty (60) days by filing a written application after receipt by the claimant of 
written notice of the denial of his or her claim. 

 
F. A decision on review of a denial of a claim shall be made in the following 

manner: 
 
  (1) The decision on review shall be made by the Plan Administrator, who may 

in his or her discretion hold a hearing on the denied claim.  The Plan 
Administrator shall make his or her decision promptly unless special 
circumstances (such as the need to hold a hearing) require an extension of 
time for processing, in which case a decision shall be rendered as soon as 
possible but not later than one hundred twenty (120) days after receipt of 
the request for review. 

 
  (2) The decision on review shall be in writing and shall include specific 

reasons for the decisions, written in a manner calculated to be understood 
by the claimant, and specific references to the pertinent Plan provisions on 
which the decision is based. 

 
8. NONASSIGNABLE.  None of the payments provided for in this Plan 

shall be subject to seizure for payment of any debts or judgments against a participating 
employee, nor shall any employee have any right to transfer, modify, anticipate, or encumber any 
rights or benefits hereunder; provided, however, the undistributed portion of any benefit payable 
hereunder shall at all times be subject to setoff for debts owned by an employee to the Agency. 
 

9. TERMINATION OF EMPLOYMENT.  In the event that the 
employment of an eligible employee is terminated for any reason, his or her eligibility to 



 
48 

 

participate and receive benefits under this Plan shall cease; provided, however, such termination 
of employment shall not affect the right of any employee to claim reimbursement hereunder for 
medical expenses as defined in Article 3 hereof arising prior to the employee’s termination of 
employment. 
 

10. COMMUNICATION.  The Agency shall communicate the features of 
this Plan to all eligible employees by mailing a letter to them which essentially follows the 
format shown in the sample letter attached, and by enclosing a copy of this Plan with the letter. 
 

11. EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Plan shall be effective as of October 14, 2003 
and shall continue in effect until terminated by the Board of Commissioners. 
 

12. AMENDMENT AND TERMINATION.  The Agency, by resolution of 
the Board of Commissioners, may amend the Plan at any time, in whole or in part, including any 
amendments as it shall deem advisable in order that the Plan shall conform to the provisions of 
Sections 105 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, or to conform to any change in 
the law.  The Plan may be terminated at any time by a resolution of the Board of Directors.  If 
the Plan is amended or terminated, the Plan Administrator shall give written notice to each 
eligible employee of the action taken by the Board of Directors.  Any such amendments or 
termination shall not affect any right to benefits arising prior to such amendment or termination. 
 
DATED this _____ day of ____________, 2003. 
 
      URBAN RENEWAL AGENCY OF BOISE CITY,  
      IDAHO 
 
      By _______________________________________ 
            Chairman 

 
 
 
 

ATTACHMENT NO. 2 
POLICIES AND PROCEDURES OF THE URBAN RENEWAL AGENCY OF THE CITY OF BOISE 

CITY, AKA THE CAPITAL CITY DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION TO COMPLY WITH THE HIPAA 
PRIVACY REGULATIONS 

 
INTRODUCTION 

 
 Capital City Development Corporation (“CCDC”), as the sponsor of a group health plan may have access 
to the individually identifiable health information of the Plan’s participants and as such is a “covered entity” as 
defined by 45 CFR 160.13(3). 
 
 CCDC is also a covered entity as the provider of health care to ________________________________.   
  
 The implementing regulations of the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 (HIPAA) 



 
49 

 

restrict a covered entity’s ability to use and disclose protected health information (PHI).   
 
 Protected health information is information that is transmitted by electronic media, maintained in any 
electronic medium, or transmitted or maintained in any other form or medium.  Excluded from the definition of PHI 
is education records covered by the Family Educational rights and Privacy Act, and employment records held in 
CCDC’s role as an employer.   
 
 It is the policy of CCDC to comply fully with HIPAA’s requirements.  To that end, all members of the 
workforce who have access to PHI must comply with this Privacy Policy.  For the purpose of this Policy, the 
workforce includes all individuals who are defined as part of the workforce under HIPAA , which shall include 
volunteers, trainees, and other persons who perform work under the CCDC’s direct control, whether or not they are 
paid by the CCDC.  Hereinafter, the term “employee” includes all of these types of workers. 
 
 No third parties rights, (including, but not limited to participants in the health insurance plan or their 
beneficiaries or covered dependents, or recipients of health care either directly from or by way of payment for such 
care by CCDC, or business associates of CCDC), are intended to be created by this Policy.  CCDC reserves the right 
to amend or change this Policy at any time without notice.  To the extent this Policy establishes requirements and 
obligations above and beyond those required by HIPAA, the Policy shall not be binding upon CCDC and shall only 
be goals which CCDC aspires to attain. 

 
I. PRIVACY OFFICER AND CONTACT PERSON  
 
 CCDC will designate in a separate document an employee to act as a privacy officer for the health 
insurance plan and for health care.  At some point in the future, and at the option of CCDC, there may be designated 
one privacy officer for the health insurance plan and a separate privacy officer designated for CCDC as a health care 
provider.  The designated Privacy Officer(s) will serve at the expense of CCDC as the contact person(s) for 
employees and for recipients of health care who have questions, concerns, or complaints about the privacy of their 
PHI and shall be responsible to oversee compliance of these policies and procedures and the HIPAA privacy rules. 
 
 The Privacy Officer position may be a full-time or part-time position or it may be an additional 
responsibility given to an employee who has other duties. 
 

II.  Notice of Privacy Practices of CCDC that is a sponsor of a health care plan will be provided to all plan 
participants at the time of implementation of these policies and procedures for current employees and 
to new participants upon enrollment.  In addition, a reminder notice will be provided every three years 
thereafter.  A signed acknowledgement of receipt of the Notice will be requested of each plan 
participant and retained by CCDC.   If a Notice is provided by the insurance carrier, no additional 
notice will be provided by the employer. 

 
 Notice of Privacy Practices of CCDC as a health care provider, will be provided at the time that initial 
services are provided, except in the case of emergency treatment situation.  In the case of emergency treatment, 
Notice will be provided as soon as practicable after the treatment is given and either an acknowledgement of receipt 
of the Notice will be obtained, or documentation of the good faith efforts to obtain the acknowledgement will be 
made. 
 
 Notice of Privacy Practices will also be provided to plan participants or persons receiving health care 
services at any other time they request a copy.  

 
  
III. WORKFORCE TRAINING   
 
 It is the policy of CCDC to train all members of the workforce on its privacy policy and procedures.  The 



 
50 

 

Privacy Officer is charged with developing training schedules and programs so that all workforce members receive 
the training necessary and appropriate to permit them to carry out their functions relating to the health care 
information of both employees and health care recipients and their duties as an employee. 
 
IV.  COMPLAINT PROCESS 
 
 Complaints regarding violations of these policies and procedures shall be submitted to the Privacy Officer.  
They may also be submitted in writing to the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services.  The Privacy Officer 
will provide to complainants the address to file their complaint with the Department of Health and Human Services 
upon request. 
 
V. WORKFORCE DISCIPLINE AND SANCTIONS 
 
 Members of the workforce that violate these policies and procedures or the HIPAA privacy regulations shall 
be subject to disciplinary action.  Disciplinary action shall be a minimum of a letter of reprimand in the employees 
personnel file, but may be suspension or termination, depending upon the violation.    

 
VI. MITIGATION 
  
 In the event that improper disclosures of PHI are made in violations of these policies and procedures or the 
HIPAA privacy regulations, the Privacy Officer will take the steps necessary to retrieve the PHI that has been 
improperly disclosed.  In addition, the Privacy Officer will review the internal procedures to assess what safeguards 
may be put in place to prohibit further violations.  In addition to any sanctions that are deemed appropriate, any 
employee that either intentionally or unintentionally makes prohibited disclosures shall be required to participate in 
additional/refresher training regarding HIPAA privacy regulations and these policies and procedures. 
 
    
VII. NO INTIMIDATION OR RETALIATION 
 
 CCDC supports the right of individuals to protect the privacy of their medical information.  There will be no 
retaliation in any way if a person chooses to file a complaint with us or with the U.S. Department of Health and 
Human Services regarding violations of the HIPAA privacy regulations or these policies and procedures.  
 
 Any employee that discloses PHI to a health oversight agency or public health authority or to their attorney as 
it relates to allegations that CCDC has engaged in conduct that is unlawful or violates professional or clinical 
standards or that the care, services, or conditions provided by us potentially endangers a patient or the public will not 
be intimidated or retaliated against.   
 
 
VIII. WAIVERS OF HIPAA RIGHTS 
 
 No plan participant or health care services recipient will be asked to waive their HIPAA rights. 
 
IX. RECORD RETENTION AND DISPOSAL 
 
 The following documents will be kept for a minimum of six years: 
 

1. All records relating to these policies and procedures and a copy of these polices and 
procedures after the date on which they are no longer effective. 

 
 2. Records of disclosures made of PHI.Retention Schedule 



 
51 

 

 
3.  Copies of any written requests for amendment to protected health  information and 

any rebuttal provided denying the request. 
 
4.  All other compliance reports or documentation.   

 
 Protected health information shall be shredded before disposal so that it may not be identifiable.  
 
   
X. PERMITTED USE AND DISCLOSURE 

 
 1. Required disclosure:  Disclosure to the individual about the individual, except for psychotherapy 
notes, and unless it has been determined by a competent medical authority that the disclosure of the information would 
be harmful to the individual, and information compiled in anticipation of either civil or criminal litigation and 
information protected from disclosure under the federal Clinical Laboratory Improvements Amendments of 1988.  
Disclosure to the Secretary of Health and Human Services for the purposes of determining our compliance with the 
HIPAA privacy regulations. 
 
 2. Permissive Disclosure of Protected Health Information Without Authorization to other entities 
for the purpose of: 
 
 A. Treatment:  To coordinate or manage an individual’s health care and related services.   
 
 B. Payment:  To obtain payment for health care services or to pay claims from doctors, hospitals and 
other providers for service delivered or to determine an individual’s  eligibility for benefits, to coordinate benefits, or 
to issue explanations of benefits.   
 
 C. Health Care Operations:  To support the daily activities related to health care, including but not 
limited to, addressing grievances, quality assessment activities, conducting or arranging for legal services, to rate our 
risk for the purpose of determine our premiums for your health plan.   
 
 D. Required by Law:  We may use or disclose an employee or health care services recipient’s PHI if 
law or regulation requires the use or disclosure. 
 
 E. Other allowed disclosures without authorization include:   
  

 Disclosure about victims of abuse, neglect or domestic violence; 
 Disclosure for judicial and administrative proceedings; 
 Disclosure for law enforcement purposes, for example information for the purpose of 

identifying a suspect, fugitive, material witness, or missing person or information regarding a 
person suspected as being a victim of a crime; 

 Disclosure for public health activities; 
 Disclosures for health oversight activities; 
 Disclosures about a decedent to a coroner, medical examiner, or funeral director; 
 Disclosures for cadaveric organ, eye or tissue donation purposes; 
 Disclosures for certain limited research  purposes, in accordance with certain safeguards; 
 Disclosures to avert a serious threat to health and safety of a person or the public; 
 Disclosures for specialized government functions, such as tracking of FDA-regulated products 

of activity; 
 Disclosures that relate to workers’ compensation programs;  
 Disclosures for limited marketing activities; and 



 
52 

 

 Disclosure to military authorities the medical information of armed forces personnel. 
  

 3. Disclosures of PHI pursuant to an Authorization:  PHI may be disclosed for any purpose if an 
authorization that satisfies all of HIPAA’s requirements for valid authorization is provided.  All uses and disclosures 
made pursuant to a signed authorization must be consistent with the terms and conditions of the authorization. 
 
 4. Disclosures to personal representatives:  Disclosure of PHI may be made to guardians, 
conservators, and executors of an individual or their estate and to the parents of a minor child.  When the HIPAA 
privacy regulations require that the individual or personal representative of an individual be advised that PHI relating 
to abuse or neglect is being disclosed to the appropriate agencies, if the personal representative is the suspected 
perpetrator, the personal representative shall not be advised of such disclosure. 
 
 5. Disclosures requiring an opportunity for the individual to object:  An individual must be advised 
of the use or disclosure of PHI and have the opportunity to object to or limit the use or disclosure of PHI associated 
with a health care plan if information relating to an individual’s name, location in the facility, condition described in 
general terms and the individual’s religious affiliation are to be used to maintain in a directory of individuals in a 
facility.   
 
 6. Disclosures to family members:  Disclosure of PHI shall not to be made to family members 
without written authorization. 
 
 7. Disclosures for workmen’s compensation purposes:  Medical information obtained for 
worker’s compensation purposes does not fall within the HIPAA privacy regulations.  
 
    
XI. MINIMUM NECESSARY PROTECTION 
 
 Any disclosure of PHI shall contain the minimum information necessary to accomplish the authorized 
disclosure and to comply with the authorization for disclosure, except when the disclosure is made pursuant to a 
court order or court issued subpoena. Prior to any disclosure of PHI, all disclosures shall be reviewed by the Privacy 
Officer to determine if the disclosure is authorized pursuant to the HIPAA privacy regulations or a valid 
authorization of the individual, and if the information being provided is the minimum necessary.  All PHI contained 
in a document that is in excess of the minimum necessary shall be redacted. 
 
 No member of the person shall request PHI in their capacity as a member of the workforce unless that 
information is necessary for perform the duties of their job.  When requesting PHI, the request shall be limited to 
only that information that is necessary in order for the member of the workforce to perform their duties.  
   
  
XII. WORKFORCE ACCESS TO PROTECTED HEALTH INFORMATION 
 
 Only members of the workforce that need access to PHI in order to perform their assigned duties shall have 
access to the information.  That access shall be limited to the minimum necessary to perform their duties.  The 
following is a list of work positions and the types of PHI to which they need access to the information in order to 
perform the responsibilities of their assigned duties: 
 

 (a)   Administrative Services Director; 
 (b)  The minimum information necessary to properly administer CCDC’s health insurance 

program, the employee assistance program, and the medical reimbursement program. 
 
 

XIII. BUSINESS ASSOCIATES 



 
53 

 

 
 No disclosure of PHI shall be made to a business associate without a contract with that business associate 
that contains provisions that require the business associate to protect the confidentiality of the PHI.  Only the PHI 
necessary in order for the business associate to fulfill their contract shall be provided to the business associate. 
 
   
XIV. INDIVIDUAL RIGHTS 
 
 Plan participants and health care services recipients are entitled to the following rights: 
 
 1. The right to inspect and copy the PHI which is maintained by CCDC for as long as we maintain the 
information, except psychotherapy notes; information compiled in reasonable anticipation of, or in use in, a civil, 
criminal, or administrative action or proceeding; and PHI that is subject to some other  law that prohibits access to 
PHI. 
 
 2. The right to request restrictions on the use or disclosure of their PHI for treatment, payment or health 
operations purposes.  The request must be made in writing to the Privacy Officer and must state (1) what information 
they want restricted; (2) whether they want to restrict the use, disclosure, or both; (3) to whom they want the restriction 
to apply, for example, disclosures to their spouse; and (4) an expiration date.  If the Privacy Officer believes that the 
restriction is not in the best interest of either party or that the request cannot reasonably be accommodated, the Privacy 
Officer has the authority to deny the request.  If the Privacy Officer determines that the request is reasonable, the 
request will be honored, unless the PHI is needed to provide emergency treatment.  A previously agreed upon 
restriction may be revoked, at any time, in writing. 
 
 3. The right to request that they be communicated with by alternate means or at an alternate location, 
without having to explain the reason for the request.  Reasonable requests will be accommodated, when possible, or 
when the individual clearly proves  
that the disclosure of all or part of that information could endanger them. 
 
 4. The right to request amendments to the PHI if the individual reasonably believes the information is 
incorrect or incomplete.  This right is only valid so long as we maintain this information.  While we will accept 
requests for amendments, we are not required to agree to the amendment. 
 
 
 5. The right to an accounting of the disclosures we have made of PHI for purposes other than treatment, 
payment, or health care operations.  This right excludes disclosures made to the individual, disclosures made pursuant 
to a valid authorization, disclosures made to persons involved in the individual’s care, or disclosures made for 
notification purposes.  This right applies to disclosures made after April 14, 2003 and no more than 6 years from the 
date of the request. 
 
 
XV. TECHNICAL AND PHYSICAL SAFEGUARDS AND FIREWALL 
 
 Members of the workforce that are authorized to have access to PHI shall not leave or place PHI in any 
place where that information can be viewed by individuals that are not authorized pursuant to these policies and 
procedures to have access to the information. 
 
 Protected health information stored in a computer file shall be password protected to insure that 
unauthorized individuals will not be able to access the materials.  Computers where PHI may be displayed on the 
computer screen shall be set up in such a manner to prevent the viewing of the computer screen by individuals that 
are not authorized to have access to the information. 
 



 
54 

 

 Protected health information that is maintained in a paper format shall be maintained in a file separate from 
other information regarding the individual and shall be kept in a locked file cabinet(s), with only authorized 
members of the workforce having access. 
 
 Verbal communications regarding PHI shall be conducted in a location and in such a manner as to prohibit 
individuals that are not authorized to have access to that information from hearing the communications. 
 
 Fax and copy machines over which PHI is received or copied shall be maintained in a location where the 
only individuals that will have access to that information are those individuals authorized to do so.  
 
 All health information that is obtained as employment information, but that also falls within a category of 
PHI shall be afforded the protections under these policies and procedures regardless of how it is obtained.   
 
XVI. STATE LAW  
 
 In the event that state law provides greater protections to health information than that which is provided in 
these policies and procedures and the HIPAA privacy regulations, the state law will be followed.         
 
XVII. EFFECTIVE 
 
 These Policies and Procedures shall be effective on October 14, 2003 and shall remain in effect until 
amended in writing. 
 
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 

To be detached and retained by the covered entity 
 
 

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT OF RECEIPT OF POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 
 

I _______________________________, hereby acknowledge receipt of a copy of the Policies and Procedures of 
Capital City Development Corporation  to Comply with HIPAA Privacy Regulations, with an effective date of October 
14, 2003. 
  
 
4813-2064-3367, v.  18-2064-3367, v.  5-2064-3367, v.  4-2064-3367, v.  3 



Page 1 
 

 

 

AGENDA BILL 

Agenda Subject: 
Distribution and dissemination of proposed monthly parking permit 
increase effective January 1, 2016; and setting the December 14th, 
2015 board meeting to receive comment on the proposal. 
 

Date: 
November 9, 2015 
 

Staff Contact: 
Max Clark,  
Parking & Facilities Director 
 

Attachments: 
1. Public notice, including current & proposed rates 
2. Customer/stakeholder letter 

 
Action Requested: 
Request authorization to distribute proposed modifications to monthly parking rates to permit 
holders and stakeholders; and to set the December 14, 2015 Board meeting to receive 
comment regarding proposed rate increases. 
 
Fiscal Notes: 
There is no fiscal impact to these proposed actions. However, if approved in December this rate 
adjustment will result in an increase of approximately $373,860 over estimated FY16 monthly 
revenues without the adjustment.    
 
Background: 
The need for this rate adjustment was identified during the development and approval of the 
Agency’s FY2016 budget and CIP/Parking Reinvestment Program (PRP). The PRP provides 
necessary funding to keep the garages structurally sound, easy to find and utilize.    
 
Due largely to the down economy, the last system-wide rate adjustments occurred in August, 
2008. At that time the rates were raised for general monthly parking from $79 to $100. They 
have remained unchanged since then.   
 
Early in the Parking Strategic Planning Plan process the Steering Committee asked that rate 
changes be deferred until after the Plan was finalized. The thought was that Plan 
recommendations would provide the justification for rate adjustments and other actions.   
However, our CIP/PRP financing was based on rate adjustments, so we decided to implement 
simple rate adjustments now rather than to cut funding and planned parking investments. We 
expect that with the adoption of the Strategic Plan there will be many changes proposed for the 
parking system, including several parking plan options with various prices.     
 
Because only a rate adjustment is being proposed in December (no policy changes), a less 
formal notification process will be pursued. The following means of notification will be pursued: 
 Posting notices in the garages themselves; 
 Mailing notices to permit holders and downtown stakeholders (developers, businesses, 

etc.) 
 Posting a notice on Agency websites; and  
 Placing at least one notice in the local newspaper.   

 
 



Page 2 
 

Staff Recommendation: 
Staff requests authorization to distribute proposed modifications to monthly parking rates to 
permit holders and stakeholders; and to set the December 14, 2015 Board meeting to receive 
comment regarding proposed rate increases. 
 
Suggested Motion: 
I move that staff be authorized to distribute proposed modifications to monthly parking rates to 
permit holders and stakeholders; and to set the December 14, 2015 Board meeting to receive 
comment regarding proposed rate increases. 
 

 



PUBLIC NOTICE 
Proposed Parking Rate Adjustments 

Effective January 1, 2016 
 
The Capital City Development Corporation (CCDC) will consider rate adjustments for the 
Downtown Public Parking System (DPPS) at the Board of Director’s meeting on December 14th, 
2015. The meeting will be held at noon in the CCDC Board Room located at 121 N. 9th St., Suite 
501. The rates under review are those for monthly parking only, including rooftop and reserved 
parking.    
 
If you would like to comment on the proposed changes you may attend the December 14th, 
2015 meeting; or you may write, fax or email your comments to the addresses noted below.  
Please submit your comments by 10:00 a.m. that day so that they will be included in the 
Director’s packets.   
 
Capital City Development Corporation   Email: info@ccdcboise.com 
Attn: John Brunelle, Executive Director   Fax: (208) 384-4267 
121 N. 9th St., Suite 501     Web: www.ccdcboise.com  
Boise, ID 83702 
 

Proposed Rate Adjustments 
 

Category    Current Rate   Proposed Rate 
Capitol Terrace Monthly  $100    $135 
Capitol Terrace Reserved  $135    $170 
Eastman Monthly   $100    $135 
Boulevard Monthly   $100    $120 
Boulevard Reserved   $135    $155   
Boulevard Tandem   $62    $82 
City Centre Monthly   $100    $120 
City Centre Reserved   $135    $155    
City Centre Rooftop   $70    $90 
Grove Street Monthly   $100    $120 
Grove Street Rooftop   $85    $105 
Myrtle Street Monthly  $100    $120 
Myrtle Street Rooftop   $70    $90 
 
 
 
This meeting is being conducted in a location accessible to those with physical disabilities.  
Participants may request reasonable accommodations, including but not limited to a language 
interpreter, from CCDC to facilitate their participation in the meeting.   

mailto:info@ccdcboise.com
http://www.ccdcboise.com/


DRAFT 
 
 
 
 
 
November 9, 2015 
 
Name 
Address 
 
Subject: Proposed Monthly Parking Rate Increase 
 
Dear __________: 
 
The purpose of this letter is to inform you of proposed parking rate increases for 
monthly permits to be considered by the Capital City Development Corporation 
(CCDC) Board of Commissioners on Monday, December 14th, 2015.   
 
Parking rates in the public garages have remained unchanged since 2008. This rate 
adjustment was built into the CCDC 2016 approved budget, including the Agency’s 
Parking Reinvestment Program, which provides needed funds for structural 
maintenance and system wide improvements.      
 
The CCDC Board of Commissioners will consider these rate increases at their 
monthly meeting on December 14, 2015. The meeting will begin at 12:00 noon in 
the CCDC Board Room, located at 121 N. 9th St., Suite 501. Public comment is 
welcome at this meeting, or in writing if received by 10:00 AM that morning. Please 
address correspondence to the address noted on this letter; or provide comments 
via email to info@ccdcboise.com.    
 
Sincerely, 
 
 
 
John Brunelle 
Executive Director 
Capital City Development Corporation 

mailto:info@ccdcboise.com


Page 1 
 

 

 

AGENDA BILL 

Agenda Subject: 
Downtown Boise Streetscape Standards & Specifications Update and 
Transmittal to Boise City for Adoption into Blueprint Boise 
 

Date: 
November 9, 2015 
 

Staff Contact: 
Matt Edmond 

Attachments: 
1. Downtown Boise Streetscape Standards & 

Specifications Manual 
Action Requested: 
Transmit the Downtown Boise Streetscape Standards & Specifications Manual to the City of 
Boise to consider for adoption into Blueprint Boise and the appropriate design review and 
zoning documents.  
 
Background: 
 
Previously, CCDC has maintained streetscape standards and specifications for downtown 
Boise, both in three of its adopted urban renewal plans and in a separate manual derived from 
those plans. These standards have guided both private development as well as CCDC-led 
efforts to improve the public rights-of-way within the urban renewal districts. Since the agency 
has abdicated any role in the design review process, there has been some confusion in which 
agency has approval authority over downtown streetscapes. Boise Planning and Development 
Services has jurisdiction over streetscape design through the design review process, and Ada 
County Highway District has jurisdiction over improvements in the public rights-of-way.  
 
Additionally, the current streetscape standards in the urban renewal plans, which are in turn 
adopted into the city’s comprehensive plan—Blueprint Boise—are out of date. They do not 
reflect current furnishings, emerging best practices for urban tree planting and stormwater 
management, and streetscape types and specifications for streets within the 30th Street Urban 
Renewal District (West End), to include ACHD proposals for “green street” improvements on 
Main and Fairview. 
 
CCDC staff, in coordination with agency partners and stakeholders, has drafted an updated 
Downtown Boise Streetscape Standards & Specifications Manual to address the issues 
discussed above. This effort included representation from ACHD (Stormwater Quality, 
Development Services, and Traffic); Boise City (Planning & Development, Public Works, 
Community Forestry, Fire Department and Parking); Downtown Boise Association; Valley 
Regional Transit; and West End/Story Commercial. The updated manual includes updated 
furnishings, types and specifications for 30th Street/West End, and provisions for “green streets”, 
including suspended paving systems, and bioretention swales and planters. The updated 
manual also provides guidelines on where such treatments are or are not appropriate. 
 
 



Page 2 
 

Transmittal of Standards to Boise City: 

In order to provide better clarity on approval authority going forward, CCDC staff is proposing to 
transmit the updated Downtown Boise Streetscape Standards & Specifications Manual to the 
City of Boise to consider for adoption into Blueprint Boise and the appropriate design review and 
zoning documents, with the provision that once the manual is adopted by the City of Boise, 
CCDC will remove attachments that include streetscape standards from the Boise Central 
District, River Myrtle – Old Boise, and Westside Downtown urban renewal master plans. 
 
Fiscal Notes: 
CCDC spends approximately $2M on streetscape improvements within its urban renewal 
districts each year, including CCDC projects and developer participation grants. This formal 
adoption of more expensive treatments, such as suspended paving systems (SPS)—e.g. Silva 
Cells—without leveraging additional funding, would reduce the amount of streetscape 
improvements that CCDC can accomplish. Although initial costs are higher with suspended 
pavement systems, they offer additional benefits, including improved tree health, less frequent 
tree replacement, offsite stormwater mitigation, and reduced contaminant runoff into the Boise 
River. 

Streetscape Type Cost Per Block Face 
without SPS 

Cost Per Block Face 
with SPS 

Urban Brick $ 250,000 $ 340,000 
Urban Concrete with Brick $ 220,000 $ 310,000 
Urban Concrete $ 200,000 $ 290,000 
Neighborhood/Urban Parkway $ 110,000 N/A 

Notes: 
1. Above cost estimates assume a 20% contingency and are rounded to the nearest $10,000. 
2. Estimate of additional $90,000 per block face to included suspended paving systems assumes 8 

– 10 trees per block face, or about $9,000 - $11,000 per street tree accommodated. 
 
Next Steps: 
If the Board approves the recommendation, CCDC staff will transmit the Downtown Boise 
Streetscape Standards & Specifications Manual to the City of Boise to consider for adoption into 
Blueprint Boise and the appropriate design review and zoning documents. With a November 
submission, staff anticipates Design Review and Planning & Zoning hearings in early January, 
with a recommendation to City Council thereafter. Once a date certain is set for City Council to 
adopt the standards, CCDC staff will initiate the process of amending its urban renewal plans to 
remove obsolete streetscape standards. 
 
Staff Recommendation: 

Staff recommends the Board approve transmittal of the Downtown Boise Streetscape Standards 
& Specifications Manual to the City of Boise to consider for adoption into Blueprint Boise and 
the appropriate design review and zoning documents. 
 
Suggested Motion: 

I move to approve transmittal of the Downtown Boise Streetscape Standards & Specifications 
Manual to the City of Boise for adoption into Blueprint Boise. 
 



8'4'Varies

Travel LanesSidewalk Parking

14 "

DOWNTOWN BOISE 
STREETSCAPE STANDARDS 
& SPECIFICATIONS MANUAL 



Getting Started

The Downtown Boise Streetscape Standards and 
Specifications Manual is a user friendly-guide to help 
identify and specify streetscape design in the four 
downtown urban renewal districts. By following the 
four-step design process, users will be able to correctly 
develop their streetscape installation to meet Boise City 
streetscape requirements.

Boise City sets streetscape standards by council adoption 
and incorporation into planning and zoning documents. 
Boise City Design Review ensures streetscape standards 
are as part of development applications, and considers 
any modification and/or waiver thereof. Boise City staff 
inspects and enforces streetscape standards through 
the building division of Planning & Development Services 
(PDS). Additionally, the Ada County Highway District 
(ACHD) has approval authority for improvements in the 
public rights-of-way.

Capital City Development Corporation (CCDC) does not set, 
inspect, or enforce streetscape standards for downtown 
Boise. CCDC does offer participation assistance for public 
improvements on a case-by-case basis in accordance 
with the CCDC Participation Program. Those seeking 
assistance for streetscape improvements should contact 
CCDC as early in the design process as possible to ensure 
proposed improvements are eligible and that funds are 
available.

Find the
Streetscape Type for Your Parcel

PAGE 1

Find the
Standards for Your Streetscape Type

PAGE 3-17

Find the
Specifications for Your Streetscape Type

PAGE 19-55

Find the
Quality Control Standards and Conditions 
for Your Streetscape Project

PAGE 57-61

BOISE STREETSCAPE STANDARDS & SPECIFICATIONS MANUAL

STEP

STEP

STEP

STEP

Downtown Boise Streetscape Standards & Specifications

What is the streetscape?

The streetscape is the part of the street right-of-way between the face of the curb and 
the building. In downtown Boise, the streetscape includes the sidewalk surface, street 
trees, historic streetlights, and a collection of furnishings. These furnishings include, 
but are not limited to, benches, planters for flowers, tree grates, trash receptacles, 
bicycle racks, transit shelters, newsstands, bollards, and drinking fountains. In areas 
that have an urban character such as the Central Business District, the sidewalk surface 
runs from the building face to the curb and street trees are planted in tree grates. In 
areas that have a neighborhood character, the sidewalk surface is separated from the 
street by a landscape strip where the street trees are planted. In many areas, green 
infrastructure such as suspended paving systems and bio-swales are incorporated into 
the streetscape design, as well.
 
Why does the City of Boise have streetscape standards?

Since the mid 1980s, significant investment has been made in downtown Boise’s 
streetscapes. These highly visible improvements have been instrumental to the 
success of the downtown area. The streetscapes provide a setting for community 
events, for development of adjoining private property, and for the everyday interaction 
of people who frequent downtown. Streetscape standards have been established to 
assure over time that the way downtown sidewalks are designed and the materials and 
furnishings used on these sidewalks, create a distinct identity and attractive ambiance 
for downtown. The standards classify streets by the character of the area in which they 
are located.  For each category, they identify how the sidewalk is surfaced—whether 
brick, concrete or a combination are used—and the specific make, model, and color 
of the furnishings that are to be installed.  The streetscapes create a common design 
thread throughout the downtown area which contributes to a feeling of coherence and 
continuity. 

BOISE STREETSCAPE STANDARDS & SPECIFICATIONS MANUAL

Introduction Introduction



DOWNTOWN BOISE STREETSCAPE STANDARDS & SPECIFICATIONS MANUAL  ::  01

STEP
Find the
Streetscape Type for Your Parcel

CENTRAL RIVER MYRTLE - OLD BOISEWEST END WESTSIDE

9t
h

8t
h

Main

Broad

Front

Broadw
ay

Myrtle

Ca
pi

to
l

14
th

Am
er

ic
an

a

Idaho

Bannock

Je�erson

State

Grove

6t
h

10
th

11
th

12
th

13
th

15
th

16
th

5t
h

4t
h

3r
d

2n
d

1s
t

Fulton
River

Grand

Main

Fairv
iew

I-1
84

W
hitew

ater Park

27th

KEY
 Brick
 Concrete with Brick
 Urban Concrete
 Parkway
 Neighborhood
 Special 
 Capitol Boulevard
 Fairview-Main Green Street
 Proposed Street Connections

STREETSCAPE TYPE MAP
URBAN BRICK
URBAN CONCRETE W/ BRICK
URBAN CONCRETE
NEIGHBORHOOD
URBAN PARKWAY
CAPITOL BOULEVARD
FAIRVIEW-MAIN GREEN STREET
SPECIAL
PROPOSED STREET CONNECTIONS

STREETSCAPE MAP TYPES

1
2
3
4
5
6
7

This page intentionally left blank.



DOWNTOWN BOISE STREETSCAPE STANDARDS & SPECIFICATIONS MANUAL  ::  03

STEP
Find the
Standards for Your Streetscape Type

Type 1    » Urban Brick    4-5

Type 2    » Urban Concrete w/ Brick      6-7

Type 3    » Urban Concrete    8-9

Type 4    » Neighborhood    10-11

Type 5    » Urban Parkway    12-13

Type 6    » Capitol Boulevard    14-15

Type 7    » Fairview-Main Green Streets       16-17

This page intentionally left blank.



04  ::  DOWNTOWN BOISE STREETSCAPE STANDARDS & SPECIFICATIONS MANUAL DOWNTOWN BOISE STREETSCAPE STANDARDS & SPECIFICATIONS MANUAL  ::  05

Urban Brick Streetscape is generally located in business 
and mixed-use districts where there is a concentration 
of higher intensity development, ground floor retail, 
restaurants and entertainment uses, and on-street 
parking. It also may also be used with offices and housing 
at street level when such uses are located in business or 
mixed-use districts rather than neighborhoods.
Urban Brick Streetscape is used to designate certain 
streets as focused on pedestrians and to create a visible 
network of comfortable people-oriented streets where 
significant attention is given to the aesthetic quality of the 
pedestrian environment. Brick is required on designated 
sidewalks in high activity centers such as the downtown 
core to create distinctive places for people to gather, live, 
work, shop, dine and socialize, where extra emphasis is 
desired to signify the importance of these focal points of 
people activity.

LANDSCAPE REQUIREMENTS

• Street Trees   29 
 
Class II trees in furnishing zone and in same alignment as Historic 
Streetlights. Trees to be spaced approximately 28’-32’ apart and 
installed in tree wells. Tree well root barrier required by ACHD. 
Coordinate planning and installation of trees with Boise City 
Community Forestry, (208) 608-7700. 
 

HARDSCAPE REQUIREMENTS

• Dry Laid Brick Pavers    20-24

Dry laid brick paver surface extends from curb to face of 
building. Pattern and color of brick varies by building frontage 
zone, pedestrian zone, furnishing zone, and curb zone.

» Curb Zone: 1 soldier course (8” wide) of red dry laid brick.

» Furnishing Zone: 4’ wide. Dark brick dry laid pavers with 
single soldier course each side and ends with herringbone 
field.

» Pedestrian Zone: Minimum 8’ wide section of red brick dry 
laid pavers in herringbone pattern.

» Building Frontage Zone: Minimum 8” wide row of dark brick 
dry laid pavers in soldier course pattern. Width varies and 
is determined by the irregularity of the building face.

» Pedestrian Ramps at crosswalk per ACHD Standards.

• Suspended Paving Systems                                                        26
Suspended Paving Systems (SPS) are required under the 
hardscape surface. Design to be determined by site specific 
conditions. 

• Tree Grates and Frames   28

» 4’x 8’ cast iron tree grates and frames to be installed. 

• Streetlights    32

» Spacing: Approximately 56’ - 64’ spacing in same alignment 
as trees. Lights should be centered between trees and 
conflicts with trees to be avoided.

» Installation: Coordinate with Boise City Public Works 
Department, (208) 384-3900.

SITUATIONAL FURNISHINGS

Number and location of furnishings will 
be determined by Boise City through its 
design review process, and may include:

Bench    36-37

Litter Receptacle    38-39

Bike Rack    40-41

Movable Planters    44-45

Parking meters to be located per Boise 
City Parking Standards and placed to 
avoid conflicts with all other streetscape 
furnishings. Coordinate meter placement 
and accessible parking spaces with Boise 
City Parking Control, (208) 384-3700. 

NOTE:

The dimensions of the pedestrian zone 
and frontage zone will vary with overall 
sidewalk width.

All furnishings, trees, and improvements 
in the street right-of-way will require 
approval by ACHD, (208) 387-6170.

W
id

th
 V

ar
ie

s

8'Varies

Travel LanesSidewalk Parking

Street Tree
Class II Tree
4'x8' Tree Grate
28'-32' Approx. Spacing

Pedestrian Ramp
ACHD Standard

Furnishing Zone
Dark Brick Dry Laid Pavers,
Single Soldier Course Each Side
and Ends w/ Herringbone Field;
Benches, Planters, etc.

Frontage Zone
Dark Brick Dry Laid Pavers,
Soldier Course (s)

Historic Light
56'-64' Approx. Spacing
Curbside  Zone
8" Red Brick Soldier Course + 6" Curb

JBA 2015

4' 14 "

Pedestrian Zone
Red Brick Dry Laid Pavers,
Herringbone Pattern

Suspended Paving System
Subsurface, Uncompacted Soil
for Healthy Tree Growth and
Stormwater Collection

Parking Meters
Located 18" from back of curb

Type 1 :: Urban Brick



06  ::  DOWNTOWN BOISE STREETSCAPE STANDARDS & SPECIFICATIONS MANUAL DOWNTOWN BOISE STREETSCAPE STANDARDS & SPECIFICATIONS MANUAL  ::  07

Urban Concrete with Brick Streetscape is generally 
located in business and mixed-use districts where there is 
a concentration of higher intensity development, ground 
floor retail, restaurants and entertainment uses, and 
on-street parking. It is designed for heavy pedestrian use 
and to be compatible with retail or similar uses in a dense 
urban environment.

Urban Concrete with Brick may also be used with 
offices and housing at street level when such uses are 
located in business or mixed-use districts rather than in 
neighborhoods.

LANDSCAPE REQUIREMENTS

• Street Trees   29 
 
Class II trees in furnishing zone and in same alignment as Historic 
Streetlights. Trees to be spaced approximately 28’-32’ apart and 
installed in tree wells. Tree well root barrier required by ACHD. 
Coordinate planning and installation of trees with Boise City 
Community Forestry, (208) 608-7700. 
 

HARDSCAPE REQUIREMENTS

• Modular Scored Concrete and Red Dry Laid  
Brick Pavers    20-23, 25

Modular scored concrete extends from building face to 
furnishing zone. Red dry laid brick pavers are used in the 
furnishing zone.

» Curb zone: 8” concrete curb zone.

» Furnishing zone: 4’ wide. Red brick dry laid pavers; single 
soldier course on each side and ends with herringbone 
field.

» Pedestrian zone: Minimum width of pedestrian zone is 
8’.  Concrete  with trowel joint parallel and cross scores at 
4’ intervals. No parallel scores are made within 6” of the 
building foundation.

» Pedestrian ramps at crosswalk per ACHD Standards.

• Suspended Paving Systems                                                        26
Suspended Paving Systems (SPS) are required under the 
hardscape surface. Design to be determined by site specific 
conditions.  

• Tree Grates and Frames    28

» 4’x 8’ cast iron tree grates and frames to be installed. 
Corners of tree grates to align with sidewalk score lines.

• Streetlights    32

» Spacing: Approximately 56’ - 64’ spacing in same alignment 
as trees. Lights should be centered between trees and 
conflicts with trees to be avoided.

» Installation: Coordinate with Boise City Public Works 
Department, (208) 384-3900.

W
id

th
 V

ar
ie

s

8'Varies

Travel LanesSidewalk Parking

Furnishing Zone
Red Brick Dry Laid Pavers,
Single Soldier Course Each Side
and Ends with Herringbone Field;
Benches, Planters, etc.

Pedestrian Zone
Concrete, 4' Modular
Sidewalk Joints

Historic Light
56'-64' Approx. Spacing

Street Tree
Class II Tree
4'x8' Tree Grate
28'-32' Approx. Spacing

Pedestrian Ramp
ACHD Standard

4' 14 "

Curbside  Zone
8" Concrete + 6" Curb

JBA 2015

Suspended Paving System
Subsurface, Uncompacted Soil
for Healthy Tree Growth and
Stormwater Collection

Parking Meters
Located 18" from back of curb

Type 2 :: Urban Concrete with Brick

SITUATIONAL FURNISHINGS

Number and location of furnishings will 
be determined by Boise City through its 
design review process, and may include:

Bench    36-37

Litter Receptacle    38-39

Bike Rack    40-41

Movable Planters    44-45

Parking meters to be located per Boise 
City Parking Standards and placed to 
avoid conflicts with all other streetscape 
furnishings. Coordinate meter placement 
and accessible parking spaces with Boise 
City Parking Control, (208) 384-3700. 

NOTE:

The dimensions of the pedestrian zone 
and frontage zone will vary with overall 
sidewalk width.

All furnishings, trees, and improvements 
in the street right-of-way will require 
approval by ACHD, (208) 387-6170.



08  ::  DOWNTOWN BOISE STREETSCAPE STANDARDS & SPECIFICATIONS MANUAL DOWNTOWN BOISE STREETSCAPE STANDARDS & SPECIFICATIONS MANUAL  ::  09

Urban Concrete Streetscape is generally located in 
business and mixed-use districts where there is a 
concentration of higher intensity development, ground 
floor retail, restaurants and entertainment uses, and on-
street parking.

Urban Concrete is designed for heavy pedestrian use 
and to be compatible with retail or similar uses in a 
dense urban environment. It may also be used with 
offices and housing at street level when such uses are 
located in business or mixed-use districts rather than 
neighborhoods.

LANDSCAPE REQUIREMENTS

• Street Trees   29 
 
Class II trees in furnishing zone and in same alignment as Historic 
Streetlights. Trees to be spaced approximately 28’-32’ apart and 
installed in tree wells. Tree well root barrier required by ACHD. 
Coordinate planning and installation of trees with Boise City 
Community Forestry, (208) 608-7700. 
 

HARDSCAPE REQUIREMENTS

• Modular Scored Concrete   23, 25

» Curb zone: 8” concrete curb zone.

» Furnishing zone: 4’ wide. Concrete in furnishing zone is 
scored in 2’ intervals.

» Pedestrian zone:  Minimum width of pedestrian zone is 
8’.  Concrete  with trowel joint parallel and cross scores at 
4’ intervals. No parallel scores are made within 6” of the 
building foundation.  

» Pedestrian ramps at per ACHD Standards.

• Suspended Paving Systems                                                        26
Suspended Paving Systems (SPS) are required under the 
hardscape surface. Design to be determined by site specific 
conditions.   

• Tree Grates and Frames    28

» 4’x 8’ cast iron tree grates and frames to be installed. 
Corners of tree grates to align with sidewalk score lines.

• Streetlights    32-33

» Spacing: Approximately 56’ - 64’ spacing in same alignment 
as trees. Lights should be centered between trees and 
conflicts with trees to be avoided.

» Installation: Coordinate with Boise City Public Works 
Department, (208) 384-3900.

W
id

th
 V

ar
ie

s

8'4'Varies

Travel LanesSidewalk Parking

Furnishing Zone
Concrete, 2'  Modular
Sidewalk Joints; Benches,
Planters, etc.

Pedestrian Zone
Concrete, 4' Modular
Sidewalk Joints

Street Tree
Class II Tree
4'x8' Tree Grate
28'-32' Approx. Spacing

Pedestrian Ramp
ACHD Standard

14 "

Historic Light
56'-64' Approx. Spacing
Curbside  Zone
8" Concrete + 6" Curb

JBA 2015

Suspended Paving System
Subsurface, Uncompacted Soil
for Healthy Tree Growth and
Stormwater Collection

Parking Meters
Located 18" from back of curb

Type 3 :: Urban Concrete

SITUATIONAL FURNISHINGS

Number and location of furnishings will 
be determined by Boise City through its 
design review process, and may include:

Bench    36-37

Litter Receptacle    38-39

Bike Rack    40-41

Movable Planters    44-45

Parking meters to be located per Boise 
City Parking Standards and placed to 
avoid conflicts with all other streetscape 
furnishings. Coordinate meter placement 
and accessible parking spaces with Boise 
City Parking Control, (208) 384-3700. 

NOTE:

The dimensions of the pedestrian zone 
and frontage zone will vary with overall 
sidewalk width.

All furnishings, trees, and improvements 
in the street right-of-way will require 
approval by ACHD, (208) 387-6170.



10  ::  DOWNTOWN BOISE STREETSCAPE STANDARDS & SPECIFICATIONS MANUAL DOWNTOWN BOISE STREETSCAPE STANDARDS & SPECIFICATIONS MANUAL  ::  11

The Neighborhood Streetscape is used in areas of downtown 
that have less intense development with a higher proportion 
of residential uses and more limited retail and office uses. It is 
designed to accommodate pedestrian traffic in locations where a 
residential neighborhood character is desired. 

The distinguishing characteristic of this style of streetscaping is 
the use of softscape and street trees between the sidewalk and 
the street, rather than continuing the sidewalk surface to the curb. 
The intent of the neighborhood streetscape is to create a pleasant 
pedestrian environment and encourage walking as an alternative to 
using an automobile. The Neighborhood Streetscape is compatible 
with housing, office, and limited retail uses. 

LANDSCAPE  REQUIREMENTS 54

• Street Trees: Class II trees in lawn strip in same alignment as Historic 
Streetlights. Where the lawn strip is at least 10’ in width, Class III trees 
may be recommended or required depending on land use and other local 
conditions. Class II trees to be spaced approximately 30’ apart, or 40’ apart 
for Class III trees. Coordinate planning and installation of trees with Boise 
City Community Forestry, (208) 608-7700. 

• Lawn Strip: The width of the lawn strip will vary according to local conditions 
but is at least 8’ to allow for street trees. The lawn strip may be sodded with 
grass or other more water efficient plantings/xeriscaping.  

• Landscape Zone (between building face and sidewalk): Turf or low shrubs 
are appropriate but design and materials may vary according to setback 
standards and conditions related to site, building, and use.

HARDSCAPE REQUIREMENTS

• Concrete   23

» Curbside Walk: 18” wide concrete. Optional use to 
protect lawn. 

» Pedestrian zone: Minimum width of pedestrian zone 
is 6’.  Concrete  with trowel joint parallel and cross 
scores at 4’-6” intervals. 

» Pedestrian ramps at crosswalk per ACHD Standards.

• Streetlights   32-33

» Spacing: Approximately 60’ separation and in same 
alignment as trees. Lights to be centered between 
trees and conflicts with trees should be avoided.

» Installation: Coordinate with Boise City Public Works 
Department, (208) 384-3900.

GREEN STREET OPTION                                      27

Bioretention planters or bioswales are an acceptable 
alternative to a conventional tree lawn or landscape 
strip. Bioretention facilities help to treat stormwater 
runoff from the street and adjacent areas, reducing 
pollutant discharge into the Boise River and providing 
street trees with some of the water they need. 
Bioretention facilities require different design from 
conventional tree lawns, including special soils and tree 
selection. Contact ACHD at (208) 387-6170 for details.

8'8' (min)6' 18 "

Scored Concrete Sidewalk
and Curbside Walk

18
" 

(O
pt

io
na

l)

6'
8'

(m
in

)

Sidewalk
Lawn or

Parking Travel Lanes

Lawn Strip or Green Street Option
Class II  Tree - 30' Approx. Spacing
Class III Tree (lawn strip at least 10' in width
                       - 40' Approx. Spacing

Historic Lights
4-5 Per Block

6'

Pedestrian Ramp
ACHD Standard

Varies

45

JBA 2015

Green Street
Option

Parking Meters (if required)
Located 18" from back of curb

Type 4 :: Neighborhood

SITUATIONAL FURNISHINGS

Number and location of furnishings will 
be determined by Boise City through its 
design review process, and may include:

Bench    36-37

Litter Receptacle    38-39

Bike Rack    40-41

Movable Planters    44-45

Parking meters to be located per Boise 
City Parking Standards and placed to 
avoid conflicts with all other streetscape 
furnishings. Coordinate meter placement 
and accessible parking spaces with Boise 
City Parking Control, (208) 384-3700. 

NOTE:

All furnishings, trees, and improvements 
in the street right-of-way will require 
approval by ACHD, (208) 387-6170.



12  ::  DOWNTOWN BOISE STREETSCAPE STANDARDS & SPECIFICATIONS MANUAL DOWNTOWN BOISE STREETSCAPE STANDARDS & SPECIFICATIONS MANUAL  ::  13

The Urban Parkway Streetscape is used on major streets that 
carry higher volumes of traffic at faster speeds than is typical 
for the downtown core. The intent of using a parkway treatment 
is to provide beautification of significant streets such as State 
Street, Whitewater Park Boulevard, and the Connector and to 
create a comfortable pedestrian walking environment so that the 
streets serve pedestrians in addition to vehicles. The standards 
are established to provide a strong visual statement with a double 
rather than single row of street trees in tree lawn, adequate room 
for pedestrian movement, and a buffer between pedestrians and 
relatively heavy auto and truck traffic.

LANDSCAPE  REQUIREMENTS 54

• Street Trees: Where the lawn strip is at least 10’ in width, Class III trees 
may be recommended or required  depending on land use and other local 
conditions. Trees to be spaced approximately 50’, staggered rows where 
applicable. Coordinate planning and installation of trees with Boise City 
Community Forestry, (208) 608-7700. 

• Landscape Strip: The width of the landscape strip will vary according to local 
conditions but is generally 10’ minimum. Landscape strip to be planted with 
lawn or shrub plantings.  

• Landscape Zone (between building face and sidewalk): Surface width behind 
sidewalk should be sufficient to accommodate a row of trees. Turf or low 
shrubs are appropriate but design and materials may vary according to 
setback standards and conditions related to site, building and use.

HARDSCAPE REQUIREMENTS

• Concrete   23

» Pedestrian Zone: Minimum width of Pedestrian Zone 
is 8’ with 4’ modular scored concrete.

» Pedestrian ramps at crosswalk per ACHD Standards.

• Streetlights   32-33

» Spacing: Approximately 100’ spacing and in same 
alignment as trees. Lights to be centered between 
trees and conflicts with trees should be avoided.

» Installation: Coordinate with Boise City Public Works 
Department, (208) 384-3900.

GREEN STREET OPTION                                      27 

Bioretention planters or bioswales are an acceptable 
alternative to a conventional tree lawn or landscape 
strip. Bioretention facilities help to treat stormwater 
runoff from the street and adjacent areas, reducing 
pollutant discharge into the Boise River and thereby 
providing street trees with some of the water they need. 
Bioretention facilities require different design from 
conventional tree lawns, including special soils and tree 
selection. Contact ACHD at (208) 387-6170 for details.

8' 10'

10
'

8'

Scored Concrete Sidewalk

Historic Lights
100' Approx. Spacing

Street Trees
Class II or III Tree
50' Approx. Spacing,
Staggered Rows8'

Travel LanesSidewalk

Varies

Pedestrian Ramp
ACHD Standard Lawn or Green Street Option

45

JBA 2015

Lawn or
Green Street

Option

Type 5 :: Urban Parkway

SITUATIONAL FURNISHINGS

Number and location of furnishings will 
be determined by Boise City through its 
design review process, and may include:

Bench    36-37

Litter Receptacle    38-39

Bike Rack    40-41

Movable Planters    44-45

Parking meters to be located per Boise 
City Parking Standards and placed to 
avoid conflicts with all other streetscape 
furnishings. Coordinate meter placement 
and accessible parking spaces with Boise 
City Parking Control, (208) 384-3700. 

NOTE:

All furnishings, trees, and improvements 
in the street right-of-way will require 
approval by ACHD, (208) 387-6170.



14  ::  DOWNTOWN BOISE STREETSCAPE STANDARDS & SPECIFICATIONS MANUAL DOWNTOWN BOISE STREETSCAPE STANDARDS & SPECIFICATIONS MANUAL  ::  15

Type 6 :: Capitol Boulevard

Pedestrian Zone
Red Brick Dry Laid Pavers
Herringbone Pattern;
Dark Brick Dry Laid Pavers
Double Soldier Pattern,
Each Side

10
'

7'
-2

"
22

"

19
'

Transit Stop
Per Valley Regional
Transit requirements

Curb Zone
Dark Brick Dry Laid Pavers
Double Soldier Pattern

Planter (7' x 42')
Street Trees at 30' Spacing
Shrubs, Low Iron Rail

Furnishing Zone (7'x18')
Historic Lights at 60' Spacing,
Benches, Movable Planters,
Kiosk, Art, etc.

10' 7'-2" 22" 14' 12'

19' Sidewalk Travel Lanes

JBA 2015

Capitol Boulevard is one of the principal gateway streets in Boise. 
It links two of the most important historic buildings in the city - 
the State Capitol and the Boise Depot. In between these buildings 
lie a variety of uses that are of importance to the community, 
including cultural centers and parks, Boise State University, hotels, 
retail establishments, and restaurants. At Fulton Street, the uses 
along Capitol Boulevard make a distinct transition from university 
campus, regional parks, and institutional uses to the downtown 
core. This change in streetscape from urban parkway to urban 
hardscape with planters reflects that transition. Please refer to the 
Capitol Boulevard Streetscape Master Plan owned by Boise City 
PDS for additional details.

LANDSCAPE  REQUIREMENTS 

• Street Trees   29 
 
Class II trees in planters in same alignment as Historic Streetlights. 
Trees to be spaced approximately 30’ apart and installed two per planter, 
approximately 6’ from either end. Coordinate planning and installation of 
trees with Boise City Community Forestry, (208) 608-7700. 

• Planters 
 
7’2” wide by 42” long planters, planted with trees and shrubs in accordance 
with the Capitol Boulevard Streetscape Master Plan.

HARDSCAPE REQUIREMENTS

• Dry Laid Brick Pavers    20-24

Dry laid brick paver surface extends from curb to 
face of building. Pattern and color of brick varies by 
building frontage zone, pedestrian zone, furnishing 
zone, and curb zone.

» Curb Zone: Double soldier pattern (16” wide) of dark 
brick behind 6” wide concrete curb.

» Planter Zone: Double soldier pattern (16” wide) of 
dark brick on all sides of planter frame; inclusive of 
Curb Zone.

» Furnishing Zone: Red dry laid pavers in a 
herringbone pattern continued from pedestrian zone 
between planters and planter zone pavers.

» Pedestrian Zone: Approximately 7’4” wide section of 
red brick dry laid pavers in herringbone pattern.

» Building Frontage Zone: Double soldier pattern (16” 
wide) dark brick dry laid pavers.

» Pedestrian Ramps at crosswalk per ACHD 
Standards.

• Steel Railing                15 
 
Steel railing around all planters per detail drawing. 
Powdercoat RAL 6009 dark green. 

• Streetlights    32

» Spacing: Approximately 60’ spacing in same 
alignment as trees and generally centered between 
planters.

» Installation: Coordinate with Boise City Public Works 
Department, (208) 384-3900.

CAPITOL BLVD PLANTER - SIDE ELEVATION

CAPITOL BLVD PLANTER - PLAN VIEW



16  ::  DOWNTOWN BOISE STREETSCAPE STANDARDS & SPECIFICATIONS MANUAL DOWNTOWN BOISE STREETSCAPE STANDARDS & SPECIFICATIONS MANUAL  ::  17

Fairview and Main Street will be a showcase for Green Stormwater 
Infrastructures (GSI) integration into Boise’s streetscape 
environments. Through the use of bioretention planters, stormwater 
and street runoff will be captured within the streetscape right-of-
way, treated and released into the groundwater. Refer to ACHD’s 
Policy Manual Section 8200 - ACHD Stormwater Design Tools and 
Approved BMPs for stormwater design specifics.

LANDSCAPE  REQUIREMENTS 

• Street Trees                 29 
 
Class II trees in bioretention planters to be appropriate for bioretention 
planter conditions. Trees to be centered within bioretention planter area. 
Trees to be spaced approximately 52’ apart. Coordinate planning and 
installation of trees with Boise City Community Forestry, (208) 608-7700. 

• Bioretention Planter               27 
 
Per ACHD Policy Manual Section 8200 -  ACHD Stormwater Design Tools 
and Approved BMPs. Bioretention planters to be planted with material 
appropriate for bioretention planter conditions.

HARDSCAPE REQUIREMENTS

• Concrete   23

» Pedestrian Zone: Minimum width of Pedestrian Zone 
is 8’ with 4’ modular scored concrete.

» Pedestrian ramps at crosswalk per ACHD Standards.

• Streetlights   32-33

» Spacing: 4 per block and in same alignment as trees. 
Lights to be centered between trees adjacent to 
bioretention planter pedestrian crossing. 

» Installation: Coordinate with Boise City Public Works 
Department, (208) 384-3900.

Type 7 :: Fairview-Main Green Street

8' 7' 1'+6" curb

16' Sidewalk

JBA 2015

Travel Lanes

Bioretention Planter
Per ACHD Policy Manual
Section 8200.

Street Tree
Class II Tree
52' Approx. Spacing

Historic Light
4 per block
Curbside  Zone
1' Concrete + 6" Curb

Pedestrian Crossing
Typ Between Trees
4' wide, 8' where
Historic Light occurs

1'
7'

8'

16
'

Bioretention Planter
Per ACHD Policy Manual.
Planted with material appropriate
for Bioswale condition

Pedestrian Zone
Concrete, 4' Modular
Sidewalk Joints

SITUATIONAL FURNISHINGS

Number and location of furnishings will 
be determined by Boise City through its 
design review process, and may include:

Bench    36-37

Litter Receptacle    38-39

Bike Rack    40-41

Movable Planters    44-45

Parking meters to be located per Boise 
City Parking Standards and placed to 
avoid conflicts with all other streetscape 
furnishings. Coordinate meter placement 
and accessible parking spaces with Boise 
City Parking Control, (208) 384-3700. 

NOTE:

All furnishings, trees, and improvements 
in the street right-of-way will require 
approval by ACHD, (208) 387-6170.



DOWNTOWN BOISE STREETSCAPE STANDARDS & SPECIFICATIONS MANUAL   ::  19

STEP
Find the
Specifications for Your Streetscape Type

STREETSCAPE SPECIFICATIONS:

Brick and Concrete Paving    20-23

Paving Patterns      24-25

Suspended Paving System                       26

Bioretention Planter & Bioswale                 27

Tree Grate & Frame    28

Tree Well & Tree Planting    29

Trench Drain & Grate   30-31

Streetlight   32-33

SITUATIONAL FURNISHINGS SPECIFICATIONS:

Public Art  34-35

Bench    36-37

Litter Receptacle   38-39

SITUATIONAL FURNISHINGS CONT...

Bike Rack    40-41

Bike Corral    42-43

Movable Planter   44-45

Tree Guard   46

Table    47

Bollard   48-49

Transit Shelter    50-51

Drinking Fountain    52-53

LANDSCAPE SPECIFICATIONS:

Landscape Installation    54

Tree Planting in Parkstrip   55

This page intentionally left blank.



20  ::  DOWNTOWN BOISE STREETSCAPE STANDARDS & SPECIFICATIONS MANUAL DOWNTOWN BOISE STREETSCAPE STANDARDS & SPECIFICATIONS MANUAL  ::  21

Pavers are used in a variety of ways to define various functional areas 
of the sidewalk. These areas usually include a building zone along the 
base of building (dark); a pedestrian zone (red); the furnishing zone for 
such items as street trees and tree grates, benches and historic lighting 
(dark); and the curb zone along the street edge (red). Refer to paving 
pattern details for specific brick layout design.

Permeable paver furnishing zone is optional, subject to approval by 
ACHD, and may require a geotechnical investigation.

Basis for Design:

BRICK PAVER ORDER INFORMATION:

2-1/4” thick x 4”x 8” wirecut brick paver with spacing 
lug. Local representative: The Masonry Center,  
(208) 375-1362.

Red pavers to be No. 46 Medium Ironspot Blend. 

Dark pavers to be Manganese Ironspot. 

Equivalent may be substituted as approved by  
Boise City.

No. 46 Medium 
 Ironspot Blend

Manganese Ironspot

Brick Pavers Streetscape Specifications Brick Paver Description & Installation Streetscape Specifications

DESCRIPTION

The work consists of furnishing and installing 
dry laid pavers including crushed rock base, 
bedding material, and joint filler.  If settlement 
greater than 1/2” occurs within one year after 
installation, the brick must be adjusted to finish 
grade plus 1/4”.

MATERIAL

• Base Course:  Aggregate for crushed rock 
base shall be 3/4-minus in accordance 
with Idaho Standards for Public Works 
Construction (ISPWC), latest edition.

• Bedding Material: Material used as bedding 
layer for the paver shall be well-graded, 
non-plastic sand, ASTM C33 or 5/16” clean 
crushed chip gravel. 

• Joint Filler: Material used for joint filler shall 
be well graded, non-plastic sand, ASTM C33, 
or fine #70 silica sand joint filler.  

• Brick Paver:  Pavers shall be 2-1/4” thick x 4” 
x 8” wirecut brick paver with spacing lug size 
by Endicott Clay Products Company, Fairbury, 
Nebraska, or equal. Red Brick Pavers shall 
be No. 46 Medium Ironspot Blend. Dark Brick 
Pavers shall be Manganese Ironspot.

INSTALLATION
Crushed Rock Base: 
Place base course material in 6 inch lifts to a 
depth whereby the finished surface will conform 
to the design grades and dimensions with 
proper allowance for the paving. Compact to 95 
percent of the maximum relative density.  The 
final result shall be an unyielding course, free 
from irregularities, with a smooth, tight, even 
surface, true to gradient. Maintain the surface 
of the base course until it is paved or until 
final acceptance. If ruts, soft spots or other 
damage occur before such time, the surface 
should be repaired. Excess moisture or frost 
in the sub-base, or base course, will be cause 
for suspending work until normally dry working 
conditions are restored, and compaction 
achieved.

Bedding Material:  
Spread a 1” layer of bedding material evenly 
over the area to be paved and thoroughly water-
settle it into the base course. Add material 
where necessary and achieve 95 percent 
compaction, to specified lines and grades, less 
the paver thickness, plus 1/4”. Apply a thin layer 
of bedding material evenly over the area to be 
paved in preparation for placing the brick. Level 
bedding material with a screed to specified lines 
and grades. Under no circumstances should 
final material bedding be compacted or walked 
upon after screeding.

Laying Pavers:  
Verify paving pattern prior to proceeding. Lay 
pavers from inside curb face, parallel, toward 
building face. Make final brick cuts at building 
face.  Maintain continuous protection of 
surface from pedestrian traffic until joint filler 
application in complete. Fill edge gaps with 
standard edge pieces or with pavers cut to 
fit. The pavers shall be cut to a straight even 
surface without cracks or chips. Joints or 
gaps shall not exceed 1/8”. Evenly brush joint 
filler over entire surface. Mechanically vibrate 
the surface with a plate vibrator. Use plywood 
sheeting to protect brick. After vibration the 
brick surface shall be true to grade, plus 1/4”, 
and shall not vary by more than 1/8” when 
tested with a 3’ straight edge at any location on 
the surface. Brush joint filler over surface once 
again, and then brush away and remove excess 
sand until site is left clean. 
Optional permeable paver installation in 
furnishing zone to be determined on a specific 
site basis; subject to approval by ACHD and 
may require a geotechnical investigation. 
Permeable Pavers to be installed per 
Interlocking Concrete Pavement Institute (ICPI) 
Tech Spec 18 - Construction of Permeable 
Interlocking Concrete Pavement Systems 
Specifications and Standards



22  ::  DOWNTOWN BOISE STREETSCAPE STANDARDS & SPECIFICATIONS MANUAL DOWNTOWN BOISE STREETSCAPE STANDARDS & SPECIFICATIONS MANUAL  ::  23

Paving Details Streetscape Specifications Paving Details Streetscape Specifications



24  ::  DOWNTOWN BOISE STREETSCAPE STANDARDS & SPECIFICATIONS MANUAL DOWNTOWN BOISE STREETSCAPE STANDARDS & SPECIFICATIONS MANUAL  ::  25

Paving Patterns Streetscape Specifications Paving Patterns Streetscape Specifications



26  ::  DOWNTOWN BOISE STREETSCAPE STANDARDS & SPECIFICATIONS MANUAL

Streetscape designs are to incorporate a suspended paving system.  
Suspended paving systems, also referred to as Stormwater Tree Cells, 
provide uncompacted subsurface soil to support healthy tree canopies 
and essential area within the right-of-way for stormwater collection in 
the urban environment.

Suspended paving systems should be designed to incorporate 
stormwater capture except where basements, vaults, or similar 
structures would create concerns with infiltrating stormwater. Where 
stormwater capture is a component of the suspended paving system, 
it should be designed to meet the performance standards set forth by 
ACHD and Boise City Public Works.

Basis for Design: 

SUSPENDED PAVING SYSTEM ORDER INFORMATION:

DeepRoot Silva Cells 1-800-458-7668. Designed and installed per 
manufacturer’s recommendations. Uncompacted soil volumes to be 500 cubic 
feet minimum per tree, or as required for stormwater management. Provide 
drip irrigation to cover entire modular suspended paving system. Optimal 
design to install suspended paving systems in a continuous fashion to provide 
shared soil volumes for street tree plantings to the greatest extent practicable. 
Soils to be per ACHD Bioretention Soil Media specifications. Coordinate 
drawings with ACHD to incorporate stormwater management into system.

Equivalent may be substituted as approved by Boise City and ACHD.

Suspended Paving System Streetscape Specifications

DOWNTOWN BOISE STREETSCAPE STANDARDS & SPECIFICATIONS MANUAL  ::  27

Bioretention Planter & Bioswale Streetscape Specifications

GREEN STREET OPTION

Bioretention planters and bioswales are an acceptable alternative to a 
conventional tree lawn or landscape strip. Bioretention facilities help 
to treat stormwater runoff from the street and adjacent areas, thereby 
reducing pollutant discharge into the Boise River and providing street 
trees with some of the water they need. Bioretention facilities require 
different design from conventional tree lawns, including special soils 
and tree selection. Contact ACHD at (208) 387-6170 for details.

DEFINITIONS:

BIORETENTION PLANTERS have vertical sidewalls and are often narrow 
and rectangular in shape. The walls allow bioretention planters to maximize 
the amount of stormwater retained within a small footprint. These facilities 
promote infiltration, storage, filtration, and attenuation of peak flows and 
volumes generated by specified storm events. The soil mix and plant species 
can be designed to remove targeted pollutants from stormwater. 

BIORETENTION SWALES or BIO-SWALES are long, fairly shallow depressions 
that often use a curved or sinuous form to convey and slow water. They have 
a porous filter medium (usually soil-based) and are planted with native or non-
native grasses and other vegetation. They work to treat stormwater by slowing 
and infiltrating flow and create an environment for plant uptake of pollutants. 
They enhance landscape aesthetics.

Bioretention Planter Example

Bioretention Swale or Bio-Swale Example



DOWNTOWN BOISE STREETSCAPE STANDARDS & SPECIFICATIONS MANUAL  ::  2928  ::  DOWNTOWN BOISE STREETSCAPE STANDARDS & SPECIFICATIONS MANUAL

Street trees are selected to provide visual continuity along a single 
block face by using the same species. When planting new street trees, 
the trees should be the same species, of a similar caliper (trunk size), 
and placed at a consistent and even spacing with in the block face. 
When replacing a sick or dead tree, the new tree should be the same 
species of the other street trees on the block unless otherwise specified, 
and it should be the largest caliper appropriate to facilitate continuity 
along the block face. Consult Boise City Community Forestry for tree 
species and before you plant, prune, or remove a tree, (208) 608-7700.

Grates shall be natural finish without powdercoating or paint. Grates 
shall meet ADA standards. In some cases, 6’x6’ cast iron tree grates 
might be required to match existing.

Trees planted in tree well locations are to be incorporated with the 
suspended paving systems unless otherwise approved. See page 26 for 
Suspended Paving System description.

Basis for Design: 

TREE GRATE AND FRAME ORDER INFORMATION:

4’ x 8’ tree grates and frames. To be “Kiva” cast iron with natural raw finish by 
Urban Accessories. ADA compliant. Frames to be specified per surrounding 
paving type. All frames to have cross bars for frame support. Regional 
representative is Northwest Recreation, (877) 248-7770. 

West End Tree Grates to be approved by Boise City. 

Equivalent may be substituted as approved by Boise City.

Tree Grate & Frame Streetscape Specifications Tree Wells & Tree Planting Hardscape Specifications



DOWNTOWN BOISE STREETSCAPE STANDARDS & SPECIFICATIONS MANUAL  ::  3130  ::  DOWNTOWN BOISE STREETSCAPE STANDARDS & SPECIFICATIONS MANUAL

Trench grates may be used for trench drains that extend across 
sidewalk from building face to curb where other means of discharge 
conveyance, such as a direct pipe connection, are not feasible. These 
grates should be cast iron in the “RC” pattern, as manufactured by 
Urban Accessories. 

Other trench grates may be approved by Boise City.

Basis for Design: 

TREE GRATE ORDER INFORMATION:

All trench grates to be ‘RC’ pattern. Grate and frame to be cast iron in natural 
raw finish by Urban Accessories. ADA compliant. Width as required for proper 
water flow. Frames to be specified per surrounding paving type. Regional 
representative is Northwest Recreation, (877) 248-7770  

West End Trench Grates to be approved by Boise City. 

Equivalent may be substituted as approved by Boise City.

Trench Grate Streetscape Specifications Trench Drain & Grate Streetscape Specifications



DOWNTOWN BOISE STREETSCAPE STANDARDS & SPECIFICATIONS MANUAL ::  3332  ::  DOWNTOWN BOISE STREETSCAPE STANDARDS & SPECIFICATIONS MANUAL

Historic Streetlights to be placed centrally in the furnishing zone, 
and location and spacing shall be approximately 56’-64’ apart (or 
as approved by Boise City Public Works Department) and in same 
alignment as trees. Lights to be centered between trees and conflicts 
with trees should be avoided. Historic Boise cast aluminum light poles 
with duplex outlets to be used. Provide separate 110v circuit for duplex 
outlet located at the top of luminaire.

Historic lights shall be equipped with a fixed top bracket, bolt-on banner 
arm, and lower eyelet. The banner arm shall be located 4” below top of 
pole and eyelet placed 51” below the arm, generally perpendicular to 
and  facing the sidewalk. Some exceptions can be made for trees and 
other interfering infrastructure.

• All metal shall be powder coated green RAL 6009.

• Contact the Boise Public Works Municipal Lighting Technician at 
(208) 384-3900 for approval from Boise City.

• Contact the Downtown Boise Association (DBA) at (208) 385-7300 to 
learn more about the 24X50” banner program.

HISTORIC STREETLIGHT ORDER INFORMATION:

Use the following link: http://publicworks.cityofboise.org/development-
permits-or-requirements/ and select “Street Light Design Standards” or 
“Street Light Design Checklist”.

Historic Streetlight Streetcape Specifications West End Streetlight Streetscape Specifications

West End streetlights to be placed centrally in the furnishing zone 
and location and spacing shall be approximately 56’-64’ apart (or 
as approved by Boise City Public Works Department), and in same 
alignment as trees. Lights to be centered between trees and conflicts 
with trees should be avoided. 

Contact Boise Public Works Municipal Lighting Technician at 
(208) 384-3900 for approval from Boise City.

Basis for Design:

WEST END STREETLIGHT ORDER INFORMATION:

Antique Street Lamps 1-800-410-8899

EPAX Eurotique Aluminum Pole Series.  12’ Ht, 4” dia shaft, Tenon for Arm 
EAL4, Natural Aluminum Finish.   EPAX 12 S4 3-3/8T8 DNA

Eurotique Arms, One Luminaires, Natural Aluminum Finish

EAL4/1 DNA

Munich Pendant LED, Ringed Ballast Housing, 49 LED 350MA Source & 
Wattage, 4K Color Temp,

Glass- Clear Flat Lens, MVOLT Voltage, Type III Distribution,  with Surge 
Protection Device, Natural Aluminum Finish

EML17 RT  49LED350MA 4K GCF MVOLT R3 SPD DNA



34  ::  DOWNTOWN BOISE STREETSCAPE STANDARDS & SPECIFICATIONS MANUAL DOWNTOWN BOISE STREETSCAPE STANDARDS & SPECIFICATIONS MANUAL  ::  35

Public art is an art installation in the right-of-way or a public 
easement funded and/or maintained by a public agency. Public 
art enhances the downtown environment, offers social and 
educational opportunities, and promotes tourism. It can also 
be used to celebrate local artists and discourage vandalism. 
Capital City Development Corporation (CCDC) funds public art 
downtown on an ongoing basis, including standalone installations, 
installations with streetscape improvements, and innovative 
programs such as the traffic box art wraps.

Developers may propose a public art installation as an alternative 
component of a streetscape project. Any public art installation 
is subject to approval by Boise City (Arts & History and Planning 
& Development Services). Reimbursement by CCDC for a public 
art installation is subject to approval of a formal participation 
agreement by the CCDC Board, usually considered after the 
necessary approvals have been granted by the city. Art must be 
dedicated to the public prior to the granting of reimbursement by 
CCDC or the maintenance is undertaken by the city. A developer 
considering incorporating a public art installation as part of a 
streetscape improvement downtown should contact Boise City 
Department of Arts & History, (208) 433-5670 as early in the 
process as possible.

Public Art Situational Furnishings Public Art Situational Furnishings



36  ::  DOWNTOWN BOISE STREETSCAPE STANDARDS & SPECIFICATIONS MANUAL DOWNTOWN BOISE STREETSCAPE STANDARDS & SPECIFICATIONS MANUAL  ::  37

Benches are used in various configurations in the pedestrian furnishing 
zone.  The typical length for benches is 4’. Lengths greater than 4’ shall 
not be used without intermediate armrests or Boise City approval. 

Benches have cast iron ends with wooden slats. All wood must be 
smooth finished and treated with Minwax Red Mahogony stain and 
penetrating sealer. A wood alternative for the slats may be used with 
approval from Boise City.

Location in the furnishing zone shall be as approved by Boise City or as 
shown on a streetscape plan approved by Boise City.

Surface mount with 1/2” x 2” expansion bolts.

Basis for Design:

BENCH ORDER INFORMATION: 

4 foot length, cast iron with wooden or recycled slats color - walnut . “Model 
C-10” by Victor Stanley, Inc., Dunkirk, MA, (301) 855-8300.  Color RAL 6009.

Equivalent may be substituted as approved by Boise City. 

Bench Situational Furnishings

Benches are used in various configurations in the pedestrian furnishing 
zone. The typical length for benches shall be 4’ . Lengths greater than 4’ 
shall not be used without intermediate armrests.
 
Location in the furnishing zone shall be as approved by Boise City or as 
shown on a streetscape plan approved by Boise City.
 
Surface mount with 1/2” x 2” expansion bolts.

Basis for Design:

WEST END BENCH ORDER INFORMATION: 

4’ or 6’ Schenley bench with back. 6’ to have center arm. Keystone Ridge 
1-800-284-8208.  Color to be Silver.  Bolt in place.  

Equivalent may be substituted as approved by Boise City. 

West End Bench Situational Furnishings



38  ::  DOWNTOWN BOISE STREETSCAPE STANDARDS & SPECIFICATIONS MANUAL

Litter Receptacle Situational Furnishings

Litter receptacles should be placed near seating areas and street 
corners where there is a high volume of pedestrian traffic. Location in 
the furnishing zone shall be as approved by Boise City or as shown on a 
streetscape plan approved by Boise City.

Basis for Design:

LITTER RECEPTACLE ORDER INFORMATION:

Chase Park model, side opening, with 36 gallon black polyethylene liner by 
Landscape Forms, Kalamazoo, MI. (800) 521-2546. Powdercoat color Ivy 
AG with graffiti resistant clearcoat.  Surface mount with 3/8” anchor bolts 
(provided).

Equivalent may be substituted as approved by Boise City. 

DOWNTOWN BOISE STREETSCAPE STANDARDS & SPECIFICATIONS MANUAL  ::  39

Litter receptacles should be placed near seating areas and street 
corners where there is a high volume of pedestrian traffic. Location in 
the furnishing zone shall be as approved by Boise City or as shown on a 
streetscape plan approved by Boise City.

Basis for Design:

WEST END LITTER RECEPTACLE ORDER INFORMATION: 

Chase Park model, side opening, with 36 gallon black polyethylene liner by
Landscape Forms, Kalamazoo, MI. (800) 521-2546. Powdercoat color Silver
AG with graffiti resistant clearcoat. Surface mount with 3/8” anchor bolts
(provided). 

Equivalent may be substituted as approved by Boise City. 

West End Litter Receptacle Situational Furnishings



DOWNTOWN BOISE STREETSCAPE STANDARDS & SPECIFICATIONS MANUAL  ::  4140  ::  DOWNTOWN BOISE STREETSCAPE STANDARDS & SPECIFICATIONS MANUAL

Bicycle racks should be located in the pedestrian furnishings zone at 
locations throughout areas which attract cyclists. Bike racks should be 
a “single bend”. Location in the furnishing zone shall be as approved by 
Boise City or as shown on a streetscape plan approved by Boise City.

Bike racks within the 4’ wide furnishing zone are to be placed parallel 
with the adjacent street.  In areas where furnishing zone may be 6’ or 
wider and outside of the pedestrian zone, bike racks may be placed 
perpendicular with the adjacent street. 

Basis for Design:

BIKE RACK ORDER INFORMATION:

‘Single Bend’ bike rack. From KB Fabrication and Welding Inc.  
(208) 898-9353. Color RAL 6009.

West End Bike Rack to be same style: Finish to be galvanized

Equivalent may be substituted as approved by Boise City. 

Bike Rack Situational Furnishings Bike Rack Situational Furnishings



DOWNTOWN BOISE STREETSCAPE STANDARDS & SPECIFICATIONS MANUAL  ::  4342  ::  DOWNTOWN BOISE STREETSCAPE STANDARDS & SPECIFICATIONS MANUAL

Bicycle corrals are multi-bike parking structures which are placed in a 
standard parking space next to a sidewalk and curb. The advantages of 
corrals are that they can hold up to 20 bicycles in areas where there is 
high demand for bike parking, they free up valuable sidewalk space, and 
they are typically situated in highly visible areas so as to discourage 
theft and vandalism. The corrals are made locally and can be easily 
moved as the need arises.

Capital City Development Corporation (CCDC) will consider requests 
to provide and install bike corrals on a case by case basis. Requests 
should be submitted in writing from property owners, businesses, and/
or residents adjacent to the proposed corral site. Location of corrals are 
subject to approval by Boise City and ACHD.

Basis for Design:

BIKE CORRAL ORDER INFORMATION:

Contact CCDC, (208) 384-4264 for order information.  

Color RAL 6009.

Equivalent may be substituted as approved by Boise City. 

Bike Corral Situational Furnishings Bike Corral Situational Furnishings



DOWNTOWN BOISE STREETSCAPE STANDARDS & SPECIFICATIONS MANUAL  ::  4544  ::  DOWNTOWN BOISE STREETSCAPE STANDARDS & SPECIFICATIONS MANUAL

Movable planters shall be 3’ in diameter and 17” high or as approved 
by Boise City. Location in the furnishing zone and spacing shall be as 
approved by Boise City or as shown on a streetscape plan approved by 
Boise City.

The Downtown Boise Association (DBA) manages the flower program 
for the downtown Boise business improvement district (South of State 
Street, north of Myrtle Street, east of 13th and west of 5th Street). 
Planters are filled with flowers from May through early November and 
are funded by the Business Improvement District assessments after the 
first year’s assessments are paid by the property owner.

Contact the DBA for details about flower planting program,  
(208) 385-7300.

Basis for Design:

MOVABLE PLANTER ORDER INFORMATION:

Standard 3’ round x 17” height cast stone planter by Idaho Precast Concrete, 
Nampa, ID (208) 461-6300.  

West End Movable Planter to be approved by Boise City.

Equivalent may be substituted as approved by Boise City. 

Movable Planter Situational Furnishings Movable Planter Situational Furnishings



DOWNTOWN BOISE STREETSCAPE STANDARDS & SPECIFICATIONS MANUAL ::  4746  ::  DOWNTOWN BOISE STREETSCAPE STANDARDS & SPECIFICATIONS MANUAL

Tree guards are purchased by CCDC and installed on new trees in high 
pedestrian and bike traffic areas to protect the trees from bikes and 
vandalism until they are established.

Contact CCDC, (208) 384-4264 for installation.

Basis for Design:

TREE GUARD ORDER INFORMATION:

RR model tree guard by Urban Accessories, Tacoma, Washington. Color to be 
RAL 6009. Regional representative is Northwest Recreation, (877) 248-7770.  

Tree Guard Situational Furnishings

Tables are used in strategic locations to enhance the urban experience. 
Boise City to approve location and layout.

Basis for Design:

TABLE ORDER INFORMATION:

Steelsites Series SPCT-30 Steel Square Cafe Table (30”) and FTRS-24 Steel Scroll 
Seats (24” wide) without backs, RAL 6009, surface or in ground mount. Victor 
Stanley  
(301) 855-8300.

West End Table to be approved by Boise City.

Equivalent may be substituted as approved by Boise City. 

Table Situational Furnishings



DOWNTOWN BOISE STREETSCAPE STANDARDS & SPECIFICATIONS MANUAL  ::  4948  ::  DOWNTOWN BOISE STREETSCAPE STANDARDS & SPECIFICATIONS MANUAL

Bollards should be used to define special areas and to enhance 
pedestrian safety at vehicular crossings. They may also be used along 
the curbside edges of sidewalks on high volume streets to promote a 
greater sense of safety for pedestrians.

Basis for Design: 

BOLLARD ORDER INFORMATION:

1890 Series cast iron fixed and removable bollard by Canturbury 
International, Los Angeles, CA (800) 935-7111. Color RAL 6009.

West End Bollard to be approved by Boise City.

Equivalent may be substituted as approved by Boise City. 

Bollard Situational Furnishings Bollard Situational Furnishings



DOWNTOWN BOISE STREETSCAPE STANDARDS & SPECIFICATIONS MANUAL  ::  5150  ::  DOWNTOWN BOISE STREETSCAPE STANDARDS & SPECIFICATIONS MANUAL

The design standard for the transit shelters that are located in the 
Downtown Boise Transit Mall was revised in 2009 and replaces the 
original design standard established in 1986.  

The same design standard should be used for transit shelters in the 
downtown area. Placement and installation are approved by Valley 
Regional Transit.

TRANSIT SHELTER ORDER INFORMATION:

Contact Valley Regional Transit, (208) 258-2705.

Transit Shelter Situational Furnishings Transit Shelter Situational Furnishings

Refer to Valley Regional Transit Bus 
Stop Location and Transit Amenities 
Development Guidelines for transit 
shelter requirements and details.



DOWNTOWN BOISE STREETSCAPE STANDARDS & SPECIFICATIONS MANUAL  ::  5352  ::  DOWNTOWN BOISE STREETSCAPE STANDARDS & SPECIFICATIONS MANUAL

Drinking fountains should be used in the pedestrian furnishings zone in 
areas of high pedestrian activity.

Basis for Design:

DRINKING FOUNTAIN ORDER INFORMATION:

Domestic water hookup and freeze-proof  installation per manufacturer 
details and prevailing code.

Equivalent may be substituted as approved by Boise City.

Drinking Fountain Situational Furnishings Drinking Fountain Situational Furnishings

ACCESS DOOR

FOUNTAIN PEDESTAL 
CASTING ASSEMBLY

BOWL COVER 
CASTINGBUBBLER

PUSH BUTTON 
& VALVE

23 1/4"

36
"

8"

18"

30
"

FOUNTAIN BOWL
BUBBLER (2 PLS.)

TOP VIEW

4"



DOWNTOWN BOISE STREETSCAPE STANDARDS & SPECIFICATIONS MANUAL  ::  5554  ::  DOWNTOWN BOISE STREETSCAPE STANDARDS & SPECIFICATIONS MANUAL

Tree Planting in Parkstrip Landscape Specifications

STREET TREES

Trees must be approved by Boise City Community Forestry. A Boise 
City Forester will approve the caliper classification (size) and species 
appropriate to each project. Street trees must have a 2-1/2”minimum 
trunk diameter at the time of installation, be balled and burlapped, and 
be well formed with no branches below 8’ height in pedestrian use areas. 
Trees must be nursery grown and installed by a qualified landscape 
professional. Planting soil must be a well draining blend of pH balanced 
topsoil and composted amendments. Remove twine and pull back burlap 
to expose root flare. Plant exposed root flare at finish grade. Street trees 
must be watered from an automatic irrigation system, with drip tubing 
for tree wells, and pop-up sprinklers for trees in lawn strips. Boise City 
Community Forestry requires a tree planting demonstration during first 
tree installation to obtain planting method approval, (208) 608-7700.

LANDSCAPE IRRIGATION

All street trees and landscaping must be watered with an automatic 
underground drip irrigation system. Hookup must be in compliance 
with local plumbing codes for protection of the domestic water supply. 
The system must be designed and installed by a qualified landscape 
professional utilizing water conservation techniques. All supply piping 
under paved surfaces must be inside rigid conduit and all valves in the 
public right-of-way must be in traffic rated boxes. The system must 
include provision for winterization. 

Irrigation systems will be installed on the adjacent property owners water 
line. Property owner is responsible for all yearly maintenance, operation, 
and repair of the irrigation system, including spring start-up, seasonal 
monitoring, and winterization of the system.

LAWN SOD

Provide lawn sod composed of 80% Bluegrass varieties and 20% 
Perennial Ryegrass, delivered from a certified sod grower at the time of 
planting. Preparation of the planting soil will consist of placing a 6” well 
draining blend of pH balanced topsoil and composted amendments. 
The soil must not be saturated or frozen. Install the sprinkler circuit 
for complete coverage either before or after soil preparation, and finish 
grade the surface from sidewalk to curb elevation minus 1-1/2” to 
account for the sod thickness. Lightly moisten the soil surface. Lay the 
sod in unbroken strips with tight joints, fertilize, and irrigate thoroughly.

PLANTS

Provide plants that are hardy to USDA Plant Hardiness Zone 5 and are 
of drought-tolerant varieties with varying seasonal interest.  Provide 
shrubs that comply with recommendations and requirements of ANSI 
Z60.1 “American Standard for Nursery Stock”.  Provide 1 gallon or larger 
container shrubs not less than minimum number of canes required by 
ANSI Z60.1 for type and height of shrub.  Height to be no more than 3’ 
within ROW.  Mulch for planting beds shall be 3” thick medium ground 
bark mulch, free of splinters, consistent in appearance, and shall contain 
no toxic substance detrimental to plant life.

Landscape Installation Landscape Specifications



DOWNTOWN BOISE STREETSCAPE STANDARDS & SPECIFICATIONS MANUAL  ::  57

STEP

Find the
Quality Control Standards & Conditions 
for Your Streetscape Project

All construction on streetscape projects shall conform to current Idaho 
Standards For Public Works Construction (ISPWC), Ada County Highway 
District’s  Standard Supplemental Specifications and Standard Drawings, 
the City of Boise’s Supplemental Standard Specifications, and Valley 
Regional Transit’s Bus Stop Location and Transit Amenities Development 
Guidelines.

The Streetscape Project shall be constructed in accordance with the 
overall City of Boise infrastructure plans, policies, and design standards 
and with this Downtown Boise Streetscape Standards Manual.

This page intentionally left blank.



58  ::  DOWNTOWN BOISE STREETSCAPE STANDARDS & SPECIFICATIONS MANUAL DOWNTOWN BOISE STREETSCAPE STANDARDS & SPECIFICATIONS MANUAL  ::  59

General Requirements Quality Control

CONTACT INFORMATION

CCDC Participation Program Capital City Development Corp.
 (208) 384-4264

Streetlight Coordination   Boise City Public Works Dept.
 Municipal Lighting Technician
 (208) 384-3900 / 388-4719

Parking Meter Coordination   Boise City Parking Control
 (208) 384-3700

Street Tree Coordination   Boise City Community Forestry
 (208) 608-7700
 bpr@cityofboise.org

Movable Planter Coordination Downtown Boise Association
 (208) 385-3700

Transit Stops and Shelters Valley Regional Transit 
 (208) 258-2705

Fire Hydrants   Boise City Fire Department
 (208) 570-6500

Work within Rights-of-Way    Ada County Highway District 
 Development Services Dept.
 (208) 387-6170

Telephone   CenturyLink Communications
 (208) 385-2903

Electric   Idaho Power Company
 (208) 388-6320

Gas   Intermountain Gas Company
 (208) 377-6846
 customerservice@intgas.com

Water Service, Valves   United Water Idaho
 (208) 362-7355 / 362-7329

CONSTRUCTION COORDINATION

• The Developer shall schedule and attend:

» The Contractor shall coordinate construction with 
CenturyLink, United Water Idaho, Boise City Public Works 
Department, ACHD (signal interconnect), Idaho Power 
Company, and Intermountain Gas Company.  Extreme care 
must be maintained when working in the vicinity of utility 
lines.  The Contractor shall retain and protect all utilities, 
including electrical facilities, within the project limits not 
specifically identified for abandonment or relocation.

» The Contractor shall coordinate with these utilities, with 
ACHD and/or ITD, and their contractors as applies and 
Valley Regional Transit as needed, and keep them informed 
of the schedule and any pertinent changes.   

• Working Hour Traffic

» Avoid disturbance of rush hour traffic between 7-9am and 
4-6pm on all fronting streets.  

» The Contractor will be required to obtain Right-Of-Way 
Permits from Ada County Highway District (ACHD) and/
or Idaho Transportation Department (ITD) if needed. 
Contractor shall coordinate all work on active transit routes 
with Valley Regional Transit (VRT) through the construction 
schedule.

CONSTRUCTION SCHEDULE

In order to minimize impacts on existing businesses under 
renovation the Contractor shall conduct his operation to meet the 
following schedule restrictions:
• The Contractor shall restrict parking space closure to four 

spaces at any given time and only as authorized by Boise City, 
(208) 384-3700.

• Projects Administered by a Developer: The Contractor and 
construction operation shall not prevent access to occupied 
businesses during business hours. Pedestrian access shall 
be provided to business during business hours, and in a safe 
direct manner at all times during construction. If it is necessary 
to interrupt access to any business, the Contractor shall 
coordinate as necessary with the affected business and the 
developer.

• Projects Administered by CCDC: The Contractor and 
construction operation shall not prevent access to occupied 
businesses during business hours. Pedestrian access shall be 
provided to business during business hours, and in a safe direct 
manner at all times during construction. If it is necessary to 
interrupt access to any business, the Contractor shall obtain 
written permission from the affected business, and notify the 
CCDC Project Manager, (208) 384-4264.

CONTRACTOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES

• Coordinate Historic Streetlight installation with the Street Light 
Technician at Boise City Public Works, at least five working 
days prior to disruption of streetlights or circuits.

• All contract and adjacent areas impacted by construction shall 
be thoroughly cleaned at the completion of work.

• The Contractor is responsible for obtaining permits, and calling 
for relevant permit inspections. 

• The Contractor is responsible for paying for storage facilities 
during construction. 

• It is the Contractor’s responsibility for material pickup, 
delivery, and transport to the site.

• The Contractor is responsible for providing water, electrical, 
and sanitary facilities for workers and construction activities.

• If the project has received a Streetscape Grant from CCDC 
(explained below), the Contractor shall provide developer 
with itemized invoices for the items on the cost estimate 
submitted with the grant application.

• The Contractor shall coordinate all work zone effects on 
transit routes or stops with Valley Regional Transit at least 
two weeks prior to project commencement if route detours 
are needed and 48 hours prior to project commencement 
if construction will occur in the Right-of-Way where routes 
operate. 

CONDITIONS OF GRANT PAYMENT (IF APPLICABLE)

In accordance with the Capital City Development Corporation 
(CCDC) Streetscape Grant Agreement: 
• The Developer submits a Letter of Completion with invoices 

or receipts of streetscape work within thirty days of 
completion of the Streetscape Project. 

• CCDC performs a final streetscape inspection. 
• CCDC reviews and approves invoices.  Grant is paid in 

accordance with the approved participation agreement.
• Go to www.ccdcboise.com for a streetscape grant 

application or call, (208) 384-4264.        



DOWNTOWN BOISE STREETSCAPE STANDARDS & SPECIFICATIONS MANUAL  ::  61

Quality Control

LEGAL DISCLAIMER

The Streetscape Project shall be constructed in accordance with the overall City of Boise 
(“City”) infrastructure plans, policies, and design standards and with the applicable portions of 
the Downtown Boise Streetscape Standards. Upon adoption by the Capital City Development 
Corporation (CCDC) Board of Directors, this Downtown Boise Streetscape Standards & 
Specifications Manual will supersede previous versions of the Downtown Boise Streetscape 
Standards and Downtown Boise Elements of Continuity as follows: 

• For streetscapes in the Central District, this manual will supersede Attachments No. 3F and 
3G to the 2007 Amended and Restated Central District Urban Renewal Plan, adopted by the 
CCDC Board of Commissioners on March 15, 2007 by Resolution No. 1090 and by the Boise City 
Council on June 26, 2007 by Ordinance No. 6576; or as subsequently amended by CCDC Board of 
Commissioners. 

• For streetscapes in the River Myrtle-Old Boise District, this manual will supersede Attachments 
No. 3B and 3C to the River Myrtle-Old Boise Urban Renewal Project Plan, adopted by the CCDC 
Board of Commissioners on August 23, 2004 by Resolution No. 1002 and by the Boise City 
Council on November 30, 2004 by Ordinance No. 6362; or as subsequently amended by CCDC 
Board of Commissioners. 

• For streetscapes in the Westside Downtown District, this manual will supersede part of 
the Attachment No. 3 to the Westside Downtown Urban Renewal Project Plan (Westside 
Downtown Framework Master Plan - Section II: Design Standards), adopted by the CCDC Board 
of Commissioners on October 15, 2001 by Resolution No. 861 and by the Boise City Council 
on December 4, 2001 by Ordinance No. 6108; or as subsequently amended by CCDC Board of 
Commissioners.  

Throughout this document, references are made to certain equipment, materials, or furnishings. 
Such items may be substituted by equivalent items as shall be approved in writing by Boise City, in 
consultation with CCDC as appropriate.

 

Legal Disclaimer

This page intentionally left blank.



Page 1 
 

 

 

Information/Discussion Item 

Agenda Subject: 
Request for T4 Assistance for Idaho State Historical Museum Renovation  
 

Date: 
November 9, 2015 

Staff Contact: 
Matt Edmond 

Attachments: 
1) Idaho State Historical Museum Site Plan 

 

Background: 

The Idaho State Historical Society is preparing to renovate and expand the Idaho State 
Historical Museum in Julia Davis Park. The museum, located at the northeast corner of Capitol 
Boulevard and Julia Davis Drive, was originally built in 1950 and is due for a remodel. Public 
interest exceeds the museum’s current capacity, it cannot adequately accommodate traveling 
exhibitions, and environmental controls are out of date. 

The proposed renovation and expansion—estimated to cost $7M for building construction and 
$4M for exhibition fabrication and furnishing—will address these issues. Renovation will include 
repairing mold damage, mitigating asbestos, and improving fire suppression and energy 
efficiency. The expansion will increase available space in key areas, including the lobby, public 
event and education spaces, storage, and support/circulation spaces. The renovated museum 
will also be able to accommodate public lectures and traveling exhibits. The renovation, once 
complete, is expected to host as many as 100,000 visitors annually (the museum hosted 
approximately 50,000 visitors annually prior to closing for remodel). 

The project received approval of its development applications in September 2014 and is 
anticipated to begin construction in May 2016 and be substantially complete in August 2017. As 
a condition of approval, the City of Boise is requiring the project to improve the frontage of 
Capitol Boulevard in accordance with the city’s Capitol Boulevard Special Design District 
Overlay. Specifically, this requires detached concrete sidewalks, a landscape strip with lawn 
and street trees, historic streetlights, and a second row of street trees behind the sidewalk. This 
section of Capitol Boulevard is in the River Myrtle – Old Boise Urban Renewal District and is 
currently programmed in the Capital Improvements Plan for streetscape improvements in 2018. 
The Idaho Department of Administration has requested reimbursement for these improvements 
to Capitol Boulevard, estimated to be $150,000. Staff will present a final agreement and 
supporting documents to the CCDC Board for consideration in the coming months. 





1 
 

 

 
TO:     John Hale, Chairman, CCDC Board Executive Committee 
FM: John Brunelle, Executive Director  
RE:     CCDC Operations Report – October 2015 
 
A number of projects and initiatives came to fruition in late October and early November for 
CCDC, resulting in more public awareness of our significant role in Downtown Boise. Agency 
staff and commissioners were central to the many local news stories related to redevelopment, 
economic development, city leadership, and the future of our parking and transit options in 
downtown.  

While it is gratifying to see the agency and its hardworking team be recognized for its work, that 
is not the most important aspect to CCDC’s visibility in my opinion.  The people who work here 
serve the public, and we carry out a mission that is advised by statute and approved by our 
appointed leadership. It is crucial that our shareholders – the public – witness the successful 
execution of the agency’s mission, whether they receive that information via traditional media, 
social media, or word of mouth. CCDC relies on a model of collaboration to achieve its goals – 
sometimes we lead, sometimes we follow. So, when successes are trumpeted and milestones 
are celebrated it is imperative that the agency’s role is communicated clearly as part of the 
narrative.  

I am sharing these examples of CCDC doing its part in various partnerships as a report. It’s not 
about “getting some credit for CCDC.” It’s about being accountable, transparent, and relentless 
in our pursuit of the most livable urban renewal districts in the universe.  

Supreme Court Rules 
CCDC to Finance GBAD Expansion: 

 

http://www.boiseweekly.com/boise/idaho-supreme-court-upholds-constitutionality-of-gbad-convention-facility-financing-scheme/Content?oid=3625721


2 
 

Paylocity Selects Downtown Boise 
City/Agency Proposal Wins The Day for Project Burbank: 

 

 

 

 

 

   

 

 

 

CC Anderson Building Saved 
from Wrecking Ball - CCDC 

Praised by Athlos for Creativity: 

 

The Afton to Raise Boise 
Standards – CCDC Leads 
Groundbreaking Process: 

 

 

http://www.idahostatesman.com/news/business/technology/article43271808.html
http://www.ktvb.com/story/news/local/2015/10/30/boise-condos-ground-broken-afton/74892190/
http://www.ktvb.com/story/news/local/2015/10/30/boise-condos-ground-broken-afton/74892190/


3 
 

 
Bannock Streetscape Improvements  
CCDC is working with consultants to evaluate the existing conditions of the vault adjacent the 
Hoff Building on Bannock for structural integrity and ability to be renovated vs. replaced.  This 
will help inform how far the established budget will go in this area. CCDC received proposals 
from consultants for streetscape design on 10/28/15. A fee is currently being negotiated with the 
selected design team. 
 
West End Streetscape Standards  
Draft streetscape manual update on 11/9 board agenda as an information item. Urban renewal 
plans will need to be amended, either with current attachments dealing with streetscape 
superseded by the updated manual, or stripped out of the documents entirely. This will happen 
at a future board meeting, subsequent to public notice and comment period. 
 
ACHD Chip Seal Adjustments  
2015 chip seal is complete. Restriping included adding bike lanes to 11th Street between Front 
and State. 
 
City Enters into Exchange Agreement with West End Property 
During the month of October, the City entered into an exchange agreement, whereby the City 
would exchange their 6.5 acre West End property for a 20 acre historic farm on Boise’s Bench 
known as Spaulding Ranch.  Both parties are working through the due diligence to determine if 
this will be a win/win scenario.  We anticipate seeing what a developer may intend to do with the 
West End property in the coming months. 
 
The Condos at 119  
Staff continues to meet with developer and expects to receive a Type 1 application for Board 
designation in coming months.  
 
DBIP (DT Boise Implementation Plan) Update  
ACHD estimates the soonest a decision can be made on converting 5th & 6th is early 2016 
(they want to see how 13th goes this year), and the soonest the actual conversion could take 
place is 2017.  Subsequent coordination with CCDC staff and ACHD pavement managers has 
been included in the draft 5 year CIP. CCDC and ACHD staff have a tentative agreement to 
partner on combined streetscape/road rebuild projects on Broad, Capitol/2nd, as well as 
coordinating work on Bannock, 9th/Capitol in 2016. ACHD work on conversion of 13th and 14th 
to 2-way is complete. 
 
Multi-Purpose Stadium  
This project has been an ongoing topic of discussion at the Tri-Agency meeting. The most 
recent discussion occurred at the meeting of July 16 where a specific site proposal was 
reviewed and viewed favorably. With the affirmative decision by the Idaho Supreme Court 
regarding the expanded convention center financing other opportunities may be pursued for 
facilities such as this. 
 
 
 

Development Team:  Todd Bunderson, Doug Woodruff, Shellan Rodriguez,  
  Karl Woods, Matt Edmond & Laura Williams 



4 
 

Protected Bike Lanes  
ACHD kicked off desing of 2017 DBIP work, which will include evaluation of protected bike 
lanes with transit islands on Main/Idaho. ACHD commission is expected to make a final decision 
on bike lanes March 2016. CCDC, Boise City, DBA and VRT are represented on the project 
team. CCDC will likely be asked to share costs for physical barriers, transit islands, and any 
aesthetic treatments included. 
 
Public Art - Traffic Box Artwork  
CoB Arts and History has reissued an RFQ  for the Traffic Box Artwork fabrication. Selection(s) 
will be made on 12/2/15.  The artwork will need to be installed next year due to temperature 
installtion requirements.  
 
Wayfinding Project  
Manufacture of prototype wayfinding sign and project manual have been delayed pending 
Federal Highway Administration ruling on compliance of proposed design and color coding 
scheme with Chapter 2 of the Manual on Uniform Traffic Control Devices (Community 
Wayfinding section). ACHD staff notified CCDC of this issue on 6/11. Sea Reach is working on 
project manual, and vehicular wayfinding plan should be finalized 11/6.  
 
Macy's Building Redevelopment (Athlos Acadamies) 
The CCDC Board has approved terms of a T3 Participation Agreement. Execution of the 
Agreement is pending. Interior work is underway. Athlos Academies has closed on the purchase 
of the property. CCDC/Athlos may execute the agreement prior to final facade/streetscape 
design to provide documentation for the Idaho Department of Commerce grant application for 
the Tax Reimbursement Incentive Program. The agreement requires all the requisite 
permissions/reviews by CCDC for eligible cost reimbursement and can be signed before final 
designs are complete. Exhibits are being assembled and the groundbreaking is set for 11/5/15. 
 
Idaho Street Townhones (Hale Condos) 
Developer has submitted a request for T1 reimbursement. Staff is reviewing. 
 
CWI Extends Due Diligence Period 
After receiving community input on several campus renderings, CWI has extended their due 
diligence period to December 11th.  With new information from the community, CWI continues 
to assess this site as a possible permanent home for their Ada County campus. 
 
Public Art - River Sculpture  
Restoration construction is substantially complete.   
 
Front & Myrtle Redesign  
CCDC and Boise staffs are supporting Boise Elevated effort, which is seeking to get consensus 
on a problem statement with notable business interests in the downtown area. Boise Elevated 
has been engaging ITD through ACHD Commissioner Paul Woods, and the group consensus is 
that CCDC should be the lead public agency to facilitate the effort one it gets underway. Still 
waiting on Boise Elevated to establish a consensus among business and property owners along 
the corridor. 
 
Update CCDC Streetscape Manual   
Draft streetscape manual update on 11/9 board agenda as an information item. Urban renewal 
plans will need to be amended, either with current attachments dealing with streetscape 



5 
 

superseded by the updated manual, or stripped out of the documents entirely. This will happen 
at a future board meeting, subsequent to public notice and comment period.  
 
RFQ/P 1401/1403 W Idaho St  
CCDC staff approved the Design Development Plan as per a letter dated September 1, 2015. 
The Re-use Appraisal has been completed and counsel has drafted a DDA. The developer is 
reviewing the DDA and staff intends to bring a final DDA to the Board for future approval.  
 
Streetscape: 14th Street  
14th Street streetscape improvements have been pulled from project scope for the year due to 
property owners that are opposed to the improvements and other circumstances.  CoB has 
recently brought on an outside consultant to develop a strategy for maximizing return on 
investment within the district. CCDC is working with CoB to refresh the planning efforts in this 
area. 
 
Public Art - Whittier Fence  
CCDC has paid our portion of the project to City of Boise to close out FY14 ($10,000).   Dennis 
& Margo Proksa of Black Rock Forge in Pocatello were selected to be the artists. Fabrication is 
anticipated this winter with installation summer of 2016.   
 
Streetscape: 15th Street  
15th Street construction is substantially complete. 
 
CCDC Helps with Streetscapes on Housing Development 
As the City of Boise and Capital City Development Corporation work to increase housing 
options in downtown Boise, we are starting to see projects break ground.  Just this month, 
streetscape improvements were completed around a 15 unit townhome project that is under 
construction by Hale Development.   These improvements are a great example of participation 
between CCDC and private development working to improve our City. 
 
Streetscape: Main St Both Sides 15th/14th   
Construction on the south side of Main Street is substantially complete. Construction on the 
north side of Main Street scheduled to be substantially complete by the week of 11/9. 
 
George's Cycle Streetscape  
Staff continues to work with Hummel Architects regarding a Type 1 Streetscape Grant. Staff 
expects to receive a formal request for a Streetscape Grant upon project design completion and 
bidding in coming weeks. 
 
Historical Museum Streetscapes  
Type 4 designation is on the 11/9 CCDC board agenda. If approved, will move forward with a T4 
agreement for about $150,000. Museum expansion/renovation is expected to break ground May 
2016 and be complete August 2017. 
 
Hormaechea DDA -  620 S 9th St  
The land closed on time and a ground breaking ceremony was held on Friday, October 30th. 
 
Streetscape: Fulton Street Concept Plan  
CoB has requested that the Fulton Streetscape efforts be postponed to allow a higher level 
planning effort of the overall area. The boundaries of the Cultural District are currently being 
reworked, the Royal Blvd. extension is eminent, a pedestrian and bike corridor are being 



6 
 

considered for 8th Street, The Afton construction is underway and master planning efforts for 
The Library! continue. CCDC has coordinated with CoB and has solicited proposals for the 
requested higher level planning effort of the overall area. Proposals have been submitted to 
CCDC for review.   
 
Hotel on Capitol: Pennbridge Lodging  
The approval of the Type 2 Particiaption Agreement has occurred last month and the project is 
seemingly making progress. 
 
Streetscape: Westside of 5th (Main/Bannock)  
Streetscape construction is complete at this location. 
 
Boise City 6.5 Acre Development/Disposition  
Staff have been working with Jay Story and Boise City legal and PDS regarding development of 
these properties with Boise City serving as the lead agency.  Both properties were listed with 
Thornton, Oliver, Keller for lease/trade.  A proposal from Local Construct has been accepted by 
the City of Boise with a due diligence period which may be extended into January regarding the 
6.5 acres. No proposal was accepted for the other parcel.  
 
Pioneer Corridor Phase 3 Construction  
Issued NTP to Pusher 10/14. Excavation and grading of south half is complete, and installation 
of concrete curbing is in progress. Pavers are expected for delivery this week. Project on 
schedule for completion late December. 
 
Participation Program Type 3: JUMP!/Simplot HQ  
Board approved T3 designation of Simplot HQ/JUMP project 9/14. Final agreement currently 
scheduled for approval on 12/14 board agenda. Agreement language has been finalized and 
exhibits are being finalized. 
 

 
Capitol Terrace Garage - Waterproofing  
Trash room wall structural bracing has been completed. Level 2 drain assembly change order 
remains to be completed. 
 
Capitol Terrace Parking Expansion           
This project is being considered with all other parking projects as part of the Downtown Parking 
Strategic Plan, to be finalized late this year or early next.  
  
Parking Rate Examination   
Monthly rate adjustments are planned for January 1, 2016. Eastman & Capitol Terrace rates will 
increase to $135/mo.; rates in the remaining four garages will increase to $120/mo. Other 
adjustments will probably occur in 3Q16 or 1Q17.   
  
Parking Strategic Plan         
Plan writing is in full swing. A draft will be available the week of Nov. 19th for the Steering 
Committee to review, in preparation for discussion at their meeting of Nov. 23rd. This has been 
scheduled for full CCDC Board review on December 14th.    
  

Parking & Facilities Team: Max Clark & Ben Houpt 



7 
 

Rebranding Parking System           
Staff and our consultant are developing mobility and parking brand platforms, etc. These drafts 
will be available to the Steering Committee on the above noted schedule as the Strategic 
Plan.    
 
Downtown Transportation Plan     
Staff participated in the 10/26 TAP workshop.  The draft plan is expected to be circulated in 
January of 2016.    
 

 
 
Fiscal Year 2015 Audit  
With preliminary work already complete, independent, external audit firm, Eide Bailly is 
scheduled to be on-site for two weeks beginning the week of November 9 to audit the Agency’s 
Fiscal Year 2015 financial statements.  The final audit report will be presented to the Audit 
Committee (Executive Committee) and full Board in early 2016.  
 
Risk-Based Cycling Review: PARCS Internal Controls 
As directed by the Executive Committee in September, and with guidance from staff, the 
Parking Operator has prepared a Management Response to Eide Bailly’s Risk-Based Cycling 
Review (Agreed-Upon Procedures) report of Parking and Revenue Control System (PARCS) 
policies, procedures and internal controls for the November Executive Committee meeting.   
 
The Management Response culminates Year 1 of the three year contract awarded to Eide Bailly 
to conduct these Reviews.  Year 2 / FY 2016 will examine Agency computer system security.  
Year 3 / FY 2017 will analyze accounting and contract management policies, internal controls 
and conformity to best practices. 
 
COMPETITIVE BIDDING and QUALIFICATION-BASED SELECTIONS 

 
CONSTRUCTION PROJECTS 

Westside Streetscapes:   4.5 block faces 
Invitation to Bid Issued:          June 2 
Bids Opened:                          June 30 
Board Awards Contract:         July 13 
Contract Awarded to:              Guho Corporation 
Bid Amount:                            $696,000 
Status:                                    Under construction 

 
Pioneer Pathway, Phase 3 of 3 (River Street to Greenbelt).  

Invitation to Bid Issued:           August 24 
Bids Opened:                          September 10 
Board Awards Contract:         September 23 
Contract Awarded to:              Pusher Construction, Inc. 
Bid Amount:                            $595,600 
Status:                                    Under construction 

 
  

Finance Team: Ross Borden, Mary Watson, Joey Chen, Kevin Martin & Peggy Breski 



8 
 

OTHER CONTRACTS ACTIVITY 
 
Grove Plaza Renovation – Amendment to CSHQA Task Order to add subcontractors for highly 
specialized fountain and engineering services and to complete schematic design of the project. 
 
Grove Plaza Media – Contract with BSU Public Radio exchanging parking services for targeted 
Brick-by-Brick advertising.  
 
Downtown Parking Information and Outreach – Task Order with Oliver Russell, in 
cooperation with the City of Boise, for information and outreach regarding the downtown public 
parking model and the development of a new mobility brand. 
 
DPPS / Ampco – a one-year contract extension for parking services with the Agency’s current 
Parking Operator. 
 
Preparation for 2016 Bannock Streetscape Improvements – Amendment Ally Structural 
Consulting contract adding Strata and Guho for additional under concrete exploration including 
x-rays and coring. 
 
WaterCooler – License agreement with Duck Club Management for a series of all-ages 
concerts in portions of the WaterCooler building. 
 
Trailhead Building – Task Order with Quality Electric for electrical system upgrade to 
accommodate current technologies. 
 
417 S. 6th Street – Contract with Langston & Associates for a market value commercial 
property appraisal. 
 
Public Art at Main Street Station – MOU with City of Boise to fund certain art in Valley 
Regional Transit’s currently-under-construction Main Street Station (multi-modal transit facility). 
 
30th Street Revitalization Amendment No. 2 – Amendment to the annually-renewable MOU 
with the City of Boise outlining responsibilities and expenses for FY16. 
 
Streetscape Maintenance – Work Requests and Task Orders with Pro Care Landscaping for 
certain landscaping maintenance including tree maintenance, irrigation winterization, and snow 
removal. 
 
FY16 Landscaping Maintenance – Task Order with Gingerich Site & Underground for 
maintaining areas of 9th Street, Main Street, and WaterCooler Building. 
 
 


	11-09-15 Agenda
	Consent Agenda
	A.1. October Paid Invoice Report
	B.1. 10-13-15 Meeting Minutes
	C.1. Res 1417 Records Disposition
	C.2. Reso 1413 Brick Engraving

	Action Items
	A. The District Expansion Financing Schedule
	B. Res 1418 The District Expansion DA - 1st Amendment
	C. The Grove Plaza Renovation Design
	D. Res 1416 CSHQA Task Order
	E. Res 1409 Personnel Manual
	F. Distribute Proposed Increase to Parking Rates
	G. Transmit Streetscape Manual to Boise City

	Info Items
	A. T4 Assistance for Idaho History Museum
	B. October Operations Report




